
 

Thanet District Council, PO Box 9, Cecil Street, Margate, Kent, CT9 1XZ 
Tel: +44 (0)1843 577000 Fax: +44 (0)1843 290906 DX 30555 (Margate) www.thanet.gov.uk 

Chief Executive: Madeline Homer 

. 
 

Date: 13 July 2021 
Ask For: James Clapson 
Direct Dial: (01843) 577200 
Email: committee@thanet.gov.uk 

 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

 
21 JULY 2021 

 
A meeting of the Planning Committee will be held at 7.00 pm on Wednesday, 21 
July 2021 in the Council Chamber, Council Offices, Cecil Street, Margate, Kent. 
 

Membership: 
 
Councillor Tomlinson (Chair); Councillors: Coleman-Cooke (Vice-Chair), Albon, 
J Bayford, Crittenden, Garner, Hart, Hopkinson, Keen, Pat Moore, Paul Moore, 
Rusiecki, Scott and Wright. 

 
 

A G E N D A 
 

Item 
No 

 

 

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  (Pages 3 - 4) 

 To receive any declarations of interest.  Members are advised to consider the 
advice contained within the Declaration of Interest advice attached to this 
Agenda.  If a Member declares an interest, they should complete the 
Declaration of Interest Form  
 

3. MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING  (Pages 5 - 30) 

 To approve the Minutes of the Planning Committee meeting held on 
23/6/2021, copy attached. 
 

4. PLANNING APPLICATION F/TH/20/0969 -  ADDINGTON HOUSE 
BUSINESS CENTRE, ADDINGTON PLACE. (Pages 31 - 56) 

5. PLANNING APPLICATION OL/TH/20/0847 – LAND ON THE NORTH WEST 
AND SOUTH EAST SIDES OF SHOTTENDANE ROAD, MARGATE (Pages 
57 - 246) 

6. SCHEDULE OF PLANNING APPLICATIONS  (Pages 247 - 250) 

 To consider the report of the Deputy Chief Executive, copy attached for 
Members of the Committee. 
 

 For Approval 

 

Public Document Pack

Page 1

https://docs.google.com/forms/d/e/1FAIpQLSdYy7shF1kh6tvdSh3acxVRm70cKPLFkRBFNyVx2TgejRcm4w/viewform?usp=sf_link


Item 
No 

Subject 

 

6a A01 F/TH/21/0463 - FORESTERS ARMS, 48 BOUNDARY ROAD, 
RAMSGATE. (Pages 251 - 262) 

6b A02 FH/TH/21/0641 - 32 SHAKESPEARE ROAD, BIRCHINGTON. (Pages 
263 - 268) 

6c A03 FH/TH/21/0827 - 20 AVEBURY AVENUE, RAMSGATE. (Pages 269 - 
274) 

 For Deferral 

6d D04 F/TH/21/0710 - 49 ST PETERS COURT, BROADSTAIRS. (Pages 275 - 
284) 

 

 
 
Please scan this barcode for an electronic copy of this agenda. 

Page 2



THANET DISTRICT COUNCIL DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
Do I have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest and if so what action should I take?  
 
Your Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (DPI) are those interests that are, or should be, listed on 
your Register of Interest Form.  
 
If you are at a meeting and the subject relating to one of your DPIs is to be discussed, in so 
far as you are aware of the DPI, you must declare the existence and explain the nature of the 
DPI during the declarations of interest agenda item, at the commencement of the item under 
discussion, or when the interest has become apparent 
 
Once you have declared that you have a DPI (unless you have been granted a dispensation 
by the Standards Committee or the Monitoring Officer, for which you will have applied to the 
Monitoring Officer prior to the meeting) you must:-  

 
1. Not speak or vote on the matter; 
2. Withdraw from the meeting room during  the consideration of the matter; 
3. Not seek to improperly influence the decision on the matter.  
4. Complete the declaration of interest form and submit it to Democratic Services. 

 
Do I have a significant interest and if so what action should I take? 
 
A significant interest is an interest (other than a DPI or an interest in an Authority Function) 
which: 
1. Affects the financial position of yourself and/or an associated person; or 

Relates to the determination of your application for any approval, consent, licence, 
permission or registration made by, or on your behalf of, you and/or an associated 
person;  

2. And which, in either case, a member of the public with knowledge of the relevant facts 
would reasonably regard as being so significant that it is likely to prejudice your judgment 
of the public interest.     

 
An associated person is defined as: 

 A family member or any other person with whom you have a close association, including 
your spouse, civil partner, or somebody with whom you are living as a husband or wife, 
or as if you are civil partners; or 

 Any person or body who employs or has appointed such persons, any firm in which they 
are a partner, or any company of which they are directors; or 

 Any person or body in whom such persons have a beneficial interest in a class of 
securities exceeding the nominal value of £25,000;  

 Any body of which you are in a position of general control or management and to which 
you are appointed or nominated by the Authority; or 

 any body in respect of which you are in a position of general control or management and 
which: 
- exercises functions of a public nature; or 
- is directed to charitable purposes; or 
- has as its principal purpose or one of its principal purposes the influence of public 

opinion or policy (including any political party or trade union) 
 
An Authority Function is defined as: -  

 Housing - where you are a tenant of the Council provided that those functions do not 
relate particularly to your tenancy or lease; or 

 Any allowance, payment or indemnity given to members of the Council; 

 Any ceremonial honour given to members of the  Council 

 Setting the Council Tax or a precept under the Local Government Finance Act 1992     
 

If you are at a meeting and you think that you have a significant interest then you must 
declare the existence and nature of the significant interest at the commencement of the 

Page 3

Agenda Item 2



matter, or when the interest has become apparent, or the declarations of interest agenda 
item.  
 
Once you have declared that you have a significant interest (unless you have been granted a 
dispensation by the Standards Committee or the Monitoring Officer, for which you will have 
applied to the Monitoring Officer prior to the meeting) you must:- 
 
1. Not speak or vote (unless the public have speaking rights, or you are present to make 

representations, answer questions or to give evidence relating to the business being 
discussed in which case you can speak only) 

2. Withdraw from the meeting during consideration of the matter or immediately after 
speaking. 

3. Not seek to improperly influence the decision.  
4. Complete the declaration of interest form and submit it to Democratic Services. 

 
Gifts, Benefits and Hospitality 
 
Councillors must declare at meetings any gift, benefit or hospitality with an estimated value (or 
cumulative value if a series of gifts etc.) of £25 or more. You must, at the commencement of 
the meeting or when the interest becomes apparent, disclose the existence and nature of the 
gift, benefit or hospitality, the identity of the donor and how the business under consideration 
relates to that person or body. However you can stay in the meeting unless it constitutes a 
significant interest, in which case it should be declared as outlined above.   
 

What if I am unsure? 
 
If you are in any doubt, Members are strongly advised to seek advice from the Monitoring 
Officer or the Committee Services Manager well in advance of the meeting. 

 
 
 

Page 4

Agenda Item 2



Planning Committee 
 

Minutes of the meeting held on 23 June 2021 at 7.00 pm in Council Chamber, 
Council Offices, Cecil Street, Margate, Kent. 

 
 

Present: 
 

Councillor Michael Tomlinson (Chair); Councillors Coleman-
Cooke, J Bayford, Crittenden, Fellows, Garner, Hart, 
Hopkinson, Keen, Pat Moore, Paul Moore, Rusiecki, 
Whitehead and Wright 
 

In 
Attendance: 

Councillors Braidwood, Ashbee, Farrance, Gregory, Kup 
and Shonk. 
 

 
POINT OF INFORMATION 
 
Mr Livingstone, Planning Manager provided the Committee with the following 
point of information regarding agenda item 4: 
 
After the date of the previous planning committee on the 21st April 2021, the 
Council received a Freedom of Information request asking for information on 
any agreements held by the Council relating to the historic sale of any part of 
the site which was the subject of the application on Shottendane Road. This 
search showed that Thanet District Council previously owned the northern 
parcel of land to the north of the Shottendane Road and an  agreement for the 
sale of this land in 1982 included an overage clause, meaning that if the land 
was used for any other purpose than agricultural, the owner was liable to pay 
the Council 50% of the change in value. 
 
As members of the Planning Committee were aware, covenants or ownership 
matters were not material planning considerations. Therefore this historic 
agreement couldn’t be taken into account by members in making the 
determination as to whether the planning application was acceptable when 
judged against local and national planning policy. 
 
As an additional point for information for members of the public, the process 
and procedure of Planning Committee meetings, including the format of the 
meeting and order of public speaking, was outlined within Part 5 of the 
Council’s Constitution entitled “Codes and Protocols”. The  relevant section 
was the “Protocol for guidance of Planning Committee Members and 
Officers”. This was available on the Council’s website.  
 

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Albon and Councillor 
Scott for whom Councillor Whitehead and Councillor Fellows were present as 
a substitutes respectively. 
 

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



There were no declarations of interest. 
 

3. MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING  
 
Councillor Hart proposed, Councillor Paul Moore seconded and Members 
agreed that the minutes of the Planning Committee Meeting held on 19 May 
2021 be approved and signed by the Chairman. 
 

4. PLANNING APPLICATION OL/TH/20/0847 – LAND ON THE NORTH WEST 
AND SOUTH EAST SIDES OF SHOTTENDANE ROAD, MARGATE  
 
PROPOSAL: Outline application for the erection of up to 450 residential 
dwellings (including market and affordable housing), structural planting and 
landscaping, formal and informal public open space and children's play area, 
sustainable urban drainage, with vehicular access points, including associated 
ancillary works and operations, from Hartsdown Road, Shottendane Road and 
Manston Road including access. 
 
Councillor Braidwood spoke under council procedure rule 20.1. 
Councillor Gregory spoke as Ward Councillor. 
Councillor Farrance spoke as Ward Councillor. 
Councillor Boyd spoke under council procedure rule 20.1. 
 
It was proposed by the Chair and seconded by the Vice-Chair: 
 
‘THAT the officer’s recommendation be adopted, namely: 
 
That the application be deferred to officers for approval subject to securing a 
legal agreement for the provision of 15% affordable housing on site (split 80% 
affordable rent and 20% shared ownership), and subject to the following 
conditions: 
 
1 Approval of the details of the layout, scale, appearance of any buildings 
to be erected and the landscaping of the site (hereinafter called 'the reserved 
matters') shall be obtained from the Local Planning Authority. Development 
thereafter shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 
 
GROUND: As no such details have been submitted in respect of these 
matters as the application is in outline. In accordance with Section 92 of the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 
 
 2 Any application for approval of the reserved matters for the first phase 
of the development shall be made to the Local Planning Authority before the 
expiration of 3 years from the date of this permission. Any application for 
approval of the reserved matters for any remaining phases shall be made to 
the Local Planning Authority before the expiration of 5 years from the date of 
this permission. 
 
GROUND: In accordance with Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990. 
 

Page 6

Agenda Item 3



 3 Each phase of the development shall be begun within two years of the 
date of approval of the final reserved matters to be approved for that phase.  
 
GROUND: In accordance with Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990 (as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004). 
 
 4 The phasing of the development shall not be carried out other than in 
accordance with the approved Phasing Parameter Plan numbered 2019-057-
201 Rev A and received on 18th January 2021 subject to any revisions to the 
approved phasing plan submitted and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority pursuant to this condition. This condition does not prevent 
the construction periods of any phase running concurrently with other phases.  
 
GROUND: To secure the programming and phasing of, and an orderly pattern 
to the development in accordance with the phasing arrangements that have 
been assessed. 
 
 5 The reserved matters submitted in accordance with Condition 1 in 
respect of each phase shall include the following details in respect of that 
phase to the extent that they are relevant to the reserved matters application 
in question:- 
 
Layout  
 
o The layout of routes, buildings and spaces; 
o The block form and organisation of all buildings; 
 
o The distribution of market and affordable dwellings within that phase 
including a schedule of dwelling size (by number of bedrooms and 
floorspace); 
o The location of dwellings designed to seek to meet the Local Planning 
Authority's  Accessible and Adaptable Accommodation; 
o Full details of the approach to cycle parking including the location, 
distribution, types of rack, spacing and any secure or non-secure structures 
associated with the storage of cycles and the location and form of open areas; 
o The extent and layout of public open spaces and play space within the 
phase to be provided following the criteria as stated in Thanet Local Plan 
2020 Policy GI04.  
o Full details of measures to prevent the discharge of surface water onto 
the highway.   
o Details of surface water drainage capable of accommodating for all 
rainfall durations and intensities up to and including the climate change 
adjusted critical 100 year storm.  This should be demonstrated within an 
outline site wide drainage strategy, supported by appropriate ground 
investigation and calculations.   
 
Scale and Appearance  
 
Scale, form and appearance of the architecture within each phase, including 
frontage design and public / private realm definition and boundary treatments.  

Page 7

Agenda Item 3



 
Landscaping  
 
The landscape design and specification of hard and soft landscape works 
within each phase, including details surveys of all trees, shrubs and hedges in 
that phase, giving details of all trees having a trunk diameter of 75mm or more 
to include species type, spread of crown, height, diameter of trunk and 
condition assessment, details of existing trees, shrubs and hedges to be 
retained and details of new trees, shrubs, hedges and grassed areas to be 
planted, together with details of the species and method of planting to be 
adopted, details of walls, fences, other means of enclosure proposed. Any 
such details shall be accompanied by the Landscape Management Plan and 
Open Space Specification for that phase.   
 
Each phase of the development shall be constructed and laid out in 
accordance with those details submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority.  
 
GROUND: In the interests of achieving sustainable development, in 
accordance with Thanet Local Plan Policy QD02, and the principles within the 
National Planning Policy Framework.  
 
 6 Any reserved matters applications submitted pursuant to this outline 
application shall accord with the principles and parameters of the Parameter 
Plan CSA/4430/122 Rev C, and Landscape Strategy Plan no. CSA/4430/118 
Rev F received 13th November 2020 including any text set out on those Plans 
to illustrate the development principles). 
 
GROUND: For the avoidance of doubt, so as to ensure that any development 
is in accordance with and within the parameters of that assessed by the Local 
Planning Authority for the purposes of the Town and Country Planning 
(Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017 and in the interest of 
achieving sustainable development, in accordance with Thanet Local Plan 
Policy QD02, and the principles with the National Planning Policy Framework.  
 
 7 The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance 
with the approved plans no. SK09 Rev E received 12th March 2021, SK10 
Rev A and SK11 received 7th July 2020, subject to final design and highway 
authority adoption requirements.   
 
GROUND: To secure the proper development hereby approved and in the 
interests of highway safety and providing adequate safe highways 
infrastructure and capacity in accordance with Thanet Local Plan Policies 
SP21 and SP45.  
 
 8 Prior to the commencement of each phase, or part thereof, an Open 
Space Specification for the phase shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority, to accord with principles shown in plan 
no. CSA/4430/118 Rev F. The Open Space Specification shall: 
 

Page 8

Agenda Item 3



* Identify the location and extent of the main areas of formal and informal 
open space to be provided which shall accord with the details submitted under 
condition 1; 
 
* Outline any local play space to be provided, providing also a detailed 
specification of any equipped play areas. Such play space shall be provided 
following the criteria as stated in Thanet Local Plan 2020 Policy GI04 of which 
at least 36% shall be equipped play area in accordance with the Local 
Planning Authority's Supplementary Planning Document "Planning 
Obligations and Developer Contributions - April 2010 
 
* Identify how the relevant areas of public open space and play areas are to 
be laid out, paved, planted or equipped;  
 
* Identify and demonstrate the “Trim Trail” proposed through plan 
CSA/4430/118 Rev F to encourage dog-walking within the site; and 
 
The landscaped areas, open space and play space in any phase shall be laid 
out and implemented in accordance with approved plans and shall be 
permanently retained thereafter and used for and made available for public 
amenity and play space purposes only. 
 
GROUND: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area and to 
adequately integrate the development into the environment, and provide local 
play space, in accordance with Policies QD02, GI04 and GI06 of the Thanet 
Local Plan and guidance within the National Planning Policy Framework.  
 
 9 Prior to the commencement of each phase, or part thereof, a 
Landscape Management Plan for the phase in question shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority for all landscaped, 
open space and play areas identified in the Open Space Specification for the 
phase which shall include long term design objectives, details of who it to 
have ongoing management responsibilities for the area and how those 
arrangements will be secured in perpetuity and annual maintenance 
schedules for all landscaped, open space and play areas within the phase. 
The approved Landscape Management Plan for each phase shall be 
implemented and adhered to as approved subject to any minor revisions 
thereto as may be approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
public open spaces in that phase shall be permanently retained and 
maintained thereafter in accordance with the approved Landscape 
Management Plan for that phase and used for and made available as public 
open space for public amenity purposes only.  
 
GROUND: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area and to 
adequately integrate the development into the environment, and provide local 
play space, in accordance with Policies QD02, GI04 and GI06 of the Thanet 
Local Plan and guidance within the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
10 No development shall take place until fencing has been erected around 
the area identified as an Archaeological Exclusion Zone on plan no. 
CSA/4430/122 Rev C received 13th November 2020, in a manner to be 

Page 9

Agenda Item 3



agreed with the Local Planning Authority. The temporary fencing shall be 
retained for the duration of the construction works in that phase, or part 
thereof. No development groundworks, landscaping or planting shall take 
place in the Archaeological Exclusion Zone without the consent of the Local 
Planning Authority. 
 
GROUND: To ensure that due regard is had to the preservation in situ of 
important archaeological remains in accordance with Thanet Local Plan Policy 
HE01 and advice in paragraph 189 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework.  
 
11 No development shall take place until the applicant, or their agents or 
successors in title, has secured the implementation of a programme of 
archaeological work in accordance with a written specification and timetable 
which has been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority.  
  
GROUND: To ensure that due regard is had to the preservation in situ of 
important archaeological remains in accordance with Thanet Local Plan Policy 
HE01 and advice in paragraph 189 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework.  
 
12 Prior to the occupation of any dwelling in a respective phase, a scheme 
of interpretation that includes information boards in public open space areas 
in that phase of the development should be agreed with the Local Planning 
Authority. The scheme should include the location for information boards, their 
content and timetable for their establishment. The interpretation boards will be 
established in accordance with the agreed scheme.  
 
GROUND: To ensure that due regard is had to important archaeological 
remains in accordance with Thanet Local Plan Policy HE01 and advice in 
paragraph 189 of the National Planning Policy Framework.  
 
13 No development shall take place on each respective phase of 
development until a detailed surface water drainage scheme, to manage 
surface water run-off from the development (for up to and including the 
climate change adjusted 100 year storm event) for that phase has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
scheme shall be based on the Section 6 of the submitted Flood Risk 
Assessment (Enzygo, May 2020) and shall also include:  
 
the phasing for the implementation of the surface water drainage scheme.  
Appropriate operational, maintenance and access requirements for each 
drainage feature or SuDS component are adequately considered, including 
any proposed arrangements for future adoption by any public body or 
statutory undertaker. 
 
The scheme shall be constructed in full accordance with the approved details 
and shall be managed/maintained in accordance with the approved 
maintenance and management details for the lifetime of the development. 
 

Page 10

Agenda Item 3



GROUND: To ensure the development is served by satisfactory arrangements 
for the disposal of surface water and they are incorporated into the proposed 
layouts, in accordance with Thanet Local Plan Policy CC02.  
 
14 No infiltration of surface water drainage into the ground is permitted 
other than with the written consent of the Local Planning Authority.  Where 
infiltration is to be used to manage the surface water from the development 
hereby permitted, it will only be allowed within those parts of the site where 
information is submitted to demonstrate to the Local Planning Authority's 
satisfaction that there is no resultant unacceptable risk to controlled waters 
and/or ground stability. The development shall only then be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details. 
 
GROUND: To protect vulnerable groundwater resources, in accordance with 
Thanet Local Plan Policy SE04 and paragraph 180 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework. 
 
15 No building on any phase (or within an agreed implementation 
schedule) of the development hereby permitted shall be occupied until a 
Verification Report pertaining to surface water drainage systems, carried out 
by a suitably qualified professional, has been submitted to the Local Planning 
Authority which demonstrates the suitable modelled operation of the drainage 
system such that flood risk is appropriately managed, as approved by the 
Lead Local Flood Authority.  
 
GROUND: To ensure that flood risks from development to the future users of 
the land and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those risks to 
controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the 
development as constructed is compliant with and subsequently maintained 
pursuant to the requirements of paragraph 165 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 
 
16 No development shall take place until a scheme for sewerage disposal 
from the development has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the 
Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall include details of any additional 
infrastructure required to mitigate the additional flows created by this 
development. The development shall be constructed and thereafter 
maintained in accordance with the approved details. 
 
GROUND: 
To prevent pollution in accordance with Thanet Local Plan Policy SE04 and 
guidance contained within the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
17 No development shall commence until a site characterisation and 
remediation scheme has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority and the remediation scheme has been implemented 
in accordance with the approved details. The site characterisation, 
remediation scheme and implementation of the approved remediation scheme 
shall be carried out in accordance with the following criteria: 
(a) Site Characterisation 
 

Page 11

Agenda Item 3



 An investigation and risk assessment, in addition to any assessment provided 
with the planning application, shall be completed in accordance with a 
scheme to assess the nature and extent of any contamination on the site, 
whether or not it originates on the site. The contents of the scheme are 
subject to the approval in writing of the Local Planning Authority. The 
investigation and risk assessment shall be undertaken by competent persons 
and a written report of the findings shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority, and shall include:     
A survey of the extent, scale and nature of contamination; 
An assessment of the potential risks to Human health, Property, Adjoining 
land, Groundwaters and surface waters, Ecological system; 
An appraisal of remedial options and a recommendation of the preferred 
options                                                                    
 
The site characterisation report shall be conducted in accordance with British 
Standards and current DEFRA and Environment Agency best practice. 
 
(b) Submission of remediation scheme  
 
A detailed remediation scheme to bring the site to a condition suitable for the 
intended use by removing unacceptable risks to human health, buildings and 
other property and the natural and historical environment must be prepared, 
and shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority, if required by part (a) of the condition. The scheme shall include all 
works to be undertaken, proposed remediation objectives and remediation 
criteria, a timetable of works and site management procedures. The scheme 
shall ensure that the site cannot be considered as contaminated land under 
Part 2A of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 in relation to the intended 
use of the land after remediation. 
 
(c) Implementation of Approved Remediation Scheme  
 
The approved remediation scheme shall be carried out in accordance with its 
terms prior to the commencement of the development other than that required 
to carry out remediation. The Local Planning Authority shall be given two 
weeks written notification of commencement of the remediation scheme 
works. Following completion of measures identified in the approved 
remediation scheme, a verification report that demonstrates the effectiveness 
of the remediation carried out shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority 
 
GROUND: 
To ensure that the proposed site investigation, remediation and development 
will not cause harm to human health or pollution of the environment, in 
accordance with Policy SE03 of the Thanet Local Plan and the advice 
contained within the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
18 If, during development, significant contamination is suspected or found 
to be present at the site, then works shall cease, and this contamination shall 
be fully assessed and an appropriate remediation scheme agreed with the 
Local Planning Authority. The approved works shall be implemented within a 

Page 12

Agenda Item 3



timetable agreed by the Local Planning Authority and shall be of such a 
nature as to render harmless the identified contamination given the proposed 
end use of the site and surrounding environment, including controlled waters.  
Prior to first occupation/use and following completion of approved measures, 
a verification report shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for 
approval. 
  
GROUND: 
To ensure that the proposed development will not cause harm to human 
health or pollution of the environment, in accordance with Policy SE03 of the 
Thanet Local Plan and the advice contained within the National Planning 
Policy Framework. 
 
19 No development shall take place on any phase until a Construction 
Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The Construction 
Environmental Management Plan shall include amongst other matters details 
of:  
* Hours of construction working;  
* routing of construction and delivery vehicles to/from site,  
* parking and turning areas for construction and delivery vehicles and site 
personnel,  
* timing of deliveries, 
* measures to control noise affecting nearby residents;  
* temporary traffic management/signage,  
* any temporary access arrangements to the site for construction purposes,   
* wheel cleaning/chassis cleaning facilities;  
* dust control measures;  
* lighting control measures; 
* water quality protection measures;  
* precautionary measures to protect Badgers (as per section 7.5.39 of 
submitted Environmental Statement) 
* maintenance of vehicular access to Margate Cemetery, Crematorium and 
Waste & Recycling centre throughout construction. 
* pollution incident control and  
* site contact details in case of complaints.  
 
The construction works shall thereafter be carried out at all times in 
accordance with the approved Construction Environmental Plan, unless any 
variations are otherwise first submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  
 
GROUND: In the interests of highways safety and the residential amenities of 
nearby residents, in accordance with Policy QD02 and QD03 of the Thanet 
Local Plan. 
 
20 No development shall take place on any phase (or part thereof) until a 
Highways Work Phasing Plan, outlining the implementation of highways works 
detailed in condition 21, has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The Highways Work Plan should include details of 
the mitigation proposed in that phase (or part thereof) including the new link 

Page 13

Agenda Item 3



road through the site plus its associated access points and footways, how 
these will be completed and made operational. The works shall be carried out 
in accordance with the agreed phasing plan including the timings for the 
provision of each respective element of infrastructure.  
 
GROUND: In the interests of highway safety and traffic flow, to ensure the 
sufficient highways infrastructure is provided to serve the development in 
accordance with Thanet Local Plan Policies SP21 and SP45.  
 
21 No development shall take place in any respective phase, until full final 
details of the proposed highways works have been submitted to, and 
approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. These details shall 
include: 
 
- Local distributor standard link road  
- Potential 32m Roundabout Junction on Manston Road; 
- Potential 40m Roundabout Junction on Shottendane Road; 
- Right turn lane Priority Junction on Hartsdown Road. 
 
All submitted details shall substantially accord with the geometrical layout as 
those submitted in the plans numbered plans no. SK09 Rev E received 12th 
March 2021, SK10 Rev A and SK11 received 7th July 2020. 
 
These works shall be implemented and operational in accordance with the 
timings within the Highways work phasing plan in condition 20. 
 
GROUND: In the interests of highway safety and traffic flow, to ensure the 
sufficient highways infrastructure is provided to serve the development in 
accordance with Thanet Local Plan Policies SP21 and SP45 
 
22 Details submitted pursuant to condition 1, insofar as they relate to each 
phase of development, shall include the final route, specification, geometry 
and waiting restrictions of the link road through the site within the area of 
deviation shown on the parameter plan. The link road and associated 
footway/cycleways, should be provided to an acceptable local distributor 
standard in accordance with the most up to date revision of the Kent Design 
Guide and include details of the pedestrian crossing provision and bus stop 
infrastructure where appropriate.  These works shall be implemented and 
operational in accordance with the timings with the Highway Works Phasing 
Plan.  
 
GROUND: In the interests of highway safety and traffic flow, to ensure the 
sufficient highways infrastructure is provided to serve the development in 
accordance with Thanet Local Plan Policies SP21 and SP45.  
 
23 Details pursuant to condition 1 above shall include the provision of 
means and routes of access for pedestrians and cyclists within each phase of 
the development to and from the surrounding footway and cycleway network. 
No building within that phase shall be occupied until all such routes and 
means of access within the phase serving that building are constructed and 
ready for use and thereafter shall be retained for their approved purpose.  

Page 14

Agenda Item 3



 
GROUND: In the interests of highway safety and to facilitate the use of 
alternative means of transport, in accordance with Thanet Local Plan Policies 
SP45 and TP03. 
 
24 Details submitted pursuant to condition 1 in respective of each phase 
of the development, shall demonstrate safe emergency access to the 
satisfaction of the Local Highway Authority and Fire Rescue Service. 
 
GROUND: In the interests of safe access in new development in accordance 
with Thanet Local Plan Policy QD02 and paragraph 127 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 
 
25 Details submitted pursuant to condition 1 in respective of each phase 
of the development, shall include the proposed roads, footways, footpaths, 
verges, junctions, street lighting, sewers, drains, retaining walls, service 
routes, surface water outfall, vehicle overhang margins, embankments, 
visibility splays, accesses, carriageway gradients, driveway gradients, car 
parking, turning areas and street furniture and bus stops/borders to be laid out 
and constructed. The details agreed shall be provided and permanently 
retained. 
 
GROUND: In the interests of highway safety and traffic flow, to ensure the 
sufficient highways infrastructure is provided to serve the development in 
accordance with Thanet Local Plan Policies SP21 and SP45.  
 
26 Details pursuant to condition 1, insofar as they relate to each phase of 
development, shall include the provision of adequate secure covered cycle 
parking facilities within that phase, in accordance with standards to be agreed 
with the Local Planning Authority. Such facilities as approved shall be made 
available for use prior to the occupation of the unit for which they are provided 
to meet relevant parking and layout standards, and thereafter shall be 
retained for their approved purpose.  
 
GROUND: In the interests of highway safety and to facilitate the use of 
alternative means of transport, in accordance with Thanet Local Plan Policy 
TP03.  
 
27 Prior to first occupation of each respective dwelling, the completion of 
the following works between a dwelling and the adopted highway should have 
occurred in accordance with details submitted pursuant to condition 1: (a) 
Footways and/or footpaths, with the exception of the wearing course; (b) 
Carriageways, with the exception of the wearing course but including a turning 
facility, highway drainage, visibility splays, street lighting, street nameplates 
and highway structures (if any).  
 
GROUND: In the interests of safe access in new development in accordance 
with Thanet Local Plan Policy QD02 and paragraph 127 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework.  
 

Page 15

Agenda Item 3



28 Details pursuant to condition 1, shall include details of the number, type 
and location of Electric vehicle charging points (EVCP) on the basis of 1 
Electric Vehicle Charging point per residential property with dedicated parking 
and 1 in 10 of all non allocated parking. These shall be installed and 
operational to the specification agreed prior to the occupation of the 
residential units to which they relate.  
 
GROUND: In the interest of air quality and amenity  in accordance with SE05 
of the Thanet Local Plan and paragraph 181 of the NPPF. 
 
29 Prior to the first submission of any reserved matters application, hereby 
permitted, an Emissions Mitigation Assessment in accordance with Thanet 
District Council's Air Quality Technical Planning Guidance shall be submitted 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The Emissions 
Mitigation Assessment shall include a damage cost assessment that uses the 
DEFRA emissions factor toolkit and should include details of mitigation to be 
included in the development which will reduce the emissions from the 
development during construction and when in operation. All works, which form 
part of the approved scheme, shall be completed before any part of the 
development is occupied and shall thereafter be maintained in accordance 
with the approved details.  
 
GROUND: In the interests of ensuring appropriate air quality in accordance 
with SE05 of the Thanet Local Plan and paragraph 181 of the NPPF.  
 
30 Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted, an air 
quality Emissions Statement that provides details of how the air quality 
damage costs, as calculated within the Emission Mitigation Assessment 
approved in condition 29, are to be used to achieve air quality improvements 
through the development, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out in accordance 
with the approved details. 
 
GROUND: In the interests of ensuring appropriate air quality in accordance 
with SE05 of the Thanet Local Plan and paragraph 181 of the NPPF.  
 
31 Prior to the submission of the first reserved matters application under 
condition 1, a Ecological Design Strategy, addressing ecological 
enhancement and mitigation across the whole site as outlined in Section 7 of 
the submitted Environmental Statement shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The Ecological Design Strategy shall 
include the following: 
a)  Purpose and conservation objectives for the proposed works; 
b) Review of site potential and constraints  
c)  Detailed design(s) and/or working method(s) to achieve stated 
objectives; 
d)  Extent and location/area of proposed works on appropriate scale maps 
and plans; 
e)  Type and source of materials to be used where appropriate, e.g. native 
species of local provenance; 

Page 16

Agenda Item 3



f) Timetable for implementation demonstrating that works are aligned 
with the proposed phasing of development; 
g)  Persons responsible for implementing the works; and  
h)  Details of initial aftercare and long term maintenance and 
management.  
i)  Details of provision of calcareous grassland on site as outlined in 7.8.3 
of the applicant's Environmental Statement.  
 
The Ecological Design Strategy shall be implemented in accordance with the 
approved details and all features shall be retained in that manner thereafter.  
 
GROUND: In the interests of preserving and enhancing biodiversity and 
ecological potential, and to adequately integrate the development into the 
environment, in accordance with Policies QD02 and GI06 of the Thanet Local 
Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework.  
 
32 Details pursuant to condition 1 above shall demonstrate compliance 
and alignment with the agreed Ecological Design Strategy as approved in 
condition 31. 
 
GROUND: In the interests of preserving and enhancing biodiversity and 
ecological potential, and to adequately integrate the development into the 
environment, in accordance with Policies QD02 and GI06 of the Thanet Local 
Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework.  
 
33 Prior to the commencement of each phase, or part thereof, a detailed 
outdoor lighting scheme shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the 
Local Planning Authority.  The scheme shall include details of the type of 
lights, the orientation/angle of the luminaries, the spacing and height of 
lighting columns, the extent/levels of illumination over the site and on adjacent 
land and measures to contain light within the curtilage of the site. The lighting 
scheme submitted must demonstrate that the lighting design will accord with 
the details set out in sections 7.5.31, 7.5.32 and 7.5.33 of the Environmental 
Statement; Chapter 7 (Wardell Armstrong June 2020). The development shall 
be implemented in accordance with the approved scheme and thereafter 
maintained as agreed.  
 
GROUND: In the interests of minimising light pollution, to safeguard the 
amenities of the locality and to mitigate the impact on biodiversity, in 
accordance with policy SE08 of the Thanet Local Plan and paragraph 175 of 
the National Planning Policy Framework.  
 
34 Details pursuant to condition 1, insofar as they relate to each phase of 
development, shall include an explanation of how the proposed layout meets 
Secure by Design, in accordance with advice received from Kent Police. 
 
GROUND: To ensure the proper development of the site without prejudice to 
the amenities of the occupants, in accordance with Thanet Local Plan Policies 
QD02 and QD03. 
 

Page 17

Agenda Item 3



35 No phase of the development shall commence until details and 
samples of the materials to be used in the construction of the external 
surfaces of the development hereby permitted in that phase have been 
submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. The 
phase shall be carried out using the approved materials. 
 
GROUND: In the interests of visual amenity in accordance with Policy QD02 
of the Thanet Local Plan.  
 
36 Details pursuant to condition 1 shall show no development on land 
identified as "Safeguarded land for potential future road" on plan no. 
CSA/4430/122 received 13th November 2020. 
 
GROUND: 
In the interests of safeguarding strategic routes for the provision of key road 
schemes, in accordance with Policy SP47 of the Thanet Local Plan. 
 
37 All dwellings hereby permitted shall be provided with the ability for 
connection to Superfast Fibre Optic Broadband 'fibre to the premises', where 
there is adequate capacity. 
 
GROUND: To serve the future occupants of the development in accordance 
with Thanet Local Plan Policy SP14 and the guidance within the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 
 
38 Prior to the commencement of any highways works, a Parking 
Restriction Strategy, detailing the full extents of the proposed Traffic 
Regulation Order for double yellow lines on Hartsdown Road and the internal 
link road infrastructure, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority in consultation with the  Highway Authority. The 
Strategy shall be progressed through the applicant's best endeavours.   
 
GROUND: In the interests of highway safety. 
 
39 Prior to the occupation of any dwelling hereby approved, a final Travel 
Plan, to substantively accord with the Framework Travel Plan June 2020 by 
Iceni Projects and a programme for implementation shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The agreed programme 
shall thereafter be implemented in full. 
 
GROUND: To facilitate the use of alternative means of transport in 
accordance with Policy TP01, SP43 and the advice contained within the 
NPPF.  
 
40 Details pursuant to condition 1 for the relevant phase adjacent to 
designated footpath TM14 shall show the footpath retained and identify 
access points onto and connection with pedestrian routes through the 
proposed development. 
 
GROUND: To facilitate the use of alternative means of transport and retention 
and potential upgrading of TM14, in accordance with Thanet Local Plan 

Page 18

Agenda Item 3



Policies TP03 and SP21 and guidance within the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 
 
41 Prior to the occupation of any dwellings within each respective phase,  
a copy of a Homeowner information pack, setting out measures to encourage 
considerate pet ownership, minimising light spill and not causing excessive 
and extended noise, information on how residents can minimise their impact 
on the surrounding wildlife, such as breeding birds and providing information 
on the European designated sites in the locality and their significance, shall 
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. This 
as agreed shall be provided to occupiers of each new dwelling at the point of 
occupation. 
 
GROUND: 
To ensure satisfactory mitigation measures in accordance with Policy SP28 of 
the Thanet Local Plan, and guidance within the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 
 
42 The development hereby permitted shall be constructed to a high 
standard of energy efficiency to the equivalent of Level 4 of the Code for 
Sustainable Homes unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning 
Authority.  
  
GROUND: 
All new buildings and conversions of existing buildings must be designed to 
reduce emissions of greenhouse gases and have resilience to function in a 
changing climate, in accordance with Policy QD01 of the Thanet Local Plan. 
 
43 The development hereby permitted shall be constructed in order to 
meet the required technical standard for water efficiency of 
110litres/person/day, thereby Part G2 Part 36 (2b) of Schedule 1 Regulation 
36 to the Building Regulations 2010, as amended, applies. 
  
GROUND 
Thanet is within a water stress area as identified by the Environment Agency, 
and therefore new developments will be expected to meet the water efficiency 
optional requirement of 110litre /person/day, in accordance with Policy QD04 
of the Thanet Local Plan. 
 
44 The details to be submitted in pursuant of condition 1 above shall show 
all units in compliance with the Nationally Described Space Standards as set 
out within Policy QD04 of the Thanet Local Plan; and accessible and 
adaptable accommodation provided in accordance with Policy QD05 of the 
Thanet Local Plan. 
 
GROUND: 
To achieve high standards of living accommodation in accordance with 
Policies QD03, QD04 and QD05 of the Thanet Local Plan.’ 
 
 
Upon being put to the vote, the motion was declared LOST. 

Page 19

Agenda Item 3



 
It was proposed by Councillor Garner, seconded by Councillor Paul Moore  
and Members agreed that the application be deferred to officers and would be 
brought back before Members to consider reasons for refusal of the 
application.    
 
 

5. SCHEDULE OF PLANNING APPLICATIONS  
 
(a) A01 F/TH/21/0148 - 3 The Knot, 20 Beach Road, Westgate On Sea.  
 
PROPOSAL: Change of use of Microbrewery to flexible use comprising Education 

Facility F1(a), Medical Facility E(e) and Public House and Microbrewery (Sui 
Generis) 
 
Mr Richards spoke in favour of the application. 
 
It was proposed by the Chair and seconded by the Vice-Chair: 
 
‘THAT the officer’s recommendation be adopted, namely: 
 
That the application be APPROVED subject to the following conditions: 
 
 1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 
three years from the date of this permission. 
 
GROUND: 
In accordance with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Purchase Act 2004). 
 
 2 The proposed development shall be carried out in accordance with the 
submitted application and the approved drawings numbered 23106A_511 Revision 
P1 (23/03/21), and 23106A/11 Revision C. 
 
GROUND 
To secure the proper development of the area. 
 
 3 No seating (tables, chairs or benches) associated with the Public House and 
Microbrewery premises shall be placed on the forecourt area to the front of the 
licensed premises at any time. 
  
GROUND 
In the interests of residential amenity in accordance with policy QD03 of the Thanet 
Local Plan. 
 
 4 No deliveries to the site associated with the Public House and Microbrewery 
premises shall be received outside of 09:00am to 17:00pm Monday to Friday. 
  
GROUND 
In the interests of residential amenity in accordance with policy QD03 of the Thanet 
Local Plan. 
 

Page 20

Agenda Item 3



 5 Prior to installation of any new plant and equipment associated with the 
brewing of alcohol in the basement of the sui generis use (drinking establishments), 
the occupant or operator shall provide the local planning authority with an operational 
plan. No installation of new plant and equipment shall commence until the 
operational plan has been agreed in writing by the local planning authority. The 
operational plan shall include information (but not limited to): 
a. A plan of the basement area with plant and equipment position shown  
b. List of equipment to be used in the brewing process and its sound power 
level. 
c. A noise management plan for plant and equipment. This is to include planned 
mitigation if it is identified as required. 
d. An odour management plan for the brewing equipment and process. This is to 
include planned mitigation if it is identified as required. 
  
The development shall be carried out in full accordance with the agreed details: 
 
GROUND 
In the interests of residential amenity in accordance with policy QD03 of the Thanet 
Local Plan. 
 
 6 Prior to the commencement of the sui generis use hereby approved, a noise 
protection scheme shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The approved scheme shall be implemented and maintained at 
all times thereafter. 
 
GROUND 
To minimise the disturbance of noise that could be caused to incoming occupiers of 
unit 4 from the adjoining 'Micro-pub' in accordance with Policy QD03 of the Thanet 
Local Plan and the advice contained within the NPPF 
 

 7 The use of the premises hereby approved shall not be used other than 
between the hours of 8am until Midnight Monday to Saturday and 10 am until 
22.30pm on a Sunday.  
 
GROUND 
To safeguard the residential amenities currently enjoyed by the occupiers of nearby 
residential properties in accordance with Policy QD03 of the Thanet Local Plan. 
 
 8 The area shown on the approved plan numbered  23106A_511 Rev P1 for 
vehicle parking and manoeuvring areas, shall be kept available for such use at all 
times and such land and access thereto shall be provided prior to the first occupation 
of the dwelling hereby permitted. 
 
GROUND 
To provide satisfactory off street parking for vehicles in accordance with Policy TP06 
of the Thanet Local Plan and the advice contained within the NPPF. 
 
 9 Prior to the first use of the development, the secure cycle parking facilities, as 
shown on approved drawing no. 23106A_511 Rev P1 shall be provided and 
thereafter maintained. 
 
GROUND 

Page 21

Agenda Item 3



To promote cycling as an alternative form of transport, in accordance with Policy 
TP03 and SP43 of the Thanet Local Plan. 

 
Upon being put to the vote, the motion was declared CARRIED. 
 
(b) A02 F/TH/21/0705 - Ellington Park, Ramsgate.  
 
PROPOSAL:  Installation of floor mounted Air Source Heat Pump and protective 
surround to rear elevation of café. 
 
It was proposed by Councillor Rusiecki, seconded by Councillor Hart and 
Members agreed: 
 
‘THAT the officer’s recommendation be adopted, namely: 
 
That the application be APPROVED subject to the following conditions: 
 
 1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 
three years from the date of this permission. 
 
GROUND: 
In accordance with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Purchase Act 2004). 
 
 2 The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the 
submitted drawings numbered 23302A P02 Rev P2 and the manufacturers details 
received, 07 May 2021. 
 
GROUND; 
To secure the proper development of the area.’ 
 

(c) A03 F/TH/20/1044 - 60 Northumberland Avenue, MARGATE  
 
PROPOSAL:  Erection of a two storey 5 bed dwelling following demolition of 
existing bungalow. 
 
It was proposed by Councillor Rusiecki, seconded by Councillor Hart and 
Members agreed: 
 
‘THAT the officer’s recommendation be adopted, namely: 
 
That the application be APPROVED subject to the following conditions: 
 
 1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 
three years from the date of this permission. 
 
GROUND: 
In accordance with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Purchase Act 2004). 
 
 2 The proposed development shall be carried out in accordance with the 
submitted application as amended by the revised drawings numbered 18.045-10A, 

Page 22

Agenda Item 3



18.045-11A received 08 March 2021, 18.045.12B received 15 March 2021 and 
18.045-13 received 22 February 2021. 
 
GROUND; 
To secure the proper development of the area. 
 
 3 The external materials and external finishes to be used in the development 
hereby approved shall accord with the proposed materials and external finishes as 
annotated and illustrated on the approved plan numbered 18.045-12B received 15 
March 2021. 
 
GROUND 
To secure a satisfactory external treatment in the interests of visual amenity in 
accordance with Policy QD02 of the Thanet Local Plan and advice contained within 
the NPPF.  
 
 4 The first and second floor windows in the western rear elevation and the first 
floor window in the northern side elevation of the dwelling hereby approved shall be 
non-opening up to a height of 1.7m above internal finished floor level and provided 
and maintained with obscured glass to a minimum level of obscurity to conform to 
Pilkington Glass level 4 or equivalent and shall be installed prior to first occupation of 
the development hereby permitted and permanently retained thereafter. 
 
GROUND 
To safeguard the residential amenities currently enjoyed by the occupiers of nearby 
residential properties in accordance with Policy QD03 of the Thanet Local Plan. 
 
 5 No further enlargements or alterations to the dwellinghouse or erection of 
outbuildings whether approved by Class B, or E of the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking and 
re-enacting that Order), shall be carried out without the prior permission in writing of 
the Local Planning Authority. 
 
GROUND; 
To ensure a satisfactory external treatment, in the interests of the visual amenities of 
the locality and to safeguard the residential amenities currently enjoyed by the 
occupiers of nearby residential properties in accordance with Policies QD02 and 
QD03 of the Thanet Local Plan. 
 
 6 No further first floor windows shall be installed or inserted into the western 
elevation of the dwellinghouse whether approved by Class A of the Town and 
Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any 
Order revoking and re-enacting that Order), shall be carried out without the prior 
permission in writing of the Local Planning Authority. 
 
GROUND; 
To safeguard the residential amenities currently enjoyed by the occupiers of nearby 
residential properties in accordance with Policy QD03 of the Thanet Local Plan.’ 
 

(d) A04 L/TH/21/0548 - Croquet Lawns, Royal Esplanade, RAMSGATE  
 
PROPOSAL:  Application for Listed Building Consent for resurfacing of 
roof/promenade area of croquet club with asphalt following the removal of 
existing asphalt. 
 

Page 23

Agenda Item 3



It was proposed by Councillor Rusiecki, seconded by Councillor Hart and 
Members agreed: 
 
‘THAT the officer’s recommendation be adopted, namely: 
 
That the application be APPROVED subject to the following conditions: 
 
1 The works hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three 
years from the date of this permission. 
 
GROUND; 
In pursuance of Section 18 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation 
Areas) Act 1990 (as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004). 
 
 2 The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the 
submitted drawings numbered CR/21-22/107/01 and the Design, Access and 
Heritage, Statement received 22 April 2021. 
 
GROUND; 
To secure the proper development of the area.’ 
 

(e) R05 F/TH/21/0312 - 14 St Johns Avenue, RAMSGATE  
 
PROPOSAL: Erection of 1No. two storey 2 bed dwelling with associated landscaping 

and erection of 1.5m high cycle store to rear. 
 
It was proposed by Councillor Rusiecki, seconded by Councillor Hart and 
Members agreed: 
 
‘THAT the officer’s recommendation be adopted, namely: 
 
That the application be REFUSED for the following reasons: 
 
  1 The proposed development by virtue of its location, siting, layout, form, and 
relationship with numbers 13 and 14 St Johns Avenue, would be out of keeping with 
the predominant pattern and rhythm of development in this location, failing to relate 
to surrounding development and built form or to strengthen links to adjacent areas. It 
would have no active relationship with the primary street frontage, and fails to 
incorporate appropriate soft landscaping. Cumulatively these changes would result in 
inappropriate development, significantly harmful to the character and appearance of 
the area, and contrary to the aims of policy QD02 of the Thanet Local Plan and 
paragraphs 127 and 130 of the NPPF.   
 
 2 The proposed dwelling, by virtue of its two storey built form and relationship 
with the adjacent dwelling at No. 14 St Johns Avenue, would result in unacceptable 
changes to the window arrangement of the first floor front bedroom, adjacent to the 
area for development, reducing light and outlook.  This is considered to be harmful to 
the amenities enjoyed by the occupiers thereof, contrary to the aims of policy QD03 
of the Thanet Local Plan and paragraphs 117 and 127 of the NPPF. 
 
 3 The overall internal floorspace would be below the standards set out in policy 
QD04 of the Thanet Local Plan and the Nationally Described Space Standards. This 

Page 24

Agenda Item 3



would result in a poor standard of accommodation, contrary to the aims of the above 
and paragraph 127 of the NPPF. 
 
 4 The proposed development would result in increased recreational pressure 
on the Thanet Coast and Sandwich Bay Special Protection Area (SPA), and 
Sandwich Bay and Hacklinge Marshes Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI), and 
in the absence of an acceptable form of mitigation to relieve the pressure, the 
proposed development would be contrary to paragraphs 170, 176 and 177 of the 
NPPF and the Habitats Directive.’ 
 

(f) D06 F/TH/21/0144 - Land Rear of 4 to 10 Station Road, 
BIRCHINGTON.  

 
PROPOSAL: Erection of 2No two storey 3-bed semi-detached dwellings. 
 
Ms Coles spoke in favour of the application. 
 
Ms Brimm raised points of concern. 
 
It was proposed by the Chair and seconded by the Vice-Chair: 
 
‘That the application be DEFERRED AND DELEGATED for approval subject 
to a legal agreement securing SAMM, safeguarding conditions, the inclusion 
of a condition removing permitted development rights under Schedule 2 Part 1 
Class F for hard surfaces for both dwellings, and the satisfactory completion 
of a unilateral undertaking within 6 months, securing the required planning 
obligations as set out in the report and the following conditions: 
 
 1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 
three years from the date of this permission. 
 
GROUND 
In accordance with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Purchase Act 2004). 
 
 2 The proposed development shall be carried out in accordance with the 
submitted application and the approved drawings numbered P01 Rev D (received 
11/05/21), P02, P03, P04, P05  and P06 Rev B (received 11/05/21). 
 
GROUND 
To secure the proper development of the area. 
 
 3 Prior to the construction of the external surfaces of the development hereby 
approved samples of the materials, including flint panels, roof slates, brick work and 
sills to be used shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning 
Authority. Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
samples unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
GROUND 
In the interests of visual amenity in accordance with Policy QD02 of the Thanet Local 
Plan 
 
 4 Prior to the installation of any external windows and doors, joinery details at 
an appropriate scale of the windows and doors shall be submitted to and approved in 

Page 25

Agenda Item 3



writing by the Local Planning Authority. Such details as are approved shall be carried 
out concurrently with the development and fully implemented prior to the first 
occupation of any part of the approved development. 
 
GROUND 
To secure a satisfactory external treatment and to safeguard the special character 
and appearance of the designated heritage asset in accordance with advice 
contained within the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
 5 Prior to the installation of the rainwater goods, details including the material 
and a sectional profile shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The rainwater goods shall be installed in accordance with the 
approved details.  
 
GROUND 
To secure a satisfactory external treatment and to safeguard the special character 
and appearance of the designated heritage asset in accordance with advice 
contained within the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
 6 No development shall take place until details of the means of foul drainage 
have been submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
development shall be carried out in accordance with such details as are agreed and 
thereafter maintained. 
 
GROUND 
To protect the district's groundwater, in accordance with Policy SE04 of the Thanet 
Local Plan, and the advice contained within the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
 7 Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved,  full details 
of both hard and soft landscape works, to include  
 
            - species, size and location of new trees, shrubs, hedges and grassed areas 
to be planted 
            - the treatment proposed for all hard surfaced areas beyond the     limits of 
the highway 
            - walls, fences, other means of enclosure proposed  
 
shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. 
 
GROUND 
In the interests of the visual amenities of the area and to adequately integrate the 
development into the environment in accordance with Policies QD02 and GI04 of the 
Thanet Local Plan 
 
 8 All hard and soft landscape works shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details. The works shall be carried out prior to the first occupation; of any 
part of the development, or in accordance with a programme of works to be agreed in 
writing with the Local Planning Authority. Any trees or plants which within a period of 
5 years from the completion of the development die, are removed or become 
seriously damaged or diseased, shall be replaced in the next planting season with 
others of a similar size and species. 
 
GROUND 

Page 26

Agenda Item 3



In the interests of the visual amenities of the area, neighbour amenity and to 
adequately integrate the development into the environment in accordance with 
Policies QD02 and GI04 of the Thanet Local Plan 
 
 9 Prior to the commencement of development hereby approved a Construction 
Management Plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority, to include the following: 
(a) Routing of construction and delivery vehicles to / from site 
(b) Parking and turning areas for construction and delivery vehicles and site 
personnel 
(c) Timing of deliveries 
(d) Provision of wheel washing facilities 
(e) Temporary traffic management / signage 
The development shall be carried out in accordance with the details as agreed.  
 
GROUND 
In the interests of highway safety and neighbouring amenity, in accordance with 
Policy QD03 of the Thanet Local Plan and the advice contained within the NPPF. 
 
10 Prior to the construction of the development a highway condition survey for 
highway access routes shall be undertaken and submitted to the Local Planning 
Authority. Following the construction of the development, a further highway condition 
surveys for highway access routes shall be undertaken and submitted to the Local 
Planning Authority with full details of works to rectify any damage caused by 
construction vehicles related to the development. The works as agreed shall be 
carried out prior to the first occupation of the dwellings hereby approved.  
 
GROUND 
In the interests of highway safety, in accordance with Policy TP06 of the Thanet 
Local Plan and the advice contained within the NPPF. 
 
11 Provision and permanent retention of the cycle parking facilities shown on the 
submitted plans prior to the first occupation of the dwellings hereby approved. 
 
GROUND 
To promote cycling as an alternative form of transport, in accordance with Policy 
TP03 and SP43 of the Thanet Local Plan. 
 
12 No further hardstandings (other than shown on the approved plans) whether 
approved by Schedule 2 Part 1 Class F of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking and re-
enacting that Order), shall be carried out without the prior permission in writing of the 
Local Planning Authority. 
 
GROUND 
In the interests of highway safety, in accordance with Policy TP06 of the Thanet 
Local Plan and the advice contained within the NPPF. 
 
13 Prior to the commencement of development, a non-native species plan will be 
submitted to, and approved by, local planning authority. The plan will detail the 
containment, control and removal of the non-native species identified in the 
Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (Native Ecology July 2020). The measures shall be 
carried out in accordance with the approved plan. 
 
GROUND 

Page 27

Agenda Item 3



 
To protect against invasive species and in the interest of improving biodiversity in 
accordance with Policy SP30 of the Thanet Local Plan, and the advice as contained 
within the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
14 From the commencement of works (including site clearance), all 
precautionary mitigation measures for hedgehogs will be implemented in accordance 
with the details contained in sections 9.6 and 9.7 of the Preliminary Ecological 
Appraisal (Native Ecology July 2020). 
 
GROUND 
In order to safeguard protected species that may be present, in accordance with 
Policy SP30 of the Thanet Local Plan and advice as contained within the NPPF.  
 
15 Within six months of works commencing, details of how the development will 
enhance biodiversity will be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local 
planning authority. This will include recommendations in section of the Preliminary 
Ecological Appraisal (Native Ecology July 2020). The approved details will be 
implemented and thereafter retained. 
 
GROUND 
In the interests of the visual amenities of the area and to make a positive contribution 
to biodiversity, in accordance with Policies QD02 and SP30 of the Thanet Local Plan, 
and the advice as contained within the NPPF. 
 
16 The glazing to be installed in the windows of bedroom 3 of unit 1 shall be 
fitted with acoustic glazing (or other agreed type) and acoustic trickle vents. These 
measures should be maintained for the life of the development.  
 
GROUND 
To safeguard the residential amenities in accordance with Policy QD03 of the Thanet 
Local Plan. 
 
17 The development hereby permitted shall be constructed to a high standard of 
energy efficiency to the equivalent of Level 4 of the Code for Sustainable Homes.  
 
GROUND 
All new buildings and conversions of existing buildings must be designed to reduce 
emissions of greenhouse gases and have resilience to function in a changing 
climate, in accordance with Policy QD01 of the Thanet Local Plan. 
 
18 The development hereby permitted shall be constructed in order to meet the 
required technical standard for water efficiency of 110litres/person/day, thereby Part 
G2 Part 36 (2b) of Schedule 1 Regulation 36 to the Building Regulations 2010, as 
amended, applies. 
 
GROUND 
Thanet is within a water stress area as identified by the Environment Agency, and 
therefore new developments will be expected to meet the water efficiency optional 
requirement of 110litre /person/day, in accordance with Policy QD04 of the Thanet 
Local Plan. 

 
Upon being put to the vote, the motion was declared CARRIED. 
 
 

Page 28

Agenda Item 3



Meeting concluded: 9.30pm 
 
 

Page 29

Agenda Item 3



This page is intentionally left blank



Planning Application F/TH/20/0969 Addington House
Business Centre Addington Place
Planning Committee – 21 July 2021

Report Author Jenny Suttle, Planning Officer

Status For Decision

Classification: Unrestricted

Previously Considered by Planning Committee 19th May 2021

Ward: Central Harbour

Executive Summary:

This report concerns an application submitted under reference F/TH/20/0969 for the erection
of 5No. 3 storey 3 bed and 1No. 3 storey 4 bed terraced dwellings following demolition of
existing offices, stores and laundry that was brought to Planning Committee on 19th May
2021, with a recommendation to approve.

Members considered the application and determined to defer the application back to officers
to seek an amendment for additional parking on site (and a subsequent reduction in unit
numbers), before returning the application to the Planning Committee for determination.

An amended scheme has been received, which introduces the provision of an additional
parking space within the area of land outlined in blue, under the control and ownership of the
applicant, adjacent to No.46 Addington Place; however the layout and design of the
development within the red line of the application remains the same as that previously
brought before Members for consideration.

The application is therefore reported back to the Planning Committee for determination.

Recommendation:

Members approve the amended scheme, with an agreement to the amendment of approved
plan condition 2 which shall read the following:

‘The proposed development shall be carried out in accordance with the submitted application
as amended by the revised drawings numbered 04577_NB109 Rev C received 10 June
2021, 04577_NB103 Rev C, 04577_NB104 Rev D, 04577_NB105 Rev D and
04577_NB106 Rev C received 09 December 2020.’

And an amendment to condition 13, which shall read the following:

The area shown on the approved plan numbered 04577_NB109 Rev C received 10 June
2021 for vehicle parking and manoeuvring areas, which includes the parking space to the rear
of Plot 2 within the blue line, shall be kept available for such use at all times and such land
and access thereto shall be provided prior to the first occupation of the dwellings hereby
permitted.

Page 31

Agenda Item 4



CORPORATE IMPLICATIONS
Financial and
Value for
Money

No implications.

Legal The Planning Committee is not bound to follow the advice of Officers.
However, if officers’ professional or technical advice is not followed,
authorities will need to show reasonable planning grounds for taking a
contrary decision.

The reasons for any decision must be formally recorded in the minutes
and a copy placed on file.

If Members decide not to accept the advice of Officers it should be mindful
of the potential for legal challenge and associated cost implications.

Corporate The delivery of new housing through the Local Plan and planning
applications supports the Council’s priorities of supporting neighbourhoods
ensuring local residents have access to good quality housing, and
promoting inward investment through setting planning strategies and
policies that support growth of the economy.

Equalities Act
2010 & Public
Sector Equality
Duty

Members are reminded of the requirement, under the Public Sector
Equality Duty (section 149 of the Equality Act 2010) to have due regard to
the aims of the Duty at the time the decision is taken. The aims of the
Duty are: (i) eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment, victimisation
and other conduct prohibited by the Act, (ii) advance equality of
opportunity between people who share a protected characteristic and
people who do not share it, and (iii) foster good relations between people
who share a protected characteristic and people who do not share it.

Protected characteristics: age, gender, disability, race, sexual orientation,
gender reassignment, religion or belief and pregnancy & maternity. Only
aim (i) of the Duty applies to Marriage & civil partnership.

In the opinion of the author of this report the Public Sector equality duty is
not engaged or affected by this decision.

1.0 Background

1.1 Members considered this application under planning reference F/TH/20/0969 for the
erection of 5No. 3 storey 3-bed terraced dwellings, and 1No. 3 storey 4 bed terraced
dwelling following demolition of existing offices, stores and laundry

1.2 The application was brought before Members at Planning Committee on the 19th
May 2021 and Members determined to defer the application back to officers to
negotiate additional parking on site, with the reduction of one unit.

2.0 Analysis

2.1 Members raised concerns regarding the limited parking proposed with the
development for 6No. terraced dwellings, which proposed 2No. off street parking

Page 32

Agenda Item 4



spaces which are proposed to be allocated to Unit 6. Concerns were raised relating
to the subsequent parking pressure which was considered likely to arise from this
limited parking, in an area with existing limited parking and high parking demand,
potentially leading to unsafe parking, harmful to both highway safety and residential
amenity. In addition, concerns were raised regarding the number of units proposed
and that this contributed to the issues with parking amenity in the area. Additional
parking was considered necessary, and the application was deferred back to officers
to seek this, along with a reduction in unit numbers.

2.2 An amended plan was submitted on the 10th June 2021. This amended plan
introduces the provision of an additional parking space within the area of land
outlined in blue, under the control and ownership of the applicant, adjacent to No.46
Addington Place; however the layout and design of the development within the red
line of the application remains the same as that previously brought before Members
for consideration.

2.3 Policy TP06 of the Thanet Local Plan is the relevant policy for parking, and states
that ‘proposals for development will be expected to make satisfactory provision for
the parking of vehicles’, with ‘suitable levels of provision considered in relation to
individual proposals taking account of the type of development, location, accessibility,
availability of opportunities for public transport, likely accumulation of car parking,
design consideration and having regard to the guidance referred to below. In
considering the level of parking provision in respect of proposals for residential
development, the Council will have regard to the guidance provided in Kent Design
Review: Interim Guidance Note 3’.

2.4 Interim Guidance Note 3 states that the maximum parking requirements for 3-bed
edge of centre units is one parking space, with 1.5 parking spaces for a 4-bed unit.
The maximum parking requirement for the development is therefore 6.5 spaces, and
3 parking spaces are being achieved. On the basis that these are maximum parking
standards, and given the further view of the KCC Highways Officer, in officers view it
would be unreasonable to refuse the application on highway safety grounds on the
basis that the scheme falls short of the maximum parking standards, in a sustainable
location, by 3.5 spaces.

2.5 Further advice has been sought from KCC highways on the impact on highway
amenity and highway safety. KCC Highways have stated the following which is
included as Annex 2:

‘In accordance with Kent Design Guide Interim Guidance note 3 Residential Parking,
the parking for this site would be a maximum of one space per dwelling, rather than a
minimum. Bearing in mind the parking controls in place in the vicinity and the
sustainable location, we would not anticipate any severe highway impacts as a result
of the amount of parking proposed within the site, whether it was two spaces as
previously or three as now proposed.’

2.6 Previous applications within the district that have been refused on lack of parking
grounds have not often been supported at appeal, with Inspectors highlighting that
lack of parking is not a highway safety ground, but more of living conditions concern,
with residents of the units inconvenienced by searching for a place to park.

2.7 It is also worth noting that Policy TP06 further states that ‘where the level of provision
implied in the above guidance would be detrimental to the character of a
conservation area or adversely affect the setting of a listed building or ancient
monument then a reduced level of provision may be accepted’. The scheme seeks to

Page 33

Agenda Item 4



demolish and replace an existing building, which provides a full street frontage onto
Hertford Place. The site is located within the Ramsgate Conservation Area, and
therefore the retention of this full street frontage would help to preserve its historic
character and appearance. The removal of development and its replacement with
parking would result in a gap within the street scene, along with greater visibility of
the parking area, to the detriment of the character and appearance of the
conservation area. Policy TP06 allows for the reduction in parking provision where it
would enable a better quality form of development within the conservation area,
which it is considered in this case has been achieved.

2.8 In conclusion, whilst the number of units have not been reduced, an additional
parking space has been provided, resulting in the provision of 3no. spaces to serve
the 6no. units, only 3.5 spaces short of the maximum parking standards. KCC
Highways continue to raise no objections to the parking provision, given the previous
use of the site as offices, which would have generated parking requirements, the
provision of the 3no. spaces proposed, and the sustainable edge of centre location of
the site. Policy TP06 of the Thanet Local Plan requires development to be assessed
against the maximum parking guidance, but also gives flexibility in that for
development that is accessible and within close proximity of public transport, and for
development that falls within the conservation area, and where the increased
provision of parking will impact upon the historic character of the area, reduced
parking provision is justified. As such, it is considered by officers that a refusal reason
on highway safety grounds would be unreasonable as it would be difficult to justify
against local policy and national guidance. It is therefore recommended that
members approve the application.

3.0 Options

3.1 Members approve the amended scheme, with an agreement to the amendment of
approved plan condition 2 which shall read the following:

‘The proposed development shall be carried out in accordance with the submitted
application as amended by the revised drawings numbered 04577_NB109 Rev C
received 10 June 2021, 04577_NB103 Rev C, 04577_NB104 Rev D, 04577_NB105
Rev D and  04577_NB106 Rev C received 09 December 2020.’

And an amendment to condition 13, which shall read the following:

The area shown on the approved plan numbered 04577_NB109 Rev C received 10
June 2021 for vehicle parking and manoeuvring areas, which shall include the
parking space to the rear of Plot 2 within the blue line, shall be kept available for such
use at all times and such land and access thereto shall be provided prior to the first
occupation of the dwellings hereby permitted.

3.2 Members refuse the amended scheme on the grounds that the proposed
number of units will not be provided with satisfactory parking provision, to the
detriment of highway safety and highway amenity, contrary to Thanet Local Plan
Policy TP06 and paragraph 127 of the NPPF.

4.0 Recommendations

4.1 Officers recommend Members of the Planning Committee to agree to option 3.1.

Contact Officer: Jenny Suttle, Planning Officer

Page 34

Agenda Item 4



Reporting to: Emma Fibbens, Principal Planning Officer

Background Papers

Annex 1 Committee Report F/TH/20/0969
Annex 2 Updated KCC Highways comment received 09/07/2021

Page 35

Agenda Item 4



This page is intentionally left blank



COMMITTEE REPORT 
 

A02 F/TH/20/0969 
 

PROPOSAL: 
 
LOCATION: 

Erection of 5No. 3 storey 3 bed and 1No. 3 storey 4 bed 
terraced dwellings following demolition of existing offices, 
stores and laundry 
 
Addington House Business Centre Addington Place 
RAMSGATE Kent CT11 9JG 
 

WARD: Central Harbour 
 

AGENT: Mr Jason Drew 
 

APPLICANT: Mr J Gold 
 

RECOMMENDATION: Approve 
 

Subject to the following conditions: 
 
 
 1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three 

years from the date of this permission. 
  
 GROUND: 
 In accordance with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 

amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Purchase Act 2004). 
 
 2 The proposed development shall be carried out in accordance with the submitted 

application as amended by the revised drawings numbered  04577_NB109 Rev B 
received 03 March 2021,  04577_NB103 Rev C, 04577_NB104 Rev D,  
04577_NB105 Rev D and  04577_NB106 Rev C received 09 December 2020.  

  
 GROUND: 
 To secure the proper development of the area. 
 
 3 Prior to the commencement of the development hereby permitted, a scheme to 

address the issue of noise and odour which may affect residents and will minimise 
the effects shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The proposal shall include: 

  
 - Acoustic glazing to all front facade windows and the rear elevation windows to Plot 

6. 
 - Air conditioning details to be agreed - unit to be acoustically treated, details to be 

agreed.  
  
 GROUND: 
 In the interest of residential amenity for future occupants and in pursuance of Policy 

QD03 of the Thanet Local Plan.  
  
 
 4 Prior to the commencement of any development on site details to include the 

following shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority and 

Page 37

Agenda Item 4
Annex 1



should be carried out in accordance with the approved details.  
  
 (a) Routing of construction and delivery vehicles to / from site 
 (b) Parking and turning areas for construction and delivery vehicles and site 

personnel 
 (c) Timing of deliveries 
 (d) Provision of wheel washing facilities 
 (e) Temporary traffic management / signage 
 (f) Measures to control noise affecting nearby residents 
 (g) Dust control measures  
 (h) Access arrangements 
  
 GROUND: 
 In the interests of highway safety and neighbouring amenity, in accordance with 

Policy QD03 of the Thanet Local Plan and the advice contained within the NPPF. 
 
 5 The external surfaces of the development hereby approved shall be finished in 

accordance with the material schedule as annotated and illustrated on the approved 
plans numbered 04577_NB103 Rev C and 4577_NB105 Rev D received 09 
December 2020.  

  
 GROUND: 
 To secure a satisfactory external treatment and to safeguard the special character 

and appearance of the area as a Conservation Area in accordance with Policies 
QD02 and HE02 of the Thanet Local Plan and advice contained within the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 

 
 6 Prior to the construction of the external surfaces of the development hereby 

approved samples of the proposed buff stock bricks and contrasting red bricks and 
slate roof tiles to be used shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local 
Planning Authority. Development shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved samples unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. 

  
 GROUND: 
 To secure a satisfactory external treatment and to safeguard the special character 

and appearance of the area as a Conservation Area in accordance with Policies 
QD02 and HE02 of the Thanet Local Plan and advice contained within the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 

 
 7 Prior to the construction of the external surfaces of the development hereby 

approved a sample panel or sample area of the knapped flint walling to the ground 
floor front elevations of the dwelling hereby approved shall be submitted to, or 
inspected on site by the Conservation Officer and approved in writing by, the Local 
Planning Authority. Development shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved samples unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. 

  
 GROUND: 
 To secure a satisfactory external treatment and to safeguard the special character 

and appearance of the area as a Conservation Area in accordance with Policies 
QD02 and HE02 of the Thanet Local Plan and advice contained within the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 

 
 8 Prior to the construction of the external surfaces of the development hereby 

Page 38

Agenda Item 4
Annex 1



approved the manufacturers details of the proposed aluminium framed windows and 
doors shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. 
Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details unless 
otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

  
 GROUND: 
 To secure a satisfactory external treatment and to safeguard the special character 

and appearance of the area as a Conservation Area in accordance with Policies 
QD02 and HE02 of the Thanet Local Plan and advice contained within the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 

 
 9 All new window and door openings shall be set within a reveal of not less than 

100mm. 
  
 GROUND: 
 To secure a satisfactory external treatment and to safeguard the special character 

and appearance of the area as a Conservation Area in accordance with Policies 
QD02 and HE02 of the Thanet Local Plan and advice contained within the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 

 
10 Prior to the first occupation of the dwellings hereby approved, full details of both hard 

and soft landscape works, to include  
  
             o species, size and location of new trees, shrubs, hedges and grassed areas 

to be planted. 
             o the treatment proposed for all hard surfaced areas beyond the limits of the 

highway. 
             o walls, fences, other means of enclosure proposed. 
  
 shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. All 

hard and soft landscape works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details. The works shall be carried out prior to the first occupation of the dwelling 
hereby approved. Any trees or plants which within a period of 5 years from the 
completion of the development die, are removed or become seriously damaged or 
diseased, shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of a similar size 
and species. 

  
 GROUND: 
 In the interests of the visual amenities of the area and to adequately integrate the 

development into the environment in accordance with Policy QD02 of the Thanet 
Local Plan. 

 
11 The first and second floor front elevation windows of Plots 1-5 of the terraced 

dwellings hereby approved shall be provided and maintained with obscured glass to 
a minimum level of obscurity to conform to Pilkington Glass level 4 or equivalent and 
shall be installed prior to first occupation of the development hereby permitted and 
permanently retained thereafter. 

  
 GROUND: 
 To safeguard the residential amenities currently enjoyed by the occupiers of nearby 

residential properties in accordance with Policy QD03 of the Thanet Local Plan. 
 
12 The refuse storage facilities and cycle storage facilities as specified upon the 

approved drawings 04577_NB103 Rev C received 09 December 2020 and 
04577_NB109 Rev B received 03 March 2021 and shall be provided prior to the first 

Page 39

Agenda Item 4
Annex 1



occupation of the development hereby approved and shall be kept available for that 
use at all times. 

  
 GROUND: 
 To safeguard the residential amenities currently enjoyed by the occupiers of nearby 

residential properties and in the interest of promoting cycling in accordance with 
Policies QD03 and TP03 of the Thanet Local Plan.  

 
13 The area shown on the approved plan numbered 04577_NB109 Rev B received 03 

March 2021 for vehicle parking and manoeuvring areas, shall be kept available for 
such use at all times and such land and access thereto shall be provided prior to the 
first occupation of the dwelling hereby permitted. 

  
 GROUND: 
 To provide satisfactory off street parking for vehicles in accordance with Policy TP06 

of the Thanet Local Plan and the advice contained within the NPPF 
 
14 Prior to the commencement of the development hereby approved, details including 

materials, levels and precise width/s of the proposed footway as shown on approved 
plan numbered 04577_NB109 Rev B and the relocation of the existing 2No. street 
lights and their proposed revised location shall be submitted to, and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority in consultation with the Highway Authority. 
Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details and the 
footway shall be thereafter retained in perpetually. 

  
 GROUND: 
 In the interests of pedestrian and highway safety and amenity in accordance with 

advice contained within the NPPF. 
 
15 Prior to the commencement of the development hereby approved, the applicant, or 

their agents or successors in title, shall secure the implementation of a watching brief 
to be undertaken by an archaeologist approved by the Local Planning Authority so 
that the excavation is observed and items of interest and finds are recorded. The 
watching brief shall be in accordance with a written programme and specification, 
which has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

  
 GROUND: 
 To ensure that features of archaeological interest are properly examined and 

recorded in accordance with Policy HE01 of the Thanet Local Plan and the advice 
contained within the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
16 The development hereby permitted shall be constructed in order to meet the required 

technical standard for water efficiency of 110litres/person/day, thereby Part G2 Part 
36 (2b) of Schedule 1 Regulation 36 to the Building Regulations 2010, as amended, 
applies.  

  
 GROUND:  
 Thanet is within a water stress area as identified by the Environment Agency, and 

therefore new developments will be expected to meet the water efficiency optional 
requirement of 110litre. 

 
17 The development hereby permitted shall be constructed to a high standard of energy 

efficiency to the equivalent of Level 4 of the Code for Sustainable Homes.  
  
 

Page 40

Agenda Item 4
Annex 1



 GROUND: 
 All new buildings and conversions of existing buildings must be designed to reduce 

emissions of greenhouse gases and have resilience to function in a changing 
climate, in accordance with Policy QD01 of the Thanet Local Plan. 

 
18 All dwellings hereby permitted shall be provided with the ability for connection to 

Superfast Fibre Optic Broadband 'fibre to the premises', where there is adequate 
capacity. 

  
 GROUND:  
 To serve the future occupants of the development in accordance with Thanet Local 

Plan Policy SP41 and the guidance within the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
INFORMATIVES 
 
For the avoidance of doubt, the provision of contributions as set out in the unilateral 
undertaking made on 09 December 2020 submitted with this planning application, and 
hereby approved, shall be provided in accordance with The Schedule of the aforementioned 
deed. 
 
A formal application for connection to the public sewerage system is required in order to 
service this development. Please contact Southern Water, Southern House, Sparrowgrove, 
Otterbourne, Hampshire SO21 2SW (Tel: 0330 303 0119) or www.southernwater.co.uk. 
 
It is the responsibility of the applicant to ensure, prior to the commencement of the 
development hereby approved, that all necessary highway approvals and consents where 
required are obtained and that the limits of highway boundary are clearly established in order 
to avoid any enforcement action being by the Highway Authority. The applicant must also 
ensure that the details shown on the approved plans agree in every aspect with those 
approved under such legislation and common law. It is therefore important for the applicant 
to contact KCC Highway and Transportation to progress this aspect of the works prior to 
commencement on site 
 
SITE, LOCATION AND DESCRIPTION 
 
The application site is located within the Ramsgate Conservation Area and contains a simple 
L shaped two storey building accommodating commercial/industrial uses which fronts the 
internal courtyard to the rear of commercial buildings which front Addington Place. The 
building's rear elevation is sited hard up against the north western boundary, abutting 
Hertford Place. The surrounding area comprises a high density built environment with both 
commercial and residential uses.  
 
The immediate area surrounding the application site is characterised by predominantly 
Victorian two and three storey with basement level terraced houses to the south west of the 
application site. To the north of the site is a modern courtyard development of three storey 
terraced houses. Immediately to the east and south east are two and single storey 
commercial and garage buildings. Further to the south east is the Listed Georgian terrace, 
Nelson Crescent of four storey terraced houses with basement levels.  
 
The rear elevation of the existing building comprises a predominantly blank two storey rear 
elevation which is constructed of a variety of flint, brickwork of varying ages and rendered 
elements.  
 
 
 

Page 41

Agenda Item 4
Annex 1



PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT 
 
The application proposes the demolition of the L shaped commercial/light industrial building 
to the north west, adjacent to Hertford Place and the erection of 6No. three storey terraced 
houses in its place. The terrace is proposed to front Hertford Place to the north west, with 
modest rear gardens to the south east. Access is proposed to be retained from Addington 
Place, and separates the rear gardens from the adjacent commercial buildings to the south. 
2 parking spaces are proposed to serve Plot 6, sited to the rear of the terrace, accessed via 
Addington Place. A single storey refuse store is proposed to the south east of the site, 
abutting Addington Place. 
 
The terrace proposed through the original scheme comprised a full three storeys with roof 
above, of a height of approximately 7m to the eaves and 9.5m to the ridge. The dwellings 
proposed a simple design, with part flint feature, part render to the ground floor, brick to the 
upper elevations, a grey tiled gabled roof  and black UPVC windows and doors. The end of 
terrace dwelling to the north east, Plot 6, is an increased width to the remaining terraced 
dwellings, comprising an extra approximately 3m in width, designed with a double frontage.  
 
The proposal has been amended through the course of the application and the terraced 
dwellings have been reduced in height to 2 storeys to the eaves to the front elevation 
addressing Hertford Place, with the second floor of accommodation provided in the roof 
served by a modest central dormer window and rooflight to the side. The eaves level will 
now be a reduced height of 5.2m, and 8.1m to the ridge. The rear elevation will extend a full 
three storeys, set under a parapet roof which is set down from the ridge by approximately 
0.5m. The additional width of the end of terrace unit to Plot 6 has been set back from the 
front elevation by approximately 1m, and set down from the ridge. 
 
The design, proportions and material finish of the windows have been amended to vertically 
proportioned aluminium sash windows with stone cills to the front elevation, and aluminium 
casement windows with brick cills to the rear. The ground floor front elevation will be finished 
in knapped flint work with stock brickwork and contrasting red feature brickwork to the first 
floor, and a natural slate tiled roof.  
 
DEVELOPMENT PLAN POLICIES 
  
Thanet Local Plan 2020 
 
SP01 - General Housing Policy 
SP29 - Strategic Access Management and Monitoring Plan (SAMM) 
HO1 - Housing Development 
HE01 - Archaeology 
HE02 - Development in Conservation Areas 
GI04 - Amenity Space/Equipped Play  
QD02 - General Design Principles 
QD03 - Living Conditions 
QD04 - Technical Standards 
TP03 - Cycling 
TP06 - Car Parking 
 
NOTIFICATIONS 
  
Letters were sent to neighbouring property occupiers and a site notice was posted near the 
site.  
 

Page 42

Agenda Item 4
Annex 1



6 letters of objection have been received in response to the amended scheme. The letters 
raise the following concerns: 
 

- Concern regarding lack of parking. The development is likely to have an additional 10 
extra cars in an already built up area with existing parking pressure.  

- Only 2 parking spaces are proposed which is not enough to serve the development.  
- The proposal will result in additional traffic in the local area which will result in 

additional disturbance and fumes.  
- The proposal will result in a loss of light to neighbouring properties. 
- The proposal will result in loss of privacy due to the closeness of the development to 

adjacent properties. 
- The proposal contains inadequate refuse storage.  
- The proposal is overdevelopment on a restricted site.  
- The proposal will result in the loss of the existing flint was which will remove an 

existing historical feature, and result in harm to the character of this part of the 
Conservation Area.  

- If permission is granted the developer should have to incorporate flint into each 
buildings facade to show the original height of the wall and maintain as much of the 
wall as possible.  

- The proposal is too high and will overshadow the neighbours.  
- The area is already densely populated and a development like this will increase 

overcrowding.  
 
14 letters of objection were received in response to the original scheme. These objections 
raised the following concerns: 
 

- There are significant parking issues in the area that this development will 
dramatically worsen. Particularly as the nearest free parking on Nelson Crescent was 
converted to residents bays without offering Addington Street and other local 
residents the opportunity to buy permits.  

- Each new house needs one dedicated parking space as a minimum.  
- There is no space for loading/turning of delivery vehicles and similar. 
- The proposal will result in increased traffic in this restricted area.  
- The proposal does not contain footpath access resulting in hazards. 
- The proposal is overdevelopment. 
- The proposal is out of character with the area. 
- The proposal seeks to maximise bedrooms/properties to the detriment of the existing 

community.  
- The proposal disregards existing residents for the benefit of the developer. 
- The proposal uses inappropriate materials such as plastic UPVC windows.  
- The additional height of the proposed properties will overcrowd the street given the 

narrow width of Hertford Place. 
- The proposal will result in a loss of light to adjacent properties. 
- The proposal should retain the historic flint wall.  
- The proposal contains minimal provision for open or green spaces.  

 
1 letter of support has been received which raises the following points: 
 
Overall this project will be an improvement from where I overlook it, provided the new 
owners don't block the current parking access.  
 
Ramsgate Town Council - Ramsgate Town Council objects to this application due to the 
loss of a historic flint wall in the Conservation Area.  
 
 

Page 43

Agenda Item 4
Annex 1



CONSULTATIONS 
 
Conservation Officer - 
 
Amended Comment 16/03/2021: 
 
Following further discussion, amendments and adaptations to the proposed plan for the site I 
would like to make the following comment. 
 
The overall proposed scale of the scheme has been reduced to sufficiently reduce my 
concerns regarding the impact of the proposed to the surrounding environment. Further 
amendments have also been made to the design of the scheme, which now appear more 
like 'cottages', utilising flint as a feature adding character to the proposed. I do feel like an 
opportunity for an industrial scheme has been missed with this site, however I do not believe 
that the proposed will appear negatively within the surrounding context of the site and the 
integrity of the character and appearance of Ramsgate Conservation Area is preserved. An 
appropriate material palette for use within the conservation area is being proposed and 
therefore I now believe that this application meets with local and national guidance, and I no 
longer object to the proposed development. 
 
Original Comment 25/09/2020:  
 
Addington House Business Centre is located a short distance from the main commercial 
centre of Ramsgate whilst also being within Ramsgate Conservation Area. Currently existing 
on the site are varying outbuildings and small warehouses whose historic value should be 
considered as part of this application.  
 
Thanets recently adopted Local Plan, policy HE02, states within Section 7  the The 
character, scale and plan form of the original building are respected and the development is 
subordinate to it and does not dominate principal elevations. As well as Section 8 which 
states Appropriate materials and detailing are proposed and the development would not 
result in the loss of features that contribute to the character or appearance of the 
conservation area. New development which would detract from the immediate or wider 
landscape setting of any part of a conservation area will not be permitted.  
 
Guidance under the National Design Guide Section C2, Paragraph 45 highlights that when 
determining how a site may be developed, it is important to understand the history of how 
the place has evolved. The local sense of place and identity are shaped by local history, 
culture and heritage, and how these have influenced the built environment and wider 
landscape and paragraph 47 which states Well-designed places and buildings are influenced 
positively by the local vernacular, including historical building typologies such as the terrace, 
town house, mews, villa or mansion block, the treatment of facades, characteristic materials 
and details. 
 
Reviewing this application I have some concerns regarding the information that has been 
provided as part of this proposal as well as the scheme itself being proposed for the site. It 
states within the design and access statement that it is important to evaluate the historic 
significance of the site which was also stated at the pre application stage. Unfortunately this 
is not something that appears to have been provided as part of the information provided. 
Overall little consideration appears to have been given to the surrounding historic 
environment with no further analysis being made or included in this report as to why certain 
decisions have been made. No elevations have been included of the buildings proposed for 
demolition nor any further analysis, structural or not, provided as to why the decision was 
made to demolish them in the first place.  
 

Page 44

Agenda Item 4
Annex 1



Included in the demolition amongst the site is the proposal to demolish a flint wall which is a 
historic feature that still exists. It has been stated that this wall is no longer structurally sound 
and therefore it should be demolished to further enable site development. No structural 
survey has been provided nor have any further details or images of the wall in question. I 
can acknowledge that flint work has been proposed as a material feature to the scheme, 
however with little other justification as to the development of this proposal I do not believe 
that enough information has been provided.  
 
Regarding the design of the scheme I have issues with the odd and uncomfortable window 
proportions which result in a development which struggles with its identity. It's unfortunate 
that the industrial heritage of the site has not been reincorporated here and that what is 
proposed is neither obviously contemporary and unique nor a pastiche of the surrounding 
environment. I can appreciate that flint has been incorporated into the scheme, as an 
attempt to establish a sense of heritage and taken as an influence from the existing 
environment, however with little cohesion to the other design choices which have been 
made.  
 
Following the proposed demolition of the existing outbuilding, it is then proposed to reinstate 
the new scheme at a taller scale. No context has been included in the proposed elevations 
and therefore this becomes difficult to appreciate given the surrounding environment. That 
being said the increase in height will be notable perceivable from the surrounding 
environment which includes a Grade II listed terrace adjacent to the site, which is listed 
within its entirety and overlooking the site.  
 
Regarding the proposed materiality of the scheme I have concerns with that of the 
installation of UPVC. I can appreciate that an effort has been made to suggest this to be of a 
historic style however we do not encourage the use of UPVC within the conservation 
environment as it is a non traditional stark material which appears stark and obviously 
amongst other more traditional features present to the area. Again, this will be easily read 
within the context of the nearby listed buildings.  
 
Overall I find it disappointing that the site's industrial past has not been utilised as part of this 
design and fear that it has been a missed opportunity for the space. Not only would this 
approach complement the site's commercial and utilitarian past but also the surrounding 
existing historic environment. The application as a whole appears to also be lacking in 
overall justification as to why certain design choices have been made as well as reasoning 
behind quite substantial demolition within a conservation area and the impacts this will have 
to the surrounding environment. As it stands I would look to refuse this application should 
amendments not be proposed and overall object to the work proposed for the above 
reasons.  
 
TDC Environmental Health -  
 
Initial Comment 29/09/20:  
 
I have reviewed our complaints history for the area and note that they were issues regarding 
odour and noise from car repair activities from the neighbouring site.  No further complaints 
have been received.  Given the application proposes more suitable dwellings than existing 
use EH will not object to the application providing mitigation is incorporated within the 
scheme to protect occupants of plot 6 from noise, odour and fumes should they arise from 
the neighbouring existing use. 
 
SENSITIVE RECEPTOR 
 
MITIGATION 

Page 45

Agenda Item 4
Annex 1



 
Prior to the commencement of the development hereby permitted, a scheme to address the 
issue of noise and odour which may affect residents and will minimise the effects shall be 
submitted to, and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The proposal shall 
include: 
 
Acoustic glazing to all front facade windows 
Air conditioning details to be agreed - unit to be acoustically treated, details to be agreed.  
 
Additional Comment 29 September 2020: 
 
Acoustic glazing should be provided to the front and rear of Plot 6, nearest the workshop. 
 
KCC Highways - 
 
Amended Comment 02/03/21: 
 
I refer to the amended plans submitted for the above on 9th December 2020. Whilst visibility 
at the existing access in Addington Place is below current standards, the proposals are 
unlikely to generate a material increase in use of the access. I would prefer to see more than 
2 parking spaces provided for the proposed 6 dwellings, however the site is located close to 
the town centre, is readily accessible by public transport, and parking restrictions are in 
place on the highway as necessary. 
 
However, I note that the front doors of the proposed dwellings open onto Hertford Place 
where there is no footway and therefore no protection for residents from passing vehicles as 
they step out. I would therefore wish to see some form of protected space/footway along the 
Hertford Place frontage and it appears from the site plan and application red line that this is 
achievable. This footway should be as wide as possible but with a minimum width of 1.2 
metres. 
 
Original Comment 25/08/2020:  
 
I refer to the above planning application and have no objection in principle to the proposals. 
Whilst visibility at the existing access in Addington Place is below current standards, the 
proposals are unlikely to generate a material increase in use of the access. I would prefer to 
see more than 2 parking spaces provided for the proposed 6 dwellings, however the site is 
located close to the town centre, is readily accessible by public transport, and parking 
restrictions are in place on the highway as necessary. 
 
However, I note that the front doors of the proposed dwellings open onto Hertford Place 
where there is no footway and therefore no protection for residents from passing vehicles as 
they step out. I would therefore wish to see some form of protected space/footway along the 
Hertford Place frontage and it appears from the site plan and application red line that this is 
achievable. 
 
This footway should be as wide as possible with an ideal minimum width of 1.2 metres. 
If possible I would also wish to see a minimum of 1 secure, covered cycle parking space for 
each bedroom. 
 
Southern Water - Southern Water requires a formal application for any new connection to 
the public foul sewer to be made by the applicant or the developer.  
 
 
 

Page 46

Agenda Item 4
Annex 1



COMMENTS 
  
This application has been called to Planning Committee by Councillor Wing due to concerns 
relating to overdevelopment, highway amenity and safety concerns, loss of heritage and 
overshadowing.  
 
The main considerations with regard to this application is the principle of development, the 
impact of the proposed development on the character and appearance of the Conservation 
Area, the impact upon residential amenity, and the impact upon highway safety. 
 
Principle 
 
Policy HO1 of the Thanet Local Plan permits new housing development on non-allocated 
sites within the confines of the urban area and villages, subject to meeting other relevant 
Local Plan policies, including General Housing Policy SP14. Within the Thanet Local Plan 
there is an allowance for 2,025 units of the required housing supply over the plan period to 
be provided through windfall sites, which usually consist of previously developed non-
allocated sites. 
 
The application site is located within the urban confines of Ramsgate and is currently 
occupied by light industrial/commercial premises within two storey buildings and associated 
hardstanding. The application proposes the erection of 6No. 3 storey terraced dwellings, 
following the demolition of the existing buildings. The proposed development would therefore 
accord with Policy HO1. 
 
The proposal would involve the loss of existing commercial premises. There are no policies 
which protect the existing employment use in this location.  
 
The principle of development is therefore considered to be acceptable, subject to the 
assessment of all other material planning considerations.  
 
Character and Appearance 
 
As the site is located within a Conservation Area the Local Planning Authority must have 
regard for Section 72(1) of the Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 
which requires special attention to be paid to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the 
character and appearance of the area. 
 
The proposed development proposes the demolition of the existing commercial building and 
its replacement with a residential terrace. The surrounding area is a high density urban 
environment containing predominantly period residential and some commercial 
development, the majority of which are set within modest or moderate linear plots.  
 
The layout of the proposed terrace would follow the prevailing street frontage pattern of 
development, continuing the street frontage of the adjacent building to the west which 
addresses Hertford Place, and comprises a similar footprint to the existing building. The 
application proposes terraced dwellings which is the predominant typology in the locality, 
with modest gardens to the rear which is common in this area. The access to the rear will be 
retained beyond the rear gardens of the proposed terrace and 2No. Off street parking 
spaces and a modest single storey refuse store will be provided adjacent to Addington 
Place. This will largely retain the existing configuration to the rear, and the proposed refuse 
store will relate to the numerous similar outbuildings and garages which front Addington 
Place. This layout is therefore considered to integrate well with the surrounding built 
environment and pattern of development and would maintain the characteristic enclosure to 
Hertford Place.  

Page 47

Agenda Item 4
Annex 1



 
The vicinity of the application site consists of a combination of single storey commercial 
development, two storey (with pitched roofs) and three storey (flat roof) development. The 
proposed reduced height of the terrace, and the two storey configuration to the eaves to the 
front elevation is considered to be suitably proportional to, and compatible with the 
surrounding height and scale of development, and will not be unduly overbearing to Hertford 
Place.  
 
The majority of surrounding properties are of Georgian/Victorian origin, and have strong 
vertical proportions and emphasis to their design, form and pattern of fenestration. The 
proposed revised scale and form of the terraced dwellings is considered to suitably relate to 
this vertical emphasis to the front, with the gabled roof relating well to the form of 
surrounding development. The terrace will have a staggered configuration as the ground 
level falls from west to east, which will further break up the terrace and highlight its vertical 
proportions.  
 
The proposed rear elevation will comprise an alternative design and form, of a full three 
storeys set under a parapet which is set down slightly from the ridgeline. This alternative 
design and form is considered to be suitable for the commercial/subsidiary road/access it 
addresses, and relates to the rear projections and flat roofs and parapets common in the 
locality.  
 
The wider unit to the end of the terrace to the east has been amended to include a 
meaningful set back of 1m to the additional approximately 3m width and a modest set down 
from the ridge. This configuration shall break up the built form of this unit, providing a 
subservient side projection which will relate well to the remaining terrace, and retain the 
regular proportions of the terrace.   
 
The proposed revised design will provide a traditional, cottage-like appearance to the front 
elevation, with sash windows with vertical proportions which will relate well to the 
surrounding Georgian and Victorian terraces. The proposed material palette utilises 
characteristic and common material finishes in the area, retaining the partial flint materiality 
of the existing building through knapped flintwork to the ground floor front elevations. The 
remainder of the elevations will be finished in buff stock bricks, with contrasting red stock 
brickwork detailing and window/doors surrounds, aluminium windows and doors, stone cills, 
natural slate roof and lead cladding to the dormer.  
 
These material finishes are considered to be appropriate for the position of the site within a 
Conservation Area, provide detail and interest to the elevations, and will identify and 
integrate well with the surrounding locality. Sample materials will be secured by condition to 
ensure all external materials are of a suitable quality for this sensitive location.  
 
The existing property contains elements of flintwork to the east of the rear elevation. The 
historic character and appearance of this flintwork element to the existing building is 
recognised. The application proposes to demolish the existing building, including this 
flintwork section. The loss of the flint element is regrettable, however this is concentrated to 
a sporadic, modest portion of the wall, and is not straightforward to integrate the existing wall 
into a new development. The proposed scheme will retain the flintwork materiality as a 
feature to the front elevation of the new dwellings, which will have regard to the contribution 
made by the current wall to the Conservation area. 
 
Overall, the revised proposed development is considered to provide a terrace of dwellings 
which are compatible and proportional to its surrounding built environment, integrating with 
the prevailing designs, proportions and material finishes present. The Conservation Officer 
has raised no objections to the revised scheme, considering the proposal to preserve the 

Page 48

Agenda Item 4
Annex 1



integrity and character and appearance of the Conservation Area. Whilst the loss of the 
modest flintwork section to the existing building is regrettable, the proposal successfully 
retains this materiality, and the development is considered to form an overall improvement 
upon the existing building, which will enhance the character and appearance of the 
application site within the Conservation Area. 
 
The development is therefore considered to be acceptable in terms of its impact upon the 
special character and appearance of the Conservation Area and will accord with Policies 
HEO2 and QD02 of the Thanet Local Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework.  
 
Living Conditions 
 
The existing building is a 1.5 storey L shaped building which extends along Hertford Place 
and adjacent to the adjacent commercial building to the east. The building has a depth of 
approximately 4.5m/5m to its main body, with a single storey rear projection to the west, 
which extends a further approximately 7.8m depth.   
 
The proposed development will be sited in a comparable location to the existing building, 
extending along and following the existing street frontage of Hertford Place. The 
development will align with the position of the adjacent residential neighbour to the west and 
extend a comparable depth of approximately 7m, extending beyond the rear elevation of this 
neighbour by approximately 2m. The terraced dwellings have been reduced in height and 
will now extend two storeys to the eaves to the front, with the second floor accommodation 
provided within the roof space. 
 
Given the position of the proposed terrace and its relationship and modest depth beyond the 
adjacent neighbours to the west, the proposal is not considered to result in harm to the 
residential amenity of these neighbours deriving from its built form. The terrace will be sited 
adjacent to the commercial building to the east, in the position of existing built form and is 
therefore not considered to result in harm to residential amenity. No residential development 
fronts Hertford Place opposite the proposed terrace, with the blank side elevations of the 
modern terraced development opposite facing the proposal. Given this arrangement and the 
reduced height of the proposed terrace, the development is not considered to be 
overbearing or result in harm to the development opposite to the north.  
 
To the rear of the site is a cluster of commercial/garage buildings and a dwelling. The 
proposed development will extend a moderate additional height and scale to the existing 
building, with an approximately 10.5m separation distance to this cluster to the rear, which is 
not considered to result in harm to residential amenity deriving from the built form. 
 
The development opposite to the north is sited side on to the proposed terrace, with its 
gardens to the rear. The first and second floor windows of the proposed terrace serve the 
bathroom, landing and en-suite, which do not constitute primary habitable spaces and shall 
be obscure glazed to Plots 1-5 which face towards/have sight of these gardens, which will 
prevent harmful overlooking to the adjacent neighbours rear gardens opposite.  
 
The bedrooms of the dwelling are served by first and second floor windows to the rear. The 
existing building contains ground and first floor windows and there is existing mutual 
overlooking between the development opposite and the existing building, and the area is a 
high density urban environment where a degree of overlooking is present. Given the existing 
arrangement and characteristics of this environment, the development is not considered to 
result in harmful overlooking to the adjacent properties and dwelling to the rear.  
 
In terms of the living conditions for future occupiers, the proposed terraced dwellings meets 
and exceeds the applicable Nationally Described Space Standards for 3 or 4 bed three 

Page 49

Agenda Item 4
Annex 1



storey dwellings respectively. All primary habitable rooms shall be served by front or rear 
windows which will provide suitable light, outlook and ventilation.  
 
All dwellings will be provided with a modest rear garden which is capable of providing 
sufficient doorstep play space and cycle storage in accordance with Policy GI04 and TP03. 
A refuse store is provided adjacent to Addington Place which will provide sufficient 
accessible refuse storage provision to serve the proposed development.  
 
The development is sited in close proximity to existing commercial development including 
car repair activities. Environmental Health have commented that complaints have been 
received relating to odour and noise from this neighbouring use, and that it is necessary that 
mitigation is incorporated into the scheme to protect occupants of Plot 6 to protect future 
occupants from noise, odour and fumes. A condition requiring a scheme to address the 
issue of noise and odour and will minimise the effects to Plot 6 including acoustic glazing 
and air conditioning details to be agreed shall be attached to the consent should permission 
be granted to address this.  
 
In order to manage and minimise disturbance to surrounding adjacent neighbours during the 
construction process, it is considered necessary to secure a construction management plan 
by condition, which will be attached to the consent should permission be granted.  
 
The proposed development is therefore considered to be acceptable in terms of residential 
amenity of the adjacent neighbours and the future occupiers of the proposed dwelling in 
accordance with Policy QD03, QD04 and GI04 of the Thanet Local Plan, and the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 
 
Highways 
 
The application proposes the replacement of the existing commercial building within 6No. 
Terraced dwellings. Two allocated parking spaces are proposed to serve Unit 6 which is 
considered to provide a suitable level of parking for this 4 bed unit. No further parking 
provision is proposed.  
 
The application site is located within close proximity to Ramsgate Town Centre which 
provides a range of services, facilities and good public transport links and is therefore 
considered to be sustainably located. There is limited unrestricted and restricted on street 
parking in the surrounding area.  
 
KCC Highways have reviewed the proposed scheme and noted that whilst they would prefer 
more than 2No. parking spaces, given the close proximity of the site to the town centre, the 
parking restrictions in place on the highway and its good accessibility by public transport, no 
objections are raised to the proposed parking provision. It is considered that given these 
factors and taking into account the parking generated by the existing commercial use, that 
the level of off-street parking in this location for the 6 dwellings is considered acceptable. 
 
KCC Highways state that the proposal is unlikely to result in a material increase in use of the 
access to Addington Place. The associated increased vehicular movements associated with 
the proposed development, given the limited number of units proposed, is considered to be 
modest within the context of this edge of town centre location and is not considered to result 
in harm to the surrounding area. 
 
KCC Highways have requested footpath provision for the proposed terraced units onto 
Hertford Place so the dwellings do not enter and exit the dwellings directly into the road. A 
public footpath to the front of the proposed terraced dwellings onto Hertford Place has been 
provided of a width of 0.9m. Whilst this falls slightly below the requested width of 1.2m, this 

Page 50

Agenda Item 4
Annex 1



is considered to provide sufficient space and footpath provision given the surrounding 
constraints within this high density environment, and the limited vehicular movements upon 
this narrow road. 
 
All units will be provided with cycle storage provision within their rear gardens. 
 
The proposed development is therefore considered to be acceptable in terms of highway 
amenity and highway safety, in accordance with Policy TP03 and TP06 of the Thanet Local 
Plan.  
 
Archaeology  
 
The application site is located in an area which is considered likely to have potential for 
archaeological remains, with Roman and prehistoric findings in the nearby area. As such, it 
is considered necessary to secure a watching brief during development through a planning 
condition. The agent has agreed to the requested condition, which shall be attached to the 
decision in the event planning permission is granted. Subject to this safeguarding condition, 
the impact upon archaeology is considered to be acceptable and in accordance with the 
National Planning Policy Framework.  
 
Contributions  
 
Natural England has previously advised that the level of population increase predicted in 
Thanet should be considered likely to have a significant effect on the interest features for 
which the Thanet Coast and Sandwich Bay Special Protection Area (SPA) and RAMSAR 
have been identified.  
  
Thanet District Council produced the Strategic Access Management and Monitoring Plan 
(SAMM) to deal with these matters, which focuses on the impacts of recreational activities 
on the Thanet section of the Thanet Coast and Sandwich Bay Special Protection Area 
(SPA). The studies indicate that recreational disturbance is a potential cause of the decline 
in bird numbers in the SPA. To enable the Council to be satisfied that proposed residential 
development will avoid a likely significant effect on the designated sites (due to an increase 
in recreation) a financial contribution is required for all housing developments to contribute to 
the district wide mitigation strategy. This mitigation has meant that the Council accords with 
the Habitat Regulations and an appropriate assessment has been carried out on this basis. 
 
This application includes a valid Unilateral Undertaking to provide the required financial 
contribution of £2,650.00 for the proposed 5No. 3 bed and 1No. 4 bed dwellings to mitigate 
the additional recreational pressure on the SPA area.  
 
Conclusion 
 
The site is sustainably located within the urban confines and is previously developed land. 
The proposal for the erection of 6no. dwellings is considered to be in accordance with Policy 
HO1 of the Thanet Local Plan. The amended scheme  is considered to be a suitably 
compatible form of development within the Conservation Area, which has an acceptable 
impact upon the living conditions of adjacent neighbours, highway safety and amenity, and 
provides a satisfactory standard of amenity for future occupiers.  
 
The Council is also currently in presumption in favour of sustainable development as the 
Housing delivery test 2020 has not been met. Paragraph 11 of the NPPF states that for 
decision taking this means that the Council should grant permission unless any adverse 
impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when 
assessed against the policies of the NPPF as a whole. In this instance the benefits of 

Page 51

Agenda Item 4
Annex 1



providing the development in the amended form are considered to outweigh any adverse 
impacts.  
 
The proposed amended development is therefore considered to be acceptable and in 
accordance with the relevant Thanet Local Plan policies and the National Planning Policy 
Framework 
 
 
Case Officer 
Jenny Suttle 
  

Page 52

Agenda Item 4
Annex 1



TITLE: F/TH/20/0969 
 

Project  Addington House Business Centre Addington Place RAMSGATE Kent CT11 
9JG 
 

  

 
 
 
  

Page 53

Agenda Item 4
Annex 1



 

 

 

Page 54

Agenda Item 4
Annex 1



7/9/2021 EKS Partnership Mail - Re: F/TH/20/0969 - Addington House Business Centre, Addington Place

https://mail.google.com/mail/u/0?ik=b414c68088&view=pt&search=all&permthid=thread-a%3Ar-2215993371748201574%7Cmsg-a%3Ar-333473… 1/1

Jenny Suttle (Planning Officer) <jenny.suttle@thanet.gov.uk>

Re: F/TH/20/0969 - Addington House Business Centre, Addington Place 
1 message

Jenny Suttle <jenny.suttle@thanet.gov.uk> 9 July 2021 at 10:25
To: "Jenny Suttle (Planning Officer)" <jenny.suttle@thanet.gov.uk>

On Fri, 9 Jul 2021 at 10:06, <Richard.Smith@kent.gov.uk> wrote: 

Hi Jenny,

 

In accordance with Kent Design Guide Interim Guidance note 3 Residential Parking, the parking for this site would
be a maximum of one space per dwelling, rather than a minimum. Bearing in mind the parking controls in place in
the vicinity and the sustainable location, we would not anticipate any severe highway impacts as a result of the
amount of parking proposed within the site, whether it was two spaces as previously or three as now proposed.

 

Regards,

 

Richard

 

Richard Smith  l Senior Development Planner l Kent County Council l Highways &
Transportation l Ashford Highway Depot l 4 Javelin Way l Henwood Industrial Estate l Ashford
l Kent l TN24 8AD l External 03000 418181l www.kent.gov.uk l Follow us on Twitter @kent_cc

The replies are given on the understanding that the council does not warrant the accuracy of any of the replies and on the basis that neither the council nor
any officer, servant or agent of the council is legally responsible, either in contract or tort; with the exception of negligence, for any inaccuracies, errors or
omissions herein contained. Any liability for negligence will extend to the person who raised the enquiries and the person on whose behalf they were
raised

  

Page 55

Agenda Item 4
Annex 2

mailto:Richard.Smith@kent.gov.uk
http://www.kent.gov.uk/


This page is intentionally left blank



Planning Application OL/TH/20/0847  – Land On The North
West And South East Sides Of Shottendane Road

MARGATE Kent

Planning Committee –  21st July 2020

Report Author Iain Livingstone, Planning Applications Manager

Status For Decision

Classification: Unrestricted

Previously Considered by Planning Committee 21st April 2021 and 23rd June 2021

Ward: Salmestone

Executive Summary:

This report concerns the planning application for the residential development of up to 450
dwellings and alterations to the highway network, including details of access with all other
matters reserved (Appearance, Landscaping, Layout, Scale) on land to the north west and
south east of Shottendane Road, Margate. The application was considered by the Planning
Committee on 21st April 2021 where Members resolved to defer to Officers to consider
alternative provision of planning obligations, specifically regarding affordable housing. This
was reported to members on 23rd June 2021, where members considered the report and
subsequently deferred the application to officers to bring back to members to consider
reasons for refusal of the application.

The planning application is therefore reported back to Members to consider potential reasons
to refuse the planning application.

CORPORATE IMPLICATIONS
Financial and
Value for
Money

The Planning Committee is not bound to follow the advice of Officers.
However, should Members decide not to accept the advice of Officers it
should be mindful of the potential cost implications in doing so.

The advice from Government within the National Planning Practice
Guidance sets out the circumstances in which costs may be awarded
against either party in planning appeals. Costs may be awarded where a
party has behaved unreasonably; and the unreasonable behaviour has
directly caused another party to incur unnecessary or wasted expense in
the appeal process.

The advice outlined is that if officers’ professional or technical advice is not
followed, authorities will need to show reasonable planning grounds for
taking a contrary decision and produce relevant evidence on appeal to
support the decision in all respects. If they fail to do so, costs may be
awarded against the authority. There are no funds allocated for any

Page 57

Agenda Item 5



potential fines meaning cost awards will result in spend that is outside of
the budgetary framework.

It is expected that the Council would be required to instruct consultants to
defend an appeal on behalf of the Council due to the available resources,
which would incur additional costs to the authority.

Legal The Planning Committee is not bound to follow the advice of Officers.
However, if officers’ professional or technical advice is not followed,
authorities will need to show reasonable planning grounds for taking a
contrary decision and produce relevant evidence on appeal to support the
decision in all respects. If they fail to do so, costs may be awarded against
the authority.

The reasons for any decision must be formally recorded in the minutes
and a copy placed on file.

If Members decide not to accept the advice of Officers it should be mindful
of the potential for legal challenge and associated cost implications.

The advice from Government within the National Planning Practice
Guidance sets out the circumstances in which costs may be awarded
against either party in planning appeals. Costs may be awarded where a
party has behaved unreasonably; and the unreasonable behaviour has
directly caused another party to incur unnecessary or wasted expense in
the appeal process. Costs may be awarded following an application by the
appellant or unilaterally by the Inspector. An authority is considered to
have behaved unreasonably if it does not produce evidence to
substantiate each reason for refusal.

Corporate The delivery of new housing through the Local Plan and planning
applications supports the Council’s priorities of supporting neighbourhoods
ensuring local residents have access to good quality housing, and
promoting inward investment through setting planning strategies and
policies that support growth of the economy.

Equalities Act
2010 & Public
Sector Equality
Duty

Members are reminded of the requirement, under the Public Sector
Equality Duty (section 149 of the Equality Act 2010) to have due regard to
the aims of the Duty at the time the decision is taken. The aims of the
Duty are: (i) eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment, victimisation
and other conduct prohibited by the Act, (ii) advance equality of
opportunity between people who share a protected characteristic and
people who do not share it, and (iii) foster good relations between people
who share a protected characteristic and people who do not share it.

Protected characteristics: age, gender, disability, race, sexual orientation,
gender reassignment, religion or belief and pregnancy & maternity. Only
aim (i) of the Duty applies to Marriage & civil partnership.

In the opinion of the author of this report the Public Sector equality duty is
not engaged or affected by this decision.

Page 58

Agenda Item 5



1.0 Introduction

1.1 The report taken to Members on the 21st April 2021 (Annex 6) proposed the
residential development of the land either side of Shottendane Road for up to 450
dwelling with alterations to the highways network. This report was supported by
viability evidence, including an independent assessment of the viability appraisal by
the Council's appointed consultants, in support of the provision of 10% affordable
housing on site, with approximately £4.9million in contributions to community and
highways infrastructure (outlined in the heads of terms in Annex 6). The application
was considered by officers to accord with the Thanet Local Plan, in particular with
Policy SP23 as it had been demonstrated that the requirement for 30% on site
affordable should be reduced as meeting it would demonstrably make the proposed
development unviable.

1.2 The application was deferred to officers to consider alternative provision of planning
obligations, specifically regarding affordable housing, and report back to a future
meeting. Evidence was updated and submitted by the applicant which proposed 15%
affordable housing, as well as other obligations and 2 review mechanisms within a
future Section 106 agreement to capture any uplift in value and improvements to
viability from a successful bid for Major Road Network funding. This was considered
at length at the Planning Committee meeting on the 23rd June 2021 (Annex 9) and a
motion to defer for approval on this basis was voted down, with a motion passed for
consideration of reasons for refusal on the planning application.

2.0 Reasons for refusal

2.1 In January 2021, the Housing Delivery Test 2020 was published and the district has
not met the requirements of the test. Therefore currently any housing application
submitted to the Council, in accordance with paragraph 11 of the NPPF, will need to
be considered in the context of the presumption in favour of sustainable
development. Paragraph 11 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
states decisions should apply a presumption in favour of sustainable development
which means for decision-taking, granting permission unless any adverse impacts of
doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed
against the policies of the NPPF.

2.2 In the debate at the Planning Committee meeting on the 23rd June 2021, the
consensus of members was a significant concern about the provision of affordable
housing under the 30% target in Policy SP23 of the Thanet Local Plan. Other matters
outlined by individual members of the Committee were regarding flooding, impact on
healthcare facilities and impact on biodiversity.

Affordable housing

2.3 Policy SP23 states that for development of the scale proposed shall be required to
provide 30% of the dwellings as affordable housing, with the requirements only
reduced if meeting them would demonstrably make the proposed development
unviable. The previous reports at Annex 6 and 9 outlined the viability evidence
submitted with the application and the independent assessment of the viability
appraisal by the Council's appointed consultants, which confirms that the
development would be un-viable if more than 15% affordable housing was provided

Page 59

Agenda Item 5



on-site (when taking into account all other planning obligations stated). Following the
previous Planning Committee meeting, the viability information provided has been
reviewed to assess whether a lower percentage amount for different costs could
reasonably be identified which would increase affordable provision to 30%. This has
looked at base-build costs, external works, professional fees, disposal costs, private
revenue and developers return. Whilst a lower developer profit figure (at 15%) could
be adopted, this would not result in a sufficient increase to allow for 30% affordable
housing, with the approach of a 17.5% figure consistent with the position of the
Council on other viability appraisals within the identified Government range. The
other assumptions reviewed in the viability appraisal do not clearly show any
reasonable limits of deviation which would increase the viability of the scheme on the
basis of the evidence provided by the applicant and independently assessed.
Therefore it is concluded that the development would be in accordance with Policy
SP23.

2.4 Members cited the particular issues within the district regarding affordability and
access to affordable housing in the debate on the 23rd June 2021. Provision of
affordable housing is a key planning objective at both the local and national level,
with a key tenet of the Council’s housing strategy to deliver a range of homes to meet
the local housing need which residents can afford. As of 9th July 2021, there are
1563 households on the housing register applying for social housing. The Council’s
Housing strategy (March 2020), outlines that:

“Currently 19,471 households or 29% of the population are on a low income, which is
defined as less than £15,988 per annum. On average earnings are £462.50 per week
which is within the bottom 20% of the whole of England. Only 19.12% of households
are in the lower managerial and professional occupations. This presents the
challenge that more than 80% of the population in Thanet, cannot afford to buy an
averagely priced terraced house and those who are renting in the private sector are
spending over 50% of their earnings on living costs. The median income for Thanet is
£25,000 and to be affordable, the National Housing Federation identifies that only
30% of income should be spent on housing costs.”

2.5 There is also a particularly acute need for affordable rented accommodation following
5 years of low delivery (between 2014-2019). The Strategy elaborates that the “low
delivery of affordable housing in recent years means it is crucial to maximise the
number of affordable homes to be delivered over the duration of this strategy and
beyond” and identifying that “the most recent Strategic Housing Market Assessment
has calculated that the district needs 857 homes per annum”. In the supporting
evidence for the Thanet Local Plan, the update on Objectively Assessed need (2017)
stated that 397 affordable units were required each year to meet affordable demand.
This is a high percentage (46%) of overall housing need, demonstrating the acute
need for affordable housing in the district.

2.6 The key matter is what harm results from the provision of less than 30% affordable
housing, and whether this outweighs the identified substantial benefits of the scheme
(including the provision of 15% affordable housing from the application, exceeding
the national target of 10%). Whilst the proposal would not be contrary to Policy SP23
when taken as a whole, if members consider that there is substantial harm created by
not provided 30% affordable housing on this site due to the specific housing need
and acute affordability issues in the district, and that this outweighs both the viability

Page 60

Agenda Item 5



evidence and clear benefits from the scheme, then they could refuse the application
on the following reason:

The proposed development, by virtue of the proposed level of affordable housing,
would not meet the identified need for affordable housing in the district, thereby not
providing the required homes to create a balanced and mixed community. This harm
is considered to significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits of the
development, therefore the proposal would not constitute sustainable development
and is contrary to Strategic Priority 3 of the Thanet Local Plan and the objectives of
the National Planning Policy Framework.

2.7 It would be expected that if a decision on this basis was appealed that significant
weight would be given to the viability evidence provided and independently assessed
by the Council, and substantial weight would be afforded to housing delivery on a
strategically allocated site, when the Council are in presumption in favour of
sustainable development, as well as the clear highway, ecological and economic
benefits of the proposed development. The development also complies with wording
of the Council’s affordable housing policy SP23 in providing viability evidence, and
therefore there is no policy conflict from the development on this point.

2.8 Officers have reviewed an appeal decision issued in June 2021 for a decision by
Newark and Sherwood District Council (see background papers link), which outlines
the expected weight to be given to a reason for refusal on insufficient affordable
housing, when a viability case has been independently agreed (Paragraphs 39-43
and 80 are particularly relevant). This appeal was upheld by the Inspector, granting
development due to the benefits of the development and evidence provided
outweighing the identified harm. In the case before members, it is expected that
greater weight would be given to the benefits of the proposed development, as the
Council has not met the Housing delivery test, and 15% affordable housing is being
proposed (in the appeal case, none was proposed).

Flood risk

2.9 At 5.3 of Annex 7, officers stated:

“The detailed assessment in the application and mitigation measures has been
reviewed by specialist Kent County Council officers (as the Local Lead Flood
Authority), with agreement for safeguarding conditions on any grant of planning
permission to require further details including a detailed surface water drainage
scheme and subsequent verification report. This scheme would need to be
formulated as part of the detailed layout of the site, which is not being considered at
this outline stage, but the principles of the strategy have been assessed to be
satisfactory to manage surface water run-off from the development. The planning
conditions (13, 14, 15) are considered appropriate mechanisms for ensuring that
flood risks from development to the future users of the land and neighbouring land
are minimised in accordance with Policy CC02 of the Local Plan and the guidance
within the National Planning Policy Framework.”

2.10 Whilst members expressed concerns about the potential for flooding, or that the
properties built would be affected by flooding, no evidence was provided to counter
the view of KCC as the local lead flood authority, that the scheme could come forward

Page 61

Agenda Item 5



without increasing surface water drainage flows or increasing flood risk. Therefore
officers are not able to provide a cogent planning reason for refusal on this ground.

Impact on Healthcare

2.11 This matter was previously addressed at 5.2 of Annex 7, which stated:

“Concerns were raised by members of the Planning Committee regarding the lack of
GP services in the district both broadly and in relation to the proposed housing
development. The Council consulted with the NHS Kent and Medway Clinical
Commissioning Group (CCG) who have assessed the implications of this proposal on
delivery of general practice services. They have requested a contribution which has
been considered to sufficiently mitigate the impact of the development with a
payment of £388,800 towards creating capacity at the Limes. Current operational
issues in regard to recruiting GPs to the district would not be a justifiable planning
reason for refusal of the application, as the issue is not directly related to the
development, and the responsible body (CCG) have confirmed that a contribution is
sufficient to mitigate the impact from the development on healthcare provision.”

2.12 Therefore officers are not able to provide a cogent planning reason for refusal on this
ground, as the lack of GPs in the district is not an impact directly attributable as a
result of this development.

Impact on Biodiversity

2.13 Concern was raised at the meeting regarding the lack of a detailed breeding/nesting
bird survey. The application was accompanied by a Phase 1 Habitat Survey, which
was included in the Environment Impact Assessment, and did not identify the
presence of Skylarks on the site. Notwithstanding this, the Environmental Statement
outlines specific mitigation proposed during construction (strict protection of root
protection areas of trees, working methods and timing to avoid direct impacts to
nesting birds, compliance with terms of European Protected Species derogation
licensing, updating surveys where necessary), with a landscape and ecology
management plan to be prepared at detailed design stage to set out the measures for
the establishment and management of newly created and retained habitats. These
would be secured by proposed conditions 31 and 41 outlined at Annex 6, and no
objection has been raised to this approach by either Natural England, or KCC
Biodiversity as the Council’s expert advisors on Biodiversity matters. Therefore
officers are not able to provide a cogent planning reason for refusal on this ground.

3.0 Applicants submission

3.1 Following the meeting in June, the applicant Gladman Developments has written to
the planning department. This is appended to this report at Annex 10 and outlines an
option from the applicant’s perspective that members could resolve to defer and
delegate for approval subject to the full requirement for 30% affordable housing being
provided on-site (as well as obligations as previously stated), which would then put
the onus on the applicant to sign a Section 106 agreement on that basis if they
wished to secure the permission. This option is acknowledged to deviate from the
agreed viability evidence, and would likely rely upon the Major Road Network (MRN)
bid being successful (as this would mean the vast majority of road costs on site

Page 62

Agenda Item 5



would be funded by the grant - thereby improving viability to be able to increase
affordable provision on site).

3.2 The approach is not recommended by officers as a resolution on this basis would
effectively leave the application undetermined until either the MRN is successful, or
viability improves to an extent that the applicant signs a legal agreement on these
terms, with no timescale for this outcome. This resolution would be based on hope
rather than evidence, whilst the application would be open for a non-determination
appeal by the applicant. It would also require Members to set aside the proposal
submitted and resolve to determine the application irrespective of the evidence.

4.0 Options

4.1 Members refuse the application on the lack of sufficient affordable housing, as
outlined at 2.6 in the report.

4.2 Members refuse the application on the lack of sufficient affordable housing, as
outlined at 2.6 in the report and additional reasons to be outlined in the meeting.

4.3 Members confirm that the planning application be deferred to officers for approval
subject to securing a legal agreement for the provision of 15% affordable housing on
site (split 80% affordable rent and 20% shared ownership), and planning obligations
and safeguarding conditions outlined at Annex 6.

4.4 Members propose an alternative motion.

Contact Officer: Iain Livingstone, Planning Applications Manager
Reporting to: Bob Porter, Director of Housing and Planning

Annex List

Annex 1 Applicant’s Viability Appraisal
Annex 2 DSP Viability Review
Annex 3 Highways Cost review
Annex 4 Applicant response on Highways cost
Annex 5 Habitat_Regulation_Assessment 20.0847
Annex 6 Planning Committee Report 21st April 2021
Annex 7 Applicant’s Additional Viability submission
Annex 8 Alternative contribution scenario
Annex 9 Planning Committee Agenda Report 23rd June 2021
Annex 10 Applicants letter received 9th July 2021

Background Papers

Thanet District Council - Housing, Homelessness & Rough Sleeper Strategy - March 2020
https://www.thanet.gov.uk/info-pages/strategic-housing/

Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) - Updated Assessment of Objectively
Assessed Housing Need 2017
https://www.thanet.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/08/SHMA-Update-Report-2017.pdf

Page 63

Agenda Item 5



Planning Appeal - Newark & Sherwood District Council vs C.B. Collier NK Limited
APP/B3030/W/20/3260970
https://acp.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/

Page 64

Agenda Item 5



Page 65

Agenda Item 5
Annex 1



Page 66

Agenda Item 5
Annex 1



Page 67

Agenda Item 5
Annex 1



Page 68

Agenda Item 5
Annex 1



Page 69

Agenda Item 5
Annex 1



Page 70

Agenda Item 5
Annex 1



Page 71

Agenda Item 5
Annex 1



Page 72

Agenda Item 5
Annex 1



Page 73

Agenda Item 5
Annex 1



Page 74

Agenda Item 5
Annex 1



Page 75

Agenda Item 5
Annex 1



Page 76

Agenda Item 5
Annex 1



Page 77

Agenda Item 5
Annex 1



Page 78

Agenda Item 5
Annex 1



Page 79

Agenda Item 5
Annex 1



Page 80

Agenda Item 5
Annex 1



Page 81

Agenda Item 5
Annex 1



Page 82

Agenda Item 5
Annex 1



Page 83

Agenda Item 5
Annex 1



Page 84

Agenda Item 5
Annex 1



Page 85

Agenda Item 5
Annex 1



Page 86

Agenda Item 5
Annex 1



Page 87

Agenda Item 5
Annex 1



Page 88

Agenda Item 5
Annex 1



Page 89

Agenda Item 5
Annex 1



Page 90

Agenda Item 5
Annex 1



Page 91

Agenda Item 5
Annex 1



Page 92

Agenda Item 5
Annex 1



Page 93

Agenda Item 5
Annex 1



Page 94

Agenda Item 5
Annex 1



 
 

 

 

Dixon Searle Partnership 

Elm House, Tanshire Park, 

Shackleford Road, Elstead, Surrey, GU8 6LB 

www.dixonsearle.co.uk 

For: Thanet District Council 

Review of Applicant Submitted 

Viability Position 

 
 Shottendane Road 

MARGATE 

CT9 5QY 

 

October 2020 

(DSP20442W) 

 

 

Page 95

Agenda Item 5
Annex 2



 

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Contents 
 

Notes and Limitations 1 

Introduction 3 

Review of Submitted Viability Assumptions   7 

Summary and Recommendations 22 

 

      

Appendix I – DSP version of applicant submitted appraisal 

Appendix 2 – Cost plan review by ERMC Surveyors 

 

       

 

  

 

    

 

Page 96

Agenda Item 5
Annex 2



 
 Thanet District Council  

Thanet DC – Shottendane Road, Margate – Viability Review DSP20442W 1 
 

1. Notes and Limitations 
 

1.1.1. The following does not provide formal valuation advice. This review and its findings are 

intended purely for the purposes of providing Thanet District Council (TDC) with an 

independent check of, and opinion on, the planning applicant’s viability information and 

stated position in this case.  

 

1.1.2. This document has been prepared for this specific reason and should not be used for any 

other purpose without the prior written authority of Dixon Searle Partnership (DSP); we 

accept no responsibility or liability for the consequences of this document being used for 

a purpose other than for which it was commissioned. To the extent that the document is 

based on information supplied by others, Dixon Searle Partnership accepts no liability for 

any loss or damage suffered by the client. 

 

1.1.3. We have undertaken this as a desk-top exercise as is appropriate for this stage and level 

of review. For general familiarisation we have considered the site context from the 

information supplied by the Council and using available web-based material.  

 

1.1.4. The report supplied to DSP to inform and support this review process is stated to have 

been prepared on the basis that it will be made publicly available. Other information has 

been provided, and potentially some of the information provided may be regarded as 

commercially sensitive. Therefore, we suggest that the Council and prospective / current 

or subsequent planning applicant may wish to consider this aspect together. DSP confirms 

that we are content for our review information, as contained within this report, to be 

used as may be considered appropriate by the Council (we assume with the applicant’s 

agreement if necessary). In looking at ‘Accountability’, since July 2018 the national 

Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) on viability says on this; ‘Any viability assessment should 

be prepared on the basis that it will be made publicly available other than in exceptional 

circumstances.’ 

 

1.1.5. Dixon Searle Partnership conducts its work only for Local Authorities and selected other 

public organisations. We do not act on behalf of any development interests. We have 

been and are involved in the review of other planning stage proposals and strategic level 

viability assessment work within the TDC area.  

 

Page 97

Agenda Item 5
Annex 2



 
 Thanet District Council  

Thanet DC – Shottendane Road, Margate – Viability Review DSP20442W 2 
 

1.1.6. In any event we can confirm that no conflict of interests exists, nor is likely to arise given 

our approach and client base. This is kept under review. Our fees are all quoted in advance 

and agreed with clients on a fixed or capped basis, with no element whatsoever of 

incentive/performance related payment. 

 

 

  

Page 98

Agenda Item 5
Annex 2



 
 Thanet District Council  

Thanet DC – Shottendane Road, Margate – Viability Review DSP20442W 3 
 

2. Introduction 

 

2.1.1 Dixon Searle (DSP) has been commissioned by Thanet District Council (TDC) to carry out 

an independent review of the Financial Viability Assessment report (FVA) supplied to the 

Council on behalf of the applicant, Gladman Developments Ltd, by Jones Lang LaSalle 

(JLL). This is in relation to the proposed development at Shottendane Road, Margate, CT9 

5QY. 

 

2.1.2 The viability information has been supplied in support of planning application reference 

OL/TH/20/0847 ‘the erection of up to 450 residential dwellings (including market and 

affordable housing), structural planting and landscaping, formal and informal public open 

space and children's play area, sustainable urban drainage, with vehicular access points, 

including associated ancillary works and operations, from Hartsdown Road, Shottendane 

Road and Manston Road including access’. The application has been submitted in outline 

and was validated on 13 July 2020.  

 

 

 

Page 99

Agenda Item 5
Annex 2



 
 Thanet District Council  

Thanet DC – Shottendane Road, Margate – Viability Review DSP20442W 4 
 

 

2.1.3 Policy SP20 of the adopted Local Plan for the area (2020) requires 30% affordable housing 

to be provided on sites of over 15 units. The Local Plan policy therefore requires 135 units 

of affordable housing to be provided on site.  

 

2.1.4 In presenting their viability position, the applicant has supplied to the Council the 

aforementioned updated Financial Viability Assessment (FVA) dated June 2020, along 

with electronic copies of a financial appraisal carried out using Argus Developer software. 

Appendices to the report include: 

 

Appendix 1     Site Location & Development Framework Plans 

Appendix 2     Accommodation Schedule 

Appendix 3     BLV 

Appendix 4     Residential Comparable Evidence 

Appendix 5     Valuation Schedule 

Appendix 6     BCIS Cost Summary 

Appendix 7     Additional Cost Breakdown 

Appendix 8     Appraisal Summary 

 

2.1.5 DSP has also had sight of the Council’s online planning application files. 

 

2.1.6 For general background, a viable development could be regarded as the ability of a 

development project to meet its costs including the cost of planning obligations, while 

ensuring an appropriate site value (i.e. existing use value) for the landowner and a market 

risk adjusted return to the developer in delivering that project. The Government’s 

Planning Practice Guidance on Viability sets out the main principles for carrying out a 

viability assessment. It states: 

 

2.1.7 ‘Viability assessment is a process of assessing whether a site is financially viable, by 

looking at whether the value generated by a development is more than the cost of 

developing it. This includes looking at the key elements of gross development value, costs, 

land value, landowner premium, and developer return…Any viability assessment should 

follow the government’s recommended approach to assessing viability as set out in this 

National Planning Guidance and be proportionate, simple, transparent and publicly 

available. Improving transparency of data associated with viability assessment will, over 

time, improve the data available for future assessment as well as provide more 

Page 100

Agenda Item 5
Annex 2



 
 Thanet District Council  

Thanet DC – Shottendane Road, Margate – Viability Review DSP20442W 5 
 

accountability regarding how viability informs decision making…In plan making and 

decision making viability helps to strike a balance between the aspirations of developers 

and landowners, in terms of returns against risk, and the aims of the planning system to 

secure maximum benefits in the public interest through the granting of planning 

permission’ . 

 

2.1.8 Under normal circumstances, if the residual land value (RLV) created by a scheme 

proposal exceeds the existing use value plus a premium (referred to as a benchmark land 

value (BLV) in this case) then we usually have a positive viability scenario – i.e. the scheme 

is much more likely to proceed (on the basis that a reasonable developer profit margin is 

also reached). 

 

2.1.9 In this case an appraisal been run to determine the residual value after allowing for a fixed 

profit of 17.5% on GDV (£19,522,010). The appraisal includes only 10% affordable 

housing, and indicates a residual value of £2,838,920 which when compared to the stated 

benchmark land value of £4,742,750 indicates a deficit of -£1,903,830. The ‘net adjusted’ 

profit for the project (as presented) is therefore £16,683,090 or 15.8% on GDV. The FVA 

concludes that the development with 10% affordable housing ‘could be deemed unviable’, 

but that the applicant intends to bring the scheme forward ‘on this basis as it balances 

the need for affordable housing and local infrastructure improvements’ and in the hope 

that the economics of the scheme will improve over the lifetime of the development.  

 

2.1.10 This review does not seek to pre-determine any Council positions, but merely sets out our 

opinion on the submitted viability assumptions and outcomes in order to inform the 

Council’s discussions with the applicant and its decision making. Our report deals only 

with viability matters, in accordance with our instructions.  

 

2.1.11 Thanet District Council requires our opinion as to whether the viability figures and 

position put forward by the applicant are reasonable. We have therefore considered the 

information submitted. Following our review of the key assumptions areas, this report 

provides our views.    

 

2.1.12 We have based our review on the submitted Financial Viability Assessment (FVA) and the 

premise that the viability of the scheme should be considered based on the assumption 

of current costs and values. We then discuss any variation in terms of any deficit (or 

Page 101

Agenda Item 5
Annex 2



 
 Thanet District Council  

Thanet DC – Shottendane Road, Margate – Viability Review DSP20442W 6 
 

surplus) created from that base position by altering appraisal assumptions (where there 

is disagreement if any) using the financial appraisal provided by JLL. 

 

2.1.13 This assessment has been carried out by Dixon Searle Partnership, a consultancy who 

have over 40 years combined experience in the development industry working for Local 

Authorities, developers, Housing Associations and in consultancy. As consultants, we have 

a considerable track record of assessing the viability of schemes and assessing the scope 

for Local Authority planning obligation requirements. This expertise includes viability-

related work carried out for many Local Authorities nationwide over the last 17 years or 

so. 
 

2.1.14 The purpose of this report is to provide our overview comments with regard to this 

individual scheme, on behalf of the Council - taking into account the details as presented. 

It will then be for the Council to consider this information in the context of the wider 

planning objectives in accordance with its policy positions and strategies. 
 

2.1.15 In carrying out this type of review a key theme for us is to identify whether, in our opinion, 

any key revenue assumptions have been under-assessed (e.g. sales value estimates) or 

any key cost estimates (e.g. build costs, fees, etc.) over-assessed – since both of these 

effects can reduce the stated viability outcome. 

 

  

Page 102

Agenda Item 5
Annex 2



 
 Thanet District Council  

Thanet DC – Shottendane Road, Margate – Viability Review DSP20442W 7 
 

 

3. Review of Submitted Viability Assumptions 
 

3.1 Overview of Approach 

3.1.1 The following commentary reviews the applicant’s submitted viability assumptions as 

explained within the FVA. 

 

3.1.2 Primarily the review process takes into account the fact that the collective impact of the 

various elements of the cost and value assumptions is of greatest importance, rather than 

necessarily the individual detailed inputs in isolation. We have considered those figures 

provided, as below, and reviewed the impact of trial changes to particular submitted 

assumptions.  

 

3.1.3 This type of audit / check is carried out so that we can give the Council a feel for whether 

or not the result is approximately as expected – i.e. informed by a reasonable set of 

assumptions and appraisal approach. 

 

3.1.4 Should there be changes to the scheme proposals this would obviously impact on the 

appraisal outputs.  

 

3.2 Benchmark Land Value  

3.2.1 In all appraisals of this type, the base value (value of the site or premises – e.g. in existing 

use) is one of the key ingredients of scheme viability. A view needs to be taken on land 

value so that it is sufficient to secure the release of the site for the scheme (sale by the 

landowner) but is not assumed at such a level that restricts the financial capacity of the 

scheme to deliver suitable profits (for risk reward), cover all development costs (including 

any abnormals) and provide for planning obligations as a part of creating sustainable 

development. This can be a difficult balance to reach, both in terms of developers’ 

dealings with landowners, and Councils’ assessments of what a scheme has the capacity 

to bear. 

 

3.2.2 The RICS Guidance ‘Financial viability in planning’1 states that:  

 

 
1 RICS Professional Guidance Note – Financial viability in planning (August 2012) 

Page 103

Agenda Item 5
Annex 2



 
 Thanet District Council  

Thanet DC – Shottendane Road, Margate – Viability Review DSP20442W 8 
 

‘A viability appraisal is taken at a point in time, taking account of costs and values at that 

date. A site may be purchased some time before a viability assessment takes place and 

circumstances might change. 

 

This is part of the developer’s risk. Land values can go up or down between the date of 

purchase and a viability assessment taking place; in a rising market developers benefit, 

in a falling market they may lose out. 

 

A developer may make unreasonable/overoptimistic assumptions regarding the type and 

density of development or the extent of planning obligations, which means that it has 

overpaid for the site’. 

  

3.2.3 The revisions to the Viability PPG2 and the new NPPF (updated 19th February 2019 and 

further updated to May 2019 in other respects) now very clearly advise that land value 

should be based on the value of the existing use plus an appropriate level of premium or 

uplift to incentivise release of the land for development from its existing use. In regard to 

how land value should be defined for the purpose of viability assessment it states: ‘To 

define land value for any viability assessment, a benchmark land value should be 

established on the basis of the existing use value (EUV) of the land, plus a premium for the 

landowner.’ 

 

3.2.4 The guidance defines existing use value as: ‘the first component of calculating benchmark 

land value. EUV is the value of the land in its existing use together with the right to 

implement any development for which there are policy compliant extant planning 

consents, including realistic deemed consents, but without regard to alternative uses. 

Existing use value is not the price paid and should disregard hope value. Existing use values 

will vary depending on the type of site and development types. EUV can be established in 

collaboration between plan makers, developers and landowners by assessing the value of 

the specific site or type of site using published sources of information such as agricultural 

or industrial land values, or if appropriate capitalised rental levels at an appropriate yield. 

Sources of data can include (but are not limited to): land registry records of transactions; 

real estate licensed software packages; real estate market reports; real estate research; 

estate agent websites; property auction results; valuation office agency data; public sector 

estate/property teams’ locally held evidence.’ 

 
2 Most recently updated 1 September 2019 

Page 104

Agenda Item 5
Annex 2



 
 Thanet District Council  

Thanet DC – Shottendane Road, Margate – Viability Review DSP20442W 9 
 

 

3.2.5 It states that a Benchmark Land Value (BLV) should: 

 

• ‘be based upon existing use value 

• allow for a premium to landowners (including equity resulting from those building their 

own homes) 

• reflect the implications of abnormal costs; site-specific infrastructure costs; and 

professional site fees and 

• be informed by market evidence including current uses, costs and values wherever 

possible. Where recent market evidence is used to inform assessment of benchmark 

land value this evidence should be based on developments which are compliant with 

policies, including for affordable housing. Where this evidence is not available plan 

makers and applicants should identify and evidence any adjustments to reflect the cost 

of policy compliance. This is so that historic benchmark land values of non-policy 

compliant developments are not used to inflate values over time.’ 

 

3.2.6 The guidance further states that: ‘Where viability assessment is used to inform decision 

making under no circumstances will the price paid for land be a relevant justification for 

failing to accord with relevant policies in the plan.’  It goes on to state: ‘Policy compliance 

means that the development complies fully with up to date plan policies including any 

policy requirements for contributions towards affordable housing requirements at the 

relevant levels set out in the plan.  A decision maker can give appropriate weight to 

emerging policies.  Local authorities can request data on the price paid for land (or the 

price expected to be paid through an option or promotion agreement.)’ 

 

3.2.7 With regard to assuming an alternative use value to determine BLV the guidance states: 

‘For the purpose of viability assessment alternative use value (AUV) refers to the value of 

land for uses other than its current permitted use, and other than other potential 

development that requires planning consent, technical consent or unrealistic permitted 

development with different associated values. AUV of the land may be informative in 

establishing benchmark land value. If applying alternative uses when establishing 

benchmark land value these should be limited to those uses which have an existing 

implementable permission for that use. Where there is no existing implementable 

permission, plan makers can set out in which circumstances alternative uses can be used. 

This might include if there is evidence that the alternative use would fully comply with 

Page 105

Agenda Item 5
Annex 2



 
 Thanet District Council  

Thanet DC – Shottendane Road, Margate – Viability Review DSP20442W 10 
 

development plan policies, if it can be demonstrated that the alternative use could be 

implemented on the site in question, if it can be demonstrated there is market demand for 

that use, and if there is an explanation as to why the alternative use has not been pursued. 

Where AUV is used this should be supported by evidence of the costs and values of the 

alternative use to justify the land value. Valuation based on AUV includes the premium to 

the landowner. If evidence of AUV is being considered the premium to the landowner must 

not be double counted.’ 

 

3.2.8 It is therefore clear that the only acceptable approach to defining a benchmark land value 

for the purposes of a viability assessment, is the EUV+; or, exceptionally, AUV. 

 

3.2.9 In this case, the benchmark is based on an assessment of the EUV of the land, plus a 

premium representing the amount needed to incentivise development. The site is 

currently agricultural land, of 18.971 ha (the wider site is 19.93 ha – or 19.53 ha according 

to some other sources, however JLL have not included highway areas which they explain 

are in the ownership of Kent County Council). 

 

3.2.10 The FVA refers to various strategic level viability studies which have reviewed land values, 

including one carried out by DSP on development in Thanet, and take the view - which we 

consider to be appropriate in this case - that a rate of £250,000/ha represents the 

minimum land value likely to incentivise release for development. In other words, EUV 

plus premium. JLL have applied this to the site area (less highways) of 18.971 ha, resulting 

in a BLV of £4,742,750. 

 

3.2.11 We consider the BLV of £4,742,750 to be an appropriate assumption.  

 

 

3.3 Acquisition Costs 

3.3.1 Legal fees at 0.5% of the residualised value have been applied. Agent’s fees have also 

been included at 1.5% of the residualised value. The resulting amounts are within typical 

parameters.  

 

3.3.2 Stamp Duty Land Tax has also been applied to the residualised value (at a rate of 4.65%). 

We have applied the same SDLT calculation to the residualised value in our appraisal 

(which due to our appraisal having a different residualised value equates to 4.84%. 

 

Page 106

Agenda Item 5
Annex 2



 
 Thanet District Council  

Thanet DC – Shottendane Road, Margate – Viability Review DSP20442W 11 
 

3.4 Gross Development Value - Private Residential  

3.4.1 The planning application is in outline only. The FVA appraisal is based on an illustrative 

accommodation schedule, and the following table sets out the market housing mix and 

values assumed in the appraisal. 

 

 

3.4.2 The above values are based on an assessment of comparables in the local area which are 

set out in Appendix 4 of the submitted FVA, which also includes market commentary.   

 

3.4.3 We have reviewed the submitted evidence, and have carried out our own research of 

property values in the area, based on Land Registry sales data, and advertised prices on 

property websites for both new and resale properties.  

 

3.4.4 We note also the comparables provided in the FVA, which include examples of recent new 

build sales, and asking prices, and which support the submitted values.  

 

3.4.5 Reviewing the values data, we note that detached houses locally tend to sell for higher 

prices than indicated in the submitted schedule – however these are mainly much larger 

properties than the proposed, and when looked at on a per m² basis the sales values are 

the same or lower than submitted. New build flats locally have sold for higher values than 

proposed here, however flats make up a relatively small amount of the proposed floor 

area; in contrast, some of the proposed values for smaller houses exceed those that have 

been achieved in recent months.  

 

3.4.6 We have reviewed the developments currently being marketed locally (some of which are 

included in JLL’s comparables) and compared these values with sold price data, as well as 

comparing with properties on the resale market, taking into account that new build 

properties are likely to achieve a 15% to 20% premium on resale values. The values 

Code Type 1 Type 2 Garage type Storeys sqm sqft Units Total sq ft Market value £per m² £psf GDV

A2 2 bed House Mews/Terrace 2 bed mews - 2 63 679 80 54,320 £215,000 £3,412 £317 £17,200,000

apt 2 bed Flat Flat 2 bed apt - - 64 690 24 16,560 £175,000 £2,734 £254 £4,200,000

C 3 bed House Mews/Terrace 3 bed mews - 2 89 958 95 91,010 £265,000 £2,982 £277 £25,175,000

E 3 bed House Detached 3 bed det - 2 86 930 10 9,300 £280,000 £3,240 £301 £2,800,000

F 3 bed House Semi-detached 3 bed semi/mews - 2 89 958 43 41,194 £270,000 £3,035 £282 £11,610,000

I 3 bed House Semi-detached 3 bed semi/mews - 2.5 102 1,095 76 83,220 £275,000 £2,702 £251 £20,900,000

M 4 bed House Detached 4 bed detached house Integral garage 2 112 1,210 13 15,730 £360,000 £3,208 £298 £4,680,000

AA 4 bed House Detached 4 bed detached house s det garage 2 107 1,152 13 14,976 £357,500 £3,337 £310 £4,647,500

BB 4 bed House Detached 4 bed detached house s det garage 2 119 1,285 5 6,425 £372,500 £3,122 £290 £1,862,500

G 4 bed House Detached 4 bed detached house Integral garage 2 97 1,045 13 13,585 £345,000 £3,552 £330 £4,485,000

K 4 bed House Detached 4 bed detached house s det garage 2 108 1,159 14 16,226 £357,500 £3,315 £308 £5,005,000

P 4 bed House Detached 4 bed detached house s det garage 2 125 1,350 13 17,550 £377,500 £3,014 £280 £4,907,500

P1 4 bed House Detached 4 bed detached house s det garage 2 125 1,341 4 5,364 £377,500 £3,035 £282 £1,510,000

R 4 bed House Detached 4 bed detached house d. attached 2 130 1,399 2 2,798 £385,000 £2,960 £275 £770,000

TOTAL/AVG 89 959 405 388,258 £270,994 £3,045 £282.68 £109,752,500

Type - GladmanBeds

Page 107

Agenda Item 5
Annex 2



 
 Thanet District Council  

Thanet DC – Shottendane Road, Margate – Viability Review DSP20442W 12 
 

indicated broadly align with those submitted, once location and the size/type of the 

proposed development are taken into account.  

 

3.4.7 We have tested alternative assumptions on value for the different unit types with 

reference to the above-mentioned data. A more cautious set of assumptions leads to an 

average value of £2,950/m² and a more positive view leads to an average value of 

£3,150/m². We consider, therefore, that an average value of £3,045/m² applied across 

the development at this stage as per the submitted appraisal, being in the middle of this 

range, is a not unreasonable assumption and we have not adjusted the residential GDV in 

our base appraisal.  

 

3.4.8 It is worth noting that any improvement in the sales value assumptions (compared with a 

level set at the point of the appraisal) would most likely be reflected in an improvement 

in scheme viability. Whilst the opposite could also occur (the sales values could fall 

relative to the assumptions made), that is the developer’s (applicant’s) risk and such 

factors need to be kept in mind in making an overall assessment of the applicant’s 

position.  

 

3.4.9 This application is in outline, and it could be some time before a reserved matters 

application is submitted and the development starts on site. Detailed design is yet to be 

agreed. Applying even a very small adjustment to the sales values equates to a large 

difference in the viability outcome; a change in values of only 1% affects the GDV by £1 

million. Therefore, even if all other submitted assumptions are correct, a 3% increase 

from the assumed sales values (thus a £3 million increase in GDV) would be sufficient to 

move the viability position from the submitted £1.9 million deficit to a significant surplus. 

This is something to bear in mind if the Council agrees to a reduced affordable housing 

provision being fixed at this early stage in the planning process. We will return to this in 

our conclusions, in the context of our overall view of site viability.   

   

3.5 Ground Rents 

3.5.1 Ground rents have not been included in the submitted appraisal, on the basis that the 

Government intends to legislate against the ability to charge ground rents. This argument 

has been put forward for well over a year now, and the legislation was first proposed in 

2017 - yet so far, no legislation has been enacted. It is our view that as a viability 

assessment is undertaken at the current date, it should reflect the current position. In a 

majority of cases put to DSP, ground rental income is included in development appraisals 

Page 108

Agenda Item 5
Annex 2



 
 Thanet District Council  

Thanet DC – Shottendane Road, Margate – Viability Review DSP20442W 13 
 

and indeed it is currently still charged on new developments as far as we are aware. The 

intention to introduce legislation is not the same as actually legislating and as such it is 

our view that an allowance for revenue associated with ground rents should be included, 

particularly where a reduced contribution affordable housing is being proposed. 

However, in some cases it may be appropriate to agree a contribution based on a review 

of the ground rental situation at the time a scheme comes forward. 

 

3.5.2 It is unclear whether the removal of ground rents, if and when it occurs, will result in an 

improvement in sales values. Whilst not a principal factor in buyers’ decisions to 

purchase, a development which is able to market the fact that ground rents are not 

charged might be able to use this as a selling point/incentive compared with properties 

on the resale market which have a ground rental charge and therefore achieve better 

sales rates, if not higher values.  

 

3.5.3 We have included a value for ground rents in our appraisal, based on £270 per flat per 

annum and capitalised at a yield of 5%, reflecting a now view and the regime under which 

the scheme has been progressed, and applying a slightly higher yield than historically 

assumed which allows adjustment for the higher risk arising from potential legislation. 

Applied to the 24 proposed private flats, this adds a total of £107,493 to the GDV, and 

this approach is consistent with other reviews currently conducted by DSP as well as with 

a range of submissions that we are receiving for review. For the time being we have not 

applied any ground rental income to the 24 affordable flats, although under current 

legislation ground rents could be charged on shared ownership homes.  

 

3.6 Gross Development Value – Affordable Housing  

3.6.1 Affordable housing has been valued as shown in the following table, which also indicates 

the proposed values a proportion of the submitted market values. 

 

 

 

3.6.2 These assumptions are within expected parameters, and we have not adjusted them in 

our appraisal.  

Per ft² Per m² % of market value

Private 283.00£  3,045£    100%

AR 140.00£  1,507£    49%

SO 204.00£  2,196£    72%

AVERAGE (AH)152.57£  1,642£    54%

VALUE

TYPE

Page 109

Agenda Item 5
Annex 2



 
 Thanet District Council  

Thanet DC – Shottendane Road, Margate – Viability Review DSP20442W 14 
 

 

3.7 Development Timings  

3.7.1 Development timings include a 6-month lead-in period, a 58-month construction period 

with sales beginning at month 18 and taking 50 months (a rate of 8 to 9 units per month). 

The FVA assumed the site will be brought forward in two sections, with each being phased 

(however details of phasing are to be confirmed at reserved matters stage). 

 

3.7.2 Affordable housing revenue has been spread evenly throughout the construction period 

to model the manner in which a Housing Association would pay for the units, on the basis 

that affordable housing will be sold in multiple phased tranches. We consider this 

assumption to be not unreasonable at this outline stage and for a scheme of this size.  

 

3.7.3 We note that the BCIS Duration calculator (rebased to a Thanet location factor) indicates 

that the site as a whole could be built more quickly – however the build rate will need to 

align with the site phasing and the ability of the market to absorb the units being released 

(with two outlets proposed which will be competing with each other). Overall, these 

development timings appear reasonable at this stage in our opinion. 

 

3.7.4 Roughly £9 million of the £20 million submitted infrastructure/abnormal costs are 

included within the first 50% of the build period. The timing of the development costs 

within the cashflow is discussed in more detail in 3.9, below. 

 

3.8 Cost Assumptions - Build Costs & Fees  

3.8.1 The total submitted construction cost is £76,675,715 inclusive of 5% contingency. 

 

3.8.2 The submitted base build costs are stated to have been assumed at BCIS median rates 

rebased to a Kent location factor, resulting in an average build cost of £1,327/m² 

(£123.28/ft²) applied to a gross internal area of 39,270 m² (427,677 ft²).  

 

3.8.3 Communal areas total 462 m² (4,973 ft²) which indicates a net:gross ratio of 87:13 for the 

apartments, which is within typical parameters.  

 

3.8.4 Additional costs are described as follows within the FVA: 

 

Page 110

Agenda Item 5
Annex 2



 
 Thanet District Council  

Thanet DC – Shottendane Road, Margate – Viability Review DSP20442W 15 
 

 

 

3.8.5 Construction costs are timed via a standard S curve throughout the construction period, 

with the exception of the items below, with weekly timings set out in the following graphs 

of the 67-week project period: 

 

Page 111

Agenda Item 5
Annex 2



 
 Thanet District Council  

Thanet DC – Shottendane Road, Margate – Viability Review DSP20442W 16 
 

 

 

 

 

Page 112

Agenda Item 5
Annex 2



 
 Thanet District Council  

Thanet DC – Shottendane Road, Margate – Viability Review DSP20442W 17 
 

3.8.6 Contingency has been added at 5% of works cost which is a fairly typical assumption, and 

appropriate in our view.  

 

3.8.7 Professional fees have been included at 8% of works cost (excluding demolition) which 

we consider to be a not unreasonable assumption.  

 

3.8.8 The submitted cost plan and the above timings have been reviewed by cost consultants 

ERMC Surveyors, whose report is attached as Appendix 2. 

 

3.8.9 ERMC consider the submitted amounts for construction of the residential units, and the 

contingency allowance of 5%, to be a suitable assumption. They are broadly in agreement 

with the additional/abnormal costs; however, their analysis includes some different rates 

for drainage and highway infrastructure. In particular they have highlighted that they 

consider the lump sum inserted for ‘’Traffic islands” to be overestimated. Overall, their 

estimate of gross construction cost is as follows (£3,645,000 lower than the submitted 

cost): 

 

 

 

3.8.10 We have tested the cost estimated by ERMC Surveyors in our appraisal. 

 

  

Page 113

Agenda Item 5
Annex 2



 
 Thanet District Council  

Thanet DC – Shottendane Road, Margate – Viability Review DSP20442W 18 
 

3.9 Cost Assumptions - CIL / Planning Obligations 

3.9.1 Thanet DC does not currently have a CIL (Community Infrastructure Levy) in place. A S106 

contribution of £2,940,269 has been assumed, which is entered in the cashflow as a single 

payment at the start of construction. The S106 calculation has been prepared by Gladman 

and is set out as follows: 

 

 

3.9.2 The Council has confirmed the above figures, and has also provided updated information 

on planning obligations relating to Health3, for which we have included an additional cost 

of £388,800 in our appraisal, as instructed. 

 

3.9.3 We recommend the Council verifies the assumed S106 figure, as any variation in the input 

amount will affect the viability outcome.  

 

3.10 Cost Assumptions - Development Finance  

3.10.1 Finance costs have been included using a rate of 6.5% including all fees. 

 

3.10.2 The interest rate is the cost of funds to the scheme developer; it is applied to the net 

cumulative negative cash balance each month on the scheme as a whole. According to 

the HCA in its notes to its Development Appraisal Tool (DAT): ‘The rate applied will depend 

on the developer, the perceived scheme risk, and the state of the financial markets. There 

is also a credit interest rate, which is applied should the cumulative month end balance be 

positive. As a developer normally has other variable borrowings (such as an overdraft), or 

other investment opportunities, then the value of credit balances in reducing overall 

 
3 Based on a request from Thanet’s Clinical Care Commissioning Group 

Item Amount Total

Secondary Education £5,176.00 per applicable house £2,080,752.00

£1,294.00 per applicable flat £62,112.00

Secondary School Land £1,511.00 per applicable house £607,422.00

£377.00 per applicable flat £18,096.00

Community Learning £16.42 per dwelling £7,389.00

Youth £65.50 per dwelling £29,475.00

Libraries £55.45 per dwelling £24,952.50

Social Care £146.88 per dwelling £66,096.00

Waste £97.72 per dwelling £43,974.00

Health £0.00 per occupant £0.00

Sports Unknown -

TOTAL £2,940,269

Basis

Page 114

Agenda Item 5
Annex 2



 
 Thanet District Council  

Thanet DC – Shottendane Road, Margate – Viability Review DSP20442W 19 
 

finance charges is generally the same as the debit interest charge. A zero rate of credit 

interest is not generally plausible and will generate significantly erroneous results in a 

long-term scheme.’ 

 

3.10.3 RICS also points out that it is often the case that schemes are modelled at current costs & 

values i.e. ignoring inflation (as is the case here). In this case RICS Financial viability in 

planning Guidance Note states in appendix D 4.5 ‘... current values and costs should be 

used together with a net of inflation finance rate. Such a net of inflation rate would be 

much lower than a bank rate (which naturally includes inflation expectations)’. 

 

3.10.4 We consider the submitted finance cost of 6.5% including all ancillary fees to be a 

reasonable assumption in the current market and we have not adjusted this in our 

appraisal. 

 

3.11 Cost Assumptions - Agent’s, Marketing & Legal – Private Residential 

3.11.1 3.5% of total GDV has been assumed for sales and marketing fees in the submitted 

appraisal. This exceeds the range typically seen, and we have reduced this to 3% in our 

appraisal. 

 

3.11.2 Legal fees of £850 per unit have been applied in the submitted appraisal. This a fairly 

typical assumption and we have not adjusted this in our appraisal.  

 

3.11.3 For the affordable homes, a total of £78,831 has been assumed for disposal costs. This 

equates to £1,752 per affordable home and is within the expected range given that the 

units are likely to be disposed of in phases and possibly to more than one Registered 

Provider.  

 

3.12 Developer’s Risk Reward – Profit  

3.12.1 Profit has been assumed at 17.5% of GDV for the market housing, and at 6% on cost for 

the affordable housing, which results in a total profit of £19,522,010, equating to a 

blended rate of 16.97% on the submitted GDV of £115,007,877.  

 

3.12.2 The level of profit assumed viable is a matter of debate but in our experience through 

both numerous site-specific cases and strategic viability review, typically a profit on GDV 

of between 15% - 20% for market housing and 6% for affordable housing serves as a 

typical range considered acceptable to applicants; lower profit levels outside this range 

Page 115

Agenda Item 5
Annex 2



 
 Thanet District Council  

Thanet DC – Shottendane Road, Margate – Viability Review DSP20442W 20 
 

are also encountered. Profit on commercial scheme elements is typically assumed to be 

no more than 15% on GDV.  

 

3.12.3 The RICS Guidance  states that: ‘When a developer’s return is adopted as the benchmark 

variable, a scheme should be considered viable, as long as the cost implications of planning 

obligations are not set at a level at which the developer’s return (after allowing for all 

development costs including site value) falls below that which is acceptable in the market 

for the risk in undertaking the development scheme. If the cost implications of the 

obligations erode a developer’s return below an acceptable market level for the scheme 

being assessed, the extent of those obligations will be deemed to make a development 

unviable as the developer would not proceed on that basis’. 

 

3.12.4 It goes on to state: ‘The benchmark return, which is reflected in a developer’s profit 

allowance, should be at a level reflective of the market at the time of the assessment being 

undertaken. It will include the risks attached to the specific scheme. This will include both 

property-specific risk, i.e. the direct development risks within the scheme being 

considered, and also broader market risk issues, such as the strength of the economy and 

occupational demand, the level of rents and capital values, the level of interest rates and 

availability of finance. The level of profit required will vary from scheme to scheme, given 

different risk profiles as well as the stage in the economic cycle. For example, a small 

scheme constructed over a shorter timeframe may be considered relatively less risky and 

therefore attract a lower profit margin, given the exit position is more certain, than a large 

redevelopment spanning a number of years where the outturn is considerably more 

uncertain. A development project will only be considered economically viable if a market 

risk adjusted return is met or exceeds a benchmark risk-adjusted market return’. 

 

3.12.5 Planning Practice Guidance on Viability states: ‘Potential risk is accounted for in the 

assumed return for developers at the plan making stage. It is the role of developers, not 

plan makers or decision makers, to mitigate these risks. The cost of fully complying with 

policy requirements should be accounted for in benchmark land value. Under no 

circumstances will the price paid for land be relevant justification for failing to accord with 

relevant policies in the plan’. It goes on to state: ‘For the purpose of plan making an 

assumption of 15-20% of gross development value (GDV) may be considered a suitable 

return to developers in order to establish the viability of plan policies. Plan makers may 

choose to apply alternative figures where there is evidence to support this according to 

Page 116

Agenda Item 5
Annex 2



 
 Thanet District Council  

Thanet DC – Shottendane Road, Margate – Viability Review DSP20442W 21 
 

the type, scale and risk profile of planned development. A lower figure may be more 

appropriate in consideration of delivery of affordable housing in circumstances where this 

guarantees an end sale at a known value and reduces risk. Alternative figures may also be 

appropriate for different development types4’. 

 

3.12.6 The PPG, as above, although silent in terms of decision making, does set out a range of 

between 15% and 20% on GDV for market housing; lower for affordable housing in 

relation to plan making. Given that the NPPF and PPG expect planning applications to be 

consistent with the plan making stage, it is therefore also appropriate to assume that the 

range 15% - 20% on GDV (lower for affordable housing) may be considered applicable at 

the decision taking stage. 

 

3.12.7 We consider a profit assumption of 17.5% on GDV for market housing to represent a 

suitable mid-point in the above range. We also consider the submitted 6% on cost for 

affordable housing to be a suitable assumption. We have not adjusted the profit 

assumptions in our appraisal. 

 
4 https://www.gov.uk/guidance/viability#standardised-inputs-to-viability-assessment - Paragraph: 018 Reference ID: 10-
018-20190509 

Page 117

Agenda Item 5
Annex 2

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/viability#standardised-inputs-to-viability-assessment


 
 Thanet District Council  

Thanet DC – Shottendane Road, Margate – Viability Review DSP20442W 22 
 

4. Recommendations / Summary  
 

4.1.1 We consider the submitted approach to assessing viability to be appropriate. We note 

that the application is in outline only, therefore might be subject to change at reserved 

matters, which could affect the viability position. As it stands, detailed information 

relating to many of the costs or indeed the firm scheme proposals is not available. The 

size of the scheme means that the viability outcome is very sensitive to relatively small 

looking changes in the assumptions. 

 

4.1.2 The majority of the assumptions appear fair at this stage. However, there are aspects that 

we have queried or where a difference of opinion exists.  

 

4.1.3 Reviewing the discussion above, in summary these include: 

 

• Ground rents (see 3.5, above). We have tested the inclusion of ground rents at 

£270 per annum per private flat, capitalised at a yield of 4.5%.  

• Build costs (see 3.8, above). We have tested a gross build cost (including 

contingency) of £73,030,377, as estimated by ERMC Surveyors (£3,645,000 lower 

than the submitted build costs). 

• S106 costs (see 3.9, above). We have added £338,000 in costs to our appraisal, 

based on updated information from the Council on the required planning 

contributions. 

• Sales/marketing (see 3.11, above). We have reduced the submitted 3.5% on GDV 

for sales and marketing to 3% total in our appraisal. 

• Sales values (discussed in 3.4, above). We consider the submitted values to be 

appropriate, however given the scheme is at outline stage we have carried out 

sensitivity testing on the sales values. 

 

4.1.4 Applying the above adjustments to the submitted appraisal (which includes 10% 

affordable housing) indicates a residual value of £6,271,286 within our DSP trial version.  

 

4.1.5 This residual value then has to be compared with the BLV of £4,742,750. Therefore, a 

surplus of £1,528,536 is indicated. 

 

Page 118

Agenda Item 5
Annex 2



 
 Thanet District Council  

Thanet DC – Shottendane Road, Margate – Viability Review DSP20442W 23 
 

4.1.6 Our appraisal indicates that there is scope for a further contribution (either as on-site 

affordable housing, or as a financial contribution towards housing or other S106 items) in 

addition to the S106 contributions set out in 3.10 of this report and the 10% affordable 

housing proposed.  

 

4.1.7 As per the submitted appraisal, we have applied a sensitivity test looking at the effect of 

an increase or decrease in sales values and build costs. The results are as follows: 

 

 

 

4.1.8 The outcome of the appraisal is highly sensitive to relatively small changes in either build 

cost or sales value. Looking at sales values alone, a decrease of 5% from the estimated 

values would result in a viability deficit of -£2,670,736, which if deducted from the profit 

allowance would result in an overall profit of just under 15% on GDV (at the lower end of 

the range suggested in the NPPF and PPG). However, an increase of 5% from the 

estimated values would result in an increased surplus of £5,722,415 and therefore an 

overall profit position of close to 22% on GDV, exceeding the suggested range. Therefore, 

depending on what level of affordable housing provision and S106 contributions are 

agreed at this stage, the Council may wish to consider whether it would be suitable to put 

a review mechanism in place.  

 

4.1.9 In addition, Paragraph 64 of the revised NPPF and recent Appeal precedent indicates that 

major developments (i.e. of 10+ dwellings) are expected to provide at least 10% of the 

proposed homes as ‘affordable home ownership’ units. The Council may wish to consider 

the implications for this scheme / application. As proposed, 10% affordable housing is 

proposed, as per the Council’s desired mix of 80% of the affordable housing being for rent, 

therefore only 2% of the scheme is proposed to be affordable home ownership.  

 

Construction: Rate /ft² 

-28.00 /ft² -14.00 /ft² 0.00 /ft² 14.00 /ft² 28.00 /ft²

95.28 /ft² 109.28 /ft² 123.28 /ft² 137.28 /ft² 151.28 /ft²

-5.000% 7,748,060 2,539,825 -2,670,736 -8,224,511 -14,113,883

-2.500% 9,845,307 4,638,298 -570,000 -5,900,171 -11,716,682

0.000% 11,941,712 6,735,659 1,528,536 -3,680,058 -9,347,463

2.500% 14,036,934 8,832,063 3,626,010 -1,581,227 -7,014,944

5.000% 16,131,433 10,927,243 5,722,415 516,361 -4,698,465

Sales: Rate /ft² 

Sensitivity testing - (surplus in £ after BLV taken into account)

Page 119

Agenda Item 5
Annex 2



 
 Thanet District Council  

Thanet DC – Shottendane Road, Margate – Viability Review DSP20442W 24 
 

4.1.10 We need to be clear our review is based on current day costs and values assumptions as 

described within our review based on the current scheme as submitted. A different 

scheme may of course be more or less viable – we are only able to review the information 

provided.  

 

4.1.11 No viability appraisal or review can accurately reflect costs and values until a scheme is 

built and sold - this is the nature of the viability review process. In this sense, the applicant 

and their agents are in a similar position to us in estimating positions – it is not an exact 

science by any means, and we find that opinions will usually vary.  

 

4.1.12 As regards the wider context including the economic situation, in accordance with the 

relevant viability guidance our review is based on current day costs and values – a current 

view is appropriate for this purpose. Whilst in the short term we may with more time see 

evidence of negative impacts on viability, it is also possible that we may see some balance 

for example in terms of development cost levels, Government interventions or other 

factors.  As set out in the PPG, a balanced assessment of viability should consider the 

returns against risk for the developer and also the aims of the planning system to secure 

maximum benefits in the public interest through the granting of planning permission. DSP 

will continue to monitor the established appropriate information sources. To assist the 

Council in its decision-making in this context, where appropriate we have considered the 

sensitivity of the viability position to variations in key inputs. 

 

4.1.13 DSP will be happy to advise further as required. 

          Review report ends 

October 2020 

  

Page 120

Agenda Item 5
Annex 2



 
 Thanet District Council  

Thanet DC – Shottendane Road, Margate – Viability Review DSP20442W 25 
 

Appendix I – DSP appraisal summary (DSPv001) 

Appendix 2 – Cost plan review by ERMC Surveyors 

Page 121

Agenda Item 5
Annex 2



This page is intentionally left blank



  

 

 
  

 
CONSTRUCTION COST REVIEW 

RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT 
SHOTTENDANE ROAD, 

MARGATE, KENT 

DIXON SEARLE PARTNERSHIP 

DATE: 16.10.2020 

2598-ERMC-00-00-CR-Q-001 
 

Page 123

Agenda Item 5
Annex 3



   

 

 
 
DOCUMENT AUDIT RECORD 
 

DOCUMENT DETAILS 
 

Document Title Construction Cost Review 

Client Dixon Searle Partnership 

Project Description Shottendane Road 

 

DOCUMENT HISTORY 
 

Issue / Revision 
Reference Purpose and Description Originated By Checked By Audited 

By Date 

2598-CR-01 Client issue AH SC KN 16/10/2020 

      

      

      

      

      

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
NOTICE 

 

This document has been produced by ermc limited solely for use of the client. It may not be used by any person for the purposes other than that specified 
without the express written permission of ermc limited. Any liability arising out of use by third party of this document for purposes not wholly connected 
with the above shall be the responsibility of that party who shall indemnify ermc limited against all claims, costs, damages and losses arising out of such use. 

Page 124

Agenda Item 5
Annex 3



   

201016-2598-Shottendane Road  

 

Contents 

INTRODUCTION ............................................................................................................................. 1 

THE SCHEME .................................................................................................................................. 1 

BUILD COSTS .................................................................................................................................. 1 

COST REVIEW ................................................................................................................................ 2 

BENCH MARKING ANALYSIS .......................................................................................................... 3 

REPORT SUMMARY ....................................................................................................................... 3 

Appendix 1 - Schedule of Accommodation ................................................................................... 5 

Appendix 2 - Site Layout ................................................................................................................ 6 

Appendix 3 – COST estimate ......................................................................................................... 7 

Appendix 4 - BCIS Average Prices .................................................................................................. 8 

Appendix 5 - ERMC Cost Comparison ......................................................................................... 10 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 125

Agenda Item 5
Annex 3



   

201016-2598-Shottendane Road   Page 1 of 10 

INTRODUCTION 

ERMC has been commissioned by Dixon Searle Partnership to carry out an independent review of the 
construction costs used in a ‘Financial Viability Assessment’, produced by Jones Land LaSalle (JLL) and 
submitted in connection with a planning application for a proposed residential development at “Land at 
Shottendane Road”, Thanet, Kent. 

This report does not consider planning policy or the wider aspects of the Viability Assessment. ERMC’s focus 
is on the submitted build cost assumptions and therefore the outcomes associated with that aspect of the 
overall viability. 

THE SCHEME 

Site Location and Description 

The site is located within the administrative area of Thanet District Council. It measures 19.53ha and is located 
approximately 1.6km south of the centre of Margate old town and Margate beach, immediately adjacent to 
the existing built edge of Margate. The Site, which is not publicly accessible, comprises two undulating arable 
fields either side of Shottendane Road.  

The proposed Development comprises up to 450 dwellings of varying sizes, types and tenures (including a 
proportion of affordable housing); a new distributor link road; vehicular, pedestrian and cycle access provided 
in the form of two new roundabouts and a further priority junction; retention and enhancement of the 
majority of trees and hedgerows; new publicly accessible landscaped open spaces and a sustainable drainage 
system. 

The proposed number of units indicates efficient use of the site and provides a dwelling density of 23 dwellings 
per hectare (dph) based on the gross site area. Thanet District Council’s draft policy for the site allocated 550 
dwellings for the combined parcels of land. The lower number of dwellings proposed in this application reflects 
the existing increase in public open space proposed. 

BUILD COSTS 

Proposed Development 

Construction costs included in the viability assessment are split between residential and “Additional Costs”. 
Given the outline nature of the planning application the residential costs are derived from a rate per square 
metre being applied to the gross internal area of an indicative housing mix.   The text implies that the 
“Additional Costs” were provided by an external consultant, but no details are provided. For reference the 
breakdown is appended herewith (Appendix 3). 
 
The developer has submitted a gross construction cost of Seventy-Six Million, Six Hundred and Seventy-Five 
Thousand, Seven Hundred and Fifteen Pounds (£76,675,715).  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 126

Agenda Item 5
Annex 3



   

201016-2598-Shottendane Road   Page 2 of 10 

This is broken down as follows: 
 

Construction Costs  
Residential Construction Costs £52,724,020 

Additional Costs  
Standard site works £1,800,000 
Roads and sewers £3,850,000 
Public open space £600,000 
Plot abnormals £2,700,000 
Site abnormals £4,889,470 
Link roads £5,657,500 
Garages £803,500 

 £73,024,490 
Contingency (5%) £3,651,225 
Say £76,675,715 

 
The residential construction costs have been calculated using BCIS average price data rates applied to the 
gross internal floor areas of the various dwelling types. The ‘Additional Costs’ have been split into sub-
elements with rates being applied to approximate quantities and lump sums against specific items. These 
‘Additional Costs’ account for just over a quarter of the total. 

An allowance for ‘Contingency’ has been added as percentages to the net totals. 

No separate allowances for ‘Preliminaries’ and/or ‘Overheads & Profit’ have been identified in the viability 
assessment, including the Appraisal Summary at Appendix 8. These items are deemed to be included in the 
BCIS rates per m² and it is assumed the rates/lump sums used in the ‘Additional Costs’ also include the relevant 
allowances. 

A review of the pricing used in the cost estimates is included below. 

COST REVIEW 

Proposed Development 

As stated, the residential construction costs used by JLL are derived from BCIS average price data. The base 
build rate used in the viability assessment is £1,327/m². This is the ‘Median’ rate for “New build Housing, 
mixed developments – Generally” rebased to a Kent location. The extract of BCIS data provided does not 
indicate what date factor has been used but it is assumed to be 2nd quarter 2020 to match the date of the 
assessment. It has not been possible to verify their figure as current data for the same location and date 
indicates a slightly higher rate of £1,357/m².    

BCIS data is produced for individual local authority areas, not just on a wider county basis. Consequently, it is 
possible to obtain an average price for the Thanet area. The ‘Median’ rate for “New build Housing, mixed 
developments – Generally” rebased to 2nd quarter 2020 and a Thanet location is £1,320/m², slightly lower than 
that used. However, for the same date and location, the median rate for all “New Build Housing, mixed 
developments” is £1,328/m², directly comparable to the rate used. Given the level of design development of 
the housing element of the scheme the JJL rate used is considered reasonable. 

The “Additional Costs“ can be split between conventional infrastructure/external works that are required on 
any similar residential development and ‘Abnormal’ costs associated with this particular site.  The abnormals 
noted are the substantial highways works and extra over costs connected with re-profiling the site and 

Page 127

Agenda Item 5
Annex 3



   

201016-2598-Shottendane Road   Page 3 of 10 

‘abnormal’ foundations. The costs have been calculated by applying rates per metre/square metre to 
approximate quantities for each element of work and the insertion of lump sums against the larger highway 
infrastructure elements. Although we have conducted a brief sense check, the review has been carried out on 
the assumption the quantities used are correct.  

The rate used are generally considered reasonable with a few exceptions regarding the drainage (recalculated 
based on the area of the residential element) and highway infrastructure. We also consider the lump sum 
inserted for “Traffic islands…” to be inflated. Our adjustments are highlighted on the cost review attached at 
Appendix 5. 

JLL’s viability assessment includes an allowance of 5% of the net build costs for ‘Contingency’. This is 
considered reasonable. 

Considering the comments above our opinion of the construction cost is: 

Construction Costs  
Residential Construction Costs £52,724,020 
Additional Costs  
Standard site works £1,800,000 
Roads and sewers £3,262,500 
Public open space £600,000 
Plot abnormals £2,643,750 
Site abnormals £4,889,470 
Link roads £2,829,500 
Garages £803,500 
 £69,552,740 
Contingency (5%) £3,477,637 
Say £73,030,377 

 
Based on the review of the rates and consequent adjustment of the percentage addition we consider the total 
cost of the works submitted by the developer to be overstated by at least £3,645,000.   

BENCH MARKING ANALYSIS  

To assess whether the submitted construction cost for the dwellings is reasonable a calculated rate per square 
metre is compared with BCIS average price data, rebased for the relevant location factor and date. In this case 
the construction cost has been calculated using BCIS data so they can be considered in line with similar 
residential developments. 
 
The rates used to calculate the “Additional Costs” have been compared with approximate estimating rates 
contained in the BCIS Major Work Schedule of Rates, again rebased for location and date. 

REPORT SUMMARY 

The gross construction cost of the development as submitted by the developer is Seventy-Six Million, Six 
Hundred and Seventy-Five Thousand, Seven Hundred and Fifteen Pounds (£76,675,715).  

Given the level of design development the use of average price data to calculate the construction cost of the 
dwellings is acceptable.  

The “Additional Costs” included reflect the work required but the cost is slightly inflated. 

Page 128

Agenda Item 5
Annex 3



   

201016-2598-Shottendane Road   Page 4 of 10 

Following our review, we consider a realistic gross construction cost to be Seventy-Three Million, Thirty 
Thousand, Three Hundred and Seventy-Seven Pounds (£73,030,377).  

We consider the overall construction costs submitted by the developer to be overstated by approximately 
£3,600,000. 

Page 129

Agenda Item 5
Annex 3



   

201016-2598-Shottendane Road   Page 5 of 10 

APPENDIX 1 - SCHEDULE OF ACCOMMODATION 

Schedule of Accommodation         

Land North and South of Shottendane Road, Margate       

Date: June 2020          
           

Code  Beds  Type 1 Type 2 Type – Gladman  Garage Type  Storeys sqm  sqft No. Units  Total Sqft 
A2  2 bed House Mews/Terrace 2 bed mews - 2 st 63 679 88 59,752 
apt 2 bed Flat Flat 2 bed apt  - - 64 690 48 33,120 
C  3 bed House Mews/Terrace 3 bed mews - 2 st 89 958 108 103,464 
E 3 bed House Detached 3 bed det  - 2 st 86 930 10 9,300 
F 3 bed  House Semi-detached 3 bed semi/mews  - 2 st 89 958 43 41,194 
I 3 bed House Semi-detached 3 bed semi/mews  - 2.5 st 102 1,095 76 83,220 
M 4 bed House Detached 4 bed det  Integral 2 st 112 1,210 13 15,730 
AA 4 bed House Detached 4 bed det  s. det 2 st 107 1,152 13 14,976 
BB  4 bed House Detached 4 bed det s. det 2 st 119 1,285 5 6,425 
G 4 bed House Detached 4 bed det Integral 2 st 97 1,045 13 13,585 
K  4 bed  House Detached 4 bed det  s. det 2 st 108 1,159 14 16,226 
P 4 bed House Detached 4 bed det  s. det 2 st 125 1,350 13 17,550 
P1 4 bed House Detached 4 bed det s. det 2 st 125 1,341 4 5,364 
R 4 bed House Detached 4 bed det d. attached 2 st 130 1,399 2 2,798 
                      
 TOTAL / 
AVG             1,417 298 450 422,704 

 

 

P
age 130

A
genda Item

 5
A

nnex 3



   

201016-2598-Shottendane Road   Page 6 of 10 

APPENDIX 2 - SITE LAYOUT 

 

 

P
age 131

A
genda Item

 5
A

nnex 3



   

201016-2598-Shottendane Road   Page 7 of 10 

APPENDIX 3 – COST ESTIMATE 

 

“Additional Costs” only 

 

 

Additional Costs above BCIS
Margate - June 2020

Items SQFT SQM £PSM/Unit Within Initial 25% Within Initial 50% On going
Standard site works

Drives/pavings/turf/planting 4844 450 £2,500 £1,125,000
Plot drainage 4844 450 £1,000 £450,000
Double handling topsoil 4844 450 £500 £225,000

Roads and sewers
On site 23681 2200 £1,750 £3,850,000

Public open space
NEAP 1 £75,000 £75,000
LEAP 1 £50,000 £50,000
LAP 5 £20,000 £100,000
Planting and seeding to POS areas 75000 £5 £375,000

Plot abnormals
Abnormal foundations

Driven piling 2422 225 £7,500 £1,687,500
Reinforced strip footings 2422 225 £1,500 £337,500

Deep bore soakaways 1615 150 £3,000 £450,000
Conc bed and surround to drainage in fill 24219 2250 £100 £225,000

Site abnormals
Earthworks/ cut and fill

Bulk excavate and cart 1345488 125000 £10 £1,250,000
Place and compact in layers 1140973 106000 £7 £742,000
Off site disposal 204514 19000 £35 £665,000

Retaining walls 1250 £1,500 £1,875,000
Surface water attenuation

Swales 8999 836 £20 £16,720
Infiltration trench/ponds 23573 2190 £50 £109,500

Foul pumping station 1 £200,000 £200,000
Rising main 2691 250 £125 £31,250

Link Road
Traffic islands to Manston Rd and Shottendane Rd 2 £500,000 £1,000,000
Associated service diversions 1 £250,000 £250,000
Priority access to Hartsdown Rd 1 £125,000 £125,000
Link road 7104 660 £3,250 £2,145,000

Additional depth stone under rds. 80729 7500 £45 £337,500
Culvert to allow overland flows 1 £50,000 £50,000

Re-align Shottendane Rd 3767 350 £5,000 £1,750,000
Garages

Integral (26) £6,000 £156,000
Semi-detached/detached (51) £647,500
Total £4,389,470 £4,407,500 £11,503,500
Overall Total £20,300,470
Total per unit £45,112

Page 132

Agenda Item 5
Annex 3



   

201016-2598-Shottendane Road   Page 8 of 10 

APPENDIX 4 - BCIS AVERAGE PRICES 

 

Page 133

Agenda Item 5
Annex 3



   

201016-2598-Shottendane Road   Page 9 of 10 

 
  

What is included in the figures from the average prices studies? 
 

23-Jul-2018 
What do the costs shown in the BCIS Average prices studies include, and what is excluded?  

There are five different average prices studies, and though there are some differences, they generally include and exclude the 
same things. 

  £/m2 
study 

Functional 
unit prices 

Group 
element 
prices Element cost per m2 Element unit rate study 

Preliminaries  Yes   No 

Main contractor's 
overheads and 
profit 

 Yes  Depending on how these are shown in the contract documents there may be 
some main contractor's overheads and profit included 

Risk (client's 
contingencies)    No 

VAT    No 

Fees    No 

External works and 
facilitating works    No 

Other 
development/project 
costs 

No 

Fittings and 
furnishings 

Only to the extent that these have been included in the projects included in the sample. Individual projects vary 
and there will be differences in practice between different employers. Some schemes will be delivered with all 
fittings and furnishings and others will have little or none and the employer will provide them after the building 
contract is complete. 

Lifts and other 
features 

To the extent that these features were included in the projects sampled and will vary by category. 

01-Oct-2020 16:48 © RICS 2020 Page 1 of 1 
 

 

Page 134

Agenda Item 5
Annex 3



   

201016-2598-Shottendane Road   Page 10 of 10 

APPENDIX 5 - ERMC COST COMPARISON 
 

JJL COSTS  ERMC COSTS 
 

DIFFERENCE 
Residential Construction costs 

      
 

       
        

 
       

 
Items SQFT SQM  £PSft/Unit Within Initial 25% Within Initial 50% On going  SQFT SQM  £PSft/Unit Within Initial 25% Within Initial 50% On going 

 
  

Dwellings 427677 39732 £1,327 
  

£52,724,021  427677 39732 £1,327 
  

£52,724,021 
 

£0 
Total       £0 £0 £52,724,021        £0 £0 £52,724,021 

 
  

Overall Total           £52,724,021            £52,724,021 
 

  
Total per unit           £117,164            £117,164 

 
  

       
 

       
 

Additional Costs above BCIS 
      

 
       

 
Margate - June 2020 

      
 

       
        

 
       

 
Items SQFT SQM  £PSM/Unit Within Initial 25% Within Initial 50% On going  SQFT Quantity £PSM/Unit Within Initial 25% Within Initial 50% On going 

 
  

    Standard site works            Standard site works         
 

  
Drives/pavings/turf/planting 4844 450 £2,500 

  
£1,125,000  4844 450 £2,500 

  
£1,125,000 

 
£0 

Plot drainage 4844 450 £1,000 
  

£450,000  4844 450 £1,000 
  

£450,000 
 

£0 
Double handling topsoil 4844 450 £500 

  
£225,000  4844 450 £500 

  
£225,000 

 
£0 

    Roads and sewers            Roads and sewers         
 

  
On site  23681 2200 £1,750 

  
£3,850,000  Site area 130500 £25 

  
£3,262,500 

 
-£587,500 

    Public open space            Public open space         
 

  
NEAP   1 £75,000 

 
£75,000      1 £75,000 

 
£75,000   

 
£0 

LEAP   1 £50,000 
 

£50,000      1 £50,000 
 

£50,000   
 

£0 
LAP   5 £20,000 

  
£100,000    5 £20,000 

  
£100,000 

 
£0 

Planting and seeding to POS areas   75000 £5 
  

£375,000    75000 £5 
  

£375,000 
 

£0 
    Plot abnormals            Plot abnormals         

 
  

Abnormal foundations     
  

       
  

   £0 
Driven piling 2422 225 £7,500 

  
£1,687,500  2422 225 £7,500 

  
£1,687,500 

 
£0 

Reinforced strip footings 2422 225 £1,500 
  

£337,500  2422 225 £1,500 
  

£337,500 
 

£0 
Deep bore soakaways 1615 150 £3,000 

  
£450,000  1615 150 £3,000 

  
£450,000 

 
£0 

Conc bed and surround to drainage in fill 24219 2250 £100 
  

£225,000  24219 2250 £75 
  

£168,750 
 

-£56,250 
    Site abnormals            Site abnormals         

 
  

Earthworks/ cut and fill      
 

        
 

  
 

£0 
Bulk excavate and cart 1345488 125000 £10 £1,250,000 

 
   1345488 125000 £10 £1,250,000 

 
  

 
£0 

Place and compact in layers 1140973 106000 £7 £742,000 
 

   1140973 106000 £7 £742,000 
 

  
 

£0 
Off site disposal 204514 19000 £35 £665,000 

 
   204514 19000 £35 £665,000 

 
  

 
£0 

Retaining walls   1250 £1,500 
  

£1,875,000    1250 £1,500 
  

£1,875,000 
 

£0 
Surface water attenuation     

  
       

  
  

 
  

Swales 8999 836 £20 £16,720 
 

   8999 836 £20 £16,720 
 

  
 

£0 
Infiltration trench/ponds 23573 2190 £50 £109,500 

 
   23573 2190 £50 £109,500 

 
  

 
£0 

Foul pumping station   1 £200,000 £200,000 
 

     1 £200,000 £200,000 
 

  
 

£0 
Rising main 2691 250 £125 £31,250 

 
   2691 250 £125 £31,250 

 
  

 
£0 

    Link Road            Link Road         
 

  
Traffic islands to Manston Rd and Shottendane Rd   2 £500,000 £1,000,000 

 
     2 £375,000 £750,000 

 
  

 
-£250,000 

Associated service diversions   1 £250,000 £250,000 
 

     1 £250,000 £250,000 
 

  
 

£0 
Priority access to Hartsdown Rd   1 £125,000 £125,000 

 
     1 £125,000 £125,000 

 
  

 
£0 

Link road 7104 660 £3,250 
 

£2,145,000    7104 660 £1,200 
 

£792,000   
 

-£1,353,000 
Additional depth stone under rds. 80729 7500 £45 

 
£337,500    80729 7500 £45 

 
£337,500   

 
£0 

Culvert to allow overland flows    1 £50,000 
 

£50,000      1 £50,000 
 

£50,000   
 

£0 
Re-align Shottendane Rd 3767 350 £5,000 

 
£1,750,000    3767 350 £1,500 

 
£525,000   

 
-£1,225,000 

    Garages            Garages         
 

  
Integral (26)   

 
£6,000 

  
£156,000    

 
£6,000 

  
£156,000 

 
£0 

Semi-detached/detached (51)   
    

£647,500    
 

£12,696 
  

£647,500 
 

£0 
Total       £4,389,470 £4,407,500 £11,503,500        £4,139,470 £1,829,500 £10,859,750 

 
  

Overall Total           £20,300,470            £16,828,720 
 

-£3,471,750 
Total per unit           £45,112            £37,397 

 
  

 

P
age 135

A
genda Item

 5
A

nnex 3



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Margate – cost comparison 

November 2020 

Items under dispute 

1. Build costs to construct roads within development parcels (5.5m wide) 

Build cost provide by Gladman is on a 5.5m wide road – breakdown of road construction 

costs is provided and it is actually undercosted by GDL – rate provide by our QS is £2100 per 

lin metre which includes the following:‐ 

Surface water sewers – no attenuation 

Road drainage (gullies and connections) 

Foul water sewers 

Road construction split between tarmac and block paved 

Tarmac (capping layer/ sub base/ 3 coats tarmac) 

Block paved (capping layer/ sub base/ base course/ sand paviors) 

2m wide footpath construction (sub base/ 2 coats tarmac/ Kerbs/ edgings) 

Ducts for road crossings and services 

Streetlights 

Street name plates 

S38/104 supervision fees 

 

Build costs provided by EMRC is an allowance per m2 of developable area which under 

values site. The GDL road length is based on 5.5m plot frontage of plots. 400 in this case. 

Omitted apartments areas as will have parking courts. 

 

2. Cost of additional concrete 

Advise from QS and discussions with contractors is that current rates for additional concrete 

is currently £125 per m3 – which is above our original allowance. 

 

3. Build cost for link rd (6.75m wide) 

See current QS breakdown of cost for 6.75m link road inclusions as above. 

No allowance for block paviors as assumed that road finish will be asphalt. 

Also included allowance for provision of armco barrier along the eastern side of section 

between Shottendane and Hartsdown Roads due to level difference to balancing pond 

areas. 

Revised rate = £2709 per lin m 

 

4. Roundabout construction 

Allowance made for construction of roundabouts on existing adopted highways need to 

include for additional allowances for attendances for the engagement of a contractors 

approved by KCC highways.  

Large amount of traffic management needs to be provided to maintain existing flow though 

works. 

No design works done to date 

Full impact of levels unknown at present 

Prepared to reduce allowance to £400k each 

 

Page 137

Agenda Item 5
Annex 4



5. Re‐alignment of Shottendane Rd 

Road price allowed by EMRC is way below that expected to construct a road on site within 

development parcels let alone that to be done on existing highways. 

Revised figure from GDL = £4000 per lin m 

See QS breakdown 

Allowance made for:‐ 

  Base price uses the 6.75m wide road comnstruction 

Diversions of services x5 (Gas x2, electric, BT, water,) 

Highways drainage to be diverted and re‐connected 

Cart away surplus contaminated arisings 

Prelims and attendances for KCC approved contractor 

Streetlights 

Traffic management for a 30wk build 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 138

Agenda Item 5
Annex 4



Habitat Regulation Assessment (HRA)
Screening Matrix and Appropriate Assessment (AA) Statement for

recreational disturbance

IMPORTANT NOTE: Undertaking the HRA process is the responsibility of the decision maker as the
Competent Authority for the purpose of the Habitats Regulations.  However, it is the responsibility of the
applicant to provide the Competent Authority with the information required to complete this process.

Application reference: OL/TH/20/0847

Application address: Land On The North West And South East Sides Of
Shottendane Road MARGATE Kent

Application
description:

Outline application for the erection of up to 450 residential
dwellings (including market and affordable housing),
structural planting and landscaping, formal and informal
public open space and children's play area, sustainable
urban drainage, with vehicular access points, including
associated ancillary works and operations, from Hartsdown
Road, Shottendane Road and Manston Road including
access

Lead Planning Officer: Iain Livingstone

HRA Date: 29.10.2020

Part 1 – Details of the plan or project
European site or sites potentially impacted by
planning application, plan or project: Thanet Coast and Sandwich Bay

SPA and Ramsar site
Is the planning application directly connected to the
management of the site? No

Part 2 – HRA Screening Assessment
Screening under Regulation 63(1)(a) of the Habitats Regulations – The Applicant should
provide evidence to allow a judgement to be made as to whether there could be any
potential significant impacts of the development on the integrity of the SPA / Ramsar site.

Thanet Coast and Sandwich Bay SPA / Ramsar site

The Thanet Coast and Sandwich Bay Special Protection Area (SPA) is classified in accordance
with the European Birds Directive which requires Member States to classify sites that are
important for bird species listed on Annex 1 of the European Directive, which are rare and / or
vulnerable in a European context, and also sites that form a critically important network for birds

Page 139

Agenda Item 5
Annex 5



on migration.  The site is also listed as a Wetland of International Importance under the Ramsar
Convention (Ramsar Site). For clarity, and the purpose of this assessment, ‘European Sites’
refers to both the SPA and Ramsar Site.  

The Thanet Coast and Sandwich Bay SPA is used by large numbers of migratory birds. The site
qualifies under Article 4.2 of the Birds Directive through supporting populations of European
importance over-wintering Turnstone (Arenaria interpres) and European Golden Plover
(Pluvialis
apricaria). Research conducted in 2013 and 2014 found a drop in Turnstone numbers when
compared to previous surveys. There is a body of evidence that supports recreational activity
causing the disturbance of birds. In particular walking with dogs, predominantly in the intertidal
area, close to roosts at high tide and with dogs off leads, are the most common disturbance
stimuli. It is also this recreational activity which occurs in the highest volume and which is most
likely to increase with increased housing.

Therefore impacts of recreational disturbance can be such that they affect the status and
distribution of key bird species and therefore act against the stated conservation objectives of
the European sites.

A 7.2km Zone of Influence has been identified to establish which future housing sites are likely
to contribute to this recreational impact from a number of visitor surveys carried out since 2011.
The proposed development is located within this Zone of Influence.

Following the CJEU ruling, avoidance or mitigation measures cannot be taken into account as
part of the application at this stage of the HRA, and must be considered under an Appropriate
Assessment stage of the HRA in part 3 of this document.

Are there any other plans or projects
that together with the planning
application being assessed could
result in a likely significant effect on
the site when considered
in-combination?

Yes. All new dwellings built within 7.2km of the
Thanet Coast and Sandwich Bay SPA and Ramsar
Site, or other developments that could lead to an
increased recreational pressure, could combine to
have a likely significant effect on the SPA and
Ramsar site.

Would the proposal lead to a likely significant effect on the European sites, without
mitigation measures either alone or in-combination? YES / NO (if yes, continue to part 3)

Part 3 – Appropriate Assessment
Appropriate Assessment under Regulation 63(1) – if there are any potential significant
impacts, the Applicant must provide evidence showing avoidance and/or mitigation
measures to allow an Assessment to be made.  The Applicant must also provide details
which demonstrate any long-term management, maintenance and funding of any
solution.

Page 140

Agenda Item 5
Annex 5



The project being assessed would result in a net increase of dwellings within the Thanet Coast
and Sandwich Bay SPA and Ramsar site Zone of Influence. In line with Policies SP28 and SP29
of the Thanet Local Plan 2020, based upon the best available evidence a permanent likely
significant effect on the SPA and Ramsar Site due to increased recreational disturbance as a
result of the new development, is likely to occur.  As such, in order to avoid and mitigate for an
adverse effect on the integrity of the SPA and Ramsar Site, the development will need to include
a package of avoidance and mitigation measures.

Strategic Access, Management and Monitoring Plan for the Thanet Coast and Sandwich Bay
SPA/Ramsar

The District Council has produced a Strategic Access, Management and Monitoring Plan for the
Thanet Coast and Sandwich Bay SPA and Ramsar Site that will be applied to development
within the identified Zone of Influence. Elements within the Plan are:

∙ Ongoing monitoring and surveys of the site, particularly with regard to visitors and bird
numbers, which will be linked to the wardening programme;

∙ Wardening of the Thanet Coast and Sandwich Bay SPA and Ramsar Site;
∙ Signage and interpretation;
∙ Increased education.

The suite of strategic mitigation measures are being delivered through the Thanet Coast project,
run by Thanet District Council working in partnership with conservation organisations in East
Kent, to ensure that development, considered in-combination, does not have an adverse effect
on the integrity of the European site.  A per-dwelling tariff has been calculated using the total
cost of delivering the mitigation measures in-perpetuity and the planned number of additional
dwellings expected to be built in Thanet District.

Natural England has worked with the North-East Kent Local Planning Authorities to support
them in preparing the SAMM Plan and the underpinning evidence base.  Natural England agree
that the mitigation measures to ensure additional impacts from recreational disturbance to the
SPA and Ramsar Site are ecologically sound.  As such, the Applicant does not need to provide
their own evidence base on these aspects. Evidence must be submitted showing that a
mitigation contribution payment will be made through a s106 agreement and the agreement will
be signed prior to any permission being granted.

The applicant has submitted additional information (8th October 2020) to supplement the
information submitted within the Environment Statement (which includes a Habitat Regulations
Assessment) for the Council to be able to determine the significance of these impacts and the
scope for mitigation. On the basis of the survey data provided in the submission, it is
demonstrable that the site does not act as functionally linked land in relation to the designated
sites.

Page 141

Agenda Item 5
Annex 5



In addition to the payment towards the SAMM, conditions would be in place for the landscape
strategy to inform subsequent reserved matters applications, with a minimum of 4.4 hectares
open space (potentially up to 6.48 hectares proposed), the upgrading of public footpath TM14
and provision of Trim Trail as identified within the submission documents to encourage dog
walkers to use the environment created by the residential development. In relation to the
potential increased mortality/disturbance at or adjacent to the development site, mitigation is
proposed for a Homeowner information pack, specific planting and signage, which would be
secured through planning conditions for any approval of the project.

Part 4 – Summary of the Appropriate Assessment - To be carried out by the Competent
Authority (the local planning authority) in liaison with Natural England

Final conclusion:

Having considered the proposed mitigation and avoidance measures to be provided
in-perpetuity through the secured contribution to the access and monitoring measures, as well
as planning conditions, Thanet District Council conclude that with mitigation, the project will
have no adverse effect on the integrity of the Thanet Coast and Sandwich Bay SPA or Ramsar,
either alone or in-combination with other plans or projects.

Natural England:

Page 142

Agenda Item 5
Annex 5



Summary of Natural England’s comments (dated 28th October 2020):

“DESIGNATED SITES [EUROPEAN] – NO OBJECTION SUBJECT TO SECURING
APPROPRIATE MITIGATION This advice should be taken as Natural England’s formal
representation on appropriate assessment given under regulation 63(3) of the Conservation of
Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended). You are entitled to have regard to this
representation. With regard to European Sites, Natural England does not object to the granting
of this permission subject to the advice given below. Natural England advises that the specific
measures previously identified and analysed by your Authority to prevent harmful effects on
coastal European Sites from increased recreational pressure should be applied to this proposed
development at appropriate assessment. Your authority has measures in place to manage these
potential impacts through the agreed strategic solution which we consider to be ecologically
sound. Natural England is of the view that if these measures, including contributions to them,
are implemented, they will be effective and reliable in preventing harmful effects on the
European Site(s) for the duration of the proposed development. Providing that the appropriate
assessment concludes that these measures must be secured as planning conditions or
obligations by your authority to ensure their strict implementation for the full duration of the
development, and providing that there are no other adverse impacts identified by your
authority’s appropriate assessment, Natural England is satisfied that this appropriate
assessment can ascertain that there will be no adverse effect on the integrity of the European
Site in view of its conservation objectives.”

Page 143

Agenda Item 5
Annex 5



This page is intentionally left blank



D01 OL/TH/20/0847

PROPOSAL:

LOCATION:

Outline application for the erection of up to 450 residential 

dwellings (including market and affordable housing), structural 

planting and landscaping, formal and informal public open 

space and children's play area, sustainable urban drainage, 

with vehicular access points, including associated ancillary 

works and operations, from Hartsdown Road, Shottendane 

Road and Manston Road including access

Land On The North West And South East Sides Of 

Shottendane Road MARGATE Kent 

WARD: Salmestone

APPLICANT: Gladman Developments Ltd

RECOMMENDATION: Defer & Delegate

Defer and delegate for approval subject to the receipt of a legal agreement securing the 

required planning obligations as detailed in the report and the following conditions:

1 Approval of the details of the layout, scale, appearance of any buildings to be erected 

and the landscaping of the site (hereinafter called 'the reserved matters') shall be obtained 

from the Local Planning Authority. Development thereafter shall be carried out in accordance 

with the approved details.

GROUND: As no such details have been submitted in respect of these matters as the 

application is in outline. In accordance with Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning 

Act 1990.

2 Any application for approval of the reserved matters for the first phase of the 

development shall be made to the Local Planning Authority before the expiration of 3 years 

from the date of this permission. Any application for approval of the reserved matters for any 

remaining phases shall be made to the Local Planning Authority before the expiration of 5 

years from the date of this permission.

GROUND: In accordance with Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

3 Each phase of the development shall be begun within two years of the date of 

approval of the final reserved matters to be approved for that phase. 

GROUND: In accordance with Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 

amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004).

Page 145

Agenda Item 5
Annex 6



4 The phasing of the development shall not be carried out other than in accordance 

with the approved Phasing Parameter Plan numbered 2019-057-201 Rev A and received on 

18th January 2021 subject to any revisions to the approved phasing plan submitted and 

approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority pursuant to this condition. This condition 

does not prevent the construction periods of any phase running concurrently with other 

phases. 

GROUND: To secure the programming and phasing of, and an orderly pattern to the 

development in accordance with the phasing arrangements that have been assessed.

5 The reserved matters submitted in accordance with Condition 1 in respect of each 

phase shall include the following details in respect of that phase to the extent that they are 

relevant to the reserved matters application in question:-

Layout 

o The layout of routes, buildings and spaces;

o The block form and organisation of all buildings;

o The distribution of market and affordable dwellings within that phase including a 

schedule of dwelling size (by number of bedrooms and floorspace);

o The location of dwellings designed to seek to meet the Local Planning Authority's  

Accessible and Adaptable Accommodation;

o Full details of the approach to cycle parking including the location, distribution, types 

of rack, spacing and any secure or non-secure structures associated with the storage of 

cycles and the location and form of open areas;

o The extent and layout of public open spaces and play space within the phase to be 

provided following the criteria as stated in Thanet Local Plan 2020 Policy GI04. 

o Full details of measures to prevent the discharge of surface water onto the highway.  

o Details of surface water drainage capable of accommodating for all rainfall durations 

and intensities up to and including the climate change adjusted critical 100 year storm.  This 

should be demonstrated within an outline site wide drainage strategy, supported by 

appropriate ground investigation and calculations.  

Scale and Appearance 

Scale, form and appearance of the architecture within each phase, including frontage design 

and public / private realm definition and boundary treatments. 

Landscaping 

The landscape design and specification of hard and soft landscape works within each phase, 

including details surveys of all trees, shrubs and hedges in that phase, giving details of all 

trees having a trunk diameter of 75mm or more to include species type, spread of crown, 

height, diameter of trunk and condition assessment, details of existing trees, shrubs and 

hedges to be retained and details of new trees, shrubs, hedges and grassed areas to be 

planted, together with details of the species and method of planting to be adopted, details of 

Page 146

Agenda Item 5
Annex 6



walls, fences, other means of enclosure proposed. Any such details shall be accompanied 

by the Landscape Management Plan and Open Space Specification for that phase.  

Each phase of the development shall be constructed and laid out in accordance with those 

details submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

GROUND: In the interests of achieving sustainable development, in accordance with Thanet 

Local Plan Policy QD02, and the principles within the National Planning Policy Framework. 

6 Any reserved matters applications submitted pursuant to this outline application shall 

accord with the principles and parameters of the Parameter Plan CSA/4430/122 and 

Landscape Strategy Plan no. CSA/4430/118 Rev F received 13th November 2020 including 

any text set out on those Plans to illustrate the development principles).

GROUND: For the avoidance of doubt, so as to ensure that any development is in 

accordance with and within the parameters of that assessed by the Local Planning Authority 

for the purposes of the Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) 

Regulations 2017 and in the interest of achieving sustainable development, in accordance 

with Thanet Local Plan Policy QD02, and the principles with the National Planning Policy 

Framework. 

7 The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the 

approved plans no. SK09 Rev E received 12th March 2021, SK10 Rev A and SK11 received 

7th July 2020, subject to final design and highway authority adoption requirements.  

GROUND: To secure the proper development hereby approved and in the interests of 

highway safety and providing adequate safe highways infrastructure and capacity in 

accordance with Thanet Local Plan Policies SP21 and SP45. 

8 Prior to the commencement of each phase, or part thereof, an Open Space 

Specification for the phase shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 

Planning Authority, to accord with principles shown in plan no. CSA/4430/118 Rev F. The 

Open Space Specification shall:

* Identify the location and extent of the main areas of formal and informal open space to be 

provided which shall accord with the details submitted under condition 1;

* Outline any local play space to be provided, providing also a detailed specification of any 

equipped play areas. Such play space shall be provided following the criteria as stated in 

Thanet Local Plan 2020 Policy GI04 of which at least 36% shall be equipped play area in 

accordance with the Local Planning Authority's Supplementary Planning Document 

"Planning Obligations and Developer Contributions - April 2010

* Identify how the relevant areas of public open space and play areas are to be laid out, 

paved, planted or equipped; 

* Identify and demonstrate the “Trim Trail” proposed through plan CSA/4430/118 Rev F to 

encourage dog-walking within the site; and

Page 147

Agenda Item 5
Annex 6



The landscaped areas, open space and play space in any phase shall be laid out and 

implemented in accordance with approved plans and shall be permanently retained 

thereafter and used for and made available for public amenity and play space purposes only.

GROUND: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area and to adequately integrate the 

development into the environment, and provide local play space, in accordance with Policies 

QD02, GI04 and GI06 of the Thanet Local Plan and guidance within the National Planning 

Policy Framework. 

9 Prior to the commencement of each phase, or part thereof, a Landscape 

Management Plan for the phase in question shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 

the Local Planning Authority for all landscaped, open space and play areas identified in the 

Open Space Specification for the phase which shall include long term design objectives, 

details of who it to have ongoing management responsibilities for the area and how those 

arrangements will be secured in perpetuity and annual maintenance schedules for all 

landscaped, open space and play areas within the phase. The approved Landscape 

Management Plan for each phase shall be implemented and adhered to as approved subject 

to any minor revisions thereto as may be approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

The public open spaces in that phase shall be permanently retained and maintained 

thereafter in accordance with the approved Landscape Management Plan for that phase and 

used for and made available as public open space for public amenity purposes only. 

GROUND: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area and to adequately integrate the 

development into the environment, and provide local play space, in accordance with Policies 

QD02, GI04 and GI06 of the Thanet Local Plan and guidance within the National Planning 

Policy Framework.

10 No development shall take place until fencing has been erected around the area 

identified as an Archaeological Exclusion Zone on plan no. CSA/4430/122 Rev C received 

13th November 2020, in a manner to be agreed with the Local Planning Authority. The 

temporary fencing shall be retained for the duration of the construction works in that phase, 

or part thereof. No development groundworks, landscaping or planting shall take place in the 

Archaeological Exclusion Zone without the consent of the Local Planning Authority.

GROUND: To ensure that due regard is had to the preservation in situ of important 

archaeological remains in accordance with Thanet Local Plan Policy HE01 and advice in 

paragraph 189 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

11 No development shall take place until the applicant, or their agents or successors in 

title, has secured the implementation of a programme of archaeological work in accordance 

with a written specification and timetable which has been submitted to and approved by the 

Local Planning Authority. 

GROUND: To ensure that due regard is had to the preservation in situ of important 

archaeological remains in accordance with Thanet Local Plan Policy HE01 and advice in 

paragraph 189 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

Page 148

Agenda Item 5
Annex 6



12 Prior to the occupation of any dwelling in a respective phase, a scheme of 

interpretation that includes information boards in public open space areas in that phase of 

the development should be agreed with the Local Planning Authority. The scheme should 

include the location for information boards, their content and timetable for their 

establishment. The interpretation boards will be established in accordance with the agreed 

scheme. 

GROUND: To ensure that due regard is had to important archaeological remains in 

accordance with Thanet Local Plan Policy HE01 and advice in paragraph 189 of the National 

Planning Policy Framework. 

13 No development shall take place on each respective phase of development until a 

detailed surface water drainage scheme, to manage surface water run-off from the 

development (for up to and including the climate change adjusted 100 year storm event) for 

that phase has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

The scheme shall be based on the Section 6 of the submitted Flood Risk Assessment 

(Enzygo, May 2020) and shall also include: 

 the phasing for the implementation of the surface water drainage scheme. 

 Appropriate operational, maintenance and access requirements for each drainage 

feature or SuDS component are adequately considered, including any proposed 

arrangements for future adoption by any public body or statutory undertaker.

The scheme shall be constructed in full accordance with the approved details and shall be 

managed/maintained in accordance with the approved maintenance and management 

details for the lifetime of the development.

GROUND: To ensure the development is served by satisfactory arrangements for the 

disposal of surface water and they are incorporated into the proposed layouts, in accordance 

with Thanet Local Plan Policy CC02. 

14 No infiltration of surface water drainage into the ground is permitted other than with 

the written consent of the Local Planning Authority.  Where infiltration is to be used to 

manage the surface water from the development hereby permitted, it will only be allowed 

within those parts of the site where information is submitted to demonstrate to the Local 

Planning Authority's satisfaction that there is no resultant unacceptable risk to controlled 

waters and/or ground stability. The development shall only then be carried out in accordance 

with the approved details.

GROUND: To protect vulnerable groundwater resources, in accordance with Thanet Local 

Plan Policy SE04 and paragraph 180 of the National Planning Policy Framework.

15 No building on any phase (or within an agreed implementation schedule) of the 

development hereby permitted shall be occupied until a Verification Report pertaining to 

surface water drainage systems, carried out by a suitably qualified professional, has been 

submitted to the Local Planning Authority which demonstrates the suitable modelled 

operation of the drainage system such that flood risk is appropriately managed, as approved 

by the Lead Local Flood Authority. 

Page 149

Agenda Item 5
Annex 6



GROUND: To ensure that flood risks from development to the future users of the land and 

neighbouring land are minimised, together with those risks to controlled waters, property and 

ecological systems, and to ensure that the development as constructed is compliant with and 

subsequently maintained pursuant to the requirements of paragraph 165 of the National 

Planning Policy Framework.

16 No development shall take place until a scheme for sewerage disposal from the 

development has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning 

Authority. The scheme shall include details of any additional infrastructure required to 

mitigate the additional flows created by this development. The development shall be 

constructed and thereafter maintained in accordance with the approved details.

GROUND:

To prevent pollution in accordance with Thanet Local Plan Policy SE04 and guidance 

contained within the National Planning Policy Framework.

17 No development shall commence until a site characterisation and remediation 

scheme has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and 

the remediation scheme has been implemented in accordance with the approved details. 

The site characterisation, remediation scheme and implementation of the approved 

remediation scheme shall be carried out in accordance with the following criteria:

(a) Site Characterisation

An investigation and risk assessment, in addition to any assessment provided with the 

planning application, shall be completed in accordance with a scheme to assess the nature 

and extent of any contamination on the site, whether or not it originates on the site. The 

contents of the scheme are subject to the approval in writing of the Local Planning Authority. 

The investigation and risk assessment shall be undertaken by competent persons and a 

written report of the findings shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 

Planning Authority, and shall include:    

 A survey of the extent, scale and nature of contamination;

 An assessment of the potential risks to Human health, Property, Adjoining land, 

Groundwaters and surface waters, Ecological system;

 An appraisal of remedial options and a recommendation of the preferred options                                               

The site characterisation report shall be conducted in accordance with British Standards and 

current DEFRA and Environment Agency best practice.

(b) Submission of remediation scheme 

A detailed remediation scheme to bring the site to a condition suitable for the intended use 

by removing unacceptable risks to human health, buildings and other property and the 

natural and historical environment must be prepared, and shall be submitted to and 

approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, if required by part (a) of the condition. 

The scheme shall include all works to be undertaken, proposed remediation objectives and 

remediation criteria, a timetable of works and site management procedures. The scheme 

Page 150

Agenda Item 5
Annex 6



shall ensure that the site cannot be considered as contaminated land under Part 2A of the 

Environmental Protection Act 1990 in relation to the intended use of the land after 

remediation.

(c) Implementation of Approved Remediation Scheme 

The approved remediation scheme shall be carried out in accordance with its terms prior to 

the commencement of the development other than that required to carry out remediation. 

The Local Planning Authority shall be given two weeks written notification of commencement 

of the remediation scheme works. Following completion of measures identified in the 

approved remediation scheme, a verification report that demonstrates the effectiveness of 

the remediation carried out shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 

Planning Authority

GROUND:

To ensure that the proposed site investigation, remediation and development will not cause 

harm to human health or pollution of the environment, in accordance with Policy SE03 of the 

Thanet Local Plan and the advice contained within the National Planning Policy Framework.

18 If, during development, significant contamination is suspected or found to be present 

at the site, then works shall cease, and this contamination shall be fully assessed and an 

appropriate remediation scheme agreed with the Local Planning Authority. The approved 

works shall be implemented within a timetable agreed by the Local Planning Authority and 

shall be of such a nature as to render harmless the identified contamination given the 

proposed end use of the site and surrounding environment, including controlled waters.  

Prior to first occupation/use and following completion of approved measures, a verification

report shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval.

GROUND:

To ensure that the proposed development will not cause harm to human health or pollution 

of the environment, in accordance with Policy SE03 of the Thanet Local Plan and the advice 

contained within the National Planning Policy Framework.

19 No development shall take place on any phase until a Construction Environmental 

Management Plan (CEMP) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 

Planning Authority. The Construction Environmental Management Plan shall include 

amongst other matters details of: 

* Hours of construction working; 

* routing of construction and delivery vehicles to/from site, 

* parking and turning areas for construction and delivery vehicles and site personnel, 

* timing of deliveries,

* measures to control noise affecting nearby residents; 

* temporary traffic management/signage, 

* any temporary access arrangements to the site for construction purposes,  

* wheel cleaning/chassis cleaning facilities; 

* dust control measures; 

* lighting control measures;

* water quality protection measures; 

Page 151

Agenda Item 5
Annex 6



* precautionary measures to protect Badgers (as per section 7.5.39 of submitted 

Environmental Statement)

* maintenance of vehicular access to Margate Cemetery, Crematorium and Waste & 

Recycling centre throughout construction.

* pollution incident control and 

* site contact details in case of complaints. 

The construction works shall thereafter be carried out at all times in accordance with the 

approved Construction Environmental Plan, unless any variations are otherwise first 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

GROUND: In the interests of highways safety and the residential amenities of nearby 

residents, in accordance with Policy QD02 and QD03 of the Thanet Local Plan.

20 No development shall take place on any phase (or part thereof) until a Highways 

Work Phasing Plan, outlining the implementation of highways works detailed in condition 21, 

has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 

Highways Work Plan should include details of the mitigation proposed in that phase (or part 

thereof) including the new link road through the site plus its associated access points and 

footways, how these will be completed and made operational. The works shall be carried out 

in accordance with the agreed phasing plan including the timings for the provision of each 

respective element of infrastructure. 

GROUND: In the interests of highway safety and traffic flow, to ensure the sufficient 

highways infrastructure is provided to serve the development in accordance with Thanet 

Local Plan Policies SP21 and SP45. 

21 No development shall take place in any respective phase, until full final details of the 

proposed highways works have been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local 

Planning Authority. These details shall include:

- Local distributor standard link road 

- Potential 32m Roundabout Junction on Manston Road;

- Potential 40m Roundabout Junction on Shottendane Road;

- Right turn lane Priority Junction on Hartsdown Road.

All submitted details shall substantially accord with the geometrical layout as those 

submitted in the plans numbered plans no. SK09 Rev E received 12th March 2021, SK10 

Rev A and SK11 received 7th July 2020.

These works shall be implemented and operational in accordance with the timings within the 

Highways work phasing plan in condition 20.

GROUND: In the interests of highway safety and traffic flow, to ensure the sufficient 

highways infrastructure is provided to serve the development in accordance with Thanet 

Local Plan Policies SP21 and SP45

Page 152

Agenda Item 5
Annex 6



22 Details submitted pursuant to condition 1, insofar as they relate to each phase of 

development, shall include the final route, specification, geometry and waiting restrictions of 

the link road through the site within the area of deviation shown on the parameter plan. The 

link road and associated footway/cycleways, should be provided to an acceptable local 

distributor standard in accordance with the most up to date revision of the Kent Design 

Guide and include details of the pedestrian crossing provision and bus stop infrastructure 

where appropriate.  These works shall be implemented and operational in accordance with 

the timings with the Highway Works Phasing Plan. 

GROUND: In the interests of highway safety and traffic flow, to ensure the sufficient 

highways infrastructure is provided to serve the development in accordance with Thanet 

Local Plan Policies SP21 and SP45. 

23 Details pursuant to condition 1 above shall include the provision of means and routes 

of access for pedestrians and cyclists within each phase of the development to and from the 

surrounding footway and cycleway network. No building within that phase shall be occupied 

until all such routes and means of access within the phase serving that building are 

constructed and ready for use and thereafter shall be retained for their approved purpose.

GROUND: In the interests of highway safety and to facilitate the use of alternative means of 

transport, in accordance with Thanet Local Plan Policies SP45 and TP03.

24 Details submitted pursuant to condition 1 in respective of each phase of the 

development, shall demonstrate safe emergency access to the satisfaction of the Local 

Highway Authority and Fire Rescue Service.

GROUND: In the interests of safe access in new development in accordance with Thanet 

Local Plan Policy QD02 and paragraph 127 of the National Planning Policy Framework.

25 Details submitted pursuant to condition 1 in respective of each phase of the 

development, shall include the proposed roads, footways, footpaths, verges, junctions, street 

lighting, sewers, drains, retaining walls, service routes, surface water outfall, vehicle 

overhang margins, embankments, visibility splays, accesses, carriageway gradients, 

driveway gradients, car parking, turning areas and street furniture and bus stops/borders to 

be laid out and constructed. The details agreed shall be provided and permanently retained.

GROUND: In the interests of highway safety and traffic flow, to ensure the sufficient 

highways infrastructure is provided to serve the development in accordance with Thanet 

Local Plan Policies SP21 and SP45. 

26 Details pursuant to condition 1, insofar as they relate to each phase of development, 

shall include the provision of adequate secure covered cycle parking facilities within that 

phase, in accordance with standards to be agreed with the Local Planning Authority. Such 

facilities as approved shall be made available for use prior to the occupation of the unit for 

which they are provided to meet relevant parking and layout standards, and thereafter shall 

be retained for their approved purpose. 

Page 153

Agenda Item 5
Annex 6



GROUND: In the interests of highway safety and to facilitate the use of alternative means of 

transport, in accordance with Thanet Local Plan Policy TP03. 

27 Prior to first occupation of each respective dwelling, the completion of the following 

works between a dwelling and the adopted highway should have occurred in accordance 

with details submitted pursuant to condition 1: (a) Footways and/or footpaths, with the 

exception of the wearing course; (b) Carriageways, with the exception of the wearing course 

but including a turning facility, highway drainage, visibility splays, street lighting, street 

nameplates and highway structures (if any). 

GROUND: In the interests of safe access in new development in accordance with Thanet 

Local Plan Policy QD02 and paragraph 127 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

28 Details pursuant to condition 1, shall include details of the number, type and location 

of Electric vehicle charging points (EVCP) on the basis of 1 Electric Vehicle Charging point 

per residential property with dedicated parking and 1 in 10 of all non allocated parking. 

These shall be installed and operational to the specification agreed prior to the occupation of 

the residential units to which they relate. 

GROUND: In the interest of air quality and amenity  in accordance with SE05 of the Thanet 

Local Plan and paragraph 181 of the NPPF.

29 Prior to the first submission of any reserved matters application, hereby permitted, an 

Emissions Mitigation Assessment in accordance with Thanet District Council's Air Quality 

Technical Planning Guidance shall be submitted and approved in writing by the Local 

Planning Authority. The Emissions Mitigation Assessment shall include a damage cost 

assessment that uses the DEFRA emissions factor toolkit and should include details of 

mitigation to be included in the development which will reduce the emissions from the 

development during construction and when in operation. All works, which form part of the 

approved scheme, shall be completed before any part of the development is occupied and 

shall thereafter be maintained in accordance with the approved details. 

GROUND: In the interests of ensuring appropriate air quality in accordance with SE05 of the 

Thanet Local Plan and paragraph 181 of the NPPF. 

30 Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted, an air quality 

Emissions Statement that provides details of how the air quality damage costs, as calculated 

within the Emission Mitigation Assessment approved in condition 29, are to be used to 

achieve air quality improvements through the development, shall be submitted to and 

approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out in 

accordance with the approved details.

GROUND: In the interests of ensuring appropriate air quality in accordance with SE05 of the 

Thanet Local Plan and paragraph 181 of the NPPF. 

31 Prior to the submission of the first reserved matters application under condition 1, a 

Ecological Design Strategy, addressing ecological enhancement and mitigation across the 

whole site as outlined in Section 7 of the submitted Environmental Statement shall be 

Page 154

Agenda Item 5
Annex 6



submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The Ecological Design 

Strategy shall include the following:

a) Purpose and conservation objectives for the proposed works;

b) Review of site potential and constraints 

c) Detailed design(s) and/or working method(s) to achieve stated objectives;

d) Extent and location/area of proposed works on appropriate scale maps and plans;

e) Type and source of materials to be used where appropriate, e.g. native species of 

local provenance;

f) Timetable for implementation demonstrating that works are aligned with the proposed 

phasing of development;

g) Persons responsible for implementing the works; and 

h) Details of initial aftercare and long term maintenance and management. 

i) Details of provision of calcareous grassland on site as outlined in 7.8.3 of the 

applicant's Environmental Statement. 

The Ecological Design Strategy shall be implemented in accordance with the approved 

details and all features shall be retained in that manner thereafter. 

GROUND: In the interests of preserving and enhancing biodiversity and ecological potential, 

and to adequately integrate the development into the environment, in accordance with 

Policies QD02 and GI06 of the Thanet Local Plan and the National Planning Policy 

Framework. 

32 Details pursuant to condition 1 above shall demonstrate compliance and alignment 

with the agreed Ecological Design Strategy as approved in condition 31.

GROUND: In the interests of preserving and enhancing biodiversity and ecological potential, 

and to adequately integrate the development into the environment, in accordance with 

Policies QD02 and GI06 of the Thanet Local Plan and the National Planning Policy 

Framework. 

33 Prior to the commencement of each phase, or part thereof, a detailed outdoor lighting 

scheme shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority.  The 

scheme shall include details of the type of lights, the orientation/angle of the luminaries, the 

spacing and height of lighting columns, the extent/levels of illumination over the site and on 

adjacent land and measures to contain light within the curtilage of the site. The lighting 

scheme submitted must demonstrate that the lighting design will accord with the details set 

out in sections 7.5.31, 7.5.32 and 7.5.33 of the Environmental Statement; Chapter 7 (Wardell 

Armstrong June 2020). The development shall be implemented in accordance with the 

approved scheme and thereafter maintained as agreed. 

GROUND: In the interests of minimising light pollution, to safeguard the amenities of the 

locality and to mitigate the impact on biodiversity, in accordance with policy SE08 of the 

Thanet Local Plan and paragraph 175 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

34 Details pursuant to condition 1, insofar as they relate to each phase of development, 

shall include an explanation of how the proposed layout meets Secure by Design, in 

accordance with advice received from Kent Police.

Page 155

Agenda Item 5
Annex 6



GROUND: To ensure the proper development of the site without prejudice to the amenities 

of the occupants, in accordance with Thanet Local Plan Policies QD02 and QD03.

35 No phase of the development shall commence until details and samples of the 

materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the development hereby 

permitted in that phase have been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local 

Planning Authority. The phase shall be carried out using the approved materials.

GROUND: In the interests of visual amenity in accordance with Policy QD02 of the Thanet 

Local Plan. 

36 Details pursuant to condition 1 shall show no development on land identified as 

"Safeguarded land for potential future road" on plan no. CSA/4430/122 received 13th 

November 2020.

GROUND:

In the interests of safeguarding strategic routes for the provision of key road schemes, in 

accordance with Policy SP47 of the Thanet Local Plan.

37 All dwellings hereby permitted shall be provided with the ability for connection to 

Superfast Fibre Optic Broadband 'fibre to the premises', where there is adequate capacity.

GROUND: To serve the future occupants of the development in accordance with Thanet 

Local Plan Policy SP14 and the guidance within the National Planning Policy Framework.

38 Prior to the commencement of any highways works, a Parking Restriction Strategy, 

detailing the full extents of the proposed Traffic Regulation Order for double yellow lines on 

Hartsdown Road and the internal link road infrastructure, shall be submitted to and approved 

in writing by the Local Planning Authority in consultation with the  Highway Authority. The 

Strategy shall be progressed through the applicant's best endeavours.  

GROUND: In the interests of highway safety.

39 Prior to the occupation of any dwelling hereby approved, a final Travel Plan, to 

substantively accord with the Framework Travel Plan June 2020 by Iceni Projects and a 

programme for implementation shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 

Planning Authority. The agreed programme shall thereafter be implemented in full.

GROUND: To facilitate the use of alternative means of transport in accordance with Policy 

TP01, SP43 and the advice contained within the NPPF. 

40 Details pursuant to condition 1 for the relevant phase adjacent to designated footpath 

TM14 shall show the footpath retained and identify access points onto and connection with 

pedestrian routes through the proposed development.

Page 156

Agenda Item 5
Annex 6



GROUND: To facilitate the use of alternative means of transport and retention and potential 

upgrading of TM14, in accordance with Thanet Local Plan Policies TP03 and SP21 and 

guidance within the National Planning Policy Framework.

41 Prior to the occupation of any dwellings within each respective phase,  a copy of a 

Homeowner information pack, setting out measures to encourage considerate pet 

ownership, minimising light spill and not causing excessive and extended noise, information 

on how residents can minimise their impact on the surrounding wildlife, such as breeding 

birds and providing information on the European designated sites in the locality and their 

significance, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

This as agreed shall be provided to occupiers of each new dwelling at the point of 

occupation.

GROUND:

To ensure satisfactory mitigation measures in accordance with Policy SP28 of the Thanet 

Local Plan, and guidance within the National Planning Policy Framework.

42 The development hereby permitted shall be constructed to a high standard of energy 

efficiency to the equivalent of Level 4 of the Code for Sustainable Homes unless otherwise 

agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority. 

GROUND:

All new buildings and conversions of existing buildings must be designed to reduce 

emissions of greenhouse gases and have resilience to function in a changing climate, in 

accordance with Policy QD01 of the Thanet Local Plan.

43 The development hereby permitted shall be constructed in order to meet the required 

technical standard for water efficiency of 110litres/person/day, thereby Part G2 Part 36 (2b) 

of Schedule 1 Regulation 36 to the Building Regulations 2010, as amended, applies.

GROUND

Thanet is within a water stress area as identified by the Environment Agency, and therefore 

new developments will be expected to meet the water efficiency optional requirement of 

110litre /person/day, in accordance with Policy QD04 of the Thanet Local Plan.

44 The details to be submitted in pursuant of condition 1 above shall show all units in 

compliance with the Nationally Described Space Standards as set out within Policy QD04 of 

the Thanet Local Plan; and accessible and adaptable accommodation provided in 

accordance with Policy QD05 of the Thanet Local Plan.

GROUND:

To achieve high standards of living accommodation in accordance with Policies QD03, 

QD04 and QD05 of the Thanet Local Plan

Page 157

Agenda Item 5
Annex 6



SITE, LOCATION AND DESCRIPTION

The application site measures some 19.5 hectares and is located on the southern settlement 

edge of Margate and is two arable fields.  The northern field appears an elongated, L-

shaped parcel that has boundaries adjoining Shottendane Road and Hartsdown Road, 

wrapping around Shottendane Farm to the east. The southern field forms a broadly square-

shaped field, located between Shottendane Road and Manston Road, with its eastern / 

south east boundary abutting the built development of Firbank Gardens and Sycamore 

Close.  The site is divided through its centre by Shottendane Road, which largely runs 

southwest to the north-east, to the junction with Hartsdown Road, Tivoli Road, College Road 

and Nash Road (locally known as Coffin House Corner).

A residential area is situated to the northeast of the southern parcel, whilst a cluster of 

residential properties and some farm buildings are located to the southwest. Shottendane 

Farm is located adjacent to the eastern boundary of the northern parcel.  Hartsdown Road is 

located to the north-east of the site, with Margate Football Club approximately 80m to the 

north. Hartsdown Park and Tivoli Park are located adjacent to Margate Football Club and are 

separated by a Public Right of Way (PRoW). The town of Margate is located beyond.  

Agricultural land lies to the northwest, west and south of the proposed development site. 

Further to the north west sits the suburban village of Garlinge and the residential areas 

located within its southern extent. To the immediate south is the Cemex Margate Concrete 

Plant and the Margate Refuse and Recycling Centre. Margate Cemetery is located to the 

south-east beyond Manston Road,which runs along the south-eastern border of the site.

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

There is no relevant planning history for the application site. 

PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT

The application is an outline application with access points at site boundaries to be 

considered at this stage with all other matters (appearance, landscaping, layout and scale) 

reserved for future consideration. It is for the erection of up to 450 residential dwellings 

(including market and affordable housing), structural planting and landscaping, formal and 

informal public open space and children's play area, sustainable urban drainage, with 

vehicular access points, including associated ancillary works and operations, from 

Hartsdown Road, Shottendane Road and Manston Road including access.

Although the application is in outline form, an indicative masterplan has been submitted to 

demonstrate how the 450 residential units could be accommodated within the site.  A series 

of parameter plans has also been submitted.  These plans show areas of open 

space/landscaping throughout the development including areas of landscaping to the edges 

of the site.  The parameter plans show areas with taller buildings concentrated around the 

centre of the site and lower dwellings adjacent to the boundaries of the site.  These will be 

described in more detail below in the Character and Appearance section of the report.  The 

overall density of the residential development of the site is 34 dwellings per hectare - but this 

will vary in the different areas of the site.  

Page 158

Agenda Item 5
Annex 6



The proposal also includes highway works including the provision of a distributor link road 

and new roundabouts on Shottendane Road and Manston Road and access arrangements 

from the existing highway network to the proposed development site.  These will be 

considered in more detail in the Highway section of the report.  

The application is accompanied by an Environmental Statement as required under The 

Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017.

DEVELOPMENT PLAN POLICIES

Thanet Local Plan 2020

SP01 - Spatial Strategy - Housing 

SP10 - Margate 

SP13 - Housing Provision 

SP14 - General Housing Policy 

SP21 - Strategic Housing Site - Land North and South of Shottendane Road

SP22 - Type and Size of Dwellings 

SP23 - Affordable Housing 

SP24  - Development in the Countryside 

SP25  - Safeguarding the Identity of Thanet’s Settlements 

SP26 - Landscape Character Areas 

SP27 - Green Infrastructure 

SP29 - Strategic Access Management and Monitoring Plan (SAMM) 

SP30 - Biodiversity and Geodiversity Assets 

SP31 - Biodiversity Opportunity Areas 

SP34 - Provision of Accessible Natural and Semi-Natural Green Space, Parks, Gardens and 

Recreation Grounds

SP35 - Quality Development

SP36 - Conservation and Enhancement of Thanet’s Historic Environment 

SP37 - Climate Change

SP38 - Healthy and Inclusive Communities 

SP41 - Community Infrastructure 

SP43 - Safe and Sustainable Travel 

SP44 - Accessible Locations 

SP45 - Transport Infrastructure

SP47 - Strategic Routes 

E02 - Home Working 

E03 - Digital Infrastructure

E16  - Best and Most Versatile Agricultural Land

H01 - Housing Development 

GI04 - Amenity Green Space and Equipped Play Areas 

QD01 - Sustainable Development 

QD02 - General Design Policies 

QD03 - Living Conditions 

QD04 - Technical Standards 

QD05 - Accessible and Adaptable Accommodation

HE01 - Archaeology 

Page 159

Agenda Item 5
Annex 6



HE03 - Heritage Assets 

CC02 - Surface Water Management 

SE04 - Groundwater Protection 

SE05 - Air Quality 

SE06 - Noise Pollution 

SE08 - Light Pollution 

CM02 - Protection of Existing Community Facilities 

TP01 - Transport Assessments and Travel Plans 

TP02 - Walking 

TP03 - Cycling 

TP04 - Public Transport

TP06 - Car Parking 

NOTIFICATIONS

Letters were sent to adjoining occupiers, site notices posted around the application site and 

the application publicised in a local newspaper.  

Fifty representations objecting to the proposal have been received with some people writing 

in more than once.  They make the following summarised comments.  

 Affect local ecology

 Close to adjoining properties

 Development too high 

 General dislike of proposal 

 Inadequate access 

 Inadequate parking provision 

 Increase danger of flooding 

 Increase in traffic 

 Increase in pollution 

 Loss of light 

 Loss of parking

 Loss of privacy 

 Noise nuisance 

 Not enough information given on the application

 Out of keeping with the character of the area

 Application will lead to more congestion at Coffin Corner 

 Lack of community facilities for existing residents let alone additional residents

 The density of the proposed development should be reduced

 The combined impact on traffic and other issues on the surrounding area from this 

and nearby proposals will be unacceptable

 Shottendane Road needs widening 

 There are many community facilities in the area generating traffic (eg school, 

crematorium, cemetery and refuse tip).  The impact on these needs to monitored

 Congestion is already common on the surrounding road network without this 

development

Page 160

Agenda Item 5
Annex 6



 Increased water runoff created by this development

 In the application site part of the land given to the community by the Hartsdown 

family? 

 Why do more houses need to be built? 

 This is one of the driest areas in UK - development will increase the demand for 

water

 New development should be in small numbers on brownfield sites to encourage its 

integration

 Overdevelopment 

 No bus service to help address highway concerns 

 Site is in a semi rural area with diverse wildlife populations, therefore, there would be 

a loss of wildlife habitat

 Inadequate public transport provision

 Manston Road floods in times of heavy rain

 More open space needed on the development

 Impact on property prices - will we be compensated for any loss

 Loss of views from existing dwellings

 No benefits to the existing community from this development

 Increase in crime 

 Farm land should be retained especially given the pandemic 

 Potential for emergency vehicles to be caught on traffic congestion given the 

increase in traffic from this development 

 Impact on residential amenity during construction works 

 Unlikely that existing local residents will be able to afford the so called affordable 

homes, so other people will be drawn to the area

 Overlooking 

 Increased risk of flooding 

 Total housing allocation for Thanet is too high

 Thanet is losing its charm due to overdevelopment 

 You cannot undo a large housing estate once built

 Potential for trespass onto surrounding agricultural land

 Bridleways and footpaths will be lost to urban sprawl 

 Residents in the proposed development will be reliant on the car as no local facilities

 Why are no additional community facilities proposed in the development

 Proposed affordable housing is only 10% which is way below the national average.  

Has this been challenged by the Council? 

 Why is housing development being allowed to proceed when the road infrastructure 

is not in place? 

 The construction of the inner ring road is dependent on developers building sections 

through their development sites - will the road ever be completed? 

 What will happen if cricket balls get hit onto the road? 

 When will the community woodland be planted? 

 Will the proposed drainage system be able to cope with sustained rainfall? 

 Intrusion into open countryside on the edge of the urban area

 Archaeological remains could be disturbed, 

 Increase in noise, dust and pollution

Page 161

Agenda Item 5
Annex 6



 Irreparable damage to existing hedgerows 

 Thanet, and particularly Birchington and Westgate, is shouldering a disproportionate 

number of houses to fulfil a national strategy

 Leasehold properties can cause problems and should not be part of this development

 Thanet is in danger of becoming one big housing estate

 Proposed development will impact on the ability of local farmers to farm their land 

and other vehicles will get in the way of agricultural traffic

 Loss of trees

 The topography of the site is highly challenging

 Houses on the higher areas of land will be particularly visible

 Plans do not allow for adequate softening of the development edges 

 Adequate wintering bird surveys have not been completed so the potential impact of 

the development on the Golden Plover has not been properly assessed.  

 Development is financially unviable despite already providing a decreased proportion 

of affordable housing 

 Development is contrary to the provisions of the Local Plan and the National 

Planning Policy Framework

 Councils should not be held to ransom over the amount of affordable housing which 

can be delivered on housing sites 

 Local Plan policies require new development to integrate on to the landscape  - this 

is not the case with this development

 Original notification letters about this development from the council referenced its 

location incorrectly.  Although this was remedied, it is not clear that all residents 

received the amended letter

 If water cannot drain from the application site due to development problems will be 

caused elsewhere

 Why are people still homeless in Thanet when there is all this house building? 

 There is no need for this development as there are at least 2 existing housing 

developments between Shottendane Road and Westwood Cross

 Need to preserve existing outdoor spaces not build on them

 SSSI coastline already under pressure from increased visitor numbers 

 Renowned long views will be lost 

 Upland chalk area, which is highlighted as significant in character, will be lost

 Loss of food security at the expense of housing 

 New housing and roads will cause additional light pollution

 There has already been a huge loss of jobs in the area due to Covid 19. 

 Representations objecting to the application have also been received from a planning 

consultant acting on behalf of some of the local residents.  Their comments are 

summarised below.  

 Status of the submitted masterplan is unclear

 Plans indicate that the proposed highway would cut through the site in the area most 

at risk of flooding

 Impact of the highway proposals on Shottendane Road not adequately addressed

Page 162

Agenda Item 5
Annex 6



 Trees and hedges will be destroyed along Shottendane Road, although the retention 

of landscaping is extolled as a virtue of the scheme

 The major area of open space/children's play area are located in the area most at 

risk of flooding  and therefore less suitable for recreational use

 Much of the proposed open space within the scheme will be provided due to issues 

such as archaeology, flood risk or the fact that they are expensive or difficult to 

develop rather than as a virtue of the scheme

 Landscaping is not sufficient to mitigate the impact of the proposed development on 

the surrounding area

 Housing layout needs to be more imaginative to minimise its impact

 Getting to play areas and open spaces will require people (including children) to 

cross roads  - a highway safety issue

 Only 10% affordable housing proposed which fails to meet the Local Planning 

Authority’s 30% for new developments

 The policy allocation states that the site will provide 550 new homes  - only 450 being 

delivered creating a shortfall

 No single storey units proposed within the development

 The assumptions in the viability assessments need checking

 Development is contrary to Local Plan policies and the scheme as submitted would 

lose Thanet 100 new homes overall and 120 new affordable units for local people.  

One neutral representation was also received on the application which stated that there was 

a need for a construction management plan to be produced to avoid impacting on the 

existing nearby facilities.  

Thanet Campaign for the Protection of Rural England (CPRE): update comment 

Given the current economic situation there will likely be post brexit and covid reexamination 

of major highway infrastructure such as Thanet Parkway; 

Thanet has an impractical and unsustainable target for housing; 

The Local Plan needs an early radical review, which cannot be done whilst there is 

uncertainty about Manston Airport; 

TDC Cabinet has launched a 6 week consultation on a review of the Council’s Statement of 

Community Involvement; and 

It would seem sensible and appropriate to defer consideration of  the three  development 

proposals at Shottendane,Westgate/Garlinge and Birchington. 

Initial Comment Reject this application: 

 Not be consistent with the Adopted Local Plan

 Not provide 30% affordable housing

 be unlikely to provide under S106 agreements an acceptable contribution to Local 

Public Infrastructure and it would be premature insofar that the major 

HighwayProposals associated with the Proposed Development could not be 

guaranteed

 premature until the implications of Surface Water Drainage have not been sufficiently 

addressed or assessed

Page 163

Agenda Item 5
Annex 6



 premature until the implications of Foul Water Drainage have been sufficiently 

addressed or assessed particularly in conjunction with potential sequential 

development in Garlinge /Westgate

British Horse Association: Horse riding is a sport which engages a high population of 

people living with disabilities, women and participants over the age of 45.  Nearly 40% of 

those do not participate in any other form of physical activity.  The contribution of 

equestrianism to the economy is also far from insignificant.  

Thanet is a district with a high density of horse riders, carriage drivers and associated 

equestrian businesses.  We would ask for some benefits from the proposed development for 

example the upgrade of footpath TM14 to unrestricted bridleway status and CIL monies 

could be utilised to improve the off road network for higher status users of the public rights of 

way network for new and existing residents.  

Margate Civic Society: Object to the application on the following grounds. 

 Now a greater appreciation of the climate problem; 

 Traffic congestion remains unresolved and this development will exacerbate this 

situation.  The effect of the airport decisions on transportation is still unclear; 

 There is a pressing need for affordable social housing.  Thanet is a low income area 

with many private renters approaching retirement as well as issues resulting from the 

pandemic; 

 Not much sign of housing commensurate employment; 

 Loss of prime agricultural land should be a last resort; and 

 At present, this is the wrong development in the wrong place.  

Margate Cricket Club: Not currently objecting to this development, provided that our two 

concerns are accounted for and actioned.

The possible risk of increased flooding to the area which could affect our playing field and 

ability to play cricket and facilitate other leisure activities. I do note on the plans the 

installation of a basin, but we are unsure whether this will be enough to avoid flooding.

The sighting of the vehicle, cycle and pedestrian access and proximity of the housing to our 

land boundary (right hand side as you stand from Hartsdown Road), raises concerns as to 

the safety of residents, vehicles, houses etc within this planned development from cricket 

balls which can cause severe damage to both property and life. For planning to be approved 

we feel the following condition should be applied which is for the developer and builders to 

supply, erect and maintain within the development land boundary side a suitable netting 

structure along the entire length of the boundary that was referred to previously. We suggest 

this be at an approximate height of 20 meters due to how high cricket balls can be hit, and 

for this to be discussed and agreed with our management committee to ensure suitability 

and effectiveness.  Other clubs in Kent based in residential areas have similar provisions in 

place and we do not feel that these essential safety measures should be a financial liability 

to us given that we have been established in this location for many years.  

CONSULTATIONS

Page 164

Agenda Item 5
Annex 6



Historic England: No comment.  

Natural England: Originally raised concerns that a Habitats Regulation Assessment had not 

been submitted and additional information was required in relation to wintering birds.  

Following the submission of additional information from the applicants, Natural England 

advise that they do not object to the granting of this permission.  Natural England advises 

that the specific measures previously identified and analysed by your Authority to prevent 

harmful effects on coastal European Sites from increased recreational pressure should be 

applied to this proposed development at appropriate assessment.  Your authority has 

measures in place to manage these potential impacts through the agreed strategic solution 

which we consider to be ecologically sound. Natural England is of the view that if these 

measures, including contributions to them, are implemented, they will be effective and 

reliable in preventing harmful effects on the European Site(s) for the duration of the 

proposed development.  Providing that the appropriate assessment concludes that these 

measures must be secured as planning conditions or obligations by your authority to ensure 

their strict implementation for the full duration of the development, and providing that there 

are no other adverse impacts identified by your authority’s appropriate assessment, Natural 

England is satisfied that this is appropriate.  

Environment Agency: This site overlies a chalk aquifer, any pathways for contamination 

must be strictly controlled to avoid pollution of the principle aquifer. 

Developments should not be brought forward until relevant upgrades in main sewer 

provision are made for new development areas. Cesspits and septic tanks pose a risk to 

water quality in principal and secondary aquifers and cumulative impacts of new 

developments must be considered. Multiple single discharges to ground cannot fall under 

the binding rules exemptions and developments of more than one property will not be 

considered for individual discharges to ground in principle. In addition all risks from potential 

contamination must be identified so that appropriate action can be taken. Therefore, in 

completing any site investigations and risk assessments the applicant should assess the risk 

to groundwater and surface waters from any unexpected contamination which may be 

present and where necessary carry out appropriate remediation.

Planning permission could be granted for the proposed development subject to planning 

conditions relating to unexpected contamination and surface water infiltration.  Without these 

conditions, the proposed development poses an unacceptable risk to the environment and 

we would object to the application.

Southern Water: The exact position of the public assets must be determined on site by the 

applicant in consultation with Southern Water, before the layout of the proposed 

development is finalised.  Please note:

- The 100 mm diameter foul rising main requires a clearance of 3 metres either side of the 

rising main to protect it from construction works and to allow for future access for 

maintenance.

- The public water main requires a clearance of 6 metres on either side of the water main to 

protect it from construction works and to allow for future access for maintenance.

Page 165

Agenda Item 5
Annex 6



-No development or tree planting should be carried out within 3 metres of the external edge 

of the

public rising main without consent from Southern Water.

- No excavation, mounding or tree planting should be carried out within 6 metres of the 

external edge of the public water main without consent from Southern Water.  

-No soakaway, swales, ponds, watercourses or any other surface water retaining or 

conveying features should be located within 5 metres of a public rising main and public water 

main.

- All existing infrastructure, including protective coatings and cathodic protection, should be 

protected during the course of the construction works.  

Should planning approval be granted then Southern Water recognises its obligations under 

the new charging regime to provide capacity in the existing sewerage system to 

accommodate the needs of the proposed development. Any such network reinforcement will 

be part funded through the New Infrastructure Charge with the remainder funded through 

Southern Water’s Capital Works

Programme.  Southern Water and the Developer will need to work together in order to 

review if the delivery of our network reinforcement aligns with the proposed occupation of the 

development, as it will take time to design and deliver any such reinforcement.  It may be 

possible for some initial dwellings to connect, pending network reinforcement. Southern 

Water will review and advise on this following consideration of the development program and 

the extent of network reinforcement required.Southern Water will carry out detailed network 

modelling as part of this review which may require existing flows to be monitored. This will 

enable us to establish the extent of works required (If any) and to design such works in the 

most economic manner to satisfy the needs of existing and future Customers.  

The planning application form makes reference to drainage using Sustainable Urban 

Drainage Systems (SuDS).Under certain circumstances SuDS will be adopted by Southern 

Water should this be requested by the developer.Where SuDS rely upon facilities which are 

not adoptable by sewerage undertakers the applicant will need to ensure that arrangements 

exist for the long-term maintenance of the SuDS facilities. It is critical that the effectiveness 

of these systems is maintained in perpetuity. Good management will avoid flooding from the 

proposed surface water system, which may result in the inundation of the

foul sewerage system. Thus, where a SuDS scheme is to be implemented, the drainage 

details submitted to the Local

Planning Authority should:

- Specify the responsibilities of each party for the implementation of the SuDS scheme.

- Specify a timetable for implementation.

- Provide a management and maintenance plan for the lifetime of the development.

This should include the arrangements for adoption by any public authority or statutory 

undertaker and any other arrangements to secure the operation of the scheme throughout its 

lifetime.

This initial assessment does not prejudice any future assessment or commit to any adoption 

agreements under Section 104 of the Water Industry Act 1991. Please note that non-

compliance with Sewers for Adoption standards will preclude future adoption of the foul and 

Page 166

Agenda Item 5
Annex 6



surface water sewerage network on site. The design of drainage should ensure that no 

groundwater or land drainage is to enter public sewers.

Land uses such as general hardstanding that may be subject to oil/petrol spillages should be 

drained by means of oil trap gullies or petrol/oil interceptors.

We request that should this application receive planning approval, the following condition is 

attached to the consent: “Construction of the development shall not commence until details 

of the proposed means of foul and surface water sewerage disposal have been submitted to, 

and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority in consultation with Southern 

Water.”

Following initial investigations, Southern Water can provide a water supply to the site. 

Southern Water requires a formal application for connection and on-site mains to be made 

by the applicant or developer. We request that should this application receive planning 

approval, the following informative is attached to the consent: A formal application for 

connection to the water supply is required in order to service this development.

KCC Flood and Water Management: Kent County Council as Lead Local Flood Authority 

have the following comments:

The application is supported by a Flood Risk Assessment Report (Enzygo, May 2020).  The 

major risk of flooding to the site is from surface water, with flow path in the northern parcel of 

the site. In addition to utilising Environment Agency surface water flood maps, the applicant 

has presented a surface water model of the site to confirm the overland flow paths within the 

site, overlaid with the proposed layout of the site, demonstrating how the proposed 

development interacts with the flood paths.

The drainage strategy proposes to utilise infiltration to drain surface water runoff as

summarised below:

Residential dwellings SUDS: It is proposed that plot soakaways will serve the individual 

dwellings, to be designed for the 1:100 year rainfall event plus climate change. We welcome 

the mitigation measures set out in Section 5 of the Flood Risk Assessment report to protect 

the residential dwellings from flooding.  

Highway: It is proposed to drain surface water runoff from highway to soakaway trench, to be 

designed for the 1:30 year event and located within the low risk flow path zone. In Section 5 

of the Flood Risk Assessment report, the applicant proposes that highway routes through the 

surface water flood path could be raised using a series of box culverts to allow free 

conveyance under the highway and minimise floodplain displacement.  We have no 

objection to the proposals, however we would recommend that during detailed design, the 

applicant takes into consideration requirements outlined in the informative section below.

Should your local authority be minded to grant permission for this development, we

would recommend the following conditions:

Condition:

Page 167

Agenda Item 5
Annex 6



Development shall not begin in any phase until a detailed sustainable surface water 

drainage scheme for the site has been submitted to (and approved in writing by) the local 

planning authority. The detailed drainage scheme shall demonstrate that the surface water 

generated by this development (for all rainfall durations and intensities up to and including 

the climate change adjusted critical 100 year storm) can be accommodated and disposed of 

within the curtilage of the site without increase to flood risk on or off-site.

The drainage scheme shall also demonstrate (with reference to published guidance):

• that silt and pollutants resulting from the site use can be adequately managed to ensure 

there is no pollution risk to receiving waters.

• appropriate operational, maintenance and access requirements for each drainage feature 

or SuDS component are adequately considered, including any proposed arrangements for 

future adoption by any public body or statutory undertaker.

The drainage scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details.

Reason:

To ensure the development is served by satisfactory arrangements for the disposal of 

surface water and to ensure that the development does not exacerbate the risk of on/off site 

flooding. These details and accompanying calculations are required prior to the 

commencement of the development as they form an intrinsic part of the proposal, the 

approval of which cannot be disaggregated from the carrying out of the rest of the 

development. 

Condition:

Where infiltration is to be used to manage the surface water from the development

hereby permitted, it will only be allowed within those parts of the site where information is 

submitted to demonstrate to the Local Planning Authority’s satisfaction that there is no 

resultant unacceptable risk to controlled waters and/or ground stability. The development 

shall only then be carried out in accordance with the approved details.

Reason:

To protect vulnerable groundwater resources and ensure compliance with the National 

Planning Policy Framework.

Condition:

No building on any phase (or within an agreed implementation schedule) of the

development hereby permitted shall be occupied until a Verification Report, pertaining to the 

surface water drainage system and prepared by a suitably competent person, has been 

submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. The Report shall demonstrate 

the suitable modelled operation of the drainage system where the system constructed is 

different to that approved. The Report shall contain information and evidence (including 

photographs) of details and locations of inlets, outlets and control structures; landscape 

plans; full as built drawings; information pertinent to the installation of those items identified 

on the critical drainage assets drawing; and, the submission of an operation and 

maintenance manual for the sustainable drainage scheme as constructed.

Reason

Page 168

Agenda Item 5
Annex 6



To ensure that flood risks from development to the future users of the land and

neighbouring land are minimised, together with those risks to controlled waters, property and 

ecological systems, and to ensure that the development as constructed is compliant with and 

subsequently maintained pursuant to the requirements of paragraph 165 of the National 

Planning Policy Framework.

Informative

1. Highway Design

Design criteria

The proposed SUDs for highway runoff is to be designed for the 1:30 year event. The 

applicant shall refer to SUDs Policy 2 of Kent County Council (KCC) Drainage and Planning 

Policy document (available at www.kent.gov.uk) for design requirements for rainfall events 

between 1:30 and 1:100 year events for highways.

KCC recommends that at detailed design, the proposal should consider the requirements of 

SUDS Policy 2 with supporting information.

Highway drainage maintenance

The applicant is proposing box culverts for section(s) of the highway. If the proposed 

highway or sections of it are proposed to be adopted, then any associated culverts will be 

under the maintenance of KCC drainage team. We recommend that the applicant has early 

consultation with KCC drainage team regarding the design culverts, to capture their 

requirements in regard to the maintenance of all drainage assets.

2. Exceedance Routes

At the detailed design stage, we would expect to see detailed exceedance plans provided, 

indicating the extent of flooding with reference to actual proposed levels. It should be 

ensured that key access routes are not blocked and that no property flooding occurs in these 

areas. All exceedance must be contained within the site boundary to ensure that there is no 

increase in flood risk elsewhere. We expect that optimisation could be made to the drainage 

networks to reduce exceedance volumes where it is necessary to do so.

KCC Ecology: We have reviewed the ecological information submitted in support of this 

outline planning application and advise that sufficient information has been provided by the 

applicant. We are satisfied with the results of the further surveys which concluded that 

terrestrial protected species, e.g. reptiles and dormice, are unlikely to be present.

Thanet and Canterbury SAMMS

The development includes proposals for new dwellings within the zone of influence (7.2km) 

of the Thanet Coast and Sandwich Bay Special Protection Area (SPA) and Wetland of 

International Importance under the Ramsar Convention (Ramsar Site). Therefore, Thanet 

District Council will need to ensure that the proposals fully adhere to the agreed approach 

within the Strategic Access Management and Monitoring Strategy (SAMMS) to mitigate for 

additional recreational impacts on the designated sites and to ensure that adequate means 

are in place to secure the mitigation before first occupation.

Page 169

Agenda Item 5
Annex 6



A recent decision from the Court of Justice of the European Union has detailed that 

mitigation measures cannot be taken into account when carrying out a screening 

assessment to decide whether a full ‘appropriate assessment’ is needed under the Habitats 

Directive. Therefore, we advise that due to the need for the application to contribute to the 

Thanet Coast and Sandwich Bay SAMMS, there is a need for an appropriate assessment to 

be carried out as part of this application.  

Bats and Lighting

The static bat surveys recorded at least six bats species, including the uncommon 

Nathusius’ Pipistrelle. Whilst bats are unlikely to be roosting on-site, the results show that 

foraging and commuting bats are utilising the site. As such, the most significant impact on 

bat activity is likely to be from lighting once the development is operational.

Sections 7.5.31 to 7.5.33 outline the principles to limit the impact of lighting, which we advise 

are appropriate. To ensure that the proposed lighting measures are implemented in 

alignment with the lighting plan at each reserve matters phase, we advise that a condition is 

attached to planning permission (if granted). Suggested wording:

At each reserve matters phase, it will be demonstrated that the lighting design will accord 

with the details set out in sections 7.5.31, 7.5.32 and 7.5.33 of the Environmental Statement; 

Chapter 7 (Wardell Armstrong June 2020). The agreed details will be implemented 

thereafter.

Breeding Birds

Habitats are present on and around the site that provide opportunities for breeding birds. 

Any work to vegetation that may provide suitable nesting habitats should be carried out 

outside of the bird breeding season (March to August) to avoid destroying or damaging bird 

nests in use or being built. If vegetation needs to be removed during the breeding season, 

mitigation measures need to be implemented during construction in order to protect breeding 

birds. This includes examination by an experienced ecologist prior to starting work and if any 

nesting birds are found, development must cease until after the juveniles have fledged. We 

suggest the following informative is included with any planning consent:

The applicant is reminded that, under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, as amended 

(section 1), it is an offence to remove, damage or destroy the nest of any wild bird while that 

nest is in use or being built. Planning consent for a development does not provide a defence 

against prosecution under this Act. Trees and scrub are present on the application site and 

are assumed to contain nesting birds between 1st March and 31st August, unless a recent 

survey has been undertaken by a competent ecologist and has shown that nesting birds are 

not present.

Once operational, breeding birds are likely to be impacted by recreational disturbance and 

cat predation. To address this, it is proposed that a ‘New Homeowner Information Pack’ 

(NHIP) will be given to all new homeowners, which we are highly supportive of. The pack will 

include information on how residents can minimise their impact on the surrounding wildlife, 

such as breeding birds.

Page 170

Agenda Item 5
Annex 6



Ecological Enhancements

In alignment with paragraph 175 of the National Planning Policy Framework 2019, the 

implementation of enhancements for biodiversity should be encouraged. The proposed 

landscape plan outlines the open areas, habitat creation and enhancement features. This 

includes:

· Wildflower meadow creation, with appropriate seed mixes supplied;

· Native hedgerow and boundary vegetation;

· Gaps in closeboard fencing to allow movement of species like hedgehogs;

· Provision of bird and bat boxes.

We would strongly recommend that all ornamental planting is replaced by native planting to 

ensure maximum biodiversity value can be gained, and that bird boxes (bird bricks) are 

integrated within the fabric of the new builds.

To ensure that enhancements are implemented, we advise that an ecological enhancement 

plan is secured via an attached condition (if planning permission is granted). In addition to 

the proposals cited above, the plan should also include appropriate management 

prescriptions. Suggested wording:

Prior to the start of works (including site clearance), a site-wide ecological enhancement plan 

will be submitted to, and approved by, the local planning authority. The plan will include 

details of enhancements within the built area and open space, and associated management 

prescriptions.

We advise that a reserve matters condition is included to ensure the agreed measures are 

implemented. Suggested wording:

At each reserve matters phase, the submitted plans will demonstrate alignment with the 

agreed outline ecological enhancement plan, as part of condition X.

KCC Public Rights of Way and Access Service: Public  Footpath TM14 would appear to 

be directly affected by or abuts the proposed development.  The location of the path is 

indicated on the attached extract of the Network Map. The  Network Map is a working copy 

of the Definitive Map. The existence of the Public Right of  Way (PROW) is a material 

consideration.  

As a general statement, the KCC PRoW and Access Service are keen to ensure that their  

interests are represented with respect to our statutory duty to protect and improve PRoW in  

the County. The team is committed to achieve the aims contained within the KCC Rights of  

Way Improvement Plan (ROWIP). This aims to provide a high-quality PRoW network, which  

will support the Kent economy, provide sustainable travel choices, encourage active 

lifestyles  and contribute to making Kent a great place to live, work and visit. 

KCC PROW have no objection to the application, however as per our response of 25th 

August  2020, request the following is conditioned in the event of the application being 

approved: 

Prior to a determination of the application the following is requested: 

Page 171

Agenda Item 5
Annex 6



- A scheme of access / construction is agreed to clarify the path alignment,  surfacing, width 

and signage

- Delivery of this agreed scheme before construction commences. 

- The applicant considers the improvements detailed below regarding the wider 

improvements to the PROW network. We request that the applicant also investigates 

providing monetary contribution towards this provision. This would enable improvements 

onsite and offsite to mitigate the impact of  this application and make it more sustainable

Impact on Public Footpath TM14 

The PRoW network is a valuable resource that provides significant opportunities for  outdoor 

recreation and active travel. We would request that the applicant clarifies the alignment of 

the site boundary in relation to the route of TM14, as there are conflicting plans  and 

references within the documents of the application. (Vol.2 Appx 10 2.19 of the Transport 

Assessment vs Development Framework Plan, Illustrative Master Plan). KCC PROW would  

advise early engagement and would be happy to attend on site if necessary, in order to  

resolve this matter. We are still awaiting engagement with the applicant. 

We welcome the intention to provide improvements to TM14, (ref. Transport Assessment 

Vol.2 Appx. 10). KCC PROW would propose upgrading to a Public Bridleway, allowing  

pedestrian and cycle use, providing active travel connectivity towards Margate centre as well  

as providing a significant link in the surrounding network which is also well used by 

equestrians. We would also advise access from the development onto TM14 which would be  

resolved with the issue of alignment. Without such access, the applicants stated objectives 

to “encourage active modes of travel for all users by offering safe and viable alternatives” 

would  not be realised. 

Following clarification of the PROW alignment, if the route is indeed outside the  

development boundary, KCC PROW would intend to approach the landowner regarding  

upgrade to Public Bridleway. This would provide a significant link in the area network  which 

is currently well established by all users. We would request contribution by s106 for  

improvements to the route as above, an estimate of which would be £68-70,000 to include  

clearance, resurfacing, width definition and signage as detailed in the above-mentioned 

scheme of access / construction. 

Impact on wider PROW network  

KCC policy is to meet future demand by providing well planned new provisions, including  

green infrastructure to facilitate sustainable travel patterns. The PROW network provides an 

important element of this infrastructure and to this end, we examine all applications with  

regard to the wider area. It is therefore imperative that we use this opportunity to provide 

sustainable access from the site to employment, school and recreation for pedestrians and 

cyclists. 

As correctly identified in the Planning Statement there are multiple PROW in the proximity of  

the development site, namely Public Footpaths TMX15, TM13 and Public Bridleways TM11  

and TM15. The network here is well used by all modes and the development provides a 

huge  opportunity to invest in Active Travel using the already available network to encourage  

walking and cycling, reducing pressure on roads especially the rural lanes and strengthening  

Page 172

Agenda Item 5
Annex 6



connections into Margate. The leisure opportunities are of a similar significance, with  

connectivity to National Cycle Routes and the proximity to the coast, with increased pressure  

on the English Coast Path, the Viking Coastal Path, and greater access to the tourism  

amenities so vital to the District. As referenced in the Framework Travel Plan, the new  

residents of the development and current residents of the area are “well located to take  

advantage of existing local services” of which the PROW network is a significant asset. 

KCC PROW would therefore request that contributions are made to wider improvement for  

surfacing, upgrading and enhancement of the above routes. Appx 1 of the Planning 

Statement s106 Draft Head of Terms – accordingly we request a specific category for Public  

Rights of Way within the Highways and Public Transport section. 

Please make the applicant aware that any proposed work on the surface of the paths must  

be approved and authorised by the Highway Authority, in this case Kent County Council’s  

Public Rights of Way and Access Service. PROW diversions or extinguishments should be  

considered at an early stage. Where it is probable that consent will be granted, it is sensible  

to initiate consultation on proposed alterations to the path network as soon as possible. It is  

important that Thanet District Council are able to make the necessary Orders at the point at  

which consent is given. 

KCC Archaeology: “As you know I have previously provided advice prior to application 

(response dated 14th November 2019 to submitted Scoping Report) and have been involved 

in extensive discussion with the applicant’s archaeological consultant and agreed and 

monitored archaeological survey and evaluation of the proposed development site. I advised 

that issues concerning the effects of development on built heritage assets and their setting 

should be led on by the council’s conservation team and will therefore concentrate this 

response to the archaeology of the site.

Summary of Scoping Advice with respect to Archaeology

In response to the Scoping Report I highlighted that the site lies in an area which is rich in 

archaeology, explained the significance and unique character of the archaeology of Thanet 

and described known highlights for baseline evidence in the site and its surroundings. I 

explained that given the archaeological potential of the site it will be important to establish 

where archaeology will have an influence on development planning.

I welcomed that Archaeology and Heritage was to be scoped in as a topic in the EIA and 

advised that:

 Baseline Conditions for archaeology should be established through a programme of 

initial desk-based assessment, geophysical survey and trial trench evaluation;

 The desk-based assessment should include up to date mapping of cropmarks and 

adjacent site features and should be modelled on topography of the site and its 

surroundings. Geophysical survey should be added to that model;

 Trial trenching is needed to test the model;

 Following all stages of advance fieldwork the desk based assessment should be 

updated, the archaeology potential modelled using all sources and a statement of 

significance produced in accordance with current Historic England guidance that can 

be used to inform discussions on the master planning of development and the EIA.

Page 173

Agenda Item 5
Annex 6



 It would be important to set out in the study the impact of development on the setting 

of undesignated heritage assets and highlighted the barrows and early medieval 

cemeteries known on the southern parcel of development.

 The EIA should set out how the impacts will be mitigated through masterplan design 

and / or subsequent investigation.

 The development proposals should include consideration of what additional benefits 

can emerge from archaeological works for example on site interpretation.

The Application

The submission includes the following documents in connection with the archaeology of the 

site:

Environment Statement Vol 1 Chapter 9 Archaeology & Cultural Heritage  -

Environment Statement Vol 2 Appx 9.1 Archaeology & Cultural Heritage Legislation, Policy & 

Guidance –

Environment Statement Vol 2 Appx 9.2 Criteria for Defining Significance of Effect

Environment Statement Vol 2 Appx 9.3 Heritage Assessment

Environment Statement Vol 2 Appx 9.4 Geophysical Survey Report

Environment Statement Vol 2 Appx 9.5 Archaeological Evaluation Report

Environment Statement Vol 2 Appx 9.6 Archaeological Watching Brief Report

The applicant and their heritage consultant have responded well to my advice on the 

Scoping Report. The submission includes a comprehensive desk based heritage 

assessment that has taken account of the survey and trial trenching works and identified the 

archaeological potential of the site and its significance. In summary:

The south eastern area of the site includes the remains of a Bronze Age barrow cemetery 

which was later the focus of an early medieval cemetery. This can be seen on aerial 

photographs and the presence of a ring ditch and one burial was picked up in the evaluation. 

The barrow cemetery and the main part of the medieval cemetery lies on the south boundary 

and extends out of the site. It is sited to be prominent on a ridge overlooking land to the 

south. An early medieval cemetery had previously been excavated on Manston Road and 

may have been associated with the remains found in the site. A Neolithic pit was also found 

during evaluation trenching in the south eastern area of the site. Although undesignated the 

archaeological remains in the south eastern area of the site can be considered of a 

significance that merits preservation in-situ.

Archaeological remains elsewhere within the development site include a small group of pits 

of possible Neolithic date and an enclosure  and field boundaries of Iron Age date. The site 

also included evidence of the former brickworks and brickearth extraction. The central part of 

the development site along Shottendane Road was found to include deeper deposits of 

colluvium while archaeological remains on the upper slopes were shallower.

Table 9.1 in vol 1 Chapter 9 of the EIA details the consultation undertaken with myself during 

and following the archaeological work and the outcome of discussion. I have, as described, 

advised that the south eastern area of the site where the Bronze Age barrow cemetery and 

Page 174

Agenda Item 5
Annex 6



the Early Medieval cemetery is located should be preserved in-situ while other areas of 

archaeology be subject to a programme of archaeological investigation and recording should 

planning permission be granted. An ‘Archaeological Exclusion Zone’ was proposed by the 

applicant to cover the archaeological constraints in the south east of the site which I agreed 

was appropriate. This is illustrated in Figure 5 of Appendix 9.3

Safeguarding of Archaeological Remains

The proposal to preserve the archaeology in the south eastern part of the site is welcome. 

The Archaeology Exclusion Zone that was proposed has been incorporated in an area of 

open space in this area of the site. This is illustrated in the parameters plan (Appendix 1.3). 

In this area below ground impacts will be avoided (including tree planting) and it is 

understood that the area will be set as meadow or grassland. This is reflected in the 

Landscape Strategy Plan dated May 2020 (CS/4430/118). Maintaining this area as 

grassland will benefit the buried heritage assets in removing further plough attrition and also 

preserves elements of the setting of the former barrows and cemeteries located on the 

prominent ridge overlooking land to the south. I agree that there may be some negligible 

impact on setting with the introduction of built form in views the north west but in my view 

this is offset by the benefits to the heritage assets from the open space proposals.

I recommend that any forthcoming consent provision is made to secure the preservation of 

archaeological remains in the area identified as an ‘Archaeological Exclusion Zone’. The 

area should be fenced off during construction works to avoid accidental damage and the 

details of how it will be preserved during landscaping works specifically agreed. This can be 

secured through an appropriately worded condition and I suggest the following wording:

No development shall take place until fencing has been erected around the area identified 

as an Archaeological Exclusion Zone on drawing XXXX, in a manner to be agreed with the 

Local Planning Authority. No development groundworks, landscaping or planting shall take 

place in the Archaeological Exclusion Zone without the consent of the Local Planning 

Authority.

Reason : To ensure that important archaeological remains are preserved in-situ in the 

development and not adversely affected by construction works.

Archaeological Investigation and Recording

Elsewhere on the site development works will likely impact on archaeological remains. The 

archaeological assessment, survey and evaluation has not identified any further remains that 

warrant preservation in-situ measures and I am satisfied that these can be mitigated through 

an appropriate scheme of archaeological investigation and recording. Such further 

archaeological works which will likely comprise a combination of strip, map and sample 

excavation and targeted watching brief works. This can be secured through the following 

condition for a programme of archaeological works:

AR1 No development shall take place until the applicant, or their agents or successors in 

title, has secured the implementation of a programme of archaeological work in accordance 

Page 175

Agenda Item 5
Annex 6



with a written specification and timetable which has been submitted to and approved by the 

Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure that features of archaeological interest are properly examined and 

recorded.

Interpretation

As mentioned in the submission there is an opportunity for interpretation of the archaeology 

of this site, in particular the Bronze Age barrows and early medieval cemetery and the 

former brickworks in the public open space areas of the development. It would be 

appropriate to require a scheme of interpretation through information boards as part of the 

development. I would recommend that a condition is included that secures an appropriate 

scheme of archaeological interpretation and suggest the following wording:

Prior to development a scheme of interpretation that includes information boards in public 

open space areas of the development should be agreed with the Local Planning Authority. 

The scheme should include the location for information boards, their content and timetable 

for their establishment. The interpretation boards will be established in accordance with the 

agreed scheme.

Reason: To ensure that the archaeological interest of the development site is appropriately 

interpreted and presented in the public realm.

KCC Highways: Thank you for your consultation in relation to the above outline planning 

application for the consideration of access. I have the following comments to make with 

respect to highway matters :-

Transport Assessment 

The Transport Assessment (TA) demonstrates that across the study area the proposed 

development will lead to both net reductions in traffic flows and additional traffic pressure, 

due to the redistribution of background traffic on the local highway network as a result of on-

site road infrastructure provision. This application includes the provision of key highway 

infrastructure required by the Thanet Transport Strategy (TTS), which supports the growth 

earmarked within the adopted Local Plan, namely two strategic link roads and new junctions 

appropriate to such, providing a valuable contribution towards the future capacity and 

resiliency of the local highway network. In time this infrastructure will help to on manage 

traffic pressure at the existing constrained junction of Coffin House Corner and along the 

busy A28 Corridor. The package of road interventions included within the TTS, are 

commonly referred to as the Inner Circuit Route Improvement Strategy (ICRIS). 

Conversely, as anticipated, the development is likely to lead to an increase in traffic 

movements on the Shottendane Road corridor, largely attributable to enabled through 

movements rather than new movements that are generated by site-specific trips. Therefore, 

it is appropriate for this application to be viewed within the context of the ICRIS, which in 

time will provide strategic improvements to this part of the network, increasing the capacity 

of this link and managing increases in traffic flows. As improvements come forward, there is 

Page 176

Agenda Item 5
Annex 6



likely to be a marked improvement to highway network resiliency that will benefit the whole 

District. 

This application must therefore be considered within the context of the emerging TTS. In this 

case we would not consider it appropriate to address all the residual impacts of the proposed 

development in every location, as this would fail to acknowledge the balance with benefits it 

offers to the network as the Local Plan growth is realised. 

It is worth noting that one potential area of interest that must be balanced is the impact of 

development on the Manston/Shottendane Road junction (which modelling outputs suggest 

will be under increased queueing and delay), although it should be further acknowledged 

that this junction forms part of the ICRIS and is therefore due to be upgraded in the future. 

Therefore, the most appropriate strategy would be to undertake a single improvement 

scheme that is compatible with the longer term, at an appropriate juncture. The Highway 

Authority would not consider it an efficient use of developer contributions to reactively make 

ad hoc improvements at this time. It would be more appropriate to employ such funds flexibly 

considering the network as a whole and support the emerging ICRIS.

Please note that this position will need to be reviewed as residual impacts of each strategic 

development site is considered throughout the lifetime of the current Local Plan and any 

subsequent review. It is important to highlight that the TA provides a robust assessment as it 

is modelled on the 550 homes in the original strategic allocation, not the maximum of 450 

now coming forward under this proposal and essentially represents a ‘worst-case scenario’ 

on which we can make a case for this site to support the Strategy to an appropriate degree. 

Taking the above in account, an appropriate Section 106 obligation in the form of a monetary 

contribution to the ICRIS would be necessary and appropriate in the view of the Highway 

Authority. We are confident that on balance, given the scale and nature of the development, 

the combination of and an appropriate contribution and the on-site infrastructure as offered 

constitutes suitable mitigation across the network for the proposed development. 

It would be essential in our view that any such contributions can be applied flexibly by the 

Highway Authority to effectively accommodate any changes in local circumstances over the 

timescale of the proposed development build-out. This acknowledges that the appropriate 

contributions from this development would support part of a larger framework of measures 

across the TTS and any ad-hoc improvements that may be required to mitigate the highway 

impacts, should future needs and residual impacts dictate. 

Masterplan 

Based on the plans submitted, we are satisfied with the alignment of the internal link roads 

and note that the applicant has offered additional land to assist in the provision of future 

highway improvement schemes in relation to the Inner Circuit Strategy. It is essential that the 

relevant land parcels within the application red line are secured through appropriate 

provisions within the Section 106 agreement, with the ability of the KCC as the Local 

Highway Authority to call upon these without charge, should external funding opportunities 

accelerate the delivery of on-site infrastructure (directly by KCC). 

Page 177

Agenda Item 5
Annex 6



We recommend that the location and form of pedestrian/cycle crossing points required by us 

along the link roads should be secured with any planning conditions. 

It will be necessary for the Section 106 agreement to include a requirement for all internal 

spine roads and associated junctions and infrastructure to be subject to a Section 38 

highway agreement. This is essential to secure the consistency and deliverability of the 

ICRIS in the future.

Phasing Plan 

The phasing plan has been resubmitted and now indicates that the complete link road 

between Manston Road and Hartsdown Road, including the roundabout on Shottendane 

Road is to be provided within the first two phases of development, meaning that the benefits 

attributable to the internal link road and this section of the ICRIS may be experienced earlier 

in the build-out of development. We would, however, recommend that a suitable housing 

trigger be negotiated through the Section 106 agreement for the delivery of the link road in a 

timely manner to mitigate the impact of development as these first phases build out. 

Site Accesses 

The Highway Authority is satisfied that suitable access points have been offered to serve this 

development and to accommodate the additional flows and types of vehicular traffic that will 

utilize this section of the ICRIS. The provision of new roundabout junctions on Manston and 

Shottendane Road, as well as the proposed priority junction with right-turn lane on 

Hartsdown Road have all been subject to a Stage 1 Road Safety Audit and addressed in the 

designer’s responses, which we are in agreement with. Matters which would be subject to 

detailed design under a S278 agreement have also been identified, in particular the final 

form of pedestrian/cycle facilities at these junctions. The Highway Authority require 

confirmation that the Local Planning Authority (LPA) are comfortable with this approach 

within the framework of the NPPF, which defines access as “accessibility to and within the 

site, for vehicles, cycles and pedestrians in terms of positioning and treatment of access and 

circulation routes and how these fit into the surrounding access network”. The views of the 

LPA in relation to this specific point would be welcomed. We require further flexibility through 

the Section 106 process to enable KCC Highways to progress this section of the ICRIS, 

along with the associated access junctions, in the event of an existing external funding bid 

(the Major Road Network fund) coming forward. 

We would further recommend that a parking restriction strategy for the new Hartsdown Road 

priority junction should be required by way of condition, to ensure that appropriate extents of 

a Traffic Regulation Order are agreed with the Highway Authority, in order to prevent 

significant displacement of parked vehicles associated with the nearby Margate Football 

ground on match days. 

Bus Access 

The site remains outside of the preferred maximum walking distance for public transport 

access (400m is the optimal walking distance for convenient access) and there are as of yet 

no clear proposals from the applicant to improve public transport accessibility. Therefore, in 

Page 178

Agenda Item 5
Annex 6



the short/medium term it is possible that the attractiveness of bus travel may be reduced. 

Whilst the walking distance to local bus stops is not the only factor that will have a bearing 

on bus patronage, it remains an extremely influential one. 

It is unlikely, given the limited scale of the development that local bus providers would be 

able to deliver a bespoke commercially sustainable service to this site, although in the longer 

term, delivery of the ICRIS will provide the opportunity for local bus services to be enhanced 

in relation to this site, in a more commercially sustainable way. On balance, taking the ICRIS 

into account, at this stage we do not consider that the less optimal bus access arrangements 

would objectionable on this occasion, however we would recommend that the Section 106 

agreement has the flexibility to spend the appropriate financial contribution on pump-priming 

bus services if it is viewed by us that such will mitigate the impact of the development, until 

such time as the ICRIS facilitates new commercially viable bus services.

Further to this, it is important that the future needs of bus stopping provision are considered 

within the internal link road arrangement and indicative future locations identified through an 

appropriately worded condition. 

Framework Travel Plan 

Generally, we are satisfied with the scope of the submitted framework, although we would 

welcome the inclusion of any additional measures to encourage modal shift away from the 

private car. Typically for larger housing developments sustainable measures such as electric 

cycle provision, cycle hire, car sharing schemes, electric pool cars, bus vouchers are 

considered, and we would welcome further input into the final agreed Travel Plan, the 

production of which can be attached by way of condition to any planning approval. 

Further to the previously stated Section 106 requests, we would further recommend the 

following matters are dealt with by appropriately worded conditions attached to any approval: 

-

 Submission of a Construction Management Plan before the commencement of any 

development on site to include the following: 

 Routing of construction and delivery vehicles to/from site 

 Parking and turning areas for construction and delivery vehicles and site personnel

 Timing of deliveries 

 Provision of wheel washing facilities 

 Temporary traffic management/signage 

 Any temporary access arrangements to the site for construction purposes. 

 Provision of measures to prevent the discharge of surface water onto the highway. 

 The proposed roads, footways, footpaths, verges, junctions, street lighting, sewers, 

drains, retaining walls, service routes, surface water outfall, vehicle overhang 

margins, embankments, visibility splays, accesses, carriageway gradients, driveway 

gradients, car parking, turning areas and street furniture and bus stops/borders to be 

laid out and constructed in accordance with details to be submitted to and approved 

by the Local Planning Authority. 

 Full design and geometrical details of the internal link road within the area of 

deviation allowed for within the parameter plans to be provided to the LPA and 

Page 179

Agenda Item 5
Annex 6



approved in writing prior to the commencement of the development. This should 

include pedestrian crossing provision and bus stop infrastructure where appropriate. 

 Completion of the following works between a dwelling and the adopted highway prior 

to first occupation of the dwelling, in accordance with details to be submitted to and 

approved by the Local Planning Authority: 

 Footways and/or footpaths, with the exception of the wearing course; (b) 

Carriageways, with the exception of the wearing course but including a turning 

facility, highway drainage, visibility splays, street lighting, street nameplates and 

highway structures (if any). 

 Provision of appropriate footway/cycleway links to the existing footway for each 

phase of the development in accordance with details to be submitted to and 

approved by the Local Planning Authority.

 The applicant is to submit a Parking Restriction Strategy, detailing the full extents of 

the proposed Traffic Regulation Order for double yellow lines on Hartsdown Road 

and the internal link road infrastructure, prior to the commencement of any works. 

This should consequently be agreed by the Highway Authority and progressed 

through the applicant's best endeavours. 

 Provision and permanent retention of secure, covered cycle parking facilities prior to 

the use of the site commencing in accordance with details to be submitted to and 

approved by the Local Planning Authority. 

 Provision and permanent retention of the vehicle parking spaces and/or garages in 

accordance with details to be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning 

Authority.

INFORMATIVE: It is the responsibility of the applicant to ensure, before the development 

hereby approved is commenced, that all necessary highway approvals and consents where 

required are obtained and that the limits of highway boundary are clearly established in order 

to avoid any enforcement action being taken by the Highway Authority. 

Across the county there are pieces of land next to private homes and gardens that do not 

look like roads or pavements but are actually part of the road. This is called ‘highway land’. 

Some of this land is owned by The Kent County Council (KCC) whilst some are owned by 

third party owners. Irrespective of the ownership, this land may have ‘highway rights’ over 

the topsoil. 

Information about how to clarify the highway boundary can be found at 

https://www.kent.gov.uk/roads-and-travel/what-we-look-after/highway-land/highway-

boundary-enquiries 

The applicant must also ensure that the details shown on the approved plans agree in every 

aspect with those approved under such legislation and common law. It is therefore important 

for the applicant to contact KCC Highways and Transportation to progress this aspect of the 

works prior to commencement on site.” 

Kent County  Council: The County Council has assessed the implications of this proposal 

in terms of the delivery of  its community services and is of the opinion that it will have an 

additional impact on the  delivery of its services, which will require mitigation either through 

the direct provision of  infrastructure or the payment of an appropriate financial contribution. 

Page 180

Agenda Item 5
Annex 6



The Planning Act 2008 and the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (the CIL  

Regulations) (Regulation 122) require that requests for development contributions of  various 

kinds must comply with three specific legal tests: 

1. Necessary, 

2. Related to the development, and  

3. Reasonably related in scale and kind 

These tests have been duly applied in the context of this planning application and give rise 

to  the following specific requirements.   

Secondary Education  - £5,176.00 per applicable house and £1294.00 per applicable flat.  

Towards the new Thanet Secondary School; 

Secondary Land - £1,511.11 per applicable house and £377.78 per applicable flat.  Towards 

the new Thanet secondary school land acquisition cost. 

Special Education Needs and Disability Schools - £1051.82 per applicable house and 

£262.96 per applicable flat.  Towards the expansion of existing special needs schools.  

(applicable housing excludes 1 bed units of less than 56sqm gross internal area and any 

sheltered accommodation).  

Community Learning - £16.42 per dwelling.  Total £7,389.00.  Towards additional classes 

and resources at Margate Adult Education Centre.  

Youth Service - £65.50 per dwelling.  Total £29,475.00.  Towards additional equipment and 

resources for Thanet youth Services. 

Libraries - £55.45 per dwelling.  Total £24,952.50.  Towards additional stock, services and 

equipment at Margate Library. 

Social Care - £146.88 per dwelling.  Total £66,096.00.  Towards specialist accommodation 

in Thanet.  All homes built as wheelchair accessible and adaptable dwellings in accordance 

with building regulations part M 4(2).  

Waste - £92.72 per dwelling.  Total £41,724.00.  Towards materials recovery facility and 

improvements at Margate Household Waste and Recycling Centre.  

Broadband - Condition: Before development commences details shall be submitted for  the 

installation of fixed telecommunication infrastructure and High-Speed Fibre Optic (minimal 

internal speed of 1000mb) connections to multi point  destinations and all buildings including 

residential, commercial and  community. The infrastructure installed in accordance with the 

approved  details during the construction of the development, capable of connection  to 

commercial broadband providers and maintained in accordance with  approved details. 

Reason: To provide high quality digital infrastructure in new  developments as required by 

paragraph 112 NPPF.

Kent Fire and Rescue: The off site access requirements of the Fire and Rescue Service 

have been met.  

Page 181

Agenda Item 5
Annex 6



Kent Police: We have reviewed this amended outline application with regard to Crime 

Prevention Through Environmental Design (CPTED) and in accordance with the National 

Planning Policy Framework (NPPF). 

The Applicants/agents have not yet consulted us as Designing out Crime Officers (DOCO’s) 

to address CPTED and incorporate Secured By Design (SBD) as appropriate. We use 

details of the site, relevant crime levels/type and intelligence information to help design out 

the opportunity for Crime, Fear of Crime, Anti-Social Behavior (ASB), Nuisance and Conflict.

There is a carbon cost for crime and new developments give an opportunity to address it. 

Using CPTED along with SBD guidance, policies and academic research would be evidence 

of the applicants’ efforts to design out the opportunity for crime.

We refer them to SBD Homes 2019 in order that they can produce a suitable Designing Out 

Crime Plan. The points in our previous response have not been addressed.

This is a significant site and therefore layout, permeability, lighting, parking and physical 

security must be addressed before Reserved Matters.

This information is provided by Kent Police DOCO’s and refers to situational crime 

prevention. This advice focuses on CPTED and Community Safety with regard to this 

specific planning application.

Kent and Medway Clinical Commissioning Group: NHS Kent and Medway Group (CCG) 

has delegated co-commissioning responsibility for general  practice services in Thanet Kent 

and is the body that reviews planning applications to assess the  direct impact on general 

practice.  

I refer to the above outline planning application which concerns the proposed residential  

development comprising up to 450 new dwellings. 

The CCG has assessed the implications of this proposal on delivery of general practice 

services  and is of the opinion that it will have a direct impact which will require mitigation 

through the  payment of an appropriate financial contribution.  

In line with the Planning Act 2008 and the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 

(the  CIL Regulations) (Regulation 122) requests for development contributions must comply 

with the  three specific legal tests: 

1. Necessary 

2. Related to the development  

3. Reasonably related in scale and kind 

We have applied these tests in relation to this planning application and can confirm the 

following  specific requirements.

General Practice  - Total chargeable units - 450.  Total £388,800.00.  Towards creating 

capacity at the Limes Medical Practice or within the Primary Care Network.  

This proposal will generate approximately 1080 new patient registrations when using an 

average  occupancy of 2.4 people per dwelling. The proposed development falls within the 

current practice  boundary of The Limes Medical Practice. 

Page 182

Agenda Item 5
Annex 6



There is currently limited capacity within existing general practice premises to accommodate  

growth in this area. The need from this development, along with other new developments, 

will  therefore need to be met through the creation of additional capacity in general practice 

premises.  Whilst it is not possible at this time to set out a specific premises project for this 

contribution we  can confirm that based on the current practice boundaries we would expect 

the contribution to be  utilised as set out above. Any premises plans will include the pooling 

of S106 contributions where  appropriate. 

General practice premises plans are kept under regular review as part of the GP Estates 

Strategy  and priorities are subject to change as the CCG must ensure appropriate general 

medical service  capacity is available as part of our commissioning responsibilities.  

Planning for growth in general practice is complex; physical infrastructure is one element but  

alongside this workforce is a critical consideration both in terms of new workforce 

requirements  and retirements. Any plans developed need to support delivery of sustainable 

services for the  future.  

In addition to the above we request that any agreement regarding a financial contribution: 

 Allows the contribution to be used towards new general practice premises in the area  

serving this population (should GP Estates Strategy identify future requirement) and 

not  just limited to the practices detailed above. 

 Allows the contribution to be used towards professional fees associated with 

feasibility or  development work for existing or new premises.  

 Supports the proactive development of premises capacity with the trigger of any  

healthcare contribution being available linked to commencement or at an early stage 

of  development.  

The CCG is of the view that the above complies with the CIL regulations and is necessary in  

order to mitigate the impacts of the proposal on the provision of general practice services.  

TDC Planning Policy: It is noted that the application provides for less than the housing 

capacity identified in the Local Plan, under Policy SP21.  There are two points I would make 

about this:

Firstly, the housing numbers set out in the Local Plan are necessarily estimates based on 

anticipated land take of dwellings (including estimates of development densities); other built 

elements of the scheme; infrastructure and open space, and so on. Inevitably, some sites 

will accommodate more dwellings and some less than the estimated capacities set out in the 

Local Plan, but usually this will balance out over the Plan period.  

Secondly, in the case of this site, one of the primary reasons for its allocation was that it 

plays a key role in helping to deliver the wider Inner Circuit (the new inner relief road that 

seeks to reduce pressure on the existing urban road network)(Policy SP47). Because of the 

nature and topography of the site, the provision of the new road links appears to have 

impacted on the capacity of the site, but the delivery of these road links is critical to the 

functioning of the Inner Circuit.

As long as there is no reasonable means of increasing the level of housing provision at the 

site, I do not consider this to be an issue that should alter the in-principle policy position in 

relation to the site.

I also note that the application provides a level of affordable housing that does not meet the 

normal policy requirement for new development.  This is obviously regrettable, but as set out 

above, the priority provision to be made on this site is new road links, and I am also aware 

that there are other significant calls on contributions and obligations for this site.

Page 183

Agenda Item 5
Annex 6



I am not in a position to comment in detail on the submitted viability assessment, but if it has 

been independently verified, then I think we would have to accept this on this occasion.

TDC Conservation Officer: “The land on the North West and South East side of 

Shottendane Road is currently an undeveloped green field site which was allocated for 

housing through strategic local planning policies. Nearby to the site there are numerous 

listed properties ranging from Grade II* to Grade I, with the closest assets being 

Shottendane Farmhouse as well as numerous listed assets incorporated into Margate 

Cemetery Site at varying distances around 1.5km from the site.

Thanets adopted Local Plan, policy HE02, states within Section 7 ‘The character, scale and 

plan form of the original building are respected and the development is subordinate to it and 

does not dominate principal elevations.’ As well as Section 8 which states ‘Appropriate 

materials and detailing are proposed and the development would not result in the loss of 

features that contribute to the character or appearance of the [conservation] area. New 

development which would detract from the immediate or wider landscape setting of any part 

of a conservation area will not be permitted.’ 

Additionally under the Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas Act 1990, Section 16 

Paragraph 2, In considering whether to grant listed building consent for any works the local 

planning authority or the Secretary of State shall have special regard to the desirability of 

preserving the building or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic 

interest which it possesses. As well as Section 66 Paragraph 1 which states when 

considering whether to grant planning permission for development which affects a listed 

building or its setting, the local planning authority shall have special regard to the desirability 

of preserving the building or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic 

interest which it possesses.

Reviewing the outline application which has been submitted it is evident that an attempt has 

been made to create visual as well as physical barriers between the development proposed 

and the heritage assets within close proximity of the site. 

Shottendane Farmhouse, at present exists, secluded amongst its site and largely 

encompassed by other typical smaller scale ‘farm buildings’ and general paraphernalia as 

well as large amounts of vegetation and landscaping. This application looks to retain such 

vegetation whilst stepping back the proposed development physically from the listed 

property by orienting the proposed so that the gardens back onto the existing tree line. In 

principle I believe this positioning of the properties is an acceptable distance from the 

heritage asset whilst not directly negatively impacting its setting. 

Margate Cemetery  encompasses 11 different listed assets and structures within its grounds. 

The closest of which to the proposed development sits as an access gate from Shottendane 

Road and is a set of historic gates affronting the cemetery listed in 2003. Due to the 

presence of this asset the development has responded by setting back quite considerably 

the proposed scheme as detailed in their design access and heritage statement as ‘out of 

respect for the cemetery and its heritage assets’. It instead proposes to utilise the space for 

new landscaping reflective of that that already exists in the area as well as lining of 

Shottendane Road. This boundary keeping and clear separation from the heritage assets is 

Page 184

Agenda Item 5
Annex 6



a sympathetic approach to the constraints of the site and one I believe to be respectful of 

their setting and character.  

Noted within the design access and heritage statement that the site is known to have a high 

level of archaeological remains, including Iron Age Finds, as well as two barrows and 

prehistoric remains all found at varying locations. Should this application be approved then I 

believe an archaeological watching brief should be carried out whilst excavations are 

underway. Under the NPPF National Guidance section 189 it states ‘As a minimum the 

relevant historic environment record should have been consulted and the heritage assets 

assessed using appropriate expertise where necessary. Where a site on which development 

is proposed includes, or has the potential to include, heritage assets with archaeological 

interest, local planning authorities should require developers to submit an appropriate desk-

based assessment and, where necessary, a field evaluation.’ I appreciate that an 

assessment has taken place as part of this outline application and if areas of archaeological 

interest are impacted by proposed works further field assessments should be undertaken.

Looking at the proposed building heights, although they are not being defined by this 

application, I can acknowledge that it has been proposed through their design to lessen their 

impact to the heritage assets through their gradual increase towards the centre of the site, 

away from the listed assets. However I would further encourage that this is in fact 

implemented when the style and scale of the proposed dwellings is configured, should this

application be approved, and that where possible all impacting properties, in close proximity 

to the heritage assets, should be retained at no taller than 2 storeys. I note in particular the 

section close to the East of Area A, as per figure 5.9 of the Design and Access Statement 

which extends upward to a 3 storey building. Foreseeing the design of properties, although 

also not applicable under an outline application, I would advise that they are somewhat 

reflective of the historic character found prevalent throughout Margate and referenced within 

the Design Access and Heritage Statement. 

There will of course be an adjustment in the sense of openness and agricultural character of 

the area around the site if this application was to be approved. However through review of 

the proposal and as aforementioned above I believe this to have a less than significant 

impact to that of the setting of the multiple heritage assets by nature of the developments 

orientation and stepping in of the siting of proposed dwellings. By nature of the size of this 

proposal there will of course be some harm caused however not that of a level to the 

detriment of the historical character and appearance of the surrounding environment, for 

these reasons I do not object to this application or the work proposed.”

TDC Housing: As per Thanet District Council's Local Plan (adopted July 2020), SP23 

requires residential schemes of 10 or more units to provide 30% of the dwellings as 

affordable housing, including extra care facilities falling under the Use Class C3. To be policy 

compliant, a contribution of 30% affordable housing (AH) across the 450 units (whole site) is 

required. The 30% AH shall be split 70% Affordable Rent (AR) and 30% Shared Ownership 

(SO) which equates to 135no. AH units - split 94no. AR and 31no. SO. However, the exact 

tenure can be confirmed during the course of the application process.

Upon review of the submitted Planning Statement (Nov 2020), the level of affordable 

housing proposed does not align with the above policy. Therefore,

Page 185

Agenda Item 5
Annex 6



it is strongly recommended that the viability appraisal is assessed by an independent 3rd 

party viability assessor.

TDC Environmental Health: Environmental Statement - Chapter 11 Air Quality 

Assessment.  The assessment has been carried out in accordance with Defra’s Technical 

Guidance LAQM TG(16) and the conclusions that operational impacts are negligible are 

accepted. However, the site will also require that an

Emissions Mitigation assessment is undertaken and offsetting measures incorporated into 

the development. I understand that dwellings will be fitted with low NoOx boilers but must 

also incorporate Electric Vehicle charging

points. A construction management plan must also include measures to minimise dust and 

noise nuisance.

The following conditions are suggested:

STANDARD AIR QUALITY MITIGATION

Residential of 10 or more units:

All gas-fired boilers to meet a minimum standard of <40mgNOx/kWh

1 Electric Vehicle charging point per dwelling with dedicated / allocated parking or 1 charging 

point per 10 spaces (unallocated parking) 

EV Charger details to be provided:

Prior to the erection of the building(s) hereby approved, written and illustrative details of the 

number, type and location of Electric vehicle charging points (EVCP) shall be submitted to 

and approved in writing by the local planning authority before any of the units are first 

brought into use. The EVCP shall be maintained and kept in good working order thereafter 

as specified by the manufacturer.

EMISSIONS MITIGATION ASSESSMENT 

Prior to the commencement of the development hereby permitted, an Emissions Mitigation 

Assessment in accordance with Thanet District Council’s Air Quality Technical Planning 

Guidance shall be submitted and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 

Emissions Mitigation Assessment shall include a damage cost assessment that uses the 

DEFRA emissions factor toolkit and should include details of mitigation to be

included in the development which will reduce the emissions from the development during 

construction and when in operation. All works, which form part of the approved scheme, 

shall be completed before any part of the

development is occupied and shall thereafter be maintained in accordance with the 

approved details.

EMISSIONS STATEMENT

Prior to the first use of the development hereby permitted, an air quality Emissions 

Statement that provides details of how the air quality damage costs, as calculated within the 

Emission Mitigation Assessment reference [ ]

dated [ ], are to be used to achieve air quality improvements through the development, shall 

be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development 

shall be carried out in accordance with

the approved details.

Page 186

Agenda Item 5
Annex 6



CONSTRUCTION ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT PLAN

Prior to the commencement of the development a Construction Environmental Management 

Plan (CEMP) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

The Construction Environmental

Management Plan shall include amongst other matters details of: hours of construction 

working; measures to control noise affecting nearby residents; wheel cleaning/chassis 

cleaning facilities; dust control measures; lighting control measures; pollution incident control 

and site contact details in case of complaints. The construction works shall thereafter be 

carried out at all times in accordance with the approved Construction Environmental

Management Plan, unless any variations are otherwise first submitted to and approved in 

writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

TDC Contamination: It appears that the assessment of the land undertaken to date only 

relates to 'agricultural land'. Our historic mapping database indicates that there is an old 

brick field (date of mapping: 1834-1893) to the South of Shottendane Farm, within the 

application area (see attached); and a cemetery or graveyard in close proximity to the East 

of the development. 

As such, the assessment of the land quality must include surveys of potential contaminative 

features of concern; including a preliminary risk assessment of potential impacts on new 

residential receptors and sensitive groundwater resources from identified sources. Further 

intrusive investigation may also be required to confirm the existence of complete pollutant 

linkages associated with these former/current land uses.

This information can be secured via planning condition.  

COMMENTS

The application has been called to Planning Committee by Cllr Candy Gregory on the 

grounds of loss of farmland, highway safety and capacity issues, impact on community 

facilities and flood risk.

Principle

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that all planning 

applications must be determined in accordance with the Development Plan unless material 

considerations indicate otherwise.  

The application site is non previously developed land, but within the settlement as defined by 

the Thanet Local Plan 2020. Policy SP01 of the Local Plan (Spatial Strategy - Housing) 

states that the primary focus for new housing development in Thanet is the urban area.  

Policy H01 (Housing Development) states that permission for new housing development will 

be granted on sites allocated for this purpose and on non allocated sites within the confines 

of the urban area and villages.  The application site is a Strategic Allocation within the Local 

Plan under policy SP21 - Land north and south of Shottendane Road.  The wording of this 

policy is set out in full below:  

Page 187

Agenda Item 5
Annex 6



“Land is allocated for up to 300 dwellings at land north of Shottendane Road, and up to 250 

dwellings at land south of Shottendane Road, with an approximate average density of 35 

dwellings per hectare net. 

Proposals will be judged and permitted only in accordance with a Masterplan for the whole 

site which should include: 

1) a minimum of 4.4 ha of open space – this may be spread over both sites but must be 

readily accessible to both sites; 

2) linkages to new and existing public transport infrastructure, including bus and rail 

services; 

3) a local distributor link road between Shottendane Road and Manston Road, including new 

roundabouts on Shottendane Road and Manston Road and a new junction with Hartsdown 

Road; 

4) the reconfiguration of the Coffin House Corner signal controlled junction and the Manston 

Road and Shottendane Road junction; 

5) Provision for the retention and/or upgrading of designated footpath TM14; 

6) a proportionate contribution to necessary off-site highway improvements in accordance 

with Policy SP47. 

Masterplanning will be informed by and address: 

1) pedestrian and cycle access between the two sites; 

2) appropriate landscape treatment in order to provide an appropriate transition between the 

development and the adjacent open countryside; 

3) A Heritage Impact Assessment to assess effects on St Johns Cemetery and 

sites/memorials within it and consideration of the setting of Shottendane Farm House; 

4) an assessment of potential implications of policies CSW16 and DM8 of the Kent Minerals 

and Waste Local Plan (or subsequent revision) and the need (if any) to mitigate any potential 

impacts on waste management capacity;

5) the capacity of any utility services and infrastructure and any need (and provision of) 

improved or additional infrastructure (as may be advised or reasonably required by service 

providers). 

All development proposals must be planned and implemented in a coordinated manner and 

accompanied by an infrastructure delivery and phasing plan. 

Proposals will be accompanied by a Transport Assessment which shall:

1) assess the impact of development on the local road network;

2) identify measures to promote multi-modal access, including footway and cycleway 

connections, an extended bus service accessible to the residential development and rail 

linkages.” 

Given the site’s allocation within the Local Plan, the development of the site for residential 

development is acceptable in principle subject to the criteria within the policy being met, 

which will be assessed within this report.  

It is noted that the policy proposes 550 dwellings on the site (300 dwellings to the north of 

Shottendane Road and 250 to its south) and the application before us for consideration 

application proposes a total of 450 dwellings.  The applicants advise that the reduction in the 

Page 188

Agenda Item 5
Annex 6



number of units proposed has followed an iterative design process that has taken account of 

relevant policy, opportunities, and constraints (including technical constraints), as well as the 

surrounding landscape context, to allow the site to accommodate the expectations of the 

relevant allocation policy 

The Council’s Policy Team have considered this reduction in numbers and advises that the 

housing numbers set out in the Local Plan are necessarily estimates based on factors such 

as anticipated land take of dwellings (including estimates of development densities); other 

built elements of the scheme; infrastructure and open space.  Inevitably, some sites will 

accommodate more dwellings and some less than the estimated capacities set out in the 

Local Plan, but usually this will balance out over the Plan period.  In the case of this site, it is 

agreed that one of the primary reasons for its allocation was that it plays a key role in helping 

to deliver the wider Inner Circuit (the new inner relief road that seeks to reduce pressure on 

the existing urban road network)(Policy SP47). Specific factors have been demonstrated by 

the applicant to impact the capacity of the site, due to the nature and topography of the site 

and the provision of the new road links. On this basis the reduction in the number of 

proposed dwellings from the allocation is considered appropriate when balanced against the 

delivery of critical road links and the drainage requirements of development on this site. 

Therefore, there is no in principle objection to this reduced provision of dwellings.

Loss of Agricultural Land 

The NPPF states where significant development of agricultural land is demonstrated to be 

necessary, areas of poorer quality land should be preferred to those of a higher quality.  It is 

noted that the glossary of the NPPF defines best and most versatile land as land in grades 

1, 2 and 3a of the Agricultural Land Classification.  

Policy E16 of the Local Plan relates to best and most versatile agricultural land and states 

“Except on sites allocated for development by virtue of other policies in this Plan, planning 

permission will not be granted for significant development which would result in the 

irreversible loss of best and most versatile agricultural land unless it can be clearly 

demonstrated that: 1) the benefits of the proposed development outweigh the harm resulting 

from the loss of agricultural land, 2) there are no otherwise suitable sites of poorer 

agricultural quality that can accommodate the development, and 3) the development will not 

result in the remainder of the agricultural holding becoming not viable or lead to likely 

accumulated and significant losses of high quality agricultural land.”

The application site comprises undeveloped greenfield land, still actively in use for 

agricultural purposes.  A series of soil tests were undertaken by the applicants and confirms 

that 50% of the site is grade 3a, 49% grade 3b and 1% non agricultural.  Given this only 50% 

of the application site comprises best and most versatile agricultural land.  The site is a 

Strategic Allocation for residential development in the Local Plan where the loss of 

agricultural land has been considered and weighed against the need for housing through the 

policy process. Therefore policy E16 does not apply to this proposal, and the general 

presumption to safeguard best and most versatile agricultural land does not apply to this 

site. 

Page 189

Agenda Item 5
Annex 6



Phasing and Timing

The applicant has indicated in their submitted documents and phasing parameter plan that 

they intend to deliver the development in four phases.  Phase 1A would be to the north west 

part of the site (essentially an L-shaped area running from Hartsdown Road to adjacent to 

Firbank Gardens to the south) and would include the new roundabout on Shottendane road.  

Phase 1B would be the majority of land to the east of Shottendane Road and would include 

a new roundabout on Manston Road.  Two smaller phases 2 and 3 are then proposed.  

Phase 2 being the north eastern area of the application and phase 3 straddling Shottendane 

Road to the east of the application site.  

Officers consider that the proposed phasing plan is acceptable in that it would allow for the 

development of highways infrastructure internally to serve the new development as 

construction increases.  It is considered appropriate to impose a condition to secure the 

phasing of the development in this manner. 

The applicant has requested that if permission is granted that 5 years in total should be 

provided for which all applications for the approval of reserved matters must be made (with 

the first reserve matters within 3 years following approval), rather than the statutory 3 years 

for all submissions. Given the number of units proposed, to provide flexibility within the 

current economic circumstances and the potential interdependence with highways funding 

(discussed below in the Planning Obligations section), that in the event that permission is 

granted 5 years for submission of reserved matters applications would be appropriate in 

accordance with Section 92 (4) of the Town and Country Planning Act.

Mix and Type of Units

The application is in outline form and, therefore, the exact unit sizes or types are not being 

agreed at this stage.  Policy SP22 (Type and Size of Dwelling) states that proposals for 

housing development will be expected to provide an appropriate mix of market and 

affordable housing types and sizes having regard to the SHMA recommendations as may be 

reviewed or superseded. The Council will encourage proposals for residential development 

to incorporate a higher ratio of houses to flats.  Given the application is at outline stage, the 

submission does not fix the detail of the mix and type of unit to be provided, and this would 

need to come forward as part of the reserved matters application.   Given the size of the 

application site, it is considered that the application would be able to meet the requirements 

of Policy SP22 in providing a mix of size and type of dwellings.  

Policy QD05 of the Local Plan sets out the Council's policy in regard to accessible and 

adaptable accommodation, with-10% of new build developments will be expected to be built 

in compliance with building regulation part M4(2)  (accessible and adaptable) and within any 

affordable provision, 5% should be wheelchair accessible homes complying with building 

regulations part M4 (3) (wheelchair user). This would be conditioned to be provided within 

any subsequent reserved matters applications.

Character and Appearance

Page 190

Agenda Item 5
Annex 6



Paragraph 127 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states decisions should 

ensure that developments will function well and add to the overall quality of the area, are 

visually attractive as a result of good architecture, layout and appropriate and effective 

landscaping, sympathetic to local character and history, establish or maintain a strong sense 

of place, and optimise the potential of the site to accommodate and sustain an appropriate 

amount and mix of development and create places that are safe, inclusive and accessible. 

Whilst Paragraph 170 of the NPPF stipulates that the planning system should contribute to 

and enhance the natural and local environment by, amongst other things, protecting and 

enhancing valued landscapes. The Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) states where 

appropriate, Landscape Character Assessments should be prepared to complement Natural 

England's National Character Area profiles. Landscape Character Assessment is a tool to 

help understand the character and local distinctiveness of the landscape and identify the 

features that give it a sense of place.

Policy QD02 of the Thanet Local Plan outlines that the primary aim of new development is to 

promote or reinforce local character and provide high quality and inclusive design that is 

sustainable in all other respects. Proposals should therefore relate to surrounding 

development, form and layout, be well designed, pay particular attention to context and 

identity of location, scale, massing, rhythm, density, layout and materials, and be compatible 

with neighbouring buildings and spaces. Any external spaces and landscape features should 

be designed as an integral part of the scheme. 

The site lies within the Undulating Chalk Farmland Character Area, which is characterised as 

a particular landscape feature in Thanet and consists of four landscape character areas: C1: 

St Nicholas-at-Wade Undulating Farmland, C2: Central Thanet Undulating Farmland; C3: St 

Peter's Undulating Farmland; and C4: Newlands Farm.  The application site is C2 - Central 

Thanet undulating Farmland.  Some of these character areas are important for their long 

distant views to the marshes and sea while in others the agricultural land performs a 

settlement separation function. These areas of high quality agricultural land are of value for 

farmland and roosting coastal birds. The openness and undeveloped character of the 

farmland contributes to the essentially rural character and relatively dark skies.    

Policy SP26 of the Thanet Local Plan states that development proposals should 

demonstrate how they respect and respond to the character, key sensitivities, qualities and 

guidelines of the relevant landscape character areas, as detailed in the Landscape 

Character Assessment (LCA), and that all development should seek to avoid skyline 

intrusion and the loss or interruption of long views of the coast and the sea.

A Landscape and Visual Impact Appraisal has been submitted with the application. The site 

is broadly representative of the wider landscape which, as described in the local landscape 

character assessment, is open, large scale farmland which intensively farmed and has few 

hedgerows and vegetation along the field boundaries.  The character of the site is influenced 

by stark urban edges, nearby residential edges and busy roads and is separated from the 

wider arable landscape by the cluster of built form to the immediate southwest.  The level of 

hedgerow vegetation on some of the field boundaries, together with the adjacent built up 

area and undulating landform of the wider landscape, mean that views of the site are 

generally contained to the neighbouring areas.  There are some middle and longer distance 

partial views available from vantage points to the southwest.  These views are generally 

Page 191

Agenda Item 5
Annex 6



limited to within 1.5 to 2km of the site, with intervening land form and field boundary 

vegetation preventing views from further afield.  The development will result in the loss of 

arable farmland and this is considered to be a significant effect upon the landscape 

character of the site during construction and immediately following construction.  However 

hedgerow, tree and wildflower meadow planting enhancement is proposed within the 

landscape strategy plan around all edges of the site , which will mitigate the effects on the 

wider landscape character by breaking up views of the proposed development with structural 

planting.   

Given the proximity to the site, receptors such as Shottendane Road, Manston Road, the 

residential properties on Manston Road, Firbank Gardens, Sycamore Close and 

Shottendane Farm and the residential property at St John’s Cemetery are likely to 

experience views of construction activities and of the proposed development following 

construction. Given that currently the site is open farmland, the proposed change to 

residential on this allocated housing site would inevitably result in landscape change from 

adjoining roads. In the applicant’s Landscape visual impact assessment, the effects of these 

views are considered to be significant, however with the proposed planting this will reduce 

landscape harm from the development.  It is considered that the establishment of mitigation 

planting will reduce the majority of visual impacts to avoid significant harm to the landscape 

character areas.  However, given the proximity of public footpaths TM14 (on the southern 

boundary), TM12 (alongside the Cricket Club) and TM13 (a short distance west of the site) 

to the site, significant visual effects of local significance will be experienced.  

Overall, it is considered that the proposal would have a noticeable visual impact from the 

change of use of the site from arable to residential, but that the most noticeable impact 

would be during the construction phases and immediately following them with the impact of 

the development being mitigated overtime by maturing of landscaping with the site and to its 

edges.  It is also noted that long distance views of the site are limited due to the intervening 

built form, established landscape boundaries and the undulating topography of the 

surrounding area, but that there would be significant views from public vantage points such 

as footpaths adjoining/in close proximity to the site, although these will be mitigated to some 

extent when planting becomes established.  On the whole it is considered that given the 

above, there would be limited impact upon the skyline, and long distance views across the 

site would be limited by landscaping to the edges of the application site and throughout the 

development along with the low density nature of the proposed development. The impact 

upon the Landscape Character Area from the development of the site is therefore 

considered to be acceptable.   

The assessment has taken into account the opportunities and constraints of the area, along 

with a sensitive design approach, to create a landscape strategy for the site, which proposes 

to limit harm to the setting of the site, and the views from the surrounding area. The strategy 

seeks to create a landscaping buffer along the boundaries of the site, strengthening 

boundary vegetation with native species that also benefit biodiversity; retain and connect 

onto existing footpath/bridleway/cycle links; create features as part of the surface water 

management scheme;  provide public open spaces, and other tree/hedgerow planting within 

the site to enhance the landscape setting of the site; along with other ecological 

enhancements. This strategy is supported, and it is therefore recommended that the 

Page 192

Agenda Item 5
Annex 6



landscaping scheme submitted with any future reserved matters application be based upon 

these landscape strategy principles. 

The proposed development is therefore considered to comply with Policy SP26 of the 

Thanet Local Plan, and paragraph 170 of the NPPF.  

Design, layout and density

The application site comprises agricultural land to the north and south of Shottendane Road 

with vehicular access points proposed from Shottendane Road, Manston Road and 

Hartsdown Road.  There is some existing residential development and other development 

bordering/and or in fairly close proximity to the application site so the development of the site 

for residential would appear in keeping with the surrounding character of the area. 

The application is in outline with all matters reserved except for access. Consequently 

details of the proposed appearance, layout and scale of the residential development are not 

for consideration at this stage. An illustrative masterplan has been provided to demonstrate 

that the proposed numbers of dwellings, open space and accompanying infrastructure can fit 

within the site. The application has also been supported by a number of parameter plans 

which show building heights, green infrastructure, phasing and the proposed land uses 

across the site. 

The application site as a whole measures some 19.5 hectares in total, with some 6.3 

hectares of the site to be open space/green infrastructure which would leave a developable 

area of some 13.2 hectares.  Up to 450 dwellings are proposed within this application, so 

this would give a gross density of some 23 dwellings per hectare (dph) and a  net density of 

some 34 dwellings per hectare on the developable area of the application site.  Whilst it is 

noted that these densities are lower than the approximate average density of 35 dwellings 

per hectare set out in the policy, this is due to the fact that a lower number of dwellings is 

proposed than within the allocation.  It is not considered that the proposal makes inefficient 

use of the application site and this matter has been considered earlier in this report.  It is 

considered that these densities would be sympathetic to the open rural character and setting 

of the surrounding area. The illustrative masterplan shows that at a density of 23 dph, areas 

of open space can be achieved to the north and south of the site, together with landscaped 

buffers to the edges of the application site and areas of informal open space and play 

provision provided within the developable area. This low density provision will therefore 

enable a good quality form of development to be achieved within the site, with many soft 

landscaping enhancements. 

The roads surrounding the development contain a mix of styles of buildings including 

detached, semi detached and terraced properties.  Given the size of the application site it is 

considered that a variety of building types could be achieved across the site, including 

terraced, semi-detached and detached units, and potentially some flatted development. The 

different unit types could be spread across the site preventing a concentration of any 

particular unit type within a single area. As such, it is considered that the space within the 

site would allow for a development to come forward through reserved matters that provides a 

range of unit types in keeping with the surrounding pattern of development. For this reason it 

Page 193

Agenda Item 5
Annex 6



is not considered that any future development is likely to cause harm to the character and 

appearance of the area, subject to detailed design at reserved matter stage. 

Building Heights

No details on house designs have been provided at this stage. The parameter plans show 

that the proposed development would predominantly take the form of two storey dwellings 

with some areas of the site having some higher buildings (2 and half storey with some 

limited 3 storey buildings).  These areas are to the middle of the site and around the main 

road links through the site.  

Officers consider that this approach would reflect the scale and pattern of existing 

development in the local area and is considered appropriate. Building heights would be 

controlled through planning conditions in relation to the heights parameter plan which 

reflects the design and access statement, in order that any reserved matters application 

must accord with these design principles.

Green Infrastructure

Policy GI04 of the Thanet Local Plan requires that new residential development make 

provision for appropriate amenity green space and equipped play areas to meet the 

standards set in tables 10, 11 and 12 within the policy. In this instance, given that the 

development proposes some 450 residential units, there would be a requirement for the 

development to provide Local Areas of Play, Local Equipped Areas of Play, Multi Use 

Games Area and a contribution towards a Neighbourhood Equipped Area for play (NEAP). 

Policy SP21 states that the allocated scheme should provide a minimum of 4.4 hectares of 

open space which may be spread over both sites (north and south of Shottendane Road) but 

must be readily accessible to both sites.  

The proposal is for 450 no. units, resulting in a predicted population of 1080 (based on a 

predicted occupancy of 2.4 people per dwelling). Using this figure, the following open space 

provision within the site is required (under table 12 of the Local Plan): 0.6 hectares of 

amenity green; 0.25 hectares of children’s playspace; 1.8 hectares of semi-natural 

greenspace; and 0.2 hectares of allotment space. The green infrastructure will be an 

important part of a successful scheme given that the site adjoins the open countryside. The 

submitted plans indicate a linear park within the northern part of the site which would be 

semi rural in character to help integrate the proposed development with the open 

countryside beyond.  A network of green corridors spread throughout the site allowing for 

informal play areas and 2 equipped play areas (one located centrally within the site and 1 in 

an area of open space adjacent to Manston Road).  An archaeological exclusion zone, which 

can be used for landscaping purposes only is also proposed to the south of the application 

site. Whilst allotments have not been shown on the proposed landscape strategy plan, the 

extent of open space would allow for the provision of a policy compliant amount within the 

larger areas.  

In all, the proposed development would provide some 6.3 hectares of formal and informal 

open space which would exceed the 4.4 hectares of open space required within the 

Page 194

Agenda Item 5
Annex 6



allocation. The parameter plans submitted show the open space to be distributed throughout 

the site and accessible to future occupiers of both sides of the site (north and south) as 

required by Policy SP21, as well as surrounding residents, with local equipped areas of play 

located on each parcel of land ensuring sufficient distribution for new residents. 

On the basis that the number of units proposed can be achieved alongside the necessary 

open space requirements, the proposed development is considered to comply with Policy 

GI04 of the Thanet Local Plan. Planning conditions seeking details of the open space 

specification and a landscape management plan  prior to the commencement of each phase 

are recommended to be imposed in line with local policies. Details of long term maintenance 

arrangements for all open space is required to be provided and would be secured through 

the associated Section 106 agreement. 

An arboricultural impact assessment has been carried out in relation to the site and its 

surroundings. 24 individual trees, 27 groups and 9 sets of hedgerows were assessed 

predominantly as category B trees, meaning moderate quality where retention is desirable. 

The proposal highway access proposals including the realignment of Shottendane Road and 

the new roundabout, fundamental for residential development of the allocation, results in the 

loss of 6 individual trees, 11 groups and one hedgerow. However the proposal would provide 

the potential for a significant increase in tree cover on the site, mitigating the loss and 

providing enhancement through new tree and hedgerow planting on the boundaries of the 

site, along the link road and Shottendane Road, planting within the linear park and open 

space (with indicative species provided on the Landscape Strategy Plan) whilst protecting 

existing trees on adjacent site including those subject to Tree Preservation Orders on 

Margate Cricket Club. Overall the proposal will be able to provide net arboricultural gain 

across the site whilst providing an appropriate balance between development requirements 

and retention of trees, in accordance with the principles of Policy GI06 of the Thanet Local 

Plan.

Impact upon designated heritage assets

Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 requires 

decision makers in assessing application for planning permission which affects a listed 

building or its setting, to pay special attention to the desirability of preserving or enhancing 

the building or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest which it 

possesses. The NPPF 2019 states that when considering the impact of a proposed 

development on the significance of a designated heritage asset; great weight should be 

given to the asset’s conservation.  This is irrespective of whether any potential harm 

amounts to substantial harm, total loss or less than substantial harm to its significance 

(paragraph 193).  The NPPF goes on to state in paragraph 196 states that where a 

development proposal would lead to less than substantial harm to the significance of a 

designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed against the public benefits of the 

proposal, including where appropriate, securing its optimum viable use.  HE02 states that 

within conservation areas, development proposals which preserve or enhance the character 

or appearance of the area will be permitted and states that where proposals are for 

extensions that they will be granted where The character, scale and plan form of the original 

building are respected and the extension is subordinate to it and does not dominate principal 

elevations, 8) Appropriate materials and detailing are proposed and the extension would not 

Page 195

Agenda Item 5
Annex 6



result in the loss of features that contribute to the character or appearance of the 

conservation area. 

The impact of the proposed development on nearby heritage assets were assessed within 

the Environmental Statement (ES) which accompanied the application and included a 

Heritage Assessment.  It identified that the proposal would affect four heritage assets - St 

John's Cemetery (which is a non designated heritage asset, but has grade II listed gates and 

gate piers), Shottendane Farmhouse  (grade II listed), Railway convalescent Home (Grade 

II) and Church of St John the Baptist (grade I).  The Heritage Assessment concludes that the 

development of the site “would potentially result in some limited, negligible (less than 

substantial), harm to the Grade II listed Gates and Gatepiers at St John’s Cemetery, and 

negligible harm to the significance of the non-designated cemetery as a whole. Development 

would not adversely impact the significance of listed buildings in the interior of the cemetery 

including two Grade II listed chapels, a Grade II listed war memorial, and Grade II* and 

Grade II listed tombs.  Development would alter agricultural land in close proximity of the 

Grade II listed Shottendane Farmhouse to open space and built form. This would potentially 

result in less than substantial harm to the significance of the farmhouse, towards the lower 

end of this harm spectrum. Any harm to the Grade II listed Railway Convalescent Home 

(also known as Shottendane Nursing Home) would be de minimis.  Taking into account

current design proposals, development would not adversely impact the significance of the 

Grade I listed Church of St John the Baptist. Development would not adversely impact any 

other designated heritage assets in the wider area.” 

Both Historic England and the Council’s Conservation Officer have reviewed the application.  

Historic England have advised that they do not wish to provide detailed comment on the 

application and that advice should be taken from the local Conservation Officer.  The 

Conservation Officer acknowledges that the proposed development has sought to create 

visual as well as physical barriers between it and the heritage assets within close proximity 

of the site commenting that:  

“Shottendane Farmhouse, at present exists, secluded amongst its site and largely 

encompassed by other typical smaller scale ‘farm buildings’ and general paraphernalia as 

well as large amounts of vegetation and landscaping. This application looks to retain such 

vegetation whilst stepping back the proposed development physically from the listed 

property by orienting the proposed so that the gardens back onto the existing tree line. In 

principle I believe this positioning of the properties is an acceptable distance from the 

heritage asset whilst not directly negatively impacting its setting. Margate Cemetery  

encompasses 11 different listed assets and structures within its grounds. The closest of 

which to the proposed development sits as an access gate from Shottendane Road and is a 

set of historic gates affronting the cemetery listed in 2003. Due to the presence of this asset 

the development has responded by setting back quite considerably the proposed scheme as 

detailed in their design access and heritage statement as ‘out of respect for the cemetery 

and its heritage assets’. It instead proposes to utilise the space for new landscaping 

reflective of that that already exists in the area as well as lining of Shottendane Road. This 

boundary keeping and clear separation from the heritage assets is a sympathetic approach 

to the constraints of the site and one I believe to be respectful of their setting and character.”

Page 196

Agenda Item 5
Annex 6



The Conservation officer also welcomed the fact that building heights increase from the 

edges of the site towards its centre away from heritage assets and concluded that the 

proposed development would result in an adjustment in the sense of openness and 

agricultural character of the area around the site. However any impact  from the 

development is considered to be less than significant impact to that of the setting of the 

multiple heritage assets by nature of the developments orientation and stepping in of the 

siting of proposed dwellings. By nature of the size of this proposal, there will of course be 

some harm caused however not that of a level to the detriment of the historical character 

and appearance of the surrounding environment.  

The views of the Conservation Officer are noted and it is recognised that development on 

the application site will have some impact on the setting of nearby heritage assets. It is, 

however, noted that the site is allocated for development in the Local Plan and its impact on 

designated heritage assets would have been considered during the allocation process.  The 

applicants have sought to minimise the impact on the heritage assets surrounding the site as 

far as possible at this stage and given the outline nature of the application, it is considered 

that a form of development could be achieved which would minimise the impact on the 

setting of the listed farmhouse and surrounding buildings together with its significance.  On 

this basis, this aspect is considered to be acceptable subject to the open space as shown on 

the Landscape strategy plan being provided with a detailed  determination at reserved 

matter stage.

In principle, the indicative site parameter layout plans shows that the number of dwellings 

can fit on the site alongside a significant degree of informal and formal open space which is 

in context and will help to assimilate the development into the countryside, with detailed 

plans to be submitted at the reserved matters stage.

Living Conditions

Paragraph 117 of the NPPF states that planning decisions should promote an effective use 

of land in meeting the need for homes and other uses, while safeguarding and improving the 

environment and ensuring safe and healthy living conditions. Paragraph 127 states that 

decisions should ensure development creates, inclusive and accessible and which promote 

health and well-being, with a high standard of amenity for future users.  Policy QD02 of the 

Thanet Local Plan outlines that new development should be compatible with neighbouring 

buildings and spaces, and should be inclusive in its design for all users. It should improve 

people’s quality of life by creating safe and accessible environments and promote public 

safety and security. Policy QD03 outlines that new development must not lead to 

unacceptable living conditions through overlooking, noise, vibrations, light pollution, 

overshadowing, loss of natural light or a sense of enclosure. Policy QD04 states that new 

dwellings must accord with the National Described Space Standards (March 2015). Policy 

GI04 states that new family dwellings (those with 2 or more bedrooms) will be expected to 

incorporate garden space in order to provide a safe "doorstep play area for young children. 

With doorstep playspace being defined as playspace for young children which is immediately 

adjacent to, closely visible and safely accessible from the dwellings served.

Neighbouring occupiers

Page 197

Agenda Item 5
Annex 6



As the application is in outline with all matters reserved with the exception of access; 

appearance, layout, scale and landscaping would be considered at the Reserved Matters 

stage. Notwithstanding this, careful consideration would need to be given to privacy and 

separation distances between existing and proposed dwellings given the range of different 

heights of dwellings surrounding the site. This may ultimately affect the type of dwelling 

proposed in particular circumstances. However, it is considered that the applicant can

develop a range of design solutions to protect the residential amenities of surrounding 

residents. 

The nearest residential properties are those located within Firbank Close and Sycamore 

Close with some residential development on Shottendane Road and Manston Road. It is 

clear that the introduction of built form on the application site would have the potential to 

alter the outlook from some of these properties which is currently of open agricultural land.  

There is, however, no right in planning terms to a particular outlook and views cannot be 

protected.  It is considered given the scale and nature of the application site that a scheme 

could be developed at reserved matters stage to minimise the impact on the residential 

amenities of surrounding occupiers.   

The nearest properties along Shottendane Road and those in Sycamore Close are two 

storey with some bungalows, whilst those in Firbank Gardens are bungalows.  

The application is in outline form only, so the precise layout and scale of dwellings in relation 

to neighbouring properties is not known at this stage.  The parameter plans do, however, 

identify areas of different building heights.  This highlights that the majority of the proposed 

residential units, particularly in areas close to the edges of the application site and existing 

residential development will be limited to 2 storey with some limited 2 and a half storey 

dwellings.  In areas centrally located within the development, the parameter plans show 

buildings of 2 and 2 and a half storey with limited 3 storey units proposed at key locations.  

These restrictions mean that the scale of development submitted through any future 

reserved matters scheme will not significantly impact upon the neighbouring occupiers, in 

terms of loss of light, outlook or creating a sense of enclosure. This maximum storey height 

restriction is therefore supported. The parameter plan also shows open space separation 

between the site boundaries and the proposed development parcels, allowing for both 

separation distance but also intervening landscaping to alleviate any impacts. The detailed 

relationship between proposed properties and existing in regards to privacy will be assessed 

at reserved matters stage, however the parameters of development indicate that this can be 

achieved without resulting in significant harm to occupiers.

Concern has been raised by neighbours regarding the potential for additional noise and 

disturbance from the proposed development. Given the distances to the nearest residential 

properties and the fact that the application site straddles Shottendane Road which is a well 

used main road in its own right, it is not considered that vehicle movements in and out of the 

proposed access or within the development would cause significant noise and disturbance to 

neighbouring occupiers. Whilst layout is not being agreed at this stage, the parameter plans 

indicate that there is plenty of space for landscaping buffers along the boundaries of the site 

with neighbouring occupiers, which will help with limiting any noise and disturbance from the 

development. It is noted that there would be some disruption to the residential amenities of 

residents either in the surrounding area and potential residents on earlier phases of the site 

Page 198

Agenda Item 5
Annex 6



during construction works.  These works would, however, be temporary and would be 

controlled by a construction management plan to minimise disturbance to residents.  

Due to the limited layout, scale, and design information currently available at this outline 

stage, the impact upon neighbouring residents can not be assessed in detail; however, given 

the low density nature of the scheme, the distances available between the proposed 

development and neighbouring properties, and the heights proposed on the parameter plan, 

it is considered that the proposed development is unlikely to have any significant impact 

upon the living conditions of neighbouring occupiers, in accordance with Policy QD03 of the 

Thanet local Plan, and paragraph 127 of the NPPF.    

  

Future occupiers

The residential amenities for future occupiers also fall to be assessed.  As set out above, this 

is an outline application with only parameter plans submitted at this stage.  It is, however, 

noted that the parameters for the development indicate a large amount of open space 

spread throughout the site and to its boundaries, as well as enhancements to the road 

network. Whilst an illustrative masterplan showing a potential layout has been provided, the 

detailed layouts of the residential areas has not been provided for consideration at this stage 

so comment regarding the design, appearance provision of private amenity spaces for 

gardens as well as the necessary parking, waste and recycling requirements of the proposed 

development cannot be made until reserved matters stage. Given the scale and nature of 

the application site it is considered that a development could be secured at the reserved 

matters stage to provide a high standard of accomodation for its future occupiers and a 

planning condition will require compliance with Policy QD04 for dwellings to meet the 

Nationally Described Space Standards .  

Highways and Transportation

Policy SP21 states that the proposal for the site must provide “linkages to new and existing 

public transport infrastructure, including bus and rail services, a local distributor link road 

between Shottendane Road and Manston Road, including new roundabouts on Shottendane 

Road and Manston Road and a new junction with Hartsdown Road, the reconfiguration of 

the Coffin House Corner signal controlled junction and the Manston Road and Shottendane 

Road junction, the provision for the retention and/or upgrading of designated footpath TM14 

and a proportionate contribution to necessary off-site highway improvements in accordance 

with Policy SP47(Strategic Routes). Within the master planning for the site, appropriate 

pedestrian and cycle access between the two sites (either side of Shottendane road). Is 

required.  

As set out above, this application seeks to agree the principle of  up to 450 residential 

dwellings (including market and affordable housing), with vehicular access points, including 

associated ancillary works and operations, from Hartsdown Road, Shottendane Road and 

Manston Road with all matters reserved except access.  

The proposed highway works have been the subject of detailed discussions with both the 

Council and KCC as the Local Highway Authority and form part of the strategic highway 

Page 199

Agenda Item 5
Annex 6



infrastructure works for the district.  These strategic works are safeguarded by Policy SP47 

(Strategic Routes), which states:

“The following areas, as shown on the Policies Map, are safeguarded for the provision of key 

road schemes and junction improvements, to support the implementation of the Thanet 

Transport Strategy, including land at: 1) Birchington strategic housing site 2) B2050 Manston 

Road, Birchington 3) Shottendane Road (from Birchington to Margate) 4) Shottendane 

Road-Manston Road - Hartsdown Road housing site 5) Nash Road-Manston Road housing 

site 6) Nash Road, Margate 7) Nash Road-Westwood strategic housing site 8) Manston 

Court Road/Star Lane (from Haine Road, Westwood to B2050 Manston Road) 9) From 

Columbus Way to Manston Road, Birchington The following strategic routes are sufficient in 

their existing form to provide for the growth envisaged in the Plan. 

However, if further development is permitted, including further development at Manston 

Airport, which has a material impact on the capacity or operation of these routes, the Council 

will require alternative on-site highway provision where appropriate and/or proportionate 

contributions towards any improvements or changes to the existing routes 

which is thereby necessitated: 1) B2050 Manston Road (from Manston Court Road to 

Spitfire Junction 2) B2190 Spitfire Way (from Spitfire Junction to Columbus Avenue junction). 

Junction/traffic management improvements are required at the following junctions to ensure 

the fully effective functioning of the Inner Circuit. Development that compromises the ability 

to deliver such improvements will not be permitted:

1) Victoria Traffic Lights 2) Coffin House Corner Traffic Lights 

The Council expects all new development to make a proportionate contribution to the 

provision of this key infrastructure. 

In the event that there is any delay in site acquisition or assembly in relation to any of the 

schemes identified in Policy SP47, the Council will, in conjunction with the County Council, 

make interim highway arrangements to enable allocated development schemes to proceed.”

Proposed highway works include the provision of a distributor link road between 

Shottendane Road and Manston Road, new roundabouts on Shottendane Road and 

Manston Road and a new junction with Hartsdown Road. 

Highway Capacity

Concerns have been raised by local residents that the proposed development would result in 

increased congestion on roads surrounding the site.  

A Transport Assessment (TA) and other information relating to highways including a stage 

one safety audit and a travel plan have been submitted to support the application.  

The TA considered the likely transport related effects of the proposed development 

including, amongst others, changes in traffic flows, public transport and highway safety.  It 

concludes that the increase in traffic on the local road network as a result of the 

development is considered to be minimal and the new  link road will provide an attractive 

Page 200

Agenda Item 5
Annex 6



route in and out of Margate and would attract traffic from a wider area, minimising the 

highway impact on other roads and junctions in the surrounding area.  Furthermore the 

provision of the link road and its associated roundabouts is a key section of Thanet’s 

Strategic Highway network (Inner Circuit), which is safeguarded to support the 

implementation of the wider transport strategy to support the growth within the Local Plan 

under Policy SP47.    

KCC Highways have reviewed the submitted highway information.  They agree the findings 

of the TA and emphasise the importance of the proposed link road enabling through 

movements as part of the Inner Circuit Route Improvement Strategy (ICRIS),  with the road 

providing strategic improvements to this part of the network and contributing to a marked 

improvement to highway network resiliency that will benefit the whole district.  Based on the 

plans submitted, they are satisfied with the alignment of the internal link roads and note that 

the applicant has offered additional land to assist in the provision of future highway 

improvement schemes in relation to the Inner Circuit Strategy. Following initial concerns 

raised about the delivery of this key infrastructure, a phasing plan has been submitted which 

indicates that the complete link road between Manston Road and Hartsdown Road, including 

the roundabout on Shottendane Road, is to be provided within the first two phases of 

development, with the roundabout on Shottendane Road to be provided in the first phase of 

development. This means that the benefits attributable to the internal link road and this 

section of the ICRIS may be experienced early in the build-out of the development. They 

conclude that, taking this into account, an appropriate Section 106 obligation in the form of a 

monetary contribution to the ICRIS would be necessary and appropriate and that, on 

balance, given the scale and nature of the development, the combination of and an 

appropriate contribution and the on-site infrastructure as offered constitutes suitable 

mitigation across the network for the proposed development. In line with the overall phasing 

plan submitted, the proposed work to the network will need to be phased appropriately to 

minimise disruption to the network whilst ensuring that the new development is served by the 

new road network at the appropriate time. Therefore a phasing plan for the highways 

mitigation will be required prior to the submission of the first reserved matters application. 

The provision of the link road and roundabouts accord with the provisions of Policy SP21. 

The policy also requires the reconfiguration of the Coffin House Corner signal controlled 

junction and the Manston Road and Shottendane Road junction. This work is part of the 

planning obligations of a separate planning application (OL/TH/16/1765 - resolution to grant 

with Section 106 yet to be agreed at the time of writing) however given the direct link to this 

site, it is considered that any highway contribution from the proposed development (under 

Policy SP47) could be utilised towards this work. 

KCC, as the Highway Authority, also confirm that they are satisfied that suitable access 

points have been offered to serve this development and to accommodate the additional 

flows and types of vehicular traffic that will utilise this section of the ICRIS. 

Given the above mitigation proposals, there is no empirical evidence to suggest that on 

balance the development would result in network capacity issues to cause severe 

congestion as to warrant refusal of the application on this ground.  It is also noted that the 

provision of the portion of the link road (as part of the Thanet Transport Strategy) will not 

come forward without the associated residential development to enable this provision.  The 

Page 201

Agenda Item 5
Annex 6



proposed works and financial contribution towards future off site highway works, are, 

therefore, considered to mitigate the impact from this development whilst contributing a key 

new piece of infrastructure towards the Thanet Transport Strategy.  On this basis the 

development would accord with Policy SP21 on highways grounds and Policy SP47 and the 

matter of planning obligations is discussed later in this report. 

Highway Safety

A Stage 1 Road Safety Audit has been carried out by the applicant and submitted as part of 

the Transport Assessment. This has assessed the access point junctions on Shottendane 

Road, Manston Road and Hartsdown Road, with requested changes by KCC to the 

proposed junction on Hartsdown Road (providing a priority right-hand turn lane for traffic 

travelling south-west). KCC have raised no objections to the designs of the junctions at this 

stage in the process (including the visibility for vehicles), with a planning condition proposed 

to ensure substantial compliance with the submitted drawings (allowing for KCC Highways to 

make minor adjustments through the Section 278 process under the Highways Act).   It is 

therefore considered that safe routes for vehicles, pedestrians and cyclists can be secured 

via appropriate conditions and informatives.  A construction highway management plan will 

be required prior to any development to ensure appropriate management of the construction 

period including vehicle routing, loading and unloading, parking and other related 

requirements are secured. Given the location of the eastern extent of the highways works on 

Manston, adjacent to both Margate Cemetery, Crematorium and the Waste and Recycling 

centre, specific consideration should be given to ensure vehicular access to these facilities 

for the community can continue throughout construction of the development. Therefore, 

subject to safeguarding conditions, it is not considered that there would be any adverse 

effect from the proposed development on highway safety.  

Public Rights of Way and Walking and Cycling

There is an existing public footpath (TM14) to the southern boundary of the site.  The 

alignment of this footpath would not change as a result of this proposed development.  

Policy SP21 states that this footpath should be retained and/or upgraded as part of 

development on the application site.  KCC's Public Rights of Way Team have advised that 

they would like to see this footpath upgraded to a bridleway together with a financial 

contribution towards things such as clearance, resurfacing and signage.  Given the 

constraints already on the application site, the applicants are not proposing to upgrade the 

footpath as part of this application.  It is noted that the scheme would, however, see the 

footpath retained in its current form which would ensure that the proposed development 

complies with the requirements of Policy SP21 in that regard. A condition is proposed for the 

relevant reserved matters application on land adjacent to the footpath required to show the 

footpath retained and identify access points onto and connection with pedestrian routes 

through the proposed development. The requested contribution is discussed within the 

Planning Obligations section of the report below.  

The application submission shows walking, cycling and public transport as integral parts of 

the draft masterplan for the site, new walking and cycling links both within the site and 

providing connecting to the surrounding networks. An initial travel plan has been submitted 

encouraging sustainable travel  with a final travel plan to be conditioned. It is proposed for a 

Page 202

Agenda Item 5
Annex 6



new cycleway adjacent to part of Shottendane road and on the new link road through the site 

and adjacent to the linear park, which will promote cycling routes and facilitating access in 

accordance with Policy TPO3.

Whilst the detailed layout will be considered through respective reserved matters 

applications, the parameter plans and illustrative masterplan demonstrate that the 

development can provide satisfactory transport infrastructure for non-private vehicle 

movement to meet the requirements of future residents.  

Public Transport 

The site is within a mile of Margate train station, with the majority of dwellings within 

20minutes walking distance of the station. The site is not ideally located in relation to existing 

commercial bus services.  Generally it is reasonable to seek a maximum walking distance of 

400 metres for all dwellings to bus stops (to encourage sustainable travel) and there are no 

clear proposals from the applicant to improve public transport accessibility.  Public transport 

can be accessed from various bus stops in the surrounding area however, the closest stop 

(Beatrice Road) is some 850 metres from the application site.  KCC have commented that “ 

in the short to medium term it is possible that the attractiveness of bus travel may be 

reduced” and that ” this may have an impact on the level of traffic generated from the site” in 

this period.  

Notwithstanding the above, it is considered unlikely that bus providers would be prepared to 

deliver a bespoke service to the development currently proposed and there is the potential 

for the walking distance to bus stops to be improved subject to the delivery of previously 

agreed bus  access solutions in nearby strategic housing sites.  In the longer term, delivery 

of the Thanet Transport Strategy (TTS), (specifically the Inner Circuit which includes the 

Shottendane Road to Manston Road link), will provide opportunities for local bus services to 

be enhanced in relation to this site in a commercially sustainable way.  On balance, whilst it 

is considered that current bus services in the area are below optimal, it is not considered that 

this matter alone is sufficient to resist the proposed development given the scope for future 

bus improvements as part of commuted/future growth on this site and adjacent development. 

Overall, KCC Highways has worked closely with the applicants in developing this package of 

highway works and support the scheme as submitted as it would provide the opportunity to 

manage new traffic flows in the area whilst providing substantial benefit to the strategic 

highway network  through the proposed delivery of the new link road between Hartsdown 

Road, Shottendane Road and Manston Road. This is supported by the Thanet Local Plan 

and KCC Highways strategy to manage growth in the district until 2031. 

In terms of the detailed design, the applicants have advised that they intend to meet KCC 

Highways guidance in relation to car and cycle parking and this will be submitted for 

assessment at the reserved matters stage. Safeguarding conditions have been proposed by 

KCC Highways and these are considered to be necessary to ensure that the development 

comes forward in the interests of highway safety and traffic flow, and to ensure that 

highways infrastructure is provided to serve the development. 

Archaeology 

Page 203

Agenda Item 5
Annex 6



The paragraphs of the NPPF relevant to the protection of heritage assets, including 

archaeology, have been set out earlier in the report.  Policy HE01 of the Local Plan which 

relates specifically to Archaeology, states that the Council will promote the identification, 

recording, protection and enhancement of archaeological sites, monuments and historic 

landscape features, and will seek to encourage and develop their educational, recreational 

and tourist potential through management and interpretation. Planning permission will be 

refused without adequate assessment of the archaeological implications of the proposal. 

Development proposals adversely affecting the integrity or setting of Scheduled Monuments 

or other heritage assets of comparable significance will normally be refused. Where the case 

for development which would affect an archaeological site is accepted by the Council, 

preservation in situ of archaeological remains will normally be sought. Where this is not 

possible or not justified, appropriate provision for investigation and recording will be required. 

The fieldwork should define: 1) the character, significance, extent and condition of any 

archaeological deposits or structures within the application site; 2) the likely impact of the 

proposed development on these features; 3) the means of mitigating the effect of the 

proposed development. Recording should be carried out by an appropriately qualified 

archaeologist or archaeological contractor and may take place in advance of and during 

development. No work shall take place until a specification for the archaeological work has 

been submitted and approved by the Council. Arrangements must also be in place for any 

necessary post- excavation assessment, analysis and publication of the results, and 

deposition of the archive in a suitable, accessible repository.  

Thanet is rich in archaeology and, as the site has been in agricultural use and, therefore 

largely undisturbed for a number of years, it is considered that there is the potential for 

archaeological remains to be present on the application site.  

The applicants have undertaken a series of archaeological investigations across the site 

including a desk based assessment and field evaluation (including geophysical survey and 

trial trench evaluation).  The survey work carried out highlighted that there were areas of 

archaeology within the site including particular remains in the south eastern area of the site 

which have been assessed as having medium significance.  It is proposed that this area 

would be left free of development with opportunities for improved interpretation of the 

remains.  Archaeological remains have also been identified in the central and northern parts 

of the site.  These are stated as having low archaeological significance and it is proposed 

that these remains will be investigated and recorded in manner agreed with the Council’s 

archaeological advisor.  

KCC Archaeology reviewed the submitted archaeological work and advise that the submitted 

archaeological survey work is comprehensive.  They confirm that the approach proposed by 

the applicants of preserving the archaeological remains in the south east of the site in situ 

and that the other remains identified on site do not warrant preservation in situ.  It is 

recommended that provision is made to secure the area proposed to the south east of the 

site as an ‘Archaeological Exclusion Zone’, with no development coming forward on this land 

and protection during construction works, with the investigation and recording of the other 

remains within the site.   

Page 204

Agenda Item 5
Annex 6



It is considered that the proposed safeguarding conditions would allow the archaeological 

assessed as having medium archaeological significance to be preserved in situ on site 

without any below ground impact and the other archaeological remains (identified as having 

low archaeological significance) to be investigated and appropriately recorded.  Given this it 

is considered that any impact from the proposed development on archaeology would be 

appropriately managed and mitigated with safeguarding conditions, in accordance with 

Policy HE01 of the Thanet Local Plan.  

Ecology and Biodiversity

Paragraph 170 a) of the NPPF states planning decisions should contribute to and enhance 

the natural and local environment by protecting and enhancing valued landscapes, sites of 

biodiversity or geological value and soils (in a manner commensurate with their statutory 

status or identified quality in the development plan).  The NPPF goes onto state at 

paragraph 170 (d) states that opportunities to incorporate biodiversity improvements in and 

around development should be encouraged, especially where this can secure measurable 

net gains for biodiversity. 

Thanet Local Plan Policy SP30 (Biodiversity and Geodiversity Assets) states development 

proposals will, where appropriate, be required to make a positive contribution to the 

conservation, enhancement and management of biodiversity and geodiversity assets 

resulting in a net gain for biodiversity assets.  Sites should be assessed for the potential 

presence of biodiversity assets and protected species. For sites where important biodiversity 

assets, including protected species and habitats including SPA functional land, or other 

notable species, may be affected, an ecological assessment will be required to assess the 

impact of the proposed development on the relevant species or habitats. Planning 

permission will not be granted for development if it results in significant harm to biodiversity 

and geodiversity assets, which cannot be adequately mitigated or as a last resort 

compensated for, to the satisfaction of the appropriate authority.  

The application is supported by a phase 1 habitat survey and subsequent surveys in relation 

to bats, reptiles, wintering birds and the land itself, with desk studies into the statutory 

designated sites of international, national and county levels of importance within 10km of the 

site. This are The Thanet Coast Special Area of Conservation (SAC), The Thanet Coast and 

Sandwich Bay Special Protection Area (SPA)/Ramsar site and the Sandwich Bay SAC,  The 

Thanet Coast Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI), and the Thanet Coast Marine 

Conservation Zone (MCZ). One non-statutory designated site was assessed at Chalkhole 

Farm Roadside Nature Reserve (RNR).  The application site is assessed as comprising two 

arable fields, with vegetation including dense scrub, woodland, scattered trees and 

grassland whilst supporting protected habitats and species (including birds and hedgehog). 

The ecological assessments concluded that subject to the implementation of mitigation 

measures, habitat planting and strengthening etc, it is considered that the development will 

have a beneficial effect on local wildlife at the site or site local level, with specific measures 

required on site and in proactive mitigation to ensure that effects on the designated sites 

(including recreational pressure and nitrogen deposition from increased traffic). These 

include:

 Specific lighting scheme to minimise impact on bats and nocturnal wildlife at both 

construction and operational phase, with bat boxes provided.

Page 205

Agenda Item 5
Annex 6



 New Homeowner Information Park provided to new residents, including measures 

regarding pets, lighting, noise.

 Strengthening boundary vegetation through native infill planting, with open grassland 

and wildflower meadow to benefit chalk grassland species and pollinating insects.

 Specific construction protection measures for Badgers, planting of new native 

hedgerow, shrub and grassland planting for hedgehogs (including holes in boundary 

fences for roaming).

 Habitat enhancement for nesting birds, in particular on the south-west boundary of 

the site and including bird boxes. 

 Calcareous grassland compensation areas on site to offset any additional nitrogen 

deposition from development.

 Contribution towards the Strategic Access Management and Monitoring Plan and 

provision of Trim Trail and open space on site to result in no additional recreational 

pressure on the Special Protection area.

KCC Ecology, as the Council’s competent experts, have advised that the ecological 

information submitted is appropriate and are satisfied with the results of the further surveys 

which conclude that terrestrial protected species eg. reptiles and dormice are unlikely to be 

present.  They advise that conditions should be attached to any grant of planning permission 

to ensure that the mitigation measures outlined are secured, with a detailed strategy for 

providing and managing the enhancement required. It is proposed to secure this prior to the 

first submission of a reserved matters application, to ensure that all measures are designed 

into the detailed layout/landscaping etc.

Concerns were raised initially by Natural England on lack of sufficient information in relation 

to wintering birds. This queried whether sufficient survey data had been provided to 

determine if the application site formed functionally linked land for golden plover or other 

birds associated with the designated sites at the Thanet Coast. Further information was 

provided by the applicant’s environmental consultants, including separate survey work than 

provided within the Environmental Statement (2019/20) and providing more information 

about the condition of the site during the survey work. Following re-consultation on this 

additional work, Natural England has confirmed that they raised no objection to development 

of the site on these grounds, and the information is considered sufficient to conclude that the 

site does not act as functionally linked land for golden plover or other birds associated with 

the Thanet Coast and Sandwich Bay Special Protection Area, and the Thanet Coast SSSI.   

European sites are afforded protection under the Conservation and Habitats and Species 

regulations 2010 (as amended the Habitat Regulations) and there is a duty placed upon the 

competent authority (in this case TDC) to have regard to the potential impact that any project 

may have on those sites.  Thanet District Council has produced the 'The Strategic Access 

Management and Monitoring Plan (SAMM)', which focuses on the impacts of recreational 

activities on the Thanet section of the Thanet Coast and Sandwich Bay Special Protection 

Area (SPA). The studies indicate that recreational disturbance is a potential cause of the 

decline in bird numbers in the SPA. To enable the Council to be satisfied that proposed 

residential development will avoid a likely significant effect on the designated sites (due to an 

increase in recreation) an appropriate assessment for every application proposing an 

increase in residential units must be undertaken and a financial contribution is required for all 

Page 206

Agenda Item 5
Annex 6



additional residential development to contribute to the district wide mitigation strategy.  This 

approach is set out in the Local Plan under Policy SP29 (Strategic Access Management and 

Monitoring Plan (SAMM)). The applicant has agreed to pay the required contribution, with 

specific measures provided (and to be secured by condition) on site including a linear park 

with trim trail throughout the northern section of the site to create on-site routes for dog-

walkers. Both Natural England and KCC Biodiversity have been consulted on this 

application.  Following the submission of additional information, they raise no objection to the 

impact of the development on the statutory nature conservation sites subject to the 

mitigation outlined.

Given the above, it is considered that the development of the site, with the appropriate 

safeguarding conditions, would not have an adverse effect on biodiversity and protected 

species. Subject to mitigation, no adverse effect will occur on the integrity of the protected 

sites in proximity to the application site, either alone or in combination with other projects or 

plans. The amount of open space on the site also provides the opportunity for an 

enhancement of biodiversity through the introduction of native landscaping in accordance 

with paragraph 175 of the NPPF, as well as detailed measures to enhance the environment 

for protected species. This will be secured by condition to subsequently be outlined at 

reserved matters stage with the submission of landscaping details.

Appropriate Assessment

The Council have undertaken an Appropriate Assessment reflecting all of the information 

provided and the confirmation of the provision of the financial contribution towards the 

SAMM. Having considered the proposed mitigation and avoidance measures to be provided 

in perpetuity in addition to the scale of onsite open space provision proposed and specific 

mitigation on site, the conclusion of the assessment is that with mitigation and imposition of 

safeguarding conditions, the project will have no adverse recreational effects on the integrity 

of the identified European sites alone or in-combination with other proposed development. 

Natural England have raised no objections to this assessment and therefore the proposed 

development, subject to the mitigation measures set out, is not restricted by the 

Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017. This appropriate assessment is 

appended at Annex 5.

Contamination

Paragraph 170 e) of the NPPF states planning decisions should contribute to and enhance 

the natural and local environment by preventing new and existing development from 

contributing to, being put at unacceptable risk from, or being adversely affected by, 

unacceptable levels of soil, air, water or noise pollution or land instability. Development 

should, wherever possible, help to improve local environmental conditions such as air and 

water quality. Where a site is affected by contamination or land stability issues, responsibility 

for securing a safe development rests with the developer and/or landowner.  Policy SE03 

(land affected by contamination) states that development on land known or suspected to be 

contaminated or likely to be adversely affected by such contamination will only be permitted 

where: 1) an appropriate site investigation and assessment (agreed by the Council) has 

been carried out as part of the application to establish whether contamination is present and 

to identify any remedial measures necessary to ensure that the site is suitable for the 

Page 207

Agenda Item 5
Annex 6



proposed end use; 2) the proposed remedial measures would be acceptable in planning 

terms and would provide effective safeguards against contamination hazards during the 

development and subsequent occupation of the site. Planning conditions will be attached to 

any consent to ensure that remedial measures are fully implemented, before occupation. In 

the case of sites where contamination is only considered to be a possible risk, a site 

investigation will be required by condition.  

The Council’s Contamination Officer has reviewed the application and notes that historic 

mapping shows an old brickfield within the application site and a cemetery/graveyard close 

to the east of the development.  They, therefore, advise that a preliminary risk assessment 

should be carried out for potential impacts on new residential receptors and sensitive 

groundwater resources from these sources.  They advise that this information could be 

secured via a planning condition and as such, it is noted that this is not an objection to the 

principle of residential development on the site.  

Given the above, it is considered that subject to the imposition of safeguarding conditions, 

there would be no adverse contamination impacts from the proposed development in the 

area or for future occupiers of the site.  

Air Quality

The UK Air Quality Strategy Regulations 2010 is the method for implementation of the air 

quality limit values in the UK and provides a framework for improving air quality and 

protecting human health from the effects of pollution.  Paragraph 181 of the NPPF states 

that planning policies and decisions should sustain and contribute towards compliance with 

relevant limit values or national objectives for pollutants, taking into account the presence of 

Air Quality Management Areas and Clean Air Zones, and the cumulative impacts from 

individual sites in local areas. Opportunities to improve air quality or mitigate impacts should 

be identified, such as through traffic and travel management, and green infrastructure 

provision and enhancement. So far as possible these opportunities should be considered at 

the plan-making stage, to ensure a strategic approach and limit the need for issues to be 

reconsidered when determining individual applications. Planning decisions should ensure 

that any new development in Air Quality Management Areas and Clean Air Zones is 

consistent with the local air quality action plan.  Policy SE05 of the Council's Local Plan 

relates to Air Quality and states that all major development schemes should promote a shift 

to the use of sustainable low emission transport to minimise the impact of vehicle emissions 

on air quality. Development will be located where it is accessible to support the use of public 

transport, walking and cycling. New development must ensure that users are not significantly 

adversely affected by the air quality and include mitigation measures where appropriate. All 

developments which either individually or cumulatively are likely to have a detrimental impact 

on air quality, will be required to submit an Air Quality and/or Emissions Mitigation 

Assessment, in line with the Air Quality Technical Planning Guidance 2016 and any 

subsequent revisions.  The Air Quality Assessment should address the cumulative effect of 

further emissions. The Emission Mitigation Assessment should address any proposed 

mitigation measures through good design and offsetting measures that would prevent the 

National Air Quality Objectives being exceeded or reduce the extent of the air quality 

deterioration. These will be of particular importance within the urban AQMA, associated 

Page 208

Agenda Item 5
Annex 6



areas and areas of lower air quality.  Proposals that fail to demonstrate this  will not be 

permitted.

An Air Quality Assessment was submitted to support the application.  It states that the site is 

partially within an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) declared on the basis of annual 

average pollution levels.  The evaluation of key potential effects has shown that, provided 

suitable precautions are made in the planning and execution of the construction phase of the 

development, significant effects on local air quality will be not significant. The assessment 

has also shown that any increases in pollutant concentrations as a consequence of road 

traffic associated with the Proposed Development will be considered to be negligible and not 

significant

The Council's Environmental Health Team assessed the submitted Air Quality Assessment 

and advise that it has been carried out in accordance with Defra’s Technical Guidance.  

They note, however, that the site will also require that an Emissions Mitigation Assessment 

(which shall include a damage cost assessment) is undertaken and offsetting measures 

incorporated into the development.  They recommend a condition to that effect is imposed 

on any grant of planning permission, along with conditions relating to the submission of an 

emissions (providing details of how the air quality damage costs are to be used to achieve 

air quality improvements from the development during construction and when in operation), 

electrical vehicle charging and a construction management plan.  The construction 

management plan should include measures outlined in the dust mitigation assessment 

carried out within the Environmental Statement.

It is considered appropriate to secure the submission of the emissions strategy prior to any 

reserved matters application as it will inform the development of the detailed design for the 

site.  

Given, the above, it is considered that the development of the site, with the appropriate 

safeguarding conditions, would not have an adverse effect on air quality in the district.  

Flood Risk and drainage

Paragraph 155 of the NPPF refers that inappropriate development in areas at risk of flooding 

should be avoided. Inappropriate development in areas at risk of flooding should be avoided 

by directing development away from areas at highest risk (whether existing or future).  Policy 

CC02 (Surface Water Management) states that “New development is required to manage 

surface water resulting from the development using sustainable drainage systems (SuDs) 

wherever possible. SuDs design, together with a robust long term maintenance plan should 

be included as an integral part of the master planning and design process for new 

development and should, wherever possible, incorporate multi-functional benefits for people 

and wildlife. 

The application includes a flood risk assessment, a desk based study to establish the 

baseline of the water environment, consideration of proposed mitigation and  quantification 

of significance of impact at construction and operational phase of development.. 

Surface water drainage

Page 209

Agenda Item 5
Annex 6



The majority of the site lies in Flood Zone 1, thus is at a low risk of flooding. A surface water 

model has been carried out in the masterplanning of the site, which demonstrates that a 

combination of the topography and existing flows during prolonged or intense rain events 

creates a water flow pathway through the northern section of the site (between Hartsdown 

Road and Shottendane Road). The existing pathway has been incorporated in the proposal 

through precluding residential development on the surface water pathway, whilst proposing 

SUDS to retain run-off on site temporarily in basins before infiltration into the existing 

watercourses. Plot soakaways would service individual dwellings with highway drainage 

directed to a soakaway trench in the northern parcel, with an infiltration basin as an 

additional stage of runoff treatment. This would attenuate a 1 in 30year event, with 

soakaway testing results used to calculate the size of the required basin (total volume 836 

cubic metres). KCC as the Lead Local Flood Authority have reviewed the information and 

conclude that issues relating to flooding and drainage can be dealt with via the imposition of 

conditions on any grant of planning permission, requiring a detailed surface water drainage 

scheme, and subsequent verification report. to be submitted and agreed, with surface water 

infiltration controlled in accordance with the approved details. For storm events in excess of 

the standard, finished floor levels of new dwellings would be set above existing levels to 

mitigate the residual risk of overtopping.

Foul Drainage and network capacity

In accordance with criteria in Policy SP21, a report into the network capacity for foul water 

infrastructure has been submitted with the application. This proposes to utilise an existing 

connection point on Shottendane Road with all sewers to be built for adoption by Southern 

Water through an agreement pursuant to the Water and Infrastructure Act 1991.  Through 

the separate legislation, Southern Water has the ability to require network reinforcement to 

ensure network performance is not detrimentally affected. Within the site additional drainage 

infrastructure will be required to serve the development, and a condition restricting 

occupation of the development until sewerage infrastructure is provided is requested by 

provider Southern Water. Each phase would be restricted in occupation until the 

infrastructure for that phase has been agreed and provided by condition, to ensure no 

pollution or flooding would result from the development.

The applicant has identified that during construction, activities such as the potential spillage 

of pollutants, the introduction of impermeable surfaces (i.e roads), piling and excavation and 

the change in topography have the potential to affect surface water quality, groundwater 

levels, flood risk and cause disturbance or contamination within the aquifer located below the 

site.  Therefore the Construction Environmental Management Plan will need to ensure that 

best practice is employed as outlined in the flood risk assessment to protect water quality.

Subject to safeguarding conditions, the impact upon flood risk is considered to be 

acceptable, and in accordance with Policy CC02 of the Thanet Local Plan; and adequate 

infrastructure to serve the development is considered to be achievable. 

Crime and Disorder

Page 210

Agenda Item 5
Annex 6



The NPPF requires that decisions should aim to achieve places which promote safe and 

accessible environments where crime and disorder, and the fear of crime, do not undermine 

quality of life or community cohesion. The application is in outline and at this stage raises no 

issues regarding crime and disorder. Secured by Design principles which will be conditioned 

to be addressed as part of the Reserved Matters application

Planning Obligations

Policy Background

The relevant Local Plan Policies for considering this site in terms of planning obligations are 

Policy SP41 (Community Infrastructure) and SP23 (Affordable Housing). Policy SP41 states 

that development will only be permitted when provision is made to ensure delivery of 

relevant and sufficient community and utility infrastructure. Where appropriate, development 

will be expected to contribute to the provision of new, improved, upgraded or replacement 

infrastructure and facilities. Policy SP23 states that for developments of the scale proposed 

shall be required to provide 30% of dwellings as affordable housing, with the requirement 

only reduced if meeting it would demonstrably make the proposed development unviable. 

The site allocation policy SP21 for the site also requires a “proportionate contribution to 

necessary off-site highway improvements in accordance with Policy SP47”.

Decisions on planning applications must be underpinned by an understanding of viability, 

ensuring realistic decisions are made to support development and promote economic 

growth. Paragraph 57 of the National Planning Policy Framework outlines that it is up to an 

applicant to demonstrate whether particular circumstances justify the need for a viability 

assessment at the application stage, and the weight to be given to a  viability assessment is 

a matter for the decision maker having regard to all the circumstances in the case, including 

whether the plan and the viability evidence underpinning it is up to date, and any change in 

site circumstances since the plan was brought into force.

In this instance, the applicant has submitted a viability assessment and stated, upon 

submission, that the application would not, in their view, be able to provide a fully policy 

compliant scheme in regard to planning obligations, including on site affordable housing 

provision. It, therefore, falls to consider the submitted viability evidence and the requested 

contributions/obligations by Thanet Local Plan Policies and Kent County Council as 

infrastructure provider.

Viability

Decisions on planning applications must be underpinned by an understanding of viability, 

ensuring realistic decisions are made to support development and promote economic 

growth. Paragraph 57 of the National Planning Policy Framework outlines that it is up to an 

applicant to demonstrate whether particular circumstances justify the need for a viability 

assessment at the application stage, and the weight to be given to a viability assessment is 

a matter for the decision maker having regard to all the circumstances in the case, including 

whether the plan and the viability evidence underpinning it is up to date, and any change in 

site circumstances since the plan was brought into force.

Page 211

Agenda Item 5
Annex 6



Assessing viability requires a realistic understanding of the costs and the value of 

development in the local area and an understanding of the operation of the market, and 

should be based on current costs and values. A site is viable if the value generated by its 

development, the Gross Development Value (GDV), exceeds the costs of developing it and 

also provides sufficient incentive for the land to come forward and the development to be 

undertaken. The accepted methodology for assessing this is the residual land value method. 

This calculates the estimated GDV from the development, subtracts the development cost 

(including the developer’s profit at an agreed level) and compares this residual land value 

against a Benchmark Land Value (BLV). The BLV is established on the basis of the existing 

use value of the land plus a premium for the landowner, with the premium required to 

provide a reasonable return to induce a landowner to sell the site for development or 

develop the site whilst reflecting the implications of site-specific infrastructure costs.

A viability assessment was submitted by the applicant which is provided at Annex 1. The 

assessment takes into account local market evidence of sales values and estimated 

development costs including site-specific road infrastructure. This assessment has been 

independently assessed by the Council’s appointed viability consultant, who has provided 

comments to the Council (Annex 2). Subsequent to this report, a further review of the road 

infrastructure costs was commissioned by the applicant, with the findings reviewed by a 

quantity surveyor on behalf of the Council’s appointed viability consultant. The final 

comments on the viability work from the Council’s consultants has been received which will 

be discussed below.

The Council’s appointed consultants for this application also carried out the strategic 

planning work on the viability of the Thanet Local Plan on behalf of the Council and this work 

was subject to examination as part of the Local Plan adoption process.

Below is a summary of the main points of the assessment carried out by independent 

assessor, and the view of officers in relation to this assessment:

The Benchmark Land Value (BLV) submitted considers the site (18.97 hectares excluding 

highway land) as agricultural land plus a premium to incentivise the landowner to develop 

the site. In this instance, a rate of £250,000/ha (£100,000 per acre) has been submitted, 

which has been agreed by the Council’s appointed consultants, providing the figure of 

£4,742,750. This figure has been set taking into account strategic level viability studies, the 

site circumstances and policy requirements and this figure is considered suitable by officers 

to compare against the residual land value.

As the application has been submitted in outline form, the detailed values of expected sales 

has been conducted using an illustrative accommodation mix for market housing and 

affordable housing. This mix has an increased amount of larger properties then the mix 

recommended in the Strategic Housing Market Assessment (stated in Policy SP22), for 

example providing 55% of market dwelling as 3 bed units when the recommended range is 

30-35%. This is considered to therefore be a robust mix to assess a best case for GDV. In 

terms of the values stated, the range of values have been considered to be evidenced when 

taking account of the location of the site and type of accommodation in the indicative mix. 

The conclusion of the independent review is that the values reflected are not unreasonable 

(average value of £3,045/m²), but that the viability could understandably fluctuate (either up 

Page 212

Agenda Item 5
Annex 6



or down) with smaller percentage changes to sales values. On this point the report suggests 

consideration of a review mechanism once the scheme's design is finalised with reserved 

matters submission/approval (this is discussed later in the report). The average value for the 

affordable housing has been modelled at 54% (on the basis of an affordable-need compliant 

70/30 split of the affordable provision between affordable rent and shared ownership) which 

is considered acceptable.

For cost assumptions, the use of the Building Cost Information Service (BCIS) median rate 

rebased for Kent has been considered acceptable (average cost £1,327/m²), with a 

contingency rate for all building costs of 5% agreed. Initially, there was divergency between 

cost assumptions for drainage and highway infrastructure (in particular costs of construction 

of estate roads, link road, roundabouts, and re-alignment of Shottendane Road, report 

appended at Annex 3). Submission of further information (provided at Annex 4) 

subsequently led to an increase in the cost estimates with the Council consultants viability 

appraisal, predominantly due to the clarification of the units of measurement. This reduces 

the cost disparity between the appraisals from £3,645,000 to £340,185. This disparity in 

theoretical ‘saving’ in cost has been accommodated within the appraisal by increased 

Section 106 contributions above those modelled in the applicant’s appraisal. Therefore, 

there is now agreement regarding the modelled highways infrastructure costs within the 

appraisal, with particular importance on the abnormal highway costs as a result of the 

topography and drainage requirements of the site.

A developer profit allowance of 17.5% of GDV of the market housing and 6% on the 

affordable housing has been assumed within the viability report, with a total profit of 

£19,522,010. This is within the range of 15%-20% profit that is considered to be reasonable 

to enable the development to be delivered under the NPPG, in the current economic 

circumstances.

The applicant’s viability appraisal made provision for contributions covering all requested 

Kent County Council (KCC) obligations towards Secondary Education (covering provision of 

new secondary school project and land), Community learning, youth, libraries, social care 

and waste, which totalled £2,940,269. An identified additional cost for a contribution 

requested for Healthcare provision of £388,800 from the development was included in the 

appraisal by the Council’s viability consultants. In addition, a request for a contribution 

toward Special Education Needs and Disability schools totalling £435,453.72 has been 

received from KCC. The policy required mitigation toward increased recreational pressure at 

designated sites (the Strategic Access Monitoring and Mitigation plan) totalling £157,500 

was not included in the assessment (required by Policy SP29), nor was any provision for an 

off-site contribution to the Thanet inner circuit. The inclusion of these contributions would 

further decrease the viability of the development, and the inclusion of all planning obligations 

discussed in the following section.

Following the review of the applicants review and the Council’s consultant running their own 

scenario, then the residual land value when accounting for values and costs indicate  a 

deficit against the Benchmark Land Value (which has itself been considered reasonable) on 

the basis of 10% affordable housing provision on site. This viability would be further 

compromised by the inclusion of the additional requests for contributions by KCC and policy 

compliance with Policies SP21 and SP29. Therefore, in the interests of delivering the 

Page 213

Agenda Item 5
Annex 6



allocated housing site and given the site specific costs and viability appraisals carried out, it 

is appropriate to secure 10% affordable housing on this basis, in accordance with Policy 

SP23. 

Infrastructure Obligations

As outlined above, even with a reduction in on-site affordable provision, the evidence before 

the Council shows that on the absence of current evidence, the development would not be 

able to accommodate all the requested financial planning obligations required through 

Thanet Local Plan policies. Below is a table summarising all the requested financial 

contributions for the development.

Requestor Contribution per 
dwelling

Contribution for 
450 dwelling 
scheme

KCC Secondary 
Education

£5,176 per applicable house £2,080,752.00

£1,294 per applicable flat £62,112.00
KCC Secondary 
School Land

£1,511.11 per applicable house £607,466.22

£377.78 per applicable flat £18,133.44
KCC Special 
Educational Needs 
provision

£1,051.82 per applicable house £422,831.64

£262.96 per applicable flat £12,622.08
KCC Community 
Learning

£16.42 £7,389.00

KCC Youth £65.50 £29,475.00
KCC Libraries £55.45 £24,952.50
KCC Social Care £146.88 £66,096.00
KCC Waste £92.72 £41,724.00
Health (CCG) £864.00 per plot £388,800.00
TDC SAMMs £350.00 Average per plot £157,500.00

Regulation 122 of The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 2010 (as amended) states that a 

planning obligation may only constitute a reason for granting a planning permission for the 

development if the obligation is (a) necessary to make the development acceptable in 

planning terms, (b) directly related to the development and (c)  fairly and reasonably related 

in scale and kind to the development proposed. It is considered that the above requests 

comply with regulation 122 of the CIL regulations.

A financial contribution has also been requested by the Public Rights of Way team by KCC 

for £68-70,000 towards upgrading the public bridleway, for clearance, resurfacing, width 

definition and signage. This has been considered in the highways section above.

The strategic allocation policy for the site requires a proportionate contribution to necessary 

off-site highway improvements (the Thanet transport strategy as outlined in Policy SP47). 

Applying the apportionment work carried out with the Local Plan in 2019, the proportionate 

Page 214

Agenda Item 5
Annex 6



cost for the highway contribution linked to this strategic allocation would total £2.46million 

(approx).

A total planning obligation ‘pot’ of £3,329096 has been allocated in the viability assessment 

toward community infrastructure.  In addition, a highways cost within the viability appraisal 

has been removed which made provision for the realignment of Shottendane Road through 

the development, which amounted to £1,000,000, and other stated contributions from KCC 

have been included within the applicant’s submitted amount for planning obligations. This 

means the total available planning obligation figure, on the basis of the viability evidence and 

applicants submission, is £4,919,853.88.

The contribution towards the SAMMs (to ensure compliance with the Council’s Appropriate 

Assessment) is required to be secured, with the healthcare contribution requested by NHS 

also secured. This leaves £4,373,553.88 remaining for use to provide community and 

highway infrastructure. 

The Council has discussed the provision of community and highways planning obligations 

with KCC in light of the viability evidence. On the basis that the site is allocated for housing 

and would provide key sections of infrastructure, it is important for both authorities to adopt a 

flexible approach to obligations to ensure that this strategic development is delivered, whilst 

ensuring that the impacts from the development are acceptably mitigated. Therefore, a per 

unit “KCC community and highways” obligation will be secured, calculated as £9719.01 per 

unit, which will be payable to the Council and secured towards the identified projects within 

the KCC response. This planning obligation will be held and released to KCC upon 

agreement between KCC Development contributions team, KCC Highways and the Council, 

to ensure the maximum benefit can be secured for the contribution (for example if forward 

funding secured national funding for an identified project). This will be on a priority basis to 

be agreed between the Councils, with education and highways the main priorities due to the 

scale of the requests for both receive and to ensure sufficient mitigation is in place for the 

impacts on the development on the community.

This approach provides flexibility in responding to the viability issues of the development of 

the site in securing required planning obligations, whilst still ensuring that housing and 

infrastructure delivered through the development of this allocated site occurs. Therefore the 

proposal is considered to be in accordance with Policies SP41 and SP47 of the Thanet Local 

Plan.

Review mechanism and Major Road Network bid

Given the outline nature of the development, the size of the scheme (meaning it will come 

forward in stages/phases) and the reduction in provision of affordable housing on site, it is 

considered necessary to require a mechanism for the review of the viability of the scheme at 

defined points throughout the development within the required Section 106 agreement. It is 

proposed for a review of viability to occur prior to the occupation of 200th dwelling and the 

400th dwelling, with any surplus split 50/50 between developer and the Council. Any 

additional financial contribution received would be secured towards the provision of off-site 

affordable housing in the district.

Page 215

Agenda Item 5
Annex 6



Currently Kent County Council have a funding bid for the A28 Major Road Network being 

considered for the Department of Transport. This, if successful, would result in grant money 

for the implementation of the Thanet Transport Strategy, which incorporates strategic 

improvements/realignments and junctions along the A28 Shottendane Road corridor. In 

regard to this proposal, the grant would result the works to Shottendane road (including the 

roundabout), Manston Road (including the roundabout) and the two link roads between 

Manston Road, Shottendane Road and Hartsdown Road being provided by KCC Highways 

(using the grant money), with a percentage of match-funding to be provided by the 

developers of this site. This would result in savings to the developer if these works were 

majority funded by the grant, over and above the current viability position outlined above. 

Therefore a separate mechanism is required to secure a financial contribution totalling the 

agreed cost of providing this road infrastructure (or any part of the road infrastructure 

provided by the grant), minus any required match funding for the bid or any other external 

funding, towards community and highways infrastructure projects as identified in the KCC 

consultation response and off-site affordable housing in the district. The trigger for this 

mechanism should be prior to the implementation of an approved reserved matters 

application/phase of development, to ensure that a developer knows prior to starting whether 

the road will be provided by KCC and to accept the level of contribution payable, with the 

amounts payable upon completion of the relevant section of infrastructure (with occupancy 

of a specified number of units limited until payment is made). The total savings (if all 

elements of the bid were provided by KCC) could total £3,696,480 (minus match funding) 

and therefore this mechanism is considered appropriate to secure necessary planning 

obligations as identified above.  

Heads of Terms

The legal agreement to be submitted in support of this application will contain the following 

commitments:

 10% affordable housing on site (70% affordable rent, 30% shared ownership or 

future affordable housing product)

 £4,373,553.88 towards community and highways infrastructure, to be utilised towards 

following projects:

 Off-site contribution to Strategic Route highway improvement as outlined in Policy 

SP47 of the Thanet Local Plan;

 the new Thanet Secondary school and associated land acquisition; 

 expansion of an existing special needs school serving this development in Thanet;

 additional resources at Margate Adult Education Centre;

 additional equipment and resources for the Thanet Youth service;

 additional stock, services and resources at Margate Library;

 specialist care accommodation in Thanet;

 Materials Recovery Facility and improvements at Margate HWRC;

 upgrading TM14 route.

 £388,800 towards creating capacity at the Limes Medical Practice or within the 

Primary Care Network

Page 216

Agenda Item 5
Annex 6



 Contribution in accordance with Policy SP29 for the Strategic Access Management 

and Monitoring Plan.

 Review mechanism requiring two additional assessments of development viability to 

be submitted and agreed prior to the occupation of 200th dwelling and the 400th 

dwelling, with updated values and cost information at that time, with 50% of any 

surplus provided the Council for use towards off-site affordable housing in the district 

within a stated timescale.

 Review mechanism requiring an assessment of development viability in the event of 

Major road network or other infrastructure funding prior to implementation of each 

phase (as shown on parameter plan or as agreed) to, with updated values and cost 

information at that time, with any highway cost savings through grant provided in full 

to the Council prior to the occupation of any unit in that phase. The obligation shall be 

utilised towards the community and highways infrastructure as defined above.

 Section 106 agreement to include a requirement for all internal spine roads and 

associated junctions and infrastructure to be part of an agreement under Section 38 

of the Highways Act 1980 with KCC Highways.

 Safeguarding of land required to deliver the link roads and Shottendane Road 

improvements to enable KCC to deliver the infrastructure in the event that external 

funding is secured. Relevant land should be transferred to KCC at no/nominal cost 

(i.e £1 if there needs to be a value) at the written request of KCC.

 In the event that the link road is delivered by the developer, the developer to enter 

into an agreement under Section 38 of the Highways Act 1980, to ensure the 

adoption of the link road infrastructure. This is to secure consistent highway network 

access and management in the future.

Other Matters

Policy SP21 requires an assessment of potential implications of policies CSW16 and DM8 of 

the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan and the need (if any) to mitigate any potential 

impacts on waste management capacity. The development will not impact on the operation  

of the Margate Household Waste Recycling Centre on Manston Road (subject to 

safeguarding conditions including consideration of access to the facility during construction), 

and KCC have been consulted and requested a contribution from the development towards 

improvements at the facility. Therefore this matter has been sufficiently dealt with by the 

proposal.

Concerns have been raised by local residents that not enough information is given on the 

application.  No details or additional information has, however, been received as to what 

information is considered to be missing.  It is noted that this is an outline application with all 

matters other than access reserved for future consideration so some details (such as the 

extract location, design and scale of individual dwellings) are not available at this stage, this 

would however, come forward at reserved matters stage and local residents would be able 

to comment at that stage.  Officers consider that they have sufficient information at this stage 

to determine the outline application under consideration.  

Page 217

Agenda Item 5
Annex 6



Concerns have also been raised about the impact of the proposed development on property 

prices in the surrounding area.  This is not a material planning consideration.  

Local residents have also commented that leasehold properties cause problems and should 

not be part of the development.  It is not normally the place for the Local Planning Authority 

to control the proposed tenure of dwellings other than in particular circumstances.  There is a 

requirement for affordable housing to come forward as part of this development and the type 

and tenure of that would be controlled through an affordable housing scheme as part of the 

S106 agreement.  There is, however, no reason to suggest that people in leasehold 

dwellings are more inclined to anti -social behaviour than occupiers of other types of 

dwellings and even there are other bodies which would deal with issues like anti-social 

behaviour.  

The potential for trespass onto surrounding agricultural land as a result of the proposed 

development has been raised.  There is no reason to link the proposed development with 

anti-social behaviour such as trespass and, as set out above, there are other bodies which 

would deal with such issues should they arise.  

Concerns have also been raised about the compatibility of the cricket club and proposed 

residential development adjoining it.  This matter does not affect the consideration of this 

outline application, but would need to be considered at the detailed reserved matters stage.  

Any covenants on the application site would be a civil matter and not considered as part of 

the determination under planning legislation.

Conclusion

The site is allocated for residential development under Local Plan Policy SP21 and full 

weight should be given to this policy. The proposal would provide 450 dwellings on this 

strategically allocated housing site whilst providing key infrastructure as part of the Thanet 

Transport Strategy. The application has been demonstrated to accord with principles of the 

site specific policy SP21, whilst adapting to site specific requirements regarding drainage, 

archaeology and delivery of road infrastructure which will bring forward less dwellings that 

are allocated for the site. This has also resulted in a reduction in the planning obligations 

available from the proposed development towards affordable housing, off-site community 

and highways contributions. This reduction has been assessed in detail and the viability 

assessment given significant weight, taking account of the specific circumstances of the site, 

when assessing the application, and review mechanisms are considered to be appropriate to 

strengthen the Council’s ability to seek compliance with Policies SP23, SP41 and SP47 over 

the lifetime of the project. 

The provision of up to 450 dwellings would make a significant contribution to the District’s

Housing supply, supporting the economic and social dimensions of sustainable 

development, with employment provided through construction of the site. This contribution to 

supply should be given great weight given that the Council has not met the Housing Delivery 

test. The proposed housing development must therefore be viewed in the context of the test 

in Paragraph 11 of the NPPF, with any adverse impacts of granting  permission having to 

Page 218

Agenda Item 5
Annex 6



significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits from the scheme to withhold 

permission.

The provision of the link road from Manston Road to Hartsdown Road will provide clear and 

demonstrable benefits to the district’s transportation network, whilst accommodating 

additional traffic created from the proposal. Whilst below the policy requirement, the proposal 

will also provide social benefit through 10% on site affordable housing provision and the 

creation of a contribution pot to facilitate the delivery of both community and highways 

projects in the district (with the provision of review mechanisms to ensure policy compliance 

of the lifetime of the development).

On the environmental dimension of sustainable development, the development would result 

in the loss of agricultural land and countryside, however, this has been agreed through the 

Local Plan adoption process. The amount of development proposed on the site can be 

accommodated without resulting in significant harm to the character and appearance of the 

area, and in principle the development will not result in significant harm to the living 

conditions of surrounding residential occupiers with detailed considerations of this at the 

reserved matters stage. The development has made provision through the submitted 

parameter plans and Landscape Strategy to provide suitable provision and location of open 

space and landscaping provision on site to mitigate the change in the landscape, whilst 

providing biodiversity enhancements which are to be secured by condition. Specific 

measures with regard to surface and foul drainage, archaeology, contamination, ecology will 

be secured by condition to ensure compliance with Local Plan Policy and national guidance. 

The impacts on St Johns Cemetery and the setting of Shottendane Farm House has been 

taken into account in the development of the parameter plans, with the less than substantial 

harm mitigated through proposed open space location, retained landscaping and distance 

between heritage assets and proposed built development.

Overall when considering the Local Plan and National Planning Policy framework as a 

whole, the proposal constitutes sustainable development, with the identified environmental 

harm outweighed by the significant economic and social benefits from the proposed 

development of the allocated housing site. Therefore it is recommended the Members defer 

and delegate the application to officers for approval, subject to the receipt of a satisfactory 

Section 106 agreement to secure the required planning obligations within 6 months of this 

resolution.

Case Officer

Annabel Hemmings

Background Papers:

Annex 1 - Applicants Viability Appraisal

Annex 2 - DSP Viability Review

Annex 3 - Highways Cost review

Annex 4 - Applicant response on Highways cost

Annex 5 – Habitat Regulation Assessment 

Page 219

Agenda Item 5
Annex 6



TITLE: OL/TH/20/0847

Project Land On The North West And South East Sides Of Shottendane Road 

MARGATE Kent 

Page 220

Agenda Item 5
Annex 6



Page 221

Agenda Item 5
Annex 6



This page is intentionally left blank



 

2 
 

Robert Black 
Gladman  

Our ref SP/EC 

Direct line 02070875492 

Mobile 07808102333 
edmund.couldrey@eu.jll.com  

 

 
 
07 June 2021 
 
 
Dear Robert, 
 
LAND AT SHOTTERDANE ROAD, MARGATE – VIABILITY DISCUSSIONS & ADDITIONAL AFFORDABLE 
PROVISION 

Introduction and Background 

JLL provided a Financial Viability Assessment dated June 2020 in support of planning the proposed scheme at 
Shottendane Road, Margate. This was reviewed on behalf of Thanet District Council (“TDC”) by Dixon Searle 
Partnership (“DSP”) in October 2020. The majority of assumptions adopted by JLL were considered appropriate by 
DSP, though some assumptions were disputed. Following discussions these differences were resolved.  

Based upon these revised assumptions the scheme, with a 10% provision of affordable housing, resulted in a 
Residual Land Value (“RLV”) below that of the agreed Benchmark Land Value (“BLV”). On this basis the scheme 
and provision of 10% affordable housing was presented to members at planning committee. 

Updated Assumptions 

The proposed scheme was presented to the Planning Committee in April 2021. Members resolved to defer the 
application for further consideration of the affordable housing offer. In particular, it was considered that the viability 
assessment was somewhat out of date, having been conducted in June 2020, and that the sales price increases 
and build cost inflation that have taken effect since this date should be taken into consideration. As a result, we 
have considered these changes and the impact on the affordable housing offer. 
 
House Prices 
 
We have reviewed the Nationwide’s House Price Index data quarterly indices for the Outer South East. This 
demonstrates that there has been a 5.6% increase in house prices for the region between Q2 2020 and Q1 2021 
(the latest dataset). We have rounded to 6% and reflected this in our overall GDV for the private sale units. This 
has increased the total GDV for the site which we have reflected in our updated appraisal which can be found 
appended to this letter. 
 
Build Costs 
 
We have reviewed the RICS’s Building Cost Information Service (BCIS) Private Housing Construction Price Index 
which shows a 3% increase in costs between Q2 2020 and Q1 2021. We have reflected this in our updated appraisal 
which is appended. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 223

Agenda Item 5
Annex 7

mailto:edmund.couldrey@eu.jll.com


 

Update Appraisal and Additional Affordable Housing 
 
Based upon the above we have calculated that the scheme would provide an additional 5% affordable housing, 
(15% overall), whilst maintaining a similar RLV, which equates to circa 68 affordable units. We have appended a 
summary of our appraisal to this letter. See appendix 1. 
 
This is also on the basis that the level on contributions payable via S106 remains the same as presented in the 
Heads of terms that were before the Planning Committee in April 2021. This includes retaining the affordable 
housing tenure split of 80% affordable rent and 20% shared ownership. 
 
Viability Reviews 
 
At present, in the absence of secured funding, the scheme will need to deliver major infrastructure improvements 
within the development including the link road. This is reflected in the viability assessment results. However, should 
Major Road Network (‘MRN’) funding be granted towards these works then the costs will effectively be released to 
Kent County Council and Thanet District Council under the review mechanisms agreed within the Heads of Terms 
for the S106 Agreement.  
 
Firstly, in the event of MRN or other infrastructure funding prior to implementation of each phase (as shown on 
parameter plan or as agreed), a reassessment of development viability is required with updated values and cost 
information at that time. Any highway cost savings through grant will be provided in full to the Council prior to the 
occupation of any unit in that phase. The obligation shall be utilised towards the community and highways 
infrastructure as defined above.  
 
Secondly, a review mechanism requiring two additional assessments of development viability shall be submitted 
and agreed prior to the occupation of the 200th and 400th dwelling, with updated values and cost information at 
that time. This occurs whether MRN funding is secured or not. The predefined distribution of any surplus will be 
provided to the Council for use towards off-site affordable housing in the district within a stated timescale. 
 
As such there is a strong likelihood that additional contributions from the scheme will be provided to the community 
during the course of the development.   
 
We trust the above is clear but are happy to answer any queries you may have. 
 
Yours sincerely 

 
 
Edmund Couldrey MRICS 
Director, JLL 
 
 
 
 

Page 224

Agenda Item 5
Annex 7



Q1  1993 OUTER S EAST OUTER MET LONDON SOUTH WEST WALES SCOTLAND N IRELAND UK
=100

£ INDEX £ INDEX £ INDEX £ INDEX £ INDEX £ INDEX £ INDEX £ INDEX
Q1 2012 196097 360.1 243969 352.1 293375 438.2 182272 337.8 129682 267.8 135242 257.8 109562 316.9 162722 324.6
Q2 2012 198112 363.8 249067 359.4 302399 451.7 186172 345.1 131840 272.3 136182 259.5 110422 319.4 164955 329.1
Q3 2012 200276 367.8 247386 357.0 301168 449.9 186366 345.4 132385 273.4 132273 252.1 107719 311.6 163910 327.0
Q4 2012 198009 363.6 246453 355.6 300361 448.7 184625 342.2 131630 271.8 131795 251.2 104282 301.6 162924 325.0
Q1 2013 197564 362.8 247830 357.6 306919 458.4 184591 342.1 132971 274.6 128594 245.1 108610 314.1 163056 325.3
Q2 2013 202132 371.2 253913 366.4 318214 475.3 188923 350.2 133432 275.6 134611 256.6 108116 312.7 167294 333.7
Q3 2013 207129 380.4 261090 376.8 331338 494.9 191422 354.8 137169 283.3 135192 257.7 108671 314.3 170918 341.0
Q4 2013 213007 391.2 267682 386.3 345186 515.6 195196 361.8 139722 288.6 136729 260.6 111612 322.8 174444 348.0
Q1 2014 217534 399.5 273998 395.4 362699 541.8 198325 367.6 139911 288.9 138386 263.7 114495 331.2 178124 355.3
Q2 2014 230409 423.1 295543 426.5 400404 598.1 207420 384.4 145812 301.1 141872 270.4 117150 338.8 186544 372.1
Q3 2014 234370 430.4 298558 430.8 401072 599.1 209121 387.6 144096 297.6 142288 271.2 119782 346.5 188810 376.7
Q4 2014 235538 432.5 301612 435.2 406730 607.5 210847 390.8 141631 292.5 142527 271.6 120685 349.1 189002 377.0
Q1 2015 235747 432.9 306931 442.9 408780 610.6 209585 388.4 139171 287.4 140180 267.2 121052 350.1 188566 376.2
Q2 2015 244119 448.3 315620 455.5 429711 641.9 215363 399.2 144701 298.8 140512 267.8 126525 366.0 194258 387.5
Q3 2015 247286 454.1 326785 471.6 443399 662.3 219781 407.3 146854 303.3 140402 267.6 127562 369.0 195733 390.5
Q4 2015 251296 461.5 334532 482.7 456229 681.5 218905 405.7 142622 294.5 139801 266.4 128481 371.6 197044 393.1
Q1 2016 255325 468.9 344371 496.9 455984 681.1 221703 410.9 141525 292.3 139911 266.7 123225 356.4 198564 396.1
Q2 2016 265638 487.8 354787 512.0 472384 705.6 227447 421.6 145973 301.5 141245 269.2 128562 371.8 204238 407.4
Q3 2016 267151 490.6 358153 516.8 474736 709.1 229907 426.1 146172 301.9 143275 273.1 130581 377.7 206346 411.6
Q4 2016 268656 493.4 357331 515.6 473073 706.6 228611 423.7 146049 301.6 142895 272.3 129385 374.2 205937 410.8
Q1 2017 271655 498.9 356812 514.9 478782 715.2 233665 433.1 143236 295.8 143964 274.4 127921 370.0 206665 412.3
Q2 2017 274836 504.7 362338 522.9 478142 714.2 237525 440.2 148018 305.7 143673 273.8 133449 386.0 209971 418.9
Q3 2017 277519 509.6 365584 527.6 471761 704.7 240832 446.4 149970 309.7 146022 278.3 133659 386.6 211672 422.3
Q4 2017 277030 508.7 361598 521.8 470922 703.4 239576 444.0 150885 311.6 146578 279.4 131989 381.8 211433 421.8
Q1 2018 277242 509.1 363263 524.2 473776 707.7 240361 445.5 151971 313.8 144250 274.9 137965 399.0 211792 422.5
Q2 2018 281752 517.4 365514 527.5 468845 700.3 243182 450.7 153964 318.0 148161 282.4 136211 394.0 214578 428.1
Q3 2018 279858 513.9 364309 525.7 468544 699.9 245434 454.9 154881 319.9 149161 284.3 139374 403.1 216103 431.1
Q4 2018 277117 508.9 356531 514.5 466988 697.5 244304 452.8 156891 324.0 147856 281.8 139599 403.8 214178 427.3
Q1 2019 274122 503.4 355978 513.7 455594 680.5 241683 447.9 153287 316.6 147728 281.6 142484 412.1 212694 424.3
Q2 2019 277227 509.1 358850 517.8 465722 695.7 245767 455.5 160407 331.3 148783 283.6 143343 414.6 215910 430.7
Q3 2019 278134 510.8 358833 517.8 460686 688.1 246658 457.2 159355 329.1 150410 286.7 144053 416.7 216805 432.5
Q4 2019 274316 503.7 357665 516.1 458363 684.7 248238 460.1 159322 329.0 151952 289.6 141015 407.9 215925 430.7
Q1 2020 278838 512.1 358996 518.1 460266 687.5 245326 454.7 163076 336.8 148893 283.8 143438 414.9 217911 434.7
Q2 2020 282936 519.6 364529 526.0 475448 710.2 251392 465.9 162089 334.7 154695 294.8 143437 414.9 220133 439.1
Q3 2020 291404 535.1 376682 543.6 480857 718.3 260316 482.5 165423 341.6 153347 292.3 146152 422.7 224337 447.5
Q4 2020 296291 544.1 377677 545.0 486562 726.8 264512 490.3 169846 350.8 156768 298.8 149382 432.1 229819 458.5
Q1 2021 298804 548.7 379058 547.0 482576 720.8 263033 487.5 174777 360.9 159221 303.5 154012 445.5 231644 462.1

P
age 225

A
genda Item

 5
A

nnex 7



BCIS Private Housing Construction Price Index #861

Base date: 1998 mean = 100 | Updated: 15Mar2021 | #861

Percentage change

Date Index Sample On year On quarter On month

2Q 2019 221   Firm   17 4.2% 0.9%

3Q 2019 221   Firm   18 3.3% 0.0%

4Q 2019 223   Firm   19 2.8% 0.9%

1Q 2020 225   Firm   13 2.7% 0.9%

2Q 2020 225   Firm   16 1.8% 0.0%

3Q 2020 226   Firm   17 2.3% 0.4%

4Q 2020 229   Provisional   19 2.7% 1.3%

1Q 2021 233   Forecast   18 3.6% 1.7%

 

28May2021 11:12 © RICS 2021 Page 1 of 1

Page 226

Agenda Item 5
Annex 7



 Shottendane Rd, Margate - 10% AH 
 Scenario 1A - 100% Kent Contribution & PC Tenure 
 6% PS GDV increase 
 3% BC increase 

 Development Appraisal 
 Licensed Copy 
 07 June 2021 

Page 227

Agenda Item 5
Annex 7



 APPRAISAL SUMMARY  LICENSED COPY 
 Shottendane Rd, Margate - 10% AH 
 Scenario 1A - 100% Kent Contribution & PC Tenure 
 6% PS GDV increase 

 Appraisal Summary for Phase 1  

 Currency in £ 

 REVENUE 
 Sales Valuation  Units  ft²  Sales Rate ft²  Unit Price  Gross Sales 

 PS units  405  388,258  299.64  287,253  116,337,650 
 AH units  45  34,446  154.95  118,608  5,337,358 
 Ground Rents (Apartments)  1  0  0.00  107,493  107,493 
 Totals  451  422,704  121,782,501 

 NET REALISATION  121,782,501 

 OUTLAY 

 ACQUISITION COSTS 
 Residualised Price (48.14 Acres @ 88,808.83 /Acre)  4,275,257 

 4,275,257 
 Stamp Duty  203,763 
 Effective Stamp Duty Rate  4.77% 
 Agent Fee  1.50%  64,129 
 Legal Fee  0.50%  21,376 

 289,268 

 CONSTRUCTION COSTS 
 Construction  Units  Unit Amount  Cost  

 Garages     77 un  10,748  827,605 
 Standard Site Works      1 un  1,854,000  1,854,000 
 Road and Sewers      1 un  4,486,076  4,486,076 
 Public Open Space (NEAP, LEAP)      1 un  103,000  103,000 
 Public Open Space (LAP, planting)      1 un  468,650  468,650 
 Plot Abnormals      1 un  2,838,938  2,838,938 
 Site Abnormals      1 un  3,104,904  3,104,904 
 Site Abnormals - Retaining Walls      1 un  1,931,250  1,931,250 
 Link Road(access, diversions, islands)      1 un  1,931,250  1,931,250 
 Link Road (culvert) + re-align Shottendane Rd      1 un  2,648,624  2,648,624 
 Totals  20,194,297 

 ft²  Build Rate ft²  Cost  
 Construction Costs  427,677  126.98  54,305,741 
 Contingency  5.00%  3,725,002 

 78,225,040 
 Section 106 Costs 

 KCC Contributions  4,373,554 
 Thanet Contributions  546,300 

 4,919,854 

 PROFESSIONAL FEES 
 Professional Fees  8.00%  5,960,003 

 5,960,003 
 MARKETING & LETTING 

 PS - Marketing  1.50%  1,745,065 
 1,745,065 

 DISPOSAL FEES 
 PS - Sales Agent Fee  1.50%  1,745,065 
 AH - Sales Agent Fee  1.00%  53,374 
 PS - Sales Legal Fee           405 un  850.00 /un  344,250 
 AH - Sales Legal Fee  0.50%  26,687 

 2,169,375 
 FINANCE 

 Debit Rate 6.500%, Credit Rate 1.000% (Nominal) 
 Land  1,536,725 
 Construction  2,004,038 
 Other  (40,266) 
 Total Finance Cost  3,500,498 

  Project: \\eu.jllnet.com\ukshare$\UKRoot\Residential\Residential Advisory\Affordable Housing\Clients\Gladman\Margate\8. Appraisal\June 2021\20210607_Margate_10% AH (Updated Vals & Costs).wcfx 
  ARGUS Developer Version: 8.20.002  Date: 07/06/2021  

Page 228

Agenda Item 5
Annex 7



 APPRAISAL SUMMARY  LICENSED COPY 
 Shottendane Rd, Margate - 10% AH 
 Scenario 1A - 100% Kent Contribution & PC Tenure 
 6% PS GDV increase 

 TOTAL COSTS  101,084,360 

 PROFIT 
 20,698,142 

 Performance Measures 
 Profit on Cost%  20.48% 
 Profit on GDV%  17.00% 
 Profit on NDV%  17.00% 

  Project: \\eu.jllnet.com\ukshare$\UKRoot\Residential\Residential Advisory\Affordable Housing\Clients\Gladman\Margate\8. Appraisal\June 2021\20210607_Margate_10% AH (Updated Vals & Costs).wcfx 
  ARGUS Developer Version: 8.20.002  Date: 07/06/2021  

Page 229

Agenda Item 5
Annex 7



 Shottendane Rd, Margate - 15% AH 
 Scenario 1A - 100% Kent Contribution & PC Tenure 
 6% PS GDV increase 
 3% BC increase 

 Development Appraisal 
 Licensed Copy 
 07 June 2021 

Page 230

Agenda Item 5
Annex 7



 APPRAISAL SUMMARY  LICENSED COPY 
 Shottendane Rd, Margate - 15% AH 
 Scenario 1A - 100% Kent Contribution & PC Tenure 
 6% PS GDV increase 

 Appraisal Summary for Phase 1  

 Currency in £ 

 REVENUE 
 Sales Valuation  Units  ft²  Sales Rate ft²  Unit Price  Gross Sales 

 PS units  382  369,851  298.95  289,440  110,565,950 
 AH units  68  52,853  155.91  121,181  8,240,311 
 Ground Rents (Apartments)  1  0  0.00  107,493  107,493 
 Totals  451  422,704  118,913,754 

 NET REALISATION  118,913,754 

 OUTLAY 

 ACQUISITION COSTS 
 Residualised Price (48.14 Acres @ 60,075.37 /Acre)  2,892,029 

 2,892,029 
 Stamp Duty  134,601 
 Effective Stamp Duty Rate  4.65% 
 Agent Fee  1.50%  43,380 
 Legal Fee  0.50%  14,460 

 192,442 

 CONSTRUCTION COSTS 
 Construction  Units  Unit Amount  Cost  

 Garages     77 un  10,748  827,605 
 Standard Site Works      1 un  1,854,000  1,854,000 
 Road and Sewers      1 un  4,486,076  4,486,076 
 Public Open Space (NEAP, LEAP)      1 un  103,000  103,000 
 Public Open Space (LAP, planting)      1 un  468,650  468,650 
 Plot Abnormals      1 un  2,838,938  2,838,938 
 Site Abnormals      1 un  3,104,904  3,104,904 
 Site Abnormals - Retaining Walls      1 un  1,931,250  1,931,250 
 Link Road(access, diversions, islands)      1 un  1,931,250  1,931,250 
 Link Road (culvert) + re-align Shottendane Rd      1 un  2,648,624  2,648,624 
 Totals  20,194,297 

 ft²  Build Rate ft²  Cost  
 Construction Costs  427,677  126.98  54,305,741 
 Contingency  5.00%  3,725,002 

 78,225,040 
 Section 106 Costs 

 KCC Contributions  4,373,554 
 Thanet Contributions  546,300 

 4,919,854 

 PROFESSIONAL FEES 
 Professional Fees  8.00%  5,960,003 

 5,960,003 
 MARKETING & LETTING 

 PS - Marketing  1.50%  1,658,489 
 1,658,489 

 DISPOSAL FEES 
 PS - Sales Agent Fee  1.50%  1,658,489 
 AH - Sales Agent Fee  1.00%  82,403 
 PS - Sales Legal Fee           382 un  850.00 /un  324,700 
 AH - Sales Legal Fee  0.50%  41,202 

 2,106,794 
 FINANCE 

 Debit Rate 6.500%, Credit Rate 1.000% (Nominal) 
 Land  1,029,230 
 Construction  2,059,684 
 Other  (14,675) 
 Total Finance Cost  3,074,238 

  Project: \\eu.jllnet.com\ukshare$\UKRoot\Residential\Residential Advisory\Affordable Housing\Clients\Gladman\Margate\8. Appraisal\June 2021\20210607_Margate_Scenario 1A (Updated Vals & Costs).wcfx 
  ARGUS Developer Version: 8.20.002  Date: 07/06/2021  

Page 231

Agenda Item 5
Annex 7



 APPRAISAL SUMMARY  LICENSED COPY 
 Shottendane Rd, Margate - 15% AH 
 Scenario 1A - 100% Kent Contribution & PC Tenure 
 6% PS GDV increase 

 TOTAL COSTS  99,028,889 

 PROFIT 
 19,884,865 

 Performance Measures 
 Profit on Cost%  20.08% 
 Profit on GDV%  16.72% 
 Profit on NDV%  16.72% 

  Project: \\eu.jllnet.com\ukshare$\UKRoot\Residential\Residential Advisory\Affordable Housing\Clients\Gladman\Margate\8. Appraisal\June 2021\20210607_Margate_Scenario 1A (Updated Vals & Costs).wcfx 
  ARGUS Developer Version: 8.20.002  Date: 07/06/2021  

Page 232

Agenda Item 5
Annex 7



 Shottendane Rd, Margate - 19% AH 
 Scenario 1A - 75% Kent Contribution & PC Tenure 
 6% PS GDV increase 
 3% BC increase 

 Development Appraisal 
 Licensed Copy 
 07 June 2021 

Page 233

Agenda Item 5
Annex 8



 APPRAISAL SUMMARY  LICENSED COPY 
 Shottendane Rd, Margate - 19% AH 
 Scenario 1A - 75% Kent Contribution & PC Tenure 
 6% PS GDV increase 

 Appraisal Summary for Phase 1  

 Currency in £ 

 REVENUE 
 Sales Valuation  Units  ft²  Sales Rate ft²  Unit Price  Gross Sales 

 PS units  365  356,065  298.57  291,260  106,310,050 
 AH units  85  66,639  154.74  121,314  10,311,719 
 Totals  450  422,704  116,621,769 

 Rental Area Summary  Initial  Net Rent  Initial 
 Units  MRV/Unit  at Sale  MRV 

 Ground Rent  23  270  6,210  6,210 

 Investment Valuation 

 Ground Rent 
 Market Rent  6,210  YP @  5.0000%  20.0000 

 PV 3yrs 10mths @  5.0000%  0.8294  103,014 

 GROSS DEVELOPMENT VALUE  116,724,783 

 NET REALISATION  116,724,783 

 OUTLAY 

 ACQUISITION COSTS 
 Residualised Price (48.14 Acres @ 59,116.51 /Acre)  2,845,869 

 2,845,869 
 Stamp Duty  132,293 
 Effective Stamp Duty Rate  4.65% 
 Agent Fee  1.50%  42,688 
 Legal Fee  0.50%  14,229 

 189,211 

 CONSTRUCTION COSTS 
 Construction  Units  Unit Amount  Cost  

 Garages     77 un  10,748  827,605 
 Standard Site Works      1 un  1,854,000  1,854,000 
 Road and Sewers      1 un  4,486,076  4,486,076 
 Public Open Space (NEAP, LEAP)      1 un  103,000  103,000 
 Public Open Space (LAP, planting)      1 un  468,650  468,650 
 Plot Abnormals      1 un  2,838,938  2,838,938 
 Site Abnormals      1 un  3,104,904  3,104,904 
 Site Abnormals - Retaining Walls      1 un  1,931,250  1,931,250 
 Link Road(access, diversions, islands)      1 un  1,931,250  1,931,250 
 Link Road (culvert) + re-align Shottendane Rd      1 un  2,648,624  2,648,624 
 Totals  20,194,297 

 ft²  Build Rate ft²  Cost  
 Construction Costs  427,677  126.98  54,305,741 
 Contingency  5.00%  3,725,002 

 78,225,040 
 Section 106 Costs 

 KCC Contributions  3,280,166 
 Thanet Contributions  546,300 

 3,826,466 

 PROFESSIONAL FEES 
 Professional Fees  8.00%  5,960,003 

 5,960,003 
 MARKETING & LETTING 

 PS - Marketing  1.50%  1,594,651 
 1,594,651 

 DISPOSAL FEES 

  Project: \\eu.jllnet.com\ukshare$\UKRoot\Residential\Residential Advisory\Affordable Housing\Clients\Gladman\Margate\8. Appraisal\June 2021\20210607_Margate_Scenario 1B (Updated Vals & Costs).wcfx 
  ARGUS Developer Version: 8.20.002  Date: 07/06/2021  

Page 234

Agenda Item 5
Annex 8



 APPRAISAL SUMMARY  LICENSED COPY 
 Shottendane Rd, Margate - 19% AH 
 Scenario 1A - 75% Kent Contribution & PC Tenure 
 6% PS GDV increase 

 PS - Sales Agent Fee  1.50%  1,594,651 
 AH - Sales Agent Fee  1.00%  103,117 
 PS - Sales Legal Fee           365 un  850.00 /un  310,250 
 AH - Sales Legal Fee  0.50%  51,559 

 2,059,577 
 FINANCE 

 Debit Rate 6.500%, Credit Rate 1.000% (Nominal) 
 Land  987,162 
 Construction  1,811,811 
 Other  (15,996) 
 Total Finance Cost  2,782,978 

 TOTAL COSTS  97,483,793 

 PROFIT 
 19,240,989 

 Performance Measures 
 Profit on Cost%  19.74% 
 Profit on GDV%  16.48% 
 Profit on NDV%  16.48% 

  Project: \\eu.jllnet.com\ukshare$\UKRoot\Residential\Residential Advisory\Affordable Housing\Clients\Gladman\Margate\8. Appraisal\June 2021\20210607_Margate_Scenario 1B (Updated Vals & Costs).wcfx 
  ARGUS Developer Version: 8.20.002  Date: 07/06/2021  

Page 235

Agenda Item 5
Annex 8



This page is intentionally left blank



Planning Application OL/TH/20/0847  – Land On The North
West And South East Sides Of Shottendane Road

MARGATE Kent

Planning Committee –  23rd June 2020

Report Author Iain Livingstone, Planning Applications Manager

Status For Decision

Classification: Unrestricted

Previously Considered by Planning Committee 21st April 2021

Ward: Salmestone

Executive Summary:

This report concerns the planning application for the residential development of up to 450
dwellings and alterations to the highway network, including details of access with all other
matters reserved (Appearance, Landscaping, Layout, Scale) on land to the north west and
south east of Shottendane Road, Margate. The application was considered by the Planning
Committee on 21st April 2021 where Members resolved to defer to Officers to consider
alternative provision of planning obligations, specifically regarding affordable housing, and
report back to a future meeting.

The applicant has considered the change in market conditions since the submission of the
viability appraisal in regard to sales values and building costs and has submitted a revised
offer of 15% of housing on site to be affordable as defined by the National Planning Policy
Framework, with all other contributions still provided as outlined in the Committee report in
Annex 6. This would potentially increase the number of affordable units by 23 dwellings from
45 to a total of 68 affordable housing units. This is considered by officers to be supported by
sufficient evidence that an increase in provision of affordable housing above this level, with
the current level of other planning contributions, would make the development of this
allocated housing site unviable. The benefits from the application, including but not limited to
the provision of housing, new road infrastructure, contributions towards community
infrastructure and 15% affordable housing, is considered to demonstrably outweigh any harm
created by the development, including not achieving the target for on-site affordable housing.

The planning application is therefore reported back to Members for approval of the new
heads of terms towards affordable housing and other planning obligations, and for resolution
to defer and delegate for approval of the outline planning application subject to receipt of a
legal agreement securing the agreed obligations and safeguarding conditions.

Recommendation:

Page 237

Agenda Item 5
Annex 9



Members confirm that the planning application be deferred to officers for approval subject to
securing a legal agreement for the provision of 15% affordable housing on site (split 80%
affordable rent and 20% shared ownership) and planning obligations as set out in Annex 6,
and safeguarding conditions outlined at Annex 6.

CORPORATE IMPLICATIONS
Financial and
Value for
Money

The Planning Committee is not bound to follow the advice of Officers.
However, should Members decide not to accept the advice of Officers it
should be mindful of the potential cost implications in doing so.

The advice from Government within the National Planning Practice
Guidance sets out the circumstances in which costs may be awarded
against either party in planning appeals. Costs may be awarded where a
party has behaved unreasonably; and the unreasonable behaviour has
directly caused another party to incur unnecessary or wasted expense in
the appeal process.

The advice outlined is that if officers’ professional or technical advice is not
followed, authorities will need to show reasonable planning grounds for
taking a contrary decision and produce relevant evidence on appeal to
support the decision in all respects. If they fail to do so, costs may be
awarded against the authority. There are no funds allocated for any
potential fines meaning cost awards will result in spend that is outside of
the budgetary framework.

Legal The Planning Committee is not bound to follow the advice of Officers.
However, if officers’ professional or technical advice is not followed,
authorities will need to show reasonable planning grounds for taking a
contrary decision and produce relevant evidence on appeal to support the
decision in all respects. If they fail to do so, costs may be awarded against
the authority.

The reasons for any decision must be formally recorded in the minutes
and a copy placed on file.

If Members decide not to accept the advice of Officers it should be mindful
of the potential for legal challenge and associated cost implications.

The advice from Government within the National Planning Practice
Guidance sets out the circumstances in which costs may be awarded
against either party in planning appeals. Costs may be awarded where a
party has behaved unreasonably; and the unreasonable behaviour has
directly caused another party to incur unnecessary or wasted expense in
the appeal process. Costs may be awarded following an application by the
appellant or unilaterally by the Inspector. An authority is considered to
have behaved unreasonably if it does not produce evidence to
substantiate each reason for refusal.

Corporate The delivery of new housing through the Local Plan and planning
applications supports the Council’s priorities of supporting neighbourhoods
ensuring local residents have access to good quality housing, and

Page 238

Agenda Item 5
Annex 9



promoting inward investment through setting planning strategies and
policies that support growth of the economy.

Equalities Act
2010 & Public
Sector Equality
Duty

Members are reminded of the requirement, under the Public Sector
Equality Duty (section 149 of the Equality Act 2010) to have due regard to
the aims of the Duty at the time the decision is taken. The aims of the
Duty are: (i) eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment, victimisation
and other conduct prohibited by the Act, (ii) advance equality of
opportunity between people who share a protected characteristic and
people who do not share it, and (iii) foster good relations between people
who share a protected characteristic and people who do not share it.

Protected characteristics: age, gender, disability, race, sexual orientation,
gender reassignment, religion or belief and pregnancy & maternity. Only
aim (i) of the Duty applies to Marriage & civil partnership.

In the opinion of the author of this report the Public Sector equality duty is
not engaged or affected by this decision.

1.0 Introduction

1.1 The report taken to Members on the 21st April 2021 (Annex 6) proposed the
residential development of the land either side of Shottendane Road for up to 450
dwelling with alterations to the highways network. This report was supported by
viability evidence, including an independent assessment of the viability appraisal by
the Council's appointed consultants, in support of the provision of 10% affordable
housing on site, with approximately £4.9million in contributions to community and
highways infrastructure (outlined in the heads of terms in Annex 6). The application
was considered by officers to accord with the Thanet Local Plan, in particular with
Policy SP23 as it had been demonstrated that the requirement for 30% on site
affordable should be reduced as meeting it would demonstrably make the proposed
development unviable.

1.2 The application was discussed at length at the meeting and following the failure of
the motion to defer the application for approval, the application was deferred to
officers to consider alternative provision of planning obligations, specifically regarding
affordable housing, and report back to a future meeting. This report outlines the
submission of the applicant following this resolution and provides further guidance to
members about the relevant planning matters. This report should be read in
conjunction with the previous Committee report at Annex 6.

2.0 Applicant’s Submission

2.1 The applicant has submitted an update to the viability appraisal to the Council which
is appended at Annex 7 provided by their consultants JLL. This has assessed the
changes to sales values and build costs since the previous appraisal was concluded
(June 2020) and applied the values from the first quarter of 2021. For sales values,
this shows an increase when using the Nationwide house Price Index Data (for outer
south east) of 5.6%, which has been rounded to 6% and applied to all market
housing proposed and shared ownership units. For the affordable rent units, the
value of these properties has only marginally increased as these values are

Page 239

Agenda Item 5
Annex 9



calculated using the Local Housing Market Allowance rates (based on private market
rents being paid in Thanet). For the build costs, using the RICS’s Building Cost
Information Service (BCIS) private housing construction price index, there has been
an increase of 3% of build costs.

2.2 These percentages have been applied to the relevant sections of the appraisal report
(provided in summary at Annex 7). This is considered by officers to be a suitable
update to the agreed assumptions within the previous viability report based on
verifiable evidence and recognised indexes. An updated appraisal has been provided
which shows that the site can provide 15% affordable housing on site (at an 80%
affordable rent and 20% shared ownership mix), with the same amount of
contributions, without making the development viable. This has been submitted as a
revised provision on site, which would provide up to 68 units (53 of which would be
affordable rent), increasing the affordable units by 23 above the previous 10%.

2.3 The submission from JLL also outlines that the agreed review mechanisms in the
Section 106 (covering if the Major Road Network (MRN) grant occurred, and a
review in any event at 2 points in the development) would encompass any further
increases in values using the information at the time of the reviews. This has been
elaborated upon further within the previous Committee report (Annex 6).

3.0 Considerations on Planning Obligations

3.1 The relevant Local Plan Policies for considering this site in terms of planning
obligations are Policy SP41 (Community Infrastructure) and SP23 (Affordable
Housing). Policy SP41 states that development will only be permitted when provision
is made to ensure delivery of relevant and sufficient community and utility
infrastructure. Where appropriate, development will be expected to contribute to the
provision of new, improved, upgraded or replacement infrastructure and facilities.
Policy SP23 states that for development of the scale proposed shall be required to
provide 30% of the dwellings as affordable housing, with the requirements only
reduced if meeting them would demonstrably make the proposed development
unviable.

3.2 The officer recommendation to Planning Committee previously supported the
provision of 10% affordable housing, with £4.9 million (approx) contribution to
community and highways infrastructure and environmental mitigation (SAMMs). This
was on the basis of 2 review mechanisms provisions within the legal agreement,
allowing a reappraisal during development to encompass sales values increases and
any grant funding, which if the development is found to be more viable, additional
contributions would be payable for affordable housing and infrastructure. This
followed extensive discussion with Kent County Council to agree on an approach
which maximised the contributions to required infrastructure, without precluding the
development of an allocated housing site which provides key sections of road
infrastructure as part of the Thanet Transport Strategy.

3.3 Following the increase to 15% affordable housing, it is considered reasonable to
agree to a reduced affordable housing provision on site, in this instance, in
accordance with Policy SP23 of the Thanet Local Plan, whilst still maximising the
amount of affordable rent housing possible to provide housing for those most in
need. This judgement is based on the evidence submitted from verified evidence and

Page 240

Agenda Item 5
Annex 9



indexes, with the original assumption in the appraisal independently assessed by the
Council’s appointed consultants. The review mechanisms proposed would also
remain in place as outlined in the Heads of terms section of the previous Committee
report at Annex 6, to capture any increase in the viability of the site over time through
a financial contribution.

3.4 The application would provide the development of an allocated housing site at a time
when the Council has failed to meet the housing delivery test, placing further weight
in decision-making in approving development which accords with the adopted Local
Plan. In addition, the provision of the link road from Manston Road to Hartsdown
Road will provide clear and demonstrable benefits to the district’s transportation
network, whilst accommodating additional traffic created from the proposal.

3.5 On the basis of the evidence before the Council, a higher proportion of affordable
housing could only be achieved through reducing contributions to community and
highways infrastructure. The applicant has set out that by reducing the contributions
to 75% would result in an increase in affordable housing to 19% on site provision
(this is appended at Annex 8). This would mean that the development would not in
officers' view sufficiently mitigate the impact of the development on the highway
network, nor the impact on community services including education, by reducing the
off-site contributions outlined in the heads of terms, as this may mean that insufficient
funding is available for strategic projects for the district. Therefore it is not
recommended that the amount of contribution to community and highway
infrastructure is reduced from that outlined in the Heads of Terms section of the
Committee report at Annex 6.

4.0 Costs risk

4.1 As outlined in the “Protocol for the Guidance of Planning Committee Members and
Officers” as part of the Council’s constitution, if the Planning Committee is minded to
refuse planning permission against officer advice the Planning Committee is required
to give adequate and intelligible reasons on good planning grounds for refusing to
grant planning permission and these ground(s) of refusal must be in the minds of
members of the Planning Committee at the point of refusal.

4.2 In addition, the Council is at risk of having costs awarded against it, if, subsequently
on appeal, it is unable to justify each ground of refusal. Costs may be awarded where
a party has behaved unreasonably; and the unreasonable behaviour has directly
caused another party to incur unnecessary or wasted expense in the appeal process.
Costs may be awarded following an application by the appellant or unilaterally by the
Inspector. One of the aims of the costs regime, outlined by the National Planning
Practice Guidance, is to “encourage local planning authorities to properly exercise
their development management responsibilities, to rely only on reasons for refusal
which stand up to scrutiny on the planning merits of the case, not to add to
development costs through avoidable delay”.

4.3 Following the assessment of officer’s and the Council’s appointed consultants, the
submitted evidence has shown that the development would be unviable if the
affordable housing on-site was increased above 15% (68 units in a 450 unit
development). Without any evidence to the contrary, refusal on grounds of insufficient
affordable housing would be untenable at appeal, as Policy SP23 of the adopted

Page 241

Agenda Item 5
Annex 9



Local Plan outlines that the 30% requirement “will only be reduced if meeting them
would demonstrably make the proposed development unviable”. Therefore the
reduced amount in this specific instance, taking into account the other contributions
provided, and the review mechanisms to capture any uplift in value or grants
awarded, would accord with Local Plan Policy, and any refusal on this ground would
be a high risk of being overturned at appeal with costs awarded against the Council.

4.4 Members should not apply the rationale that as the development cannot provide the
target affordable housing amount in the Local Plan, that the site is not suitable for
development as a housing site, as this would fail to adequately take in account the
guidance within the National Planning Practice Guidance regarding viability and the
provisions within the Thanet Local Plan specifically in Policy SP23.

5.0 Other matters

5.1 It is clear from appeal decisions and advice, that the consideration of a planning
application on an allocated housing site should not assess whether the site is suitable
for housing development. An assessment has already occurred through the Local
Plan process, and the plan has been adopted by the Council. Any refusal on principle
grounds relating to the development of the site for housing would, in officers view, be
unreasonable and the Council would be at high risk of a costs award. In addition, the
loss of agricultural land has been considered and weighed against the need for
housing through the policy process. The allocated status of the site means the
decision for members is not whether the site should be developed, but how it should
be developed when applying the specific policy requirements of the site and the local
plan.

5.2 Concerns were raised by members of the Planning Committee regarding the lack of
GP services in the district both broadly and in relation to the proposed housing
development. The Council consulted with the NHS Kent and Medway Clinical
Commissioning Group (CCG) who have assessed the implications of this proposal on
delivery of general practice services. They have requested a contribution which has
been considered to sufficiently mitigate the impact of the development with a
payment of £388,800 towards creating capacity at the Limes. Current operational
issues in regard to recruiting GPs to the district would not be a justifiable planning
reason for refusal of the application, as the issue is not directly related to the
development, and the responsible body (CCG) have confirmed that a contribution is
sufficient to mitigate the impact from the development on healthcare provision.

5.3 Additional concerns were outlined in relation to drainage of the site, following the
presentation of the existing surface water flows across the site. The detailed
assessment in the application and mitigation measures has been reviewed by
specialist Kent County Council officers (as the Local Lead Flood Authority), with
agreement for safeguarding conditions on any grant of planning permission to require
further details including a detailed surface water drainage scheme and subsequent
verification report. This scheme would need to be formulated as part of the detailed
layout of the site, which is not being considered at this outline stage, but the
principles of the strategy have been assessed to be satisfactory to manage surface
water run-off from the development. The planning conditions (13, 14, 15) are
considered appropriate mechanisms for ensuring that flood risks from development
to the future users of the land and neighbouring land are minimised in accordance

Page 242

Agenda Item 5
Annex 9



with Policy CC02 of the Local Plan and the guidance within the National Planning
Policy Framework.

6.0 Options

6.1 Members confirm that the planning application be deferred to officers for approval
subject to securing a legal agreement for the provision of 15% affordable housing on
site (split 80% affordable rent and 20% shared ownership), and planning obligations
and safeguarding conditions outlined at Annex 6.

6.2 Members propose an alternative motion.

7.0 Recommendations

7.1 Officers recommend Members of the Planning Committee agree option 6.1.

Contact Officer: Iain Livingstone, Planning Applications Manager
Reporting to: Bob Porter, Director of Housing and Planning

Annex List

Annex 1 Applicant’s Viability Appraisal
Annex 2 DSP Viability Review
Annex 3 Highways Cost review
Annex 4 Applicant response on Highways cost
Annex 5 Habitat_Regulation_Assessment 20.0847
Annex 6 Planning Committee Report 21st April 2021
Annex 7 Applicant’s Additional Viability submission
Annex 8 Alternative contribution scenario

Page 243

Agenda Item 5
Annex 9



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 

Mr Iain Livingstone 
Planning Applications Manager 
Thanet District Council  
Cecil St 
Margate 
CT9 1XZ 
 

09/07/21  

(By Email) 

 

Dear Mr Livingstone, 

Re: OL/TH/20/0847 - Outline application for the erection of up to 450 residential dwellings 

(including market and affordable housing), structural planting and landscaping, formal and informal 

public open space and children's play area, sustainable urban drainage, with vehicular access points, 

including associated ancillary works and operations, from Hartsdown Road, Shottendane Road and 

Manston Road including access | Land on the North West And South East Sides Of Shottendane 

Road 

I write in advance of Planning Committee on the 21st July 2021, which is when I understand our 

application will return to be considered following its deferment on the 23rd June.  

We have listened intently to the debates at both Planning Committees and recognise that Members 

are troubled by approving a strategic housing allocation that does not achieve the maximum quantity 

of onsite affordable housing expected by policy (30%). 

As you will be aware, the site has a distinct set of constraints and infrastructure requirements. In 

bringing this site forward we have balanced these components and planned a scheme that is 

deliverable from both a technical and commercial perspective. The application is supported by 

extensive evidence, technical investigations and agreed infrastructure mitigations, which provide 

confidence in the scheme’s deliverability.  

This evidence includes a viability appraisal prepared by JLL, the findings of which have been agreed by 

the Council’s appointed viability consultant. As you will be aware, following Planning Committee in 

April, we were able to increase the level of onsite affordable housing by rebasing sales values and 

build costs against present day indexes. After June’s Planning Committee, we again reviewed all 

inputs. However, we do not believe any further changes to the inputs to the agreed viability 

assessment is justified, meaning the only way to increase the viable output of affordable homes would 

be through a reduction in costs. 

Herein leads to a unique aspect of the scheme that we consider warrants further investigation. As 

reflected in your officer report, part of the schemes abnormal cost is borne from road infrastructure 

to create the distributor link between Hartsdown Road and Manston Road.  However, it is likely that 

during build out, these costs would be met by Kent County Council through its Major Road Network 

Page 245

Agenda Item 5
Annex 10



(MRN) fund. Previous discussions with Highway Officers delved into the timing of MRN, which as you 

are aware, led to the review mechanisms proposed in the agreed Heads of Terms.  

In relation to affordable housing, the reviews envisaged two milestones that would have allowed 

updated viability appraisals to identify and capture recouped build costs that would then have been 

channelled back to the Council to fund off-site affordable housing.  

Put simply, whilst the agreed viability assessment generates a headline initial affordable housing 

provision of 15%. In the event that funding within the S106 for road improvements was not later 

required, that funding would deliver a much higher level of affordable provision, potentially rising to 

the full 30%, albeit part of this would be offsite.   

Our application has therefore never sought to evade provision of affordable housing, but to ensure 

the maximum level of affordable housing can be provided within the constraints of the major 

investments in local roads which are required. We acknowledge however, that Members concerns 

pivot around the provision of onsite affordable housing. 

Whilst the agreed viability evidence shows what it shows, the NPPF requires that such assessments 

are prepared using standardised inputs and a fixed set of assumptions; they cannot ‘grapple’ with 

funding scenarios like MRN as it is not agreed. We as applicant can, as part of our site risk profiling. 

With this in mind, we believe this presents a unique situation that enables us to take on risk and to 

short circuit the MRN time gap.  

Minutes from Planning Committee in June note that the application was deferred to allow officers 

time to consider reasons for refusal. As an allocated, strategic housing site in the adopted Local Plan 

we believe that it is in both party’s interests to avoid the refusal of planning permission, and likely 

follow-on appeal. As you will be aware, an appeal only serves to add time and cost to both parties and 

needlessly draws out site delivery.  

Having listened carefully to the debate, the sentiment of Members appeared to be that they would 

have been prepared to defer and delegate approval, but subject to a fixed requirement for 30% 

affordable housing.  That is of course a resolution open to them, if in their planning judgment they 

consider this is in line with local and national policy.  Following such a positive resolution, the onus 

would fall upon us to sign a S106 if we wished to secure the permission. 

Such a resolution would depart from the viability evidence; however, it would reflect the debate at 

the previous committee and represent a solution to address a unique set of circumstances on a unique 

site. By adopting this approach, we recognise that it shifts risk to us as applicant regarding the timing 

and success of the MRN bid. However, we are confident that the County will be successful in its funding 

bid. We also believe that approval of this scheme will only serve to bolster that bid and we are 

committed to seeing delivery on this site. 

I trust this letter is self-explanatory; however, if you require clarification on any points, please do not 

hesitate to contact me. 

Yours sincerely, 

Chris Ball (electronic signature) 

 

Christopher Ball MRTPI  

Planning Director 

Page 246

Agenda Item 5
Annex 10



THANET DISTRICT COUNCIL

PLANNING COMMITTEE

21 JULY 2021

BACKGROUND PAPERS TO SCHEDULE OF APPLICATIONS

The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Access to Information) (England)
Regulations 2000 (as amended)

(A) Standard Reference Documents - (available for inspection at the Council
offices and via thanet.gov.uk and gov.uk)

1. Thanet District Council Local Plan
2. Cliftonville Development Plan Document
3. Broadstairs and St Peters Neighbourhood Plan
4. The National Planning Policy Framework and the National Planning

Practice Guidance issued by the Ministry of Housing, Communities
and Local Government.

(B) Register of Applications for Planning Permission (Article 40 of the Town and
Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) Order
2015))

(Copy of applications together with accompanying plans or drawings are
available for inspection via the Council’s website
https://planning.thanet.gov.uk/online-applications/ or at the Council offices)

(C) Background Papers in relation to specific reports in the Schedule of Planning
Applications

(Copies of background papers and any appeal decisions referred to are
available via the Council’s website
https://planning.thanet.gov.uk/online-applications/ )

I certify that the above items are not exempt information.

(D) Exempt information in accordance with paragraph of Schedule 12 (A) of the
Local Government Act 1972.

N/A

I certify that the above items are exempt information.

Prepared by: IAIN LIVINGSTONE

SIGNED:. DATE:12TH JULY 2021
Proper Officer

Page 247

Agenda Item 6

https://planning.thanet.gov.uk/online-applications/
https://planning.thanet.gov.uk/online-applications/


This page is intentionally left blank



THANET DISTRICT COUNCIL

REPORT OF THE DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE

PART A

TO: THE PLANNING COMMITTEE DATE: 21 July 2021

Application Number Address and Details Recommendation

A01   F/TH/21/0463 Foresters Arms 48 Boundary Road 

RAMSGATE Kent CT11 7NW

Erection of single storey, part first floor 

and part two storey rear extensions, 

alterations to fenestration, formation of 

parking and garden to rear, together 

with internal alterations, following partial 

demolition of 1-3 Alma Road

Ward: Eastcliff

Approve

A02   FH/TH/21/0641 32 Shakespeare Road BIRCHINGTON 

Kent CT7 9ET 

Erection of a single storey side 

extension with 3No rooflights

Ward: Birchington North

Approve

A03   FH/TH/21/0827 20 Avebury Avenue RAMSGATE 

Kent CT11 8BB 

Erection of porch to front elevation

Ward: Sir Moses Montefiore

Approve

Page 249

Agenda Item 6
Annex 1



THANET DISTRICT COUNCIL

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE RESOURCES

PART B

TO: THE PLANNING COMMITTEE DATE: 21 July 2021

Application Number Address and Details Recommendation

D04   F/TH/21/0710 49 St Peters Court BROADSTAIRS 

Kent CT10 2UU 

Erection of single storey 2-bed 

detached dwelling together with 

creation of vehicular access

Ward: St Peters

Defer & Delegate

Page 250

Agenda Item 6
Annex 1



A01 F/TH/21/0463 

 

PROPOSAL: 

 

LOCATION: 

Erection of single storey, part first floor and part two storey rear 

extensions, alterations to fenestration, formation of parking and 

garden to rear, together with internal alterations, following 

partial demolition of 1-3 Alma Road 

 

Foresters Arms 48 Boundary Road RAMSGATE Kent CT11 

7NW 

 

WARD: Eastcliff 

 

AGENT: Mr John Lowden 

 

APPLICANT: Mr S Fury 

 

RECOMMENDATION: Approve 

 

Subject to the following conditions: 

 

 1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three 

years from the date of this permission. 

 

GROUND: 

In accordance with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended by 

Section 51 of the Planning and Purchase Act 2004). 

 

 2 The proposed development shall be carried out in accordance with the submitted 

application as amended by the revised drawing numbered BDG 539-3C received 12 July 

2021. 

 

GROUND: 

To secure the proper development of the area. 

 

 3 The external surfaces of the development hereby approved shall be finished in: 

 

Elevations - Painted render to match the colour, finish and texture of the existing elevations 

Roof to part two storey part first floor rear extension - Slate tiles to match the colour, finish 

and texture of the existing roof tiles 

Infilled door to western side elevation of side/rear extension - Flintwork to match the colour, 

finish and texture of the adjacent flintwork section. 

Windows and doors - UPVC double glazed 

Double doors to front elevation - Composite doors  

 

As annotated and illustrated on the approved plan numbered BDG 539-3C received 12 July 

2021 and outlined in the submitted application form received 26 March 2021.  

 

GROUND: 

Page 251

Agenda Item 6a



In the interests of visual amenity in accordance with Policy QD02 of the Thanet Local Plan. 

 

 4 Prior to the construction of the external surfaces of the development hereby 

approved details of the proposed flint work section to the infilled door opening to the ground 

floor western side elevation hereby approved to match the adjacent flint work section, shall 

be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. Development shall 

be carried out in accordance with the approved details unless otherwise agreed in writing by 

the Local Planning Authority. 

 

GROUND: 

To secure a satisfactory external treatment in the interests of visual amenity in accordance 

with Policy QD02 of the Thanet Local Plan. 

 

 5 The off-street parking and hardstanding to the rear shall be finished in water 

permeable block pavers, as stated on the submitted application form received 26 March 

2021.  

 

GROUND: 

In the interests of the visual amenities of the area and to adequately integrate the 

development into the environment in accordance with Policies QD02 and GI04 of the Thanet 

Local Plan. 

 

 6 The double doors to the ground floor front elevation hereby approved shall be set 

within a reveal of not less than 100mm as confirmed in the email correspondence from the 

agent received 12 July 2021. 

 

GROUND: 

In the interests of visual amenity in accordance with Policy QD02 of the Thanet Local Plan. 

 

 7 The use of the rear garden associated with the Public House hereby approved shall 

cease, and the gated access to the garden locked, daily at 21:30, as annotated on the 

approved plan numbered BDG 539-3C received 12 July 2021. 

 

GROUND: 

To ensure that noise and activity is minimised in the interest of the residential amenities of 

the area, in accordance with Policies QD02 and SE06 of the Thanet Local Plan. 

 

 8 Prior to the first use of the parking spaces to the rear hereby permitted, the 

associated vehicular crossover onto the highway, as shown on the approved plan numbered 

BDG 539-3C received 12 July 2021, shall be completed and made operational. 

 

GROUND: 

In the interests of highway safety, in accordance with the advice contained within the NPPF. 

 

 9 The parking spaces hereby approved shall be a minimum of 4.8m long x 2.5m wide 

as shown on the approved plan numbered BDG 539-3C received 12 July 2021. 

 

GROUND: 

Page 252

Agenda Item 6a



To provide satisfactory off street parking for vehicles in accordance with Policy TP06 of the 

Thanet Local Plan and the advice contained within the NPPF. 

 

INFORMATIVES 

 

Please ensure that you check the above conditions when planning to implement the 

approved development. You must clear all pre-commencement conditions before 

development starts on site. Processing of conditions submissions can take up to 8 

weeks and this must be factored into development timescales. The information on the 

submission process is available here:   

 

https://www.thanet.gov.uk/info-pages/planning-conditions/ 

 

It is the responsibility of the applicant to ensure, prior to the commencement of the 

development hereby approved, that all necessary highway approvals and consents where 

required are obtained and that the limits of highway boundary are clearly established in order 

to avoid any enforcement action being by the Highway Authority. The applicant must also 

ensure that the details shown on the approved plans agree in every aspect with those 

approved under such legislation and common law. It is therefore important for the applicant 

to contact KCC Highway and Transportation to progress this aspect of the works prior to 

commencement on site 

 

The permission hereby granted does not include the installation of any external extraction 

equipment, and therefore should external extraction equipment be required, further planning 

permission will be required. 

 

 

 

SITE, LOCATION AND DESCRIPTION 

 

Foresters Arms is a two storey period end of terrace Public House which is currently vacant. 

The application property comprises a simple, traditional design with a symmetrical pattern of 

fenestration to the front elevation, a double pitched roof to the main body and single storey 

side and rear extensions, set under flat roofs. The application site also includes 1-3 Alma 

Road to the rear, which currently contains a single storey flat roofed attached building with a 

garage door to the frontage, which contains a vacant workshop/garage.  

 

The property is sited on a corner plot and fronts Boundary Road to the south and abuts Alma 

Road to the west. The surrounding area is characterised by modest, compact traditional two 

storey Victorian terraces of a regular form and design.  

 

PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT 

 

This application follows a series of applications for this application property which sought to 

change the use and extend the property to 2No. residential dwellings.  

 

This application proposes to retain the existing Public House use, and proposes the erection 

of single storey and part two storey, part first floor rear extensions, alterations to fenestration 

Page 253

Agenda Item 6a



and the formation of parking and garden to rear, following the removal of the roof and partial 

demolition of 1-3 Alma Road to the rear.  

 

The proposed alterations to fenestration will introduce double doors to the front elevation. 

The proposed single storey rear extension will alter and enlarge the existing single storey 

rear/side extension to the west. The proposed first floor rear extension has been amended to 

a part two storey part first floor extension to omit the overhang between the two existing rear 

extensions and will be set under a hipped pitched roof and extend a depth of approximately 

3.5m, a width of approximately 6m, and set in from the two storey side elevation of the 

application property by approximately 2m. 

 

The application proposes to remove the roof and partially demolish the existing single storey 

garage/workshop building at 1-3 Alma Road. The concrete base is proposed to be retained 

to provide parking spaces for the owners of the Public House, and a garden area which will 

be finished in astroturf and bounded by 2m high fences, accessed via a gate via the existing 

courtyard. 

 

The application has been amended during the course of the application. The proposed 

double doors to the frontage have been re-positioned to the single storey side extension, 

retaining the symmetrical pattern of fenestration to the main front elevation. The first floor 

rear extension has been set down from the ridgeline by approximately 0.7m. The owners 

parking spaces have been enlarged and reduced to 2No. Spaces. The Public House kitchen 

at ground level has been omitted, and the garden is proposed to be closed daily at 21:30pm, 

with the gate access to the garden shut and locked.  

 

DEVELOPMENT PLAN POLICIES 

  

Thanet Local Plan 2020 

 

QD02 - General Design Principles 

QD03 - Living Conditions 

CM01 - Provision of New Community Facilities 

TP06 - Car Parking 

 

NOTIFICATIONS 

  

Letters were sent to neighbouring property occupiers and a site notice was posted near the 

site. One letter of objection has been received. The letter raises the following concerns: 

 

Alma Road is a bottleneck narrow road, which is subject to parking pressure and dangerous 

parking including parking over double yellow lines and on the pavement.  

Ambulance and refuse trucks have in the past not been able to get down the road.  

The parking at the rear is not suitable and is going to cause more problems.  

 

Ramsgate Town Council - No comment.  

 

 

 

Page 254

Agenda Item 6a



CONSULTATIONS 

 

Environmental Health - I note the premises will be trading under the name 'Fury's Bar' and 

the proposed site plan shows the addition of an external garden area to the rear. Whilst the 

premises is on a main road the rear of the property is surrounded by noise sensitive 

properties and I am therefore concerned over possible noise nuisance caused in this area 

particularly as external noise is difficult to control. With this in mind I would suggest that the 

times of use of this area are restricted by condition and I would recommend that the garden 

area be closed daily at 9.30pm. 

 

The plan also shows the inclusion of a kitchen on the ground floor level however there are 

no further details or specifications concerning any extraction system. I would have concerns 

over possible odour from cooking processes and noise from any system that they may 

consider installing. Can the applicant provide any further information relating to this so that I 

can give further consideration? 

 

KCC Highways –  

- Final Comment 09/07/2021 

 

I refer to the amended plan submitted for the above on 9th July and confirm my previous 

objections have been overcome. The southernmost parking space has been removed and 

the remaining two spaces have been increased in length. I therefore now have no objection 

subject to the following being secured by condition: 

 

Completion of the necessary vehicle crossing in the footway prior to the use of the widened 

access commencing. 

Parking spaces to be a minimum of 4.8 metres long x 2.5 metres wide. 

 

- Updated Comment 09/07/2021: 

 

I refer to the additional information on proposed parking and request for comment on the 

same, received on 9th July. 

 

Whilst Alma Road is relatively narrow and is subject to on-street parking, the section serving 

the proposed parking spaces is in the first section of the road from the junction with 

Boundary Road, which has parking restrictions on both sides. Access to the proposed 

parking spaces can therefore be reasonably achieved. However, the proposed parking 

spaces are below the minimum length required of 4.8 metres, meaning that parked vehicles 

will overhang and obstruct the highway footway. In addition, a vehicle parked in the 

southernmost space has very little visibility to vehicles approaching northbound in Alma 

Road. 

 

As the proposals stand they do not provide safe access and create hazards for users of the 

highway, and are therefore contrary to the NPPF. I would therefore recommend refusal on 

this basis. 

 

 

 

Page 255

Agenda Item 6a



- Initial Comment 08/04/2021 

 

Referring to the above description, it would appear that this development proposal does not 

meet the criteria to warrant involvement from the Highway Authority. 

 

 

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 

 

F/TH/18/1352 - Change of use from Public House (Use Class A4) to 2no. 2-bed dwellings 

(Use Class C3) together with the erection of a first floor side extension and extensions and 

alterations to existing single storey rear extensions - Refused 26/11/2018 

 

F/TH/19/0309 - Change of use from Public House (Use Class A4) to 2no. 2-bed dwellings 

(Use Class C3) together with the erection of a first floor side extension and extensions and 

alterations to existing single storey rear extensions - Refused 07/05/2019 

 

F/TH/20/1349 - Change of use from Public House (Use Class Sui Generis) to 1no. 3-bed 

and 1no. 2-bed dwellings (Use Class C3) together with the erection of a two storey rear 

extension and extensions and alterations to existing single storey rear extensions - Granted 

24/02/2021 

 

COMMENTS 

  

This application has been called to Planning Committee by Councillor Albon due to highway 

safety and amenity concerns relating to the proposed parking area to the rear and its impact 

upon adjacent properties in Alma Road.  

 

The main considerations with regard to this application is the principle of development, the 

impact of the proposed development on the character and appearance of the area, the 

impact upon residential amenity, and the impact upon highway safety. 

 

Principle 

 

The application does not propose to alter the existing use of 48 Boundary Road as a Public 

House, which constitutes a community facility. Policy CM01 of the Thanet Local Plan 

supports the expansion of existing community facilities where it meets a range of criteria, 

including good accessibility to the local community, good parking provision, where it is in 

keeping with the character of the area, or where it does not impact upon neighbouring 

amenity. The principle of the community facility expansion is therefore considered to be 

acceptable in principle, subject to the material considerations referred to within the policy.  

 

The proposal will involve the removal of the roof and the partial demolition of the existing 

vacant garage/workshop building to the rear to provide off street parking and a garden area 

to serve the Public House. There are no policies which require the retention of commercial 

uses/buildings in this location.  

 

The proposed development is therefore considered to be acceptable in principle, subject to 

the assessment of all other material planning considerations.  

Page 256

Agenda Item 6a



 

Character and Appearance 

 

The National Planning Policy Framework states that development should be sympathetic to 

local character and the surrounding built environment, establish and maintain a strong sense 

of place. Policy QD02 of the Thanet Local Plan outlines that the design of all new proposals 

must respect or enhance the character or appearance of the area particularly in scale, 

massing, rhythm and use of materials.  

 

The proposed amended alterations to fenestration to the front elevation has relocated the 

proposed double doors so they are sited centrally within the existing single storey side 

projection, replacing the existing single door. This will retain the symmetrical pattern of 

fenestration to the front elevation of the main body of the property, which is considered to be 

a positive feature of the property. The proposed double doors will be appropriately located 

within the side projection, and will suitably relate to the existing fenestration. The doors will 

be finished in a composite material and will be set within reveals of no less than 100mm, 

which will relate to the existing materiality and treatment of fenestration.  

 

The proposed single storey rear extension will increase the width of the existing rear 

extension to the west from 2.5m to 3.5m at its narrowest point, and will include a series of 

windows to the eastern elevation of this extension. The existing door/windows to the western 

side elevation will be infilled and replaced with flintwork to match the existing flintwork 

section to the western side elevation. The extensions and alterations to increase the width 

and alter the fenestration will have limited visibility from the public realm given their location 

and position in relation to existing built form, and will consolidate and formalise this side 

elevation.  

 

The replacement of the door with flintwork to the western side elevation is considered to be a 

minor alteration, and the replacement finish will integrate well with the existing side 

elevation, providing a further feature to the side elevation. Details of the finish of this 

flintwork section will be secured by condition should consent be granted. 

 

The proposed alterations to the rear will involve the removal of the existing roof and the 

partial demolition of 1-3 Alma Road, retaining the existing concrete base, to provide a 

parking area and garden area to serve the Public House. The existing building is a single 

storey commercial/garage building of no architectural merit and as such, no objections are 

raised to its removal and conversion to a parking/garden area.  

 

The removal of the built form associated with 1-3 Alma Road will provide greater openness 

in this relatively densely developed area. The use of the front portion of this site for 

hardstanding to provide 2No. parking spaces are considered to be a neutral alteration, given 

the existing appearance and presence of the existing building. This hardstanding is 

proposed to be finished in water permeable block pavers, which will be secured by condition. 

The 2m high timber close boarded fence will enclose the rear garden which is a common 

arrangement, and is comparable to similar boundary treatments in the wider locality.   

 

The proposed part first floor part two storey rear extension is a moderate scale, and its 

amended design and form, which will be set down from the ridge of the main roof, and will 

Page 257

Agenda Item 6a



extend as a full two storey extension between the two single storey rear extensions, will 

appear as a relatively subservient and suitably integrated rear projection to the existing 

property, which is a common feature in the surrounding built environment. This extension will 

be set in from the two storey body of the application property, which will limit its prominence 

and presence within the street scene and aid its assimilation into the existing property. The 

existing rear and side elevation is finished in smooth painted render, and the extension will 

be finished in render to match, and will therefore appear as a cohesive addition.  

 

The proposed development is therefore considered to be acceptable in terms of the 

character and appearance of the area, in accordance with Policy QD02 of the Thanet Local 

Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework.  

 

Living Conditions 

 

The proposed part first floor, part two storey rear extension will align with the rear elevation 

of the adjoined neighbour to the east No. 44-46 Boundary Road, which does not contain any 

side elevation windows facing the proposed extension, and will therefore not result in harm 

to the residential amenity of this neighbour.  

 

The part first floor, part two storey rear extension will be set in from the two storey side 

elevation of the application property by 2m and will retain a separation distance of 

approximately 10.5m to the adjacent properties fronting Alma Road to the west. Given the 

moderate depth of this rear extension, the existing relationship between the application 

property and these adjacent neighbours and the separation distance provided, this extension 

is not considered to result in significant harm to the residential amenities of these 

neighbours.  

 

The proposed first floor/two storey rear extension will extend the existing first floor rear 

elevation windows forward by approximately 3.5m. Views from these windows to adjacent 

neighbours to the side will be oblique, which is not considered to be significantly harmful. 

These windows will be an addition to an existing arrangement and relationship, and will face 

the blank side elevation of the adjacent neighbour to the north and will therefore not result in 

harmful overlooking.  

 

The existing single storey rear extensions currently extend to the rear boundaries of 48 

Boundary Road and the proposed alterations and extensions to these existing extensions, 

which predominantly enlarges the western extensions depth to the centre of the site,  

together with the layout of surrounding built development, is not considered to significantly 

alter the existing situation or result in unacceptable harm to the living conditions of 

surrounding adjacent neighbours deriving from the built form. The proposed alterations to 

fenestration to the sides of these extensions will face each other, and no side elevation 

windows are proposed to the eastern side elevation,  resulting in no impacts of overlooking 

to surrounding adjacent neighbours.  

 

The proposal will introduce a garden area to the rear. The application property is an existing 

Public House located upon a main road, which whilst currently vacant, has an established 

degree of associated noise and activity relating to its existing use, which closed in 2018. 

There would have also been associated noise and activity associated with the 

Page 258

Agenda Item 6a



garage/workshop use at 1-3 Alma Road which is proposed to be partially demolished for this 

proposal. 

 

The proposed provision of a garden associated with the public house is likely to result in 

some increased noise, disturbance and activity, and the site is located in close proximity to 

residential properties. Environmental Health have reviewed the proposal and consider it 

necessary that the use of the garden ceases daily at 21:30. The agent has agreed to this 

requirement, and the use of the garden will cease and the gate will be locked daily at 21:30. 

This restriction, given the existing use and characteristics of the Public House 

garage/workshop building, together with its location and relationship with surrounding 

adjacent neighbours, is not considered to result in significant harm to the residential 

amenities of surrounding adjacent neighbours. The required closure of the garden will be 

secured by condition.  

 

The proposed 2No. off street parking spaces will be for the owners use and are likely to have 

limited associated vehicular movements, which together with the characteristics of the area, 

are not considered to be harmful to residential amenity of surrounding adjacent neighbours. 

 

The proposed kitchen for the Public House has been omitted from the proposal. Should any 

part of the building be used as a commercial kitchen requiring a ventilation system and/or 

external extraction, separate planning permission for the extraction equipment will be 

required.  

 

The proposed development is therefore considered to be acceptable in terms of residential 

amenity of the adjacent neighbours and the future occupiers of the proposed dwelling in 

accordance with Policy QD03, QD04 and GI04 of the Thanet Local Plan, and the National 

Planning Policy Framework. 

 

Highways 

 

The application has been amended and now proposes the formation of 2No. Off-street 

parking spaces to the rear. 

 

Concerns have been raised regarding the narrow width of Alma Road and existing parking 

pressure with regards to these off-street parking spaces in relation to highway safety and 

amenity. 

 

The application does not propose to alter the existing use of the Public House, and the 

proposed parking spaces are for the use of the owners of the Public House. The associated 

vehicular movements associated with these two parking spaces are likely to be limited, and 

will not materially alter or increase the existing vehicular movements and traffic in the 

surrounding area.  

 

KCC Highways have reviewed the proposal and commented that whilst Alma Road is 

relatively narrow and subject to on-street parking, the proposed parking spaces are within 

the first section of the road from the junction with Boundary Road, which has parking 

restrictors on both sides and provides reasonable access to the proposed parking spaces. 

 

Page 259

Agenda Item 6a



The parking spaces have been amended and enlarged to meet KCC Highways requirements 

and will now measure 2.5m in width x 4.8m in depth, thereby providing suitably sized parking 

spaces. KCC Highways have raised no objections to the revised proposal, provided the 

proposal is conditioned to secure the size of these spaces, and the necessary vehicular 

crossing is completed prior to the use of the widened access, which will be secured by 

condition.  

 

The proposed development is therefore considered to be acceptable in terms of highway 

amenity and highway safety, in accordance with Policy TP06 and the National Planning 

Policy Framework. 

 

Conclusion 

 

Overall the amended scheme is considered to be a suitably compatible form of development 

within the area, which has an acceptable impact upon the living conditions of adjacent 

neighbours, highway safety and amenity. The proposed development (as amended), as a 

community facility expansion, is therefore considered to be acceptable and in accordance 

with the relevant Thanet Local Plan policies and the National Planning Policy Framework.  

 

It is therefore recommended that members approve this application, subject to safeguarding 

conditions. 

 

 

Case Officer 

Jenny Suttle 

  

Page 260

Agenda Item 6a



TITLE: F/TH/21/0463 

 

Project Foresters Arms 48 Boundary Road RAMSGATE Kent CT11 7NW 

 

Scale: 

 

 

 
 

 

 

Page 261

Agenda Item 6a



This page is intentionally left blank



A02 FH/TH/21/0641

PROPOSAL:

LOCATION:

Erection of a single storey side extension with 3No rooflights

32 Shakespeare Road BIRCHINGTON Kent CT7 9ET 

WARD: Birchington North

AGENT: Mr Mark Rowland

APPLICANT: Mr David Hart

RECOMMENDATION: Approve

Subject to the following conditions:

1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three 

years from the date of this permission.

GROUND:

In accordance with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended by 

Section 51 of the Planning and Purchase Act 2004).

2 The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the 

submitted drawings numbered 2110-05A, 2110-06B, 2110-07B and 2110-08, received 14 

May 2021.

GROUND;

To secure the proper development of the area.

3 The external materials and external finishes to be used in the extensions hereby 

approved shall be of the same colour, finish and texture as those on the existing property.

GROUND

In the interests of visual amenity in accordance with Policy QD02 of the Thanet Local Plan

INFORMATIVES

Please be aware that obtaining planning permission and complying with building regulations 

are separate matters - please contact building control on 01843 577522 for advice on 

building regulations

Page 263

Agenda Item 6b



SITE, LOCATION AND DESCRIPTION

The application site is located within the urban confines of Birchington in a wholly residential 

area.  Properties in Shakespeare Road are substantially sized dwellings with a variety of 

architectural styles.  The dwelling is set back from the highway with a brick boundary wall 

and vehicular hardstanding and landscaping to the front.

PLANNING HISTORY

F/TH/08/1391 - Erection of single storey side extension  Granted  19.01.2009

PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT

The application seeks planning permission for the erection of a single storey extension to the 

side, finished level with the front elevation of the dwelling, with the roof altered to extend 

over with the addition of a rooflight.  To the rear it is proposed to extend the utility room with 

the roof similarly extended with the addition of 2 rooflights.

PLANNING POLICIES

Thanet Local Plan 2020

QD02 - General Design Principles

QD03 - Living Conditions

NOTIFICATIONS

Neighbours have been notified and a site notice posted opposite the site.  No 

representations have been received. 

CONSULTATIONS

None

COMMENTS

This application is reported to Planning Committee as the applicant is a Councillor. 

The main considerations for Members to assess are the impact of the development on the 

character and appearance of the area and the impact on neighbouring amenity.

Character and Appearance

The area is characterised by large detached properties set back from the highway.  The 

proposed development relates to the erection of extensions to the side elevation of the 

property towards the side boundary of No 30.  To the front elevation it is proposed to erect a 

2 metre wide side extension that would finish in alignment with the front and side elevations.  

The western roofslope would be extended across the extension, following removal of the 

Page 264

Agenda Item 6b



chimney stack, resulting in a catslide roof design with a rooflight inserted to provide 

additional light to the enlarged room.  It is also proposed to enlarge the existing utility room 

with a 2 metre wide by 3.4 metre deep single storey extension to the side, with the extension 

finishing in line with the rear elevation of the dwelling.  The roof above would be extended 

above in a catslide design with the addition of  two roof lights.  The extensions would be 

finished with render and roof tiles to match the main dwelling.

With regards to the character and appearance of the area the alterations proposed to erect 

the rear extension would be set approximately 13 metres from the front boundary and would 

be screened by the dwelling and mature trees on the side boundary and would be unlikely to 

be visible from the wider public realm.

The alterations proposed to the roof, to incorporate the extension towards the front of the 

property, would be visible from the wider public realm and would result in the removal of the 

chimney stack. The extension would be modest in scale and has been designed to respect 

the character and design of the main dwelling.  Whilst the proposal would result in the loss of 

one of the chimney stacks it would add a catslide roof detail that would introduce a further 

interesting architectural detail to the property. 

Thanet Local Plan policy QD02 relates to general design principles and supports 

development that relates to surrounding development, is well designed, respects and 

enhances the character of the area paying particular attention to context and identity of its 

location, scale, massing, rhythm, density, layout and use of materials appropriate to the 

locality.  The proposal would result in two modest side extensions and extension of the 

western roofslope that would respect the design of the main dwelling and would not appear 

unduly out of keeping within the streetscene, meeting the requirements of Thanet Local Plan 

Policy QD02 and the NPPF.

Living Conditions

The only neighbours potentially impacted upon by this proposal would be the occupiers of 

No 30 to the west.  The extensions would widen the property by 2 metres to the side at 

ground floor level to align with the side elevation of the main dwelling.  The sections of 

roofslope above the extensions would move closer to the side boundary with No 30 but with 

the catslide roof design the existing eaves height would drop from a height of 3.4 metres to a 

height of 2.2 metres to the single storey level.  It is noted there would be a gap between the 

side elevations of both properties of 7 metres towards the rear and 9 metres at the front.  At 

this separation distance it is unlikely that the extensions would result in a sense of enclosure, 

loss of light, or loss of outlook to this neighbour.  There are no windows proposed in the side 

elevation, facing the boundary, and the rooflights would not look directly into neighbouring 

habitable rooms or private amenity space.  

Given the above it is considered that the proposed development would not adversely impact 

on the living conditions of neighbouring property occupiers and the proposal would therefore 

be in accordance with Policy QD03 of the Thanet Local Plan and the NPPF.

Conclusion

Page 265

Agenda Item 6b



The proposed development is considered to be acceptable in terms of the character and 

appearance of the area and the living conditions of surrounding neighbouring residential 

occupiers. The proposed development therefore accords with Policies QD02 and QD03 of 

the Thanet Local Plan and the NPPF. It is therefore recommended that Members approve 

the application, subject to safeguarding conditions.

Case Officer

Rosemary Bullivant

Page 266

Agenda Item 6b



TITLE: FH/TH/21/0641

Project 32 Shakespeare Road BIRCHINGTON Kent CT7 9ET 

Page 267

Agenda Item 6b



This page is intentionally left blank



A03 FH/TH/21/0827

PROPOSAL:

LOCATION:

Erection of porch to front elevation

20 Avebury Avenue RAMSGATE Kent CT11 8BB 

WARD: Sir Moses Montefiore

AGENT: Mr M Robinson

APPLICANT: Mrs M Bullivant

RECOMMENDATION: Approve

Subject to the following conditions:

1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three 

years from the date of this permission.

GROUND:

In accordance with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended by 

Section 51 of the Planning and Purchase Act 2004).

2 The proposed development shall be carried out in accordance with the submitted 

application and the approved drawing numbered 886-1.

GROUND

To secure the proper development of the area.

3 The external materials and external finishes to be used in the porch hereby approved 

shall be of the same colour, finish and texture as those on the existing property.

GROUND

In the interests of visual amenity in accordance with Policy QD02 of the Thanet Local Plan

SITE, LOCATION AND DESCRIPTION

The application site is located on the northern side of Avebury Avenue at its eastern end 

close to King George VI Memorial Park. The property is a two storey detached dwelling 

constructed in render and red brick work with red tiles to the roof. The site is enclosed to the 

road by a brick and flint wall

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

No relevant planning history. 

Page 269

Agenda Item 6c



PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT

Full planning consent is sought for the erection of a porch to the front elevation. The 

proposed porch measures a maximum depth of 2.4m and width of 3m- this includes the 

overhang created by the hipped roof over. Windows are proposed on three sides together 

with an entrance door facing out onto the road. The porch is proposed to be constructed in 

render and brick to match the existing and plain tiles to the roof. 

DEVELOPMENT PLAN POLICIES

Thanet Local Plan 2020

SP35  - Quality Development

QD02 - General Design Principles 

QD03 - Living Conditions 

TP06 - Car Parking 

NOTIFICATIONS

Letters were sent to adjoining occupiers, a site notice posted close to the site.

No representations were received. 

Ramsgate Town Council: No comments made

CONSULTATIONS

No consultations carried out. 

COMMENTS

This application is referred to the Planning Committee as the application is made by a 

member of the Planning team's immediate family.

The main consideration with regard to this planning application will be the impact of the 

proposed development on the character and appearance of the area and the residential 

amenity of neighbouring property occupiers.

Principle

In line with Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2014, planning 

decisions must be taken in accordance with the 'development plan' unless material 

considerations indicate otherwise. The requirements of the National Planning Policy 

Framework (NPPF) are a significant material consideration in this regard.

The proposal relates to an existing residential dwelling and there is no in principle objection 

to its extension or alteration. 

Character and Appearance

Page 270

Agenda Item 6c



Paragraph 127 of the NPPF states decisions should ensure that developments will function 

well and add to the overall quality of the area, are visually attractive as a result of good 

architecture, layout and appropriate and effective landscaping, sympathetic to local 

character and history, establish a strong sense of place and optimise the potential of the site 

to accommodate and sustain an appropriate amount and mix of development and create 

place that are safe, inclusive and accessible.  

Policy QD02 of the Thanet Local Plan outlines that the primary aim of new development is to 

promote or reinforce local character and provide high quality and inclusive design that is 

sustainable in all other respects. Proposals should therefore relate to surrounding 

development, form and layout, be well designed, pay particular attention to context and 

identity of location, scale, massing, rhythm, density, layout and materials, and be compatible 

with neighbouring buildings and spaces. 

20 Avebury Avenue is a detached two storey set within a residential street. The properties 

within the street are varied in style and design, with no uniform pattern of development or 

use of materials. 

Planning permission is sought for the approval of a single storey pitched roof porch 

extension.

The proposed single storey porch extension measures approximately depth of 2.4m and 

width of 3m- this includes the overhang created by the hipped roof over and a height of 3.4m 

high. The proposal is visible from the street. Whilst the proposed porch extension projects 

further forward of the building line than the existing canopy to the front of the dwelling, when 

assessed against the siting of dwellings within the street scene and its relatively small scale 

it is considered to be in keeping with the building line within the streetscene and would not 

be overtly visually dominant.

The porch extension proposes to use materials that match the existing dwelling. 

The proposal is therefore considered to be acceptable in terms of the character and 

appearance of the area, in accordance with Policies SP35 and QD02 of the Thanet Local 

Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

Living Conditions

Paragraph 117 of the NPPF states that planning decisions should promote an effective use 

of land in meeting the need for homes and other uses, while safeguarding and improving the 

environment and ensuring safe and healthy living conditions. Policy QD02 of the Thanet 

Local Plan outlines that new development should be compatible with neighbouring buildings 

and spaces, and should be inclusive in its design for all users. It should improve people's 

quality of life by creating safe and accessible environments and promote public safety and 

security. Policy QD03 outlines that new development must not lead to unacceptable living 

conditions through overlooking, noise, vibrations, light pollution, overshadowing, loss of 

natural light or a sense of enclosure. New development should be of an appropriate size and 

layout to facilitate comfortable living conditions in accordance with policy QD04.

Page 271

Agenda Item 6c



The proposed front porch would project around 2.4m from the front building line and would 

sit around 6m from the shared boundary with No. 22. The site is south facing and the 

additional amount of built form proposed is modest, and accordingly the works are not 

considered likely to result in any overbearing, sense of enclosure, loss of light or any other 

harm to the living conditions of the occupiers of No. 22. 

To the north west of the site; No. 18, the porch would be set approximately 7m in from the 

boundary with the neighbouring property and away from neighbouring openings. This is 

considered a sufficient distance, given the modest projection, as to prevent any harm in this 

location. 

Due to the arrangement and the separation distances of the properties, it is not considered 

that there will be any detrimental impact on the amenity of neighbouring property occupiers 

in accordance with Local Plan Policy QD03 of the Local Plan and the National Planning 

Policy Framework.

Highways

It is not considered that there would be any adverse impact on highway safety or parking in 

the surrounding area from the proposed development.

Conclusion

The proposed development is considered to be acceptable in terms of the character and 

appearance of the area and the living conditions of surrounding neighbouring residential 

occupiers. The proposed development therefore accords with Policies QD02 and QD03 of 

the Thanet Local Plan and the NPPF. It is therefore recommended that Members approve 

the application.

Case Officer

Gill Richardson

Page 272

Agenda Item 6c



TITLE: FH/TH/21/0827

Project 20 Avebury Avenue RAMSGATE Kent CT11 8BB 

Page 273

Agenda Item 6c



This page is intentionally left blank



D04 F/TH/21/0710

PROPOSAL:

LOCATION:

Erection of single storey 2-bed detached dwelling together with 

creation of vehicular access

49 St Peters Court BROADSTAIRS Kent CT10 2UU 

WARD: St Peters

AGENT: Mr David Dorman

APPLICANT: Mr David Brown

RECOMMENDATION: Defer & Delegate

Defer and Delegate for approval subject to the satisfactory completion of unilateral

undertaking within 6 months securing the required planning obligations as set out in the

report and the following conditions:

1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three 

years from the date of this permission.

GROUND:

In accordance with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended by 

Section 51 of the Planning and Purchase Act 2004).

2 The proposed development shall be carried out in accordance with the submitted 

application as amended by the revised drawings numbered 495PC-P01A, 495PC-P02A, 

495PC-P03A, 495PC-P04A received 24, June 2021.

GROUND;

To secure the proper development of the area.

3 The brickwork, roof tiles and cladding hereby permitted shall be constructed using 

materials to match number 49 St Peters Court in accordance with the amended plan 

numbered 49SPC-P03A.

GROUND;

In the interests of visual amenity in accordance with Policy QD02 of the Thanet Local Plan

4 The development hereby permitted shall be constructed to a high standard of energy 

efficiency to the equivalent of Level 4 of the Code for Sustainable Homes. 

GROUND;

Page 275

Agenda Item 6d



All new buildings and conversions of existing buildings must be designed to reduce 

emissions of greenhouse gases and have resilience to function in a changing climate, in 

accordance with Policy QD01 of the Thanet Local Plan.

5 The development hereby permitted shall be constructed in order to meet the required 

technical standard for water efficiency of 110litres/person/day, thereby Part G2 Part 36 (2b) 

of Schedule 1 Regulation 36 to the Building Regulations 2010, as amended, applies.

GROUND;

Thanet is within a water stress area as identified by the Environment Agency, and therefore 

new developments will be expected to meet the water efficiency optional requirement of 

110litre /person/day, in accordance with Policy QD04 of the Thanet Local Plan.

INFORMATIVES

Please be aware that obtaining planning permission and complying with building regulations 

are separate matters - please contact building control on 01843 577522 for advice on 

building regulations

SITE, LOCATION AND DESCRIPTION

The site is located in the south eastern corner of St Peter's Court and currently forms the 

side garden of number 49. Number 49 is a detached two storey dwelling with a staggered 

front elevation and porch canopy that is set forward of the neighbouring dwellings to the east 

and west. The application site is located to the west of the existing dwelling and is currently 

occupied by a number of small trees, soft landscaping and a brick boundary wall. To the 

west of the site number 51 St Peter's Court is set back from the highway and has a detached 

garage on the boundary with number 49. The surrounding area is made up of dwellings that 

share similar design characteristics including gabled front elevations, brick walls, tiles roofs 

and small areas of cladding to the elevations.

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

TPO/TH/21/0725 - B/TPO/2(1969)A1 - 5No Sycamores (T1, T2, T3, T4, T5) - Crown reduce 

by 7 to 9 metres. Granted 30 June 2021

TPO/TH/21/0099 - B/TPO/2(1969)A1 - 4No Sycamore (G1) - Reduce right codominant stem 

by approximately 8 metres to good outer branch growth, and reduce left codominant stem by 

approximately 9 metres to good outer branch growth. Granted 22 March 2021.

OL/TH/04/0129 - Erection of a detached bungalow, and provision of associated means of 

vehicle access on land to be severed from the side of No. 49 (Outline Application). Granted 

25 March 2004.

PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT

Page 276

Agenda Item 6d



The proposed development is the erection of single storey 2-bed detached dwelling together 

with creation of vehicular access.

DEVELOPMENT PLAN POLICIES

Thanet Local Plan 2020

SP01 - Spatial Strategy - Housing

SP13 - Housing Provision

SP14 - General Housing Policy

SP22 - Size and Type of Dwellings

SP27 - Green Infrastructure

SP29 - Strategic Access Management and Monitoring Plan

SP30 - Biodiversity and Geodiversity Assets

SP35 - Quality Development

SP37 - Climate Change

SP44 - Accessible Locations 

CC01 - Fluvial and Tidal Flooding

HO1 - Housing Development

GI06 - Landscaping and Green Infrastructure

SE05 - Air Quality

QD01 - Sustainable Design

QD02 - General Design Principles

QD03 - Living Conditions

QD04 - Technical Standards

QD05 - Accessible and Adaptable Accommodation

TP03 - Cycling

TP06 - Car Parking

Broadstairs Neighbourhood Plan Policies

BSP9 - Design in Broadstairs & St. Peter's

BSP12 - Full Fibre Broadband Connections

NOTIFICATIONS

Letters were sent to neighbouring property occupiers and a site notice was posted close to 

the site.

Eleven letters of objection have been received raising the following concerns:

 Close to adjoining properties

 General dislike of proposal

 Out of keeping with character of area

 Over development

 Loss of open space

 Inadequate access

Page 277

Agenda Item 6d



 Highway safety

 Increased demand for on street parking

 Design of the proposed bungalow

 Similar applications have been refused

 Infill development

 Loss of trees

 Loss of a view

 Loss of outlook

 Conflict with the local plan

 Loss of privacy

 Precedent for future development

 Increased noise and disturbance

 Impact upon ecology and biodiversity

The Broadstairs Society - The Broadstairs Society writes in OBJECTION to this proposed 

development. Grounds: 1. The design is out of keeping with the original design concept of 

this area, of which this open space is a fundamental part. 2. Inevitable loss of vegetation. 3. 

Vehicle access placed at a tricky location.

CONSULTATIONS

Environment Agency - We have assessed this application as having a low environmental 

risk. We therefore have no comments to make.

KCC Highways - It's in a low speed environment at the end of a cul-de-sac so I don't think 

there is an issue with the access. They appear to be providing at least 3 parking spaces 

(including the one in front of the garage) so on-street parking shouldn't be an issue either.

Southern Water - Southern Water requires a formal application for a connection to the 

public sewer to be made by the applicant or developer.

The Council's Building Control officers or technical staff should be asked to comment on the 

adequacy of soakaways to dispose of surface water from the proposed development. 

The proposed development would lie in very close proximity to a Source Protection Zone 

around one of Southern Water's public water supply sources as defined under the 

Environment Agency's Groundwater Protection Policy. The applicant will need to consult 

with the Environment Agency to ensure the protection of the public water supply source is 

maintained and inform Southern Water of the outcome of this consultation. 

It is possible that a sewer now deemed to be public could be crossing the development site. 

Therefore, should any sewer be found during construction works, an investigation of the 

sewer will be required to ascertain its ownership before any further works commence on site.

TDC Biodiversity and Horticulture Officer - Assessing the tree survey and the position of 

the proposed bungalow and the position of Bay T7 it seems feasible that the Bay T7 could 

be retained as it will retain an additional mature shrubby element within the back garden and 

Page 278

Agenda Item 6d



seems sufficiently away from the proposed buildings. It's good to see the Sycamores T1 to 

T6 are all being retained.

COMMENTS

This application is brought before members by Cllr Garner to consider the impact of the 

development upon the character and appearance of the area and ecology.

Principle

Policy HO1 of the Thanet Local Plan states permission for new housing development will be 

granted on non-allocated sites within the confines of the urban area subject to meeting other 

relevant Local Plan policies.

Following the publication of the results of the 2020 Housing Delivery Test in January 2021 

the Council is now in the presumption in favour of sustainable development as the required 

number of completed new dwellings was not achieved. Therefore the tilted balance applies 

and the Council must approve applications for housing development unless the application 

of policies in the National Planning Policy Framework that protect areas or assets of 

particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed, or any 

adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, 

when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole.

The principle of development is, therefore, considered acceptable and the benefits of 

providing new housing to the district will therefore be weighed against the impacts of the 

development if an application is made.

Character and Appearance

Paragraph 127 of the National Planning Policy Framework states that development should 

be sympathetic to local character and the surrounding built environment and establish and 

maintain a strong sense of place. 

Policy QD02 of the Thanet Local Plan provides general design principles for new 

development and states that the primary planning aim in all new development is to promote 

or reinforce the local character of the area and provide high quality and inclusive design and 

be sustainable in all other respects. 

Policy BSP9 of the Broadstairs and St Peter's Neighbourhood Plan states that development 

proposals that conserve and enhance the local character and sense of identity of the Plan 

area will be encouraged. Proposals should take account of the Design Guidelines. Proposals 

which demonstrate that they reflect the design characteristics of the area and have taken 

account of the Design Guidelines will be supported.

The proposed bungalow would have a pitched roof design with a gable to the front and rear, 

similar in appearance to numbers 61 and 63 St Peter's Court which are located directly to 

the north of the site and numbers 19 and 21 St Peter's Court which are located to the east. 

The front elevation of the dwelling would be set back from the front boundary of the site with 

Page 279

Agenda Item 6d



the highway by 9.8m, the main body of the dwelling would be set off the western boundary 

by 3.7m and there would be a separation of 2m to the side elevation of number 49. There is 

some variation to the spacing between the dwellings in this section of the road with the 

corner plots set further away from their neighbours than the other dwellings. The separation 

between number 49 and the new dwelling would be similar to the separation between 

numbers 61 and 63, however unlike these properties, the proposed dwelling would be set 

back from the front elevation of number 49 by 3.5m, retaining an open frontage. Furthermore 

the setback of the dwelling would limit views of the property from the east and provide a 

transition to number 51 which is set further back from the highway.

Following concerns raised by Officers an amended plan has been submitted altering the 

proposed materials for the dwelling. This amended plan has altered the proposed materials 

to yellow stock bricks, brown concrete tiles, a small area of cladding and white framed 

windows to the front and side elevations. This would give the proposed dwelling a similar 

appearance to the existing properties in the street scene. White render and grey windows 

are proposed to the rear elevation, however due to the location this elevation would have 

limited visibility from the public realm.

The amended plan has also provided further information regarding the proposed 

landscaping to the site which includes the retention of the Bay tree on the western boundary 

of the site. Soft Landscaping including native trees and shrubs are proposed to the rear 

garden and the amount of grass has been increased to the front garden.

There are a number of small trees and bushes within the side garden of number 49 that 

would be removed as part of the proposed development. Due to the age of these trees they 

would not be covered by the existing TPO on the site which was applied in 1969 and due to 

their scale would not be suitable for preservation. The amended plan includes replacement 

planting on the site and due to the setback of the dwelling would retain the open frontage in 

this area of the cul-de-sac.

It is therefore considered that whilst some open space would be lost, given the setback of 

the dwelling and following the submission of the amended plan which alters the proposed 

materials, the proposed development would not result in significant harm to the character 

and appearance of the area and would comply with policies BSP9 of the Broadstairs and St 

Peter's Neighbourhood Plan, policy QD02 of the Thanet Local Plan and the National 

Planning Policy Framework.

Living Conditions

The proposed dwelling would be set off the new eastern boundary with number 49 St Peter's 

Court by 1m and there would be a total separation distance of 2m between these properties. 

On the western side the dwelling would be set off the boundary by 3.7m and the attached 

garage would be set off the boundary by 0.2m. A number of windows are located in the 

ground floor western side elevation of number 49, however these appear to be secondary 

windows or to serve non-habitable rooms. Furthermore a new 1.8m high boundary fence 

would be erected between the existing property and the proposed dwelling. One window is 

located in the rear elevation on the western side serving a living room, however the ground 

floor plan is open plan and this room extends across the full width of the property.

Page 280

Agenda Item 6d



There would be a total separation distance of 10m to the closest point on number 51 St 

Peter's Court. At the rear of the site a new boundary would be formed and the existing 

garden for number 49 would wrap around the garden for the new dwelling giving a total 

separation distance of 20m to the boundary with the properties on Selwyn Court.

Given the single storey height of the dwelling, its location and the separation distances to the 

neighbouring properties it is not considered to result in any significant overlooking, loss of 

light or sense of enclosure to the neighbouring dwellings.

The proposed dwelling would exceed the floor space standards set out in policy QD04 of the 

Thanet Local Plan and all habitable rooms would receive natural light and ventilation. The 

rear garden is considered to be of an adequate size and would be sufficient to accord with 

the requirement for safe doorstep playspace set out within policy GI04 of the Thanet Local 

Plan. Clothes drying, refuse storage and cycle storage could all be accommodated within the 

curtilage of the dwelling.

It is therefore considered that the proposed dwelling would not result in any significant harm 

to the living amenity of the neighbouring property occupiers and would provide an 

acceptable standard of accommodation for the future residents, in line with policies QD03, 

QD04 and GI04 of the Thanet Local Plan and the National Planning policy Framework.

Transportation

The site is located in a sustainable location and there are no restrictions for on street parking 

in the area. The proposed dwelling would be set back from the highway and a garage and 

driveway would be provided with off street parking for at least three vehicles. A new 

vehicular crossing would be formed to access the new dwelling. Whilst this access is located 

on the corner of a turning head it is located close to the end of a cul-de-sac where vehicles 

are likely to be travelling at low speeds. The access is considered to be of sufficient width for 

vehicles to easily turn onto the driveway and no boundary treatments are proposed at the 

front of the site ensuring that sufficient visibility could be obtained. The KCC Highways 

Officer has raised no objection to the proposed development and as St Peter's Court is not a 

classified road planning permission is not required for the formation of a vehicular access. It 

is therefore considered that given the location of the site and the amount of off street parking 

proposed, the proposed dwelling would not result in any significant increase in demand for 

on street parking or harm to highway safety.

Financial Contributions

Natural England has previously advised that the level of population increase predicted in 

Thanet should be considered likely to have a significant effect on the interest features for 

which the Thanet Coast and Sandwich Bay Special Protection Area (SPA) and RAMSAR 

have been identified. 

Thanet District Council produced the 'The Strategic Access Managethe impacts of 

recreational activities on the Thanet section of the Thanet Coast and Sandwich Bay Special 

Protection Area (SPA)ment and Monitoring Plan (SAMM)' to deal with these matters, which 

focuses on the impacts of recreational activities on the Thanet section of the Thanet Coast 

Page 281

Agenda Item 6d



and Sandwich Bay Special Protection Area (SPA). The studies indicate that recreational 

disturbance is a potential cause of the decline in bird numbers in the SPA. To enable the 

Council to be satisfied that proposed residential development will avoid a likely significant 

effect on the designated sites (due to an increase in recreation) a financial contribution is 

required for all housing developments to contribute to the district wide mitigation strategy. 

This mitigation has meant that the Council accords with the Habitat Regulations.

The applicant has agreed to submit a unilateral undertaking securing the required financial 

contribution to mitigate the additional recreational pressure on the SPA area. Therefore 

subject to the submission of a completed and signed unilateral agreement, the impact upon 

the SPA is considered to be acceptable.

Other Matters

The applicant's agent has confirmed that the proposed dwelling would meet the water and 

energy efficiency standards required by policies QD01 and QD04 of the Thanet Local Plan. 

These standards would be conditioned.

Reference has been made to an application for a dwelling in the side garden of number 59 

St Peter's Court (Application reference F/TH/10/0017). Number 59 is located in a different 

position to the application site and this application proposed a dwelling two storey dwelling 

similar in appearance to numbers 53, 55 and 57 St Peter's Court and located along a similar 

building line to these dwellings. The proposed dwelling is located in a different location and 

has a different design to this previous application, furthermore a significant period of time 

has elapsed since this previous decision and there have been changes to both local and 

national policy in this time. It is therefore considered that limited weight should be given to 

this previous decision.

Loss of a view is not a material planning consideration and cannot be considered in the 

determination of this application.

Concern has been raised regarding this application setting a precedent for future 

development. Each application is considered on its own merits and in accordance with the 

local and national policies and therefore does not set a precedent for future development on 

other sites.

The existing front and side garden is a managed residential garden and therefore in line with 

the standing advice is not considered to provide any significant opportunity for protected 

species.

Conclusion

The proposed development would only contribute one dwelling to the district's housing 

supply, however the amended development is not considered to result in any significant 

harm to the character and appearance of the area or the living conditions of the 

neighbouring property occupiers and would provide an acceptable standard of 

accommodation for the future occupiers. Therefore when any harm resulting from the 

development is weighed against the current need for housing in Thanet, this harm is 

Page 282

Agenda Item 6d



considered to be outweighed and it is recommended that this application is deferred and 

delegated for approval subject to the receipt of the legal agreement within 6 months securing 

the SAMM contribution.

Case Officer

Duncan Fitt

Page 283

Agenda Item 6d



TITLE: F/TH/21/0710

Project 49 St Peters Court BROADSTAIRS Kent CT10 2UU 

Page 284

Agenda Item 6d


	Agenda
	2 Declarations of Interest
	3 Minutes of Previous Meeting
	4 Planning Application F/TH/20/0969 -  Addington House Business Centre, Addington Place.
	Annex 1 Committee Report F.TH.20.0969
	Annex 2 Updated KCC Highways Comment F.TH.20.0969

	5 Planning Application OL/TH/20/0847 – Land On The North West And South East Sides of Shottendane Road, MARGATE
	Annex 1 Applicants Viability Appraisal (1)
	Annex 2 DSP Viability Review (1)
	Annex 3 Highways Cost review (1)
	INTRODUCTION
	THE SCHEME
	BUILD COSTS
	COST REVIEW
	BENCH MARKING ANALYSIS
	REPORT SUMMARY
	Appendix 1 - Schedule of Accommodation
	Appendix 2 - Site Layout
	Appendix 3 – COST estimate
	Appendix 4 - BCIS Average Prices
	Appendix 5 - ERMC Cost Comparison

	Annex 4 Applicant response on Highways cost (1)
	Annex 5 Habitat_Regulation_Assessment 20.0847 (1)
	Annex 6 Planning Committee Report 21st April 2021
	Annex 7 Applicant’s Additional Viability submission
	20210607_Margate_Viability Review.pdf (p.1-2)
	nationwide all-prop v4.pdf (p.3)
	IndicesResults_48333685.pdf (p.4)
	Appraisal Summary 10% AH.pdf (p.5-7)
	Appraisal Summary 15% AH.pdf (p.8-10)

	Annex 8 Alternative contribution scenario
	Annex 9 Planning Committee Agenda Report 23rd June 2021
	Annex 10 Applicants letter received 9th July 2021

	6 Schedule of Planning Applications
	Schedule July 2021

	6a A01 F/TH/21/0463 - Foresters Arms, 48 Boundary Road, RAMSGATE.
	6b A02 FH/TH/21/0641 - 32 Shakespeare Road, BIRCHINGTON.
	6c A03 FH/TH/21/0827 - 20 Avebury Avenue, RAMSGATE.
	6d D04 F/TH/21/0710 - 49 St Peters Court, BROADSTAIRS.

